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ADMINISTRATION'S ENERGY TAX PROPOSALS

TUESDAY, APRIL 20, 1993

U.S. Senate,
Committee on Finance,

Washington, DC.

The hearing was convened, pursuant to notice, at 10:10 a.m., in

room SD-215, Dirksen Senate Office Building, Hon. Daniel Patrick

Moynihan (chairman of the committee) presiding.
Also present: Senators Baucus, Boren, Bradley, Riegle, Daschle,

Breaux, Conrad, Packwood, Roth, Danforth, Durenberger, Grassley,
Hatch and Wallop.

[The press release announcing the hearing follows:]

[Press Release No. H-12, April 8, 1993]

Finance Committee to Review Energy Tax Proposals

Senator Daniel Patrick Moynihan (D.-N.Y.), Chairman of the Senate Committee
on Finance, announced today that the Committee will hold two hearings on the Ad-
ministration's energy tax proposals.
The hearings will begin at 10:00 a.m. on Tuesday, April 20 and Thursday, April

22 in room SD-215, Dirksen Senate Office Building.

Treasury Secretary Lloyd Bentsen will testify at the April 20 hearing.

OPENING STATEMENT OF HON. DANIEL PATRICK MOYNIHAN,
A U.S. SENATOR FROM NEW YORK, CHAIRMAN, COMMITTEE
ON FINANCE
The Chairman. A very good morning to our distinguished guests

and Secretary. I am going to ask that the doors be closed and those
in the back of the room be quiet or take their leave.

Good morning. This is the first of a series of hearings that the
Committee on Finance will hold on the President's revenue propos-
als.

We have the great honor to have before us our former Chairman,
the Secretary of the Treasury, Lloyd Bentsen, and Mr. Lesley Sam-
uels. Mr. Samuels, we welcome you here, sir. You are on that Ust
of persons who is not quite official.

You will be pleased to know we have your FBI report. It is some-

thing called the OGE, which is not to ogle, but I believe it is Office

of Government Ethics. If they ever get you through, we will confirm

you promptly.
Mr. Secretary, may I first say that there was a Republican cau-

cus meeting at 10:00 this morning on large issues that we are fac-

ing on the floor this week. I am sure the Republican members will

be in here in due course. They are not absenting themselves from
this hearing, but they are just participating in another matter at
this moment.

(1)



Yesterday we learned about the final events in Waco, TX, which
began weeks ago with an action by the Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco
and Firearms and led to the stand-off that took place. The new de-

velopments yesterday, and the ghastly circumstances, were tragic.
Your Assistant Secretary for Enforcement, Professor Ronald

Noble, in whose care falls the Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco and Fire-

arms, papers have not yet arrived. We were informed this morning
by Mr. Ginsburg of the White House counsel's office that they will

be here today. That will enable us to hold a hearing Monday, and
then we shall have occasion on Tuesday to report the conformation.
So you will have an Assistant Secretary soon.

I think it has to be smd that you are trying to run the Treasury
with only three people who have been confirmed. You have an ad-

vantage over Donna Shalsda who has only herself. That is begin-
ning to be a problem, which I do not, in fact, need call to your at-

tention. We have spoken with Professor Noble about the ATF, and
they obviously have some difficulties. There is a problem of duplica-
tion. You have two law enforcement agencies where one might or

might not do better.

In any event, sir, I wondered if I could ask if you had any com-
ment you would like to make at this time on the events on the as-

sault on the Branch Devinian Compound in Waco and the subse-

quent fire and deaths.

Secretary Bentsen. Yes, Mr. Chairman, I would like to make a
comment. Let me state that insofar as those numbers of people con-
firmed and not yet confirmed, that we appreciate very much the ex-

peditious way in which you and this committee have considered
those that have been sent up where all the files have been com-

pleted. We are appreciative of that and the fact that you will be

seeking Mr. Noble's confirmation on Tuesday would be most helpful
to us in the work that has to be done.

I would say that this afternoon that the President of the United
States will be calling on the Justice Department and the Treasury
Department to have a joint, full and thorough investigation of the
incidents in Waco, as to what happened in the beginning and what
happened in the ending of that stand-off. And in turn, that that
will be reviewed by outside experts for the considerate to see what
can be done to divert such tragedies in the future.

The Chairman. I do not suppose you want to say or ought to say
more. But I very much appreciate that, sir.

Senator Packwood, I mentioned earlier that there was a Repub-
lican caucus at 10:00 and that my colleagues were not avoiding this

hearing but had a scheduling conflict. I am pleased to see you have

come, and you are very welcome.

OPENING STATEMENT OF HON. BOB PACKWOOD, A U.S.

SENATOR FROM OREGON
Senator Packwood. To which I am told Senator Dole talked to

Secretary Bentsen yesterday and indicated the problem, which Sen-
ator Bentsen said, gee, I hope none of them come. [Laughter.]

Secretary Bentsen. I am not sure I was enthusiastic to that de-

gree.
Senator Packwood. I would like to comment on Waco. British

television just caught me outside. I know nothing about it other



than what I have read in the press. But I am inclined very much
to support the Attorney Grenersd. I hope this does not turn into the
who is responsible for the surprise at Pearl Harbor investigation.
Based upon the facts that I think she had, I think she acted cor-

rectly. She has taken responsibility and I certainly hope it does not
turn into a "witch hunt" and we look for some goat to hang for

something that I think was properly handled.

Secretary Bentsen. Senator Packwood, I thoroughly agree with
that. I thaink you for your comments. I am sure she would appre-
ciate that comment.
The Chairman. If you do not mind, Mr. Secretary, I think I

would like to ask Mr. Baucus and Mr. Bradley for comments.
Senator Baucus. On this subject?
The Chairman. On this subject.
Senator Baucus. I have not comment, Mr. Chairman.
Senator Bradley. On this subject?
The Chairman. Yes.
Senator Bradley. No comments, Mr. Chairman.
The Chairman. Very well, sir. We welcome you, Mr. Secretary.

We have your written testimony, of course.

Senator BRADLEY. Mr. Chairman, on another subject.
The Chairman. On the subject of the hearing, yes. Senator Brad-

ley.

OPENING STATEMENT OF HON. BELL BRADLEY, A U.S.
SENATOR FROM NEW JERSEY

Senator Bradley. Mr. Chairman, I wanted to say to the Sec-

retary and to the Committee that I think we ought to keep our
focus on the purpose of today's hearing, which is how do we reduce
the budget deficit. The BTU tax which the Secretary will be testify-

ing in support of is simply a means to an end; and the end is reduc-

ing the budget deficit.

There is a real imperative in my view that this be done. GAO
last year told us that, if we do not reduce the budget deficit, all

of our incomes by the yeair 2020 could be 40 percent less than they
otherwise would be.

Nobody likes to pay a t£ix. As the former Chairman of this Com-
mittee used to day, "Don't tax me, tax the man behind the tree."

And it apphes very directly to this BTU tax. I happen to think that
a BTU tax is a reasonably good tax. It is broad-based. It has been
phased in. It has positive environmental impacts.
But the key point is that it raises revenue to reduce the budget

deficit. If someone does not want the BTU tax, it is incumbent
upon them to tell us how they will reduce the budget deficit by the

equivalent amount.
I have one last point. My general view is that exemptions and

loopholes rarely make any tax fair. I would hope that they could
be resisted. I know that there are some provisions that have al-

ready been exempted. I think we have exempted ethsinol or meth-
anol and varieties of others. It is very difficult to make a distinc-

tion between one exemption and others, once you are heading down
that shppery slope.

I hope ultimately we will keep that in mind as we hear from the

Secretary and also as we deUberate in the Committee.



But the bottom line here is the budget deficit. This happens to
be a rather broadly-based and, I think, a fair tax. If there is a bet-
ter one out there, then the people who are advocating that it

should be replaced should make the case why their proposal is bet-
ter than a BTU tax.

Mr. Chairman, I thank you.
The Chairman. Thank you. Senator.
Senator Baucus.

OPENING STATEMENT OF HON. MAX BAUCUS, A U.S. SENATOR
FROM MONTANA

Senator Baucus. Mr. Chairman, I just might add one point. I

think all of us generally agree with the Senator's statement. I

think though it is important to remind ourselves that we do not
live in a homogeneous society. Some sectors of our economy are a
bit different than other sectors of our economy. Not every industry
is in exactly the same economic situation or the same financial sit-

uation, or affected in exactly the same way by the BTU tax. There
are differences.

It really means that we as a Committee, the Senate, the Con-
gress, and the administration have to find the right balance be-
tween equity and simplicity. A simple across-the-board BTU tax
will raise revenue. It will also cause some dislocations in the econ-

omy. I think it is only fair that we not wear blinders but we be

very sensitive to meritorious claims of inequities and try to deal
with them in a fair, reasonably balanced evenhanded way.
Now some will claim that, well, when you start down that road

that is a giveaway to some special interest group. That is an easy
claim to make and sometimes it is true and sometimes it is not
true. But it is up to us to be responsible and to try to judge those
claims as they arise and determine which claims are legitimate and
which claims are not.

So I think, frankly, the administration is on the right track—the
modified BTU tax addresses some of the inequities that were con-
tained in the original version of the administration's proposal. I

just hope that we view it with the points made by the Senator from
New Jersey in mind. Let's keep this thing on track. But I also
think it is only fair that we look at legitimate claims of unfairness
and deed with them appropriately.
The Chaijiman. Thank you. Senator Baucus.
Senator Conrad, did you wish to speak?
Senator Coniiad. No. I would be happy to withhold.
The Chairman. Thank you.
Of course, Senator Breaux?
Senator Breaux. I will do the same.
The Chairman. Thank you.
We welcome you, Mr. Secretary. Would you proceed as you so

choose?

STATEMENT OF HON. LLOYD BENTSEN, SECRETARY,
DEPARTMENT OF THE TREASURY, WASHINGTON, D.C.

Secretary Bentsen. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman. I am
very pleased to be invited here to talk about some of the specifics
of the energy tax that we proposed. As I Ustened to the comments



of the two members, I would have much agreement with what has
been stated there.

There is no question but when you propose a tax none of them
are popular. I do not know of one where a fellow would like to at-

tach his name when you are talking about a tax. And there is no

question about how you cannot anticipate how it affects every facet

of the economy, and that you should respond to some of those
where you think they were meritorious in trying to bring about fur-

ther equity.
But you do have the problem with what the Senator from New

Jersey has said, at what point is it equity and at what time is it

responding to some political interest that is seeking more than its

share insofar as its application.
I am pushing this one hard because of its significance to our

long-term economic health of the country—addressing that deficit

and trying to get it down, looking at a situation today where inter-

est charges are 14 percent of our budget, going up to 20 percent.
All we get back for that is a cancelled check, nothing to show for

it.

If we do not address these kinds of concerns now, our options are

going to be lessened in the future. It will be much more difficult

to turn this situation around. This energy tax is a very importsint

part of that cut in the deficit. Create the kind of long-term growth
to our economy. Create the jobs and the income growth that Ameri-
cans want.

It also reflects the very clear understanding in the Clinton ad-

ministration that we just cannot accept the status quo. We have to

take some bold steps to try to influence our economy. We cannot
view that energy tax in isolation.

Let me tell you why. These deficits that we have been running
up so rapidly for over a decade now have been draining that pool
of private savings. They have been cutting the rate of capital for-

mation by our industries. They cause us to borrow fi-om abroad.
I sat up there time and time again and tried to push the IRA.

Some of my colleagues agreed with that and some did not. But that
was trying to increase private savings. But there su-e two ways to

t£ike care of savings and providing capital in this country. One is

by increasing private savings and the other is by cutting that na-
tional deficit on your budget and that adds to the capital of our

country.
So I have chosen to take that course and so has the administra-

tion in this instance. In the process of what has happened, we have
become the world's leading debtor. That is why the energy tax is

important to us, to help us get that deficit down.
Between 1994, when we get the first elements in place, and 1998

when it will have been fully functioning for a year, this tax will

have produced over $72 billion in revenue. That is a significant
contribution. In fact, it is one-sixth of the total net deficit reduction
in our plan for the years 1994 through 1998.
The first year that this tax is fully phased in, in 1997, it will

produce over $22 billion in revenues. That amount is going to grow
over time. This program has won some widespread support in
America. I know that not everyone in the energy business agrees
with us, that we need this energy tax.
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Take the American Petroleum Institute, take their stand for in-

stance. It is composed of some of the world's largest oil companies.
They have much of their reserves and a good deal of production
overseas. Their opposition is understandable since our program will

reduce oil imports.
I am gratified, however, that some of the members of the API,

like Arco and Shell, agree that what we are trying to do for the

country is worthwhile. Not only have those firms endorsed our pro-

gram, but we have also gotten the support of a broad spectrum of
the energy business from the smaller, independent oil and gas pro-
ducers all the way up to electric utilities.

Now let me make a few broad points about the energy tax and
then let's get into some of the specifics. First, the program is fair.

It is fair economically. It is fair geographically and you can see that
from the first chart. The energy tax averages less than 1 percent
of consumers' income across the country. This is how it affects the
various regions in the States. [A showing of charts.]
So rather than singling out any particular fuel, we went after the

BTU content of all of our fuels and energy sources.

Second, we should look at what this tax accomplishes and what
it will cost American famihes. Obviously, it is a vehicle for deficit

reduction. But at the same time we are encouraging a shift toward
cleaner fuels, reducing pollution, encouraging conservation, and
cutting back on our import of oil by an estimated 400,000 barrels

a day.
Let me put that number in perspective for you. Over a year's

time, that's about the energy equivalent of the amount of gasoline
it would take to drive every automobile in the United States 1,000
miles. Conserving energy, reducing pollution, cutting energy im-

ports, and reducing our deficit are significant accomphshments.
You should also remember that as we reduce the deficit we lower

interest rates, raise investment, and increase long-run productivity
and growth. This tax, contrary to what some might argue, will not
be a drag on our ability to compete in world markets. [A showing
of charts.]
You can see that on the second chart, that we estimate that on

average msinufacturing production costs will rise just one-tenth of

1 percent because of this tax. That is exemplified. It is portrayed
on that chart.

It will be more costly in a few industries, such as those which
are very energy intensive. But if we would have exempted them,
it would have required higher taxes on other energy users and it

would have undermined our objectives, increasing energy suffi-

ciency, efficiency, and increasing energy security.
The deficit reduction impact of the energy tax should reduce in-

terest rates and thus capital costs. That is beneficial for energy in-

tensive industries, which also tend to be capital intensive.

I think there was a direct correlation insofar as what has hap-
pened to interest rates and the fact that this administration was
seriously considering an energy tax. In fact, the day that it was
fioated as an option, on a Sunday, on a national TV show, on Mon-
day the bond market reacted substantially in reducing interest

rates.



The Chairman. I believe that was Meet the Press and you were
the floater. [Laughter.]

Secretary Bentsen. Modesty prevented me from using the name,
Mr. Chairman. But thank you.
Other elements of our package, such as the investment tax credit

and the AMT relief shoiild benefit those industries. [A showing of

charts.]
The next chart shows that even after our tax is fully in place our

energy costs will still be the lowest among our Gr-7 partners, or

second lowest depending on what fuel you considered. Canada
would be the other one.

And energy costs in Europe could go up even more if this new
carbon and BTU tax they are talking about is put into affect. The

Japanese are also considering a new energy tax, although their en-

ergy costs already are among the highest in the world.

What will our proposal cost Americans? In general terms, it is

well under the 1 percent of disposable personal income.
We calculate that when fully phased in the direct cost of the tax

on electricity, natural gas, home heating oil and gasoUne for a typi-
cal family of four with an income of $40,000 wiU be just $9.50 per
month. That is the direct cost.

Our entire revenue program, including the energy tax, adds up
to just $17 a month for the average family at the $40,000 level 4

years from now. A family who is refinancing a $100,000 mortgage
at 10 percent reduced to 7 percent is already saving more than

$200 a month. Several times the energy tax.

You have to remember that one of the goals of our deficit reduc-
tion program is to keep those interest rates down and reduce inter-

est costs for consumers, for business and for government.
When we designed this tax, we paid very close attention to its

impact on all Ajmericans. A four-person family with earnings of

$25,000 a year is roughly $40 a month better off when the expan-
sion of the earned income tax credit is taken into account. And for

families that do not quahty for the EITC, we have also expanded
the Low Income Home Energy Assistance Program (LIHEAP) and
food stamps.
Now let me get into a few of the more specific details and then

I will try to answer your questions.
The choice of the energy tax. Before we settled on a BTU tax, we

considered a number of energy tax options in looking for the right
combination of environmental and energy security benefits, re-

gional neutrality and balanced impact on market shares of our var-

ious energy sources.

We rejected taxes that were aimed at specific fuels, such as gaso-
line or oil imports because they would have a disproportionate im-

pact on some regions of the country. The impact would be particu-

larly severe in the case of an oil import fee, which would cause en-

ergy costs to increase by much more than the tax.

If we taxed the carbon content of fuel, even though not specifi-

cally aimed at coal, it would have had a disproportionate impact on
coal and on the regions that produce and use coal.

We also considered an ad valorem tax on energy. Frankly, that's

the first one I looked at. But we rejected this approach because it



8

would amplify the affects of sudden changes in energy prices and
it would not present a predictable stream of revenue.
The proposed BTU tax, unlike taxes aimed at a specific fuel, ap-

plies to the heat content of all major energy sources. Thus, no re-

gion gains or loses because of its dependence on a particular energy
source or because it is an energy-producing region or state.

In addition, a BTU tax is a stable revenue source that is not di-

rectly tied to changes and energy prices. This is not a pure BTU
tax with all its sources taxed at the same rate. Instead, the tax is

generally imposed at a basic rate of 25.7 cents per million BTUs.
There's a supplemental rate of 34.2 cents per million BTUs for oil.

Without the extra tax on oil, the tax on natural gas would be

higher as a percentage of price than the tax on petroleum products.
Yet it will not hurt the sale of our domestic oil production since

every barrel will be sold and the price will not be decreased.
We also were concerned that not adding the supplemental rate

would discourage natural gas use and friistrate the environmental
and energy security objectives of the tax. That is an important
issue here. We are quite serious about the goal of protecting the
environment.
Natural gas is a clean burning fuel and abundant supplies are

available domestically. On the other hand, oil use, particularly as
a motor fuel, contributes to air pollution.

Additionally, as imports rise, so does the risk of environmental

damage from spills and the concern about energy security rises,

more dependence, too often on politically unstable areas around the
world. All we have to do is think about the embargoes of 1973 and
1974 and understand the vulnerabilities of this country. Where
today almost 50 percent of our oil is now being imported and a very
major part of our trade deficit comes from that dependence on for-

eign oil.

Last year we spent about $43 billion on imported oil. That is

more than half of our $84 billion merchandise trade deficit. We get
about 40 percent of our oil from overseas. And if we get too depend-
ent on imported oil, we are vulnerable to that embargo.
Now let's discuss the basic design of that BTU tax. In providing

a detailed description of the administration's proposed BTU tax

with my testimony, I would like to summarize the principal fea-

tures.

As you know, when we announced our preliminsiry decision on
the broad concepts of a BTU tax, we also invited comments from
those most affected by that tax. And particularly we wanted to

hear from the energy industry, industrial end users, state and Fed-
eral regulators, and the Congressional offices. And we sure heard
from you.
As a direct result of these comments, we included comments from

many of you. We have significantly refined the initial proposal. The
tax is imposed on coal, refined petroleum products, natural gas, nu-
clear generated electricity and hydro electricity. Imported fuels and

electricity are taxed in the same manner as their domestic equiva-
lents.

The basic tax rate of 25.7 cents per million BTUs applies to £dl

taxable energy sources. Refined petroleum products are subject to



both the basic rate and the supplemental rate of 34.2 cents per mil-

lion BTUs.
However, the supplemental rate does not apply to liquefied petro-

leum gases regardless of whether they are produced from natural

gas or from crude oil. And it does not apply to natursd gasoline and
home heating oil.

We decided to collect the tax at the point that it satisfies three
criteria. Minimize the number of taxpayers or tax collectors. It is

far enough downstream to ensure that fixed price contracts do not

prevent a pass through of the tax to the end user. It is also far

enough downstream to be certain that domestic and imported prod-
ucts are taxed at the same rate.

Most of the collection points for the tax have been modified or

clarified since our origin^ proposal generally, as a result of apply-
ing these criteria to new information we got, some of it fi"om Com-
mittee members.
For example, Senator Breaux and Senator Boren and others ex-

pressed concern over the possibility that the tax on natural gas
might be collected at the well head. We agreed it would be a prob-
lem because it involved large numbers of taxpayers. Many of them
would be unable to pass through the tax because of fixed priced
contracts.

We opted to generally impose the tax at the city gate and we de-

cided the tax on oil should be collected at the refinery tailgate.
That equahzes the tax applied to imported and domestic refined

products.
In the coal industry we found that if we put the collection point

at the mine mouth it would have caused three problems. Small
mines would be burdened with measuring the BTU content. In
some cases it would cause a doubling up on royalties and state sev-

erance taxes. And it could prevent a pass through for fixed price
contracts.

It makes more sense to put the collection point at the utility or

at the industrial end user. It should solve all of these three prob-
lems and be far easier to administer.
A number of utilities, there was a similar pass through problem

for independent power producers if they are operating with fixed

price contracts. We agreed and we have addressed that concern
with a special provision dealing with the power produced under ex-

isting fixed price contracts.

Now on the application of the tax. We are not imposing the tax
on non-fuel products, non-fuel uses of fossil fuels or on exports.
Non-fuel products include such things as asphalt, lubricants,
waxes. Non-fuel uses of fossil fuel include using it as a feed stock.

The exemption for export applies to both fuels and electricity. In
the case of exported electricity generated from fossil fuel, appro-
priate credit will be provided. Jet fiiel and bunker fuel used in

intemationad transportation will be exempt so there is no competi-
tive problems in this industry.
You know, sometimes, Mr. Chairman, we get criticized for some

of these changes. But this is in reply to members of this Committee
who have had constituents talk to them about specific concerns. I

must tell you that there are many others that we did not respond
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to because we did not think there was equity in the process of

doing so.

The last time I was here a number of you raised some issues
about the apphcation of the tax and we have addressed many of
those with, hopefully, clarifications. For example, Senator Conrad
alerted us to the potential for a double tax on the coal gasification

facility which makes synthetic, natural gas from lignite coal.

In effect, we would have been taxing the coal that went into the

synthetic natural gas production and then turning right around
and taxing the synthetic natural gas. He was right. And we did not
intend that to happen. We are just going to tax the synthetic natu-
ral gas.
We have got something similar in the pump storage for generat-

ing electricity. You know how that works in off peak times use and
power. Then you pump the water back up hill and then you run
it down through the turbines at peak times to get the extra elec-

tricity.
Under our original proposal, both the power used to pump the

water and the hydroelectricity would have been taxed. Now we are

going to tax that power only once.

Senator Wallop told us it takes steam to get heavy oil out of the

ground. To meet environmental regulations you often have to buy
natural gas from off the site to produce the steam. We would have
been taxing that gas, but not taxing heavy oil from the site used
for the same purpose.
We decided that wasn't fair and we didn't want to hurt heavy oil

production. We fixed that problem. The natural gas is exempted.
We also learned that the energy industry had a similar problem

in cases where they use energy to extract or process fuels. We have

exempted crude oil or natural gas that is used where it is extracted
to get out more crude oil or natural gas; and we will not tax crude
oil used in a refinery or natursd gas used in a natural gas process-

ing refractionation plant.
Senators Daschle, Conrad and others had concerns about the ap-

plication of the tax to ethanol and methanol. When we looked into

it, we concluded that oxygenates such as ethanol, methanol, ETBE,
and MTBE, and the feed stocks used to produce them would not
be taxed.
This decision is consistent with our objectives of encouraging

using £iltemative fuels, reducing our dependence on foreign oil, cut-

ting down on pollution.
One of the things we were very concerned about was making cer-

tain our proposal had regional balance. Initially we looked at ap-

plying the supplemental oil rate to home heating oil.

Chairman Moynihan, Senator Mitchell, and others on this com-

mittee, reminded us that in many areas natural gas is just not
available for home heating. Homes in those areas are dependent on
home heating oil, propane or butane. By treating home heating oil

as we treat other home heating fuels, like natural gas and propane,
we maintain the bsdance across our regions.
There also were concerns in the northwest about the partial ap-

plication of the oil supplemental rate in the formula for taxing
hydroelectricity. We responded to those concerns. But we believe

hydroelectricity should be subject to the tax itself.
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Although hydroelectricity is arguably a renewable source, the en-

ergy tax is a deficit reduction measure and exempting hydroelectric
power entirely would cost substantial revenue and taxing it is nec-

essary for regional balance. We cannot ask other regions to pay a
tax on home energy cost, but exempt regions where those costs are
now the lowest.

Lastly, environmental concerns led us to exempt coal seam meth-
ane from mines being degassed prior to operation. We did that be-
cause it encourages capturing that greenhouse gas rather than
venting it into the atmosphere. [A showing of charts.]
Now as you can see on my last chart, the energy tax offers us

a significant opportunity to make a major contribution through our
deficit reduction plan while simultaneously cutting pollution, en-

couraging energy conservation and reducing our dependence on im-
ported fuel.

And as we lower that deficit, we get lower interest rates, more
investment, and more productivity. When we do all of that, we im-
prove wages and our long-term standard of living.
Mr. Chairman, as we were saying earlier, raising taxes is never

easy. It is not a popular process. I know that the votes that lie

ahead for this Committee will be tough ones. But I have sensed a
new realism in the Congress and amongst the American people. I

think everyone now knows that we have to change the status quo
if we are to change our Nation's economic course.
This tax offers the way to do that. I look forward to working with

you with this and all the other programs. Thank you very much.
[The prepared statement of Secretary Bentsen appears in the ap-

pendix.]
The Chairman. Thank you, Mr. Secretary. That was a masterful

exposition of a challenging subject. I would like to congratulate you
and Secretary-designate Samuels in having put it together with
such sensitivity. I cannot doubt there will be other adjustments
that will occur to you, or some member of this Committee, or the
House.
But just to follow the specifics in order to get a grasp of the

American economy from a rare perspective—where energy comes
from and where it goes £ind what it does—it certainly was an edu-
cation to this Senator.
Senator Packwood has not yet had a chance to speak on the sub-

ject of this tax.

Senator Packwood. I will wait and ask questions.
The Chairman. Would you like to ask questions?
Senator Packwood. I will ask a particular one. I take it the sole

reason for treating hydro differently from a BTU standpoint is sim-

ply that if you did not treat it differently the cost of hydro would
be significantly lower and that would be unfair regionally.

Secretary Bentsen. Regionally the imbalance is the primary
problem.
Senator Packwood. Because you cannot use the argument for

environment on the hydro.
Secretary Bentsen. Well, some do, frankly. I do not join in that.

Senator.
The Chairman. You do not have much hydro in Texas.
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Secretary Bentsen. We have a bit. I can remember a Congress-
man way back in 1948 that helped put in a project.
Senator Packwood. And the reason for treating coal differently

is that if you were to treat it on an equal basis you would very dis-

proportionately and adversely affect some of the coal in the Appa-
lachian.

Secretary Bentsen. Senator, that is right. They feel that in the
Clean Air Act that they took quite a hit at that time.

Senator Packwood. The next question, this is the effect of the

tax, Mr. Secretary. If the CBO studies are accurate, 70 percent of
this does fall on people who make $75,000 or less. Do those equate
with the Treasury figure?

Secretary Bentsen. I do not have that exact number. I do not
have that exact figure.
Senator Packwood. I think they are conferring now.
The Chairman. You can send it in.

Secretary Bentsen. I am going to have to. They are giving me
a number I do not quite interpret right. They are telling me that
our numbers are consistent generally with CBO, but I'm not sure
how that relates to you, FranJdy.
Senator Packwood. Well, I was taking mine from CBO. But I re-

alize on occasion there is a difference of definition as to what in-

come is.

Secretary Bentsen. I am told then that ours are generally con-

sistent with CBO.
Senator Packwood. The third question. There are stories of

deals and rumors of deals and industry being bought off and what
not. Has any concession been made to the airline industry? Are
they going to get some kind of other tax relief? Their argument
being made they are hit very hard on this because they are, obvi-

ously, using lots of fuel.

Secretary Bentsen. They are getting this specific relief. That is

on the international flights. That would be exempt from the tax.

The Chairman. Isn't that what you said, sir?

Secretary Bentsen. Yes, I guess I did.

Senator Packwood. But no rebate on the airline ticket tax?

Secretary Bentsen. No.
Senator Packwood. Or no other kind of tax treatment?

Secretary Bentsen. No.
Senator Packwood. No other kind of deals that you know of?

Secretary Bentsen. No.
Senator Packwood. Thank you.
The Chairman. Thank you, sir.

Senator Baucus?
Senator Baucus. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. Secretary, earlier this year I raised the question about the

aluminum industry. I am just curious of why there is no adjust-
ment there because obviously the electricity used in making alu-

minum is a feedstock.

Secretary Bentsen. Well, they argue whether it is a feed stock.

Senator Baucus. And second, there is no way in the world they
can pass on the cost increases. London metal exchange prices have
held at about 51 cents a pound for a long time; and Russia is
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dumping aluminum on the market in the foreign exchange. I am
just curious as to what was done here.

Secretary Bentsen. Let me give you a prepeired answer and then
I will speak to one.

Senator Baucus. Would you please.
Secretary Bentsen. Should electricity be used in the production

of aluminum? When it is used should it be classified as a feed
stock? Which you are stating that point of view.

In making petro-chemicals the atoms of the feed stock hydro-
carbons become the atoms of the pol3aners and other products. This
is the meaning of feed stock in the administration's proposal.
Aluminum smelting uses direct current electricity to split alu-

minum oxide into alimiinum metal and oxygen. A molten gdu-
minum collects at the bottom of the cell where it is drawn ofT peri-

odically. ContrEiry to claims advanced by some industry sources,
electricity does not contribute net electrons to the reaction that
contributes the energy that causes the chemical reaction to occur.
Now if you followed that.

Senator Baucus. I see. [Laughter.]
Secretary BE^r^SEN. Let me say to you, Senator, it does give me

concern. It is energy intensive. As much as 3 and 4 percent added
to the cost of the product. We have not found a way to resolve that

yet. But I am sure that this Committee and the House Committee
will be further addressing that concern.

Senator Baucus. I appreciate that. On coal, the administration

suggests that the supplemental tax on oil is necessary in order to
better assure that the price of natural gas would be favored as op-
posed to petroleum products. Was the same rational used in consid-

ering the impact of the BTU tax on western coal. It hits western
coal three times harder than it affects eastern coal. That is basi-

cally because the price of western coal is much lower in the market
than the price of eastern coal.

To add to that, the transportation costs of western coal, which
are much greater than the transportation costs of eastern coal, and
you said earlier that some of the Appalachian producers felt that

they were dealt with unfairly in the Clean Air Act. That is the first

I have he£ird of that.

I managed the Clean Air Act on the Floor of the Senate. Basi-

cally, all these regional imbalances were worked out when we
passed the Clean Air Act in the Senate. I am quite concerned that
the affect of the BTU tax will hit western coal producers three
times greater than eastern coal producers.

I was curious whether the administration is aware of that and
if so how the administration might respond to it.

Secretary Bentsen. Senator, I get some quite different numbers.
I show on sub-bituminous coal that the percent of the price is 19.4

percent; gind on bituminous coal it is 16.8 percent. It is not really
a very big difference.
The Chairman. Could you help us with sub- bituminous? Is that

western?

Secretary Bentsen. Well, the sub-bituminous is the western coal
as I understand it. Bituminous is the eastern coal.

Senator Baucus. Well, the figures I have—and everybody has his
own figures—is that in Wyoming and Montana the percent increase
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due to the tax will be 70 percent to 90 percent versus eastern coal

with 29 percent. I was just handed these figures. I don't know the
source of them.

Secretary Bentsen. Well, let me state

Senator Baucus. It is a very deep concern of western products.
Secretary Bentsen. Let me say that this is the price differential,

percentage wise, as far as coal delivered to the utilities. Now I am
not sure at what point your numbers come from.
Senator Baucus. Well, if it is coal delivered utilities it is even

more disproportionate because of transportation costs.

Secretary Bentsen. Anyway, let's see if we can get our numbers
together. These are projections that—the question they have

brought up is that your numbers might not be adjusted for the
BTU content of the coal.

Senator Baucus. It is my understanding that you are using
downstream numbers. That is the Joint Committee's advice to me
right now. Whereas, these are upstream numbers. Let's see if we
can modify a data collection point.

Secretary Bentsen. Well, we would be happy to get into it and
see if we can reconcile these numbers.
Senator Baucus. Thank you. I see I have about ten seconds

here

Secretary Bentsen. I must
Senator Baucus. Go ahead.

Secretary Bentsen [continuing]. Say that the Department of En-

ergy projects a negligible amount of switching between eastern and
western coal due to the tax and that western coeJ production had
been projected to go rapidly over the next 20 years.

Senator BAUCUS. That might be the Department's projection. I

can just tell you having talked to producers at home, that is not
their assessment of the situation. Thank you.
The Chairman. Mr. Secretary, Senator Baucus has raised what

I think will be a very typical and repeated inquiry about specific
sectors and specific fuel. I think it would be helpful if we could ar-

range with you through Mr. Samuels a process of inquiry as to how
to sort out our numbers here.

I think, for example, there is a much lower BTU content in west-
em coal than eastern coal and so forth. It would be helpful to have
some system where we will get answers and might reach agree-
ment.

Secretary Bentsen. We would be happy to do that, Mr. Chair-

man.
The Chairman. We will share them with everybody. They just

need to be bilateral.

Secretary Bentsen. I must say we went to great lengths to try
to get regional bedance. You will never get it exactly right. And
some instances on a per capita basis, where one region comes off

better, it may to a lesser extent not for income basis per capita.
The Chairman. But your point is that, if we do not deal with this

deficit we are all in trouble.

Secretary Bentsen. We are all in trouble. That is right.
The Chairman. Senator Bradley?
Senator Bradley. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.
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Mr. Secretary, I was intrigued by testimony and the concerns
that you took into consideration of various members. Could I ask
you, is this the final list of exemptions? [Laughter.]

Secretary Bentsen. Well, I have a hunch that the Committee
will work its will and we may find some changes to the legislation
in the process.
The Chairman. Is there a motion that we declare exemptions

closed?

Senator Bradley. I so move.
Did you get support for the BTU tax with these exemptions?
Secretary Bentsen. I beg your pardon?
Senator Bradley. Did you get support for the BTU tax with

these exemptions?
Secretary Bentsen. Well, obviously so. We are responding to a

number of the concerns of members and in these instances we
thought they were equitable and some unintentional things were
happening that we had not anticipated. Senator Conrad is a good
example of it. We were double taxing that facility. That was wrong.
Senator Bradley. Let me ask you specifically about the exemp-

tion for coal seam methane from operating mines. If you are al-

ready receiving Section 29 credit, will you still fall under the ex-

emption?
Secretary Bentsen. Most coal bed methane that is qualified

under Section 29 of the Tax Code will not qualify for the exemp-
tion.

Senator Bradley. Will not?

Secretary Bentsen. Will not.

Senator Bradley. Thank you very much.
The Chairman. Thank you.
Senator Roth, you have not had a chance to speak this morning.
Senator Roth. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. It is always a pleasure

to welcome our distinguished Secretary.
Mr. Secretary, a group of us wrote you asking you to provide tax

burden tables according to adjusted gross income. The administra-
tion's t£ix distribution tables are based on family economic in-

come—or FEI. I am not objecting to that. I understand that that
has been done before.

The problem is the average American does not know what family
economic income is, but has a pretty good idea about what AGI or

adjusted gross income is because they have to put it on the top of
their own tax return.

Given the fact that the administration already pubUshes hun-
dreds of thousands of tax statistics, classified in terms of AGI, why
not provide the American people and the Congress with data on the
impact of the Clinton plan displayed by income group, defined by
AGI?
Now in answer to my letter it was pointed out that the adminis-

tration felt FEI was a better measure of income. But as I said, the
average person understands AGI and it seems to me that is infor-
mation that should be available.

Secretary Bentsen. Well, I would say. Senator, that the family
economic income approach was used under the Ford administra-
tion, was used under the Reagan administration.
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Senator Roth. Mr, Secretary, I am not quarreling with the fact
that others have used it. I am just sa3dng that whatever informa-
tion is most meaningful to the public ought to be available. I do not
understand the reluctance of the administration to provide this in-

formation.

Secretary Bentsen. Well, we think, frankly, that it is a broader
and a fairer presentation of family income and we also have, of

course, a situation where Congress' Joint Tax Committee, it does
not use the AGI for that purpose either. We think it is more rep-
resentative. That is why. Senator.
Senator ROTH. Well, as I said, we are not arguing with you sup-

pljring it on that basis. But I am arguing the fact that the public
better understands AGI.

Let me go on. I would like to know more about your estimates
of the number of jobs that will be lost as a result of this new en-

ergy tax. Now according to some figures this tax will actually radse

roughly $33 billion a year if you simply multiply the energy used
by the tax rate.

Now the Treasury estimates the amount is closer to $22 billion.

Can you tell me what is it that causes a loss of this $11 billion?

Then, in addition, as I understand your proposals, you would offset

part of the effect of energy tax by increasing food stamps, LIHEAP,
and the earned income tax credit, all of which total about $11 bil-

lion.

So as I calculate it, you are raising $33 billion a year in taxes
and losing or spending at least two-thirds of that tax. It seems to

me that is not a very rewarding measure. What figures does the
administration have as to the impact on jobs that will be lost as
a result of this?

Secretary Bentsen. I think what you have to do, Senator, is look
at the overall package of what the administration is proposing. You
are looking at something that has already had a material reduction
on interest rates and that provides additional capital at lower costs
which should lead to home building, in addition to the investment
tax credits. It should lead to further modernization and the cre-

ation of jobs and increased competitiveness of this country in the
international markets.
You would have to look at that whole package, not just the one.

Senator ROTH. Well, just let me point out that DRI McGraw-Hill,
which is a very respectable organization, predicts that it will cause
a loss of something like 400,000. Nomura Securities predicts a loss

of 400,000 jobs. The National Association of Manufacturers projects
that the plan would actuedly reduce job creation by 1.2 million over
6 years.
Would you agree that the energy tax in itself is going to have a

negative impact on job creation?

Secretary Bentsen. I would say that the energy t£ix with its im-

pact overall on deficit reduction gives us, putting that all together,
would end up creating jobs and making us more internationally
competitive.

Senator Roth. Could I just ask a following-up question?
The Chairman. Surely.
Senator Roth. I think international competitiveness is of critical

importance. And yet, it is my understanding, that this energy tax
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will particularly hit hard manufacturing industries, particularly
those that use energy. What would be the average effect

The Chairman. Can I ask you, what are the manufacturing in-

dustries that do not use energy?
Senator Roth. Well, I do not know of any. But some use it in

greater measure as the Secretary pointed out.

The Chairman. Energy intensive, I guess.
Senator RoTH. What would be the average energy tax on an

American auto sale? Do vou have any estimate?

Secretary Bentsen. On, I do not have that specific one.
The Chairman. Well, again, perhaps we can

Secretary Bentsen. We can get it for you and be happy to send
it to you.
The Chairman [continuing]. Work out that routine.

Secretary Bentsen. I don't have it on specific items of produc-
tion, such as an automobile or a tractor.

Senator Roth. I think that would be helpful, Mr. Secretary, be-
cause cars are a critical manufacturer.
The Chairman. Well, the Secretary has made the point that

apart only from Canada we have the lowest energy cost in the in-

dustrial world. Thank vou, Senator Roth.
Senator Roth. Thank you. I appreciate it.

The Chairman. Senator Conrad, you have been busily taking
notes down there.

Senator Conrad. Thank you, Mr. Chairman; and thank you, Mr.
Secretary. I wonder if we could get the very first chart that was
put up about regional differences. [A showing of a chaut.]
As I read this chart, the impact around the country is roughly

six-tenths of 1 percent. So less than 1 percent; about a half of 1

percent and roughly equivalent around the country. I think a very
good job has been done of balancing the energy tax regionally.
Maybe we could go to that next chart. Because what I want to

indicate is that while a pretty good job has been done of balancing
it regionally, there may be other unintended consequences here
with respect to individual sectors of the economy. [A showing of a
chart.]
This chart shows the impact of proposed energy tax on a typical

North Deikota wheat farm calculated by North Dakota State Uni-
versity. Roughly $1 an acre is the impact. The average size farm
in North Dakota is about 1,200 acres.

If we could go to the next chart and get to the bottom line. [A
showing of a chart.]
This shows the effect of the BTU tax on farm income. The aver-

age farm size in North Dakota is 1,200 acres. The average income
is about $17,000, just over $17,600. And at $1 an acre the BTU tax
will be $1,200 for an effect on income of 6.7 percent, which is 10
times—10 times—the effect on income of the average regionsd im-
pact around the country.
My point, Mr. Chairman and Mr. Secretary, is that agriculture

is really taking a disproportionate hit. Let me just say that when
one puts together the impact of the budget cuts, agriculture is tied
for the highest percentage cut. Then you put on top of that the cuts
to the rural electric program which disproportionately affects rural
America. And then you couple that with the BTU tax impact.
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Agriculture takes a very heavy hit. Traditionally we have ex-

empted from the diesel fuel tax, and also from the gasohne tax in
a different way. Diesel fiiel is not taxed in a way in which the
farmer experiences the tax because certificates of exemption are

provided to those who sell to farmers.
On the gasoline tax, a farmer gets a refund. He has to file for

it, but gets a refund. I just want to make the point here that while
I think you have done an excellent job of balancing the regional im-

pacts, and while I also want to say to you how very pleased I am
we are not talking about a carbon tax here today, that there are
still problems that exist with respect to impact by sector.

I hope as we go through this process that we will have a chance
to address those issues £uid perhaps you would want to respond in

some way. I just wanted to draw this to your attention at this

point. I do not think it is fair to ask for a response immediately.
I think people have to have a chance to be exposed to the informa-
tion before they have an answer to the question. I just wanted to

draw it to your attention.

Secretary Bentsen. Well, I appreciate your doing that. It is not

something which we have neglected insofar as our concern. It is

one of the reasons we responded when we were talking about etha-

nol, by some of the concerns that were being expressed by people
from farming states.

One of the side benefits, of course, for farmers—farmers are al-

ways behind in money. I know. I have been one all my life. My
famiiys business.
But these interest rates, these reductions, are going to be bene-

ficial to those farmers. If I ever saw a group that was interested
in cutting deficit financing, farmers are. That is their make-up. So
that is where we are headed, for the biggest cut in that deficit in
the history of our government. And it taikes some political courage
to do it.

And in accomplishing it, we will not get rid of all the inequities.
We are going to try. We have been working at it and I am sure
this Committee will.

Senator Conrad. I thank the Secretary.
The Chairman. We thank you. Senator Conrad.

Secretary Bentsen, in this respect we are trying to get some
agreed-on numbers here, which you are going to make very impor-
tant legislation. You mentioned metheinol.
One of the issues that comes before us is whether the production

of ethanol involves more energy than it creates. I think we really
need to have from the administration—well, we know what the Ar-
cher Daniel Ridland thinks. They told us on every editorial page
in America. But we would like to know what you think, sir.

Not now. But if you could get us some agreed-on—
Secretary Bentsen. Mr. Chairman, I can also teU you what Sen-

ator Daschle thinks because I have discussed that issue with him
at some length. I am sure that there are varying opinions on that

particular issue. But to the degree we can reconcile them, I will be

happy to reconcile them.
The Chairman. Some reconciliation we wiU call them.
Senator Breaux?
Senator Breaux. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.
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Thank you, Mr. Secretary, for coming back to the Committee. I

want to commend you and your staff for the long hours and the
late nights that you all have been putting in to develop this pro-

posal. I certainly hope that all the arrangements are not yet com-

pleted and the door has not been shut as we develop the final prod-
uct that the full Senate £uid House will be voting on.

There are a few other areas that need to be looked at I would
respectfully suggest. But I think that you made a real effort at try-

ing to take into consideration most of the concerns.
But my first point is, why do not we just all recognize that the

consumer is ultimately going to pay this tax £uid quit fiddling
around with where are we going to put the tax. Why not just go
ahead and impose the tax after oil leaves the refinery, gas leaves
the city gate? We are asking American consumers to pay a tax to

reduce the deficit, spend on infrastructure, and other wise invest-

ment areas.
I think that there are some that would argue that it looks like

we are trying to hide the tax. We are just making it very difficult

and probably unfair hiding the tax instead of imposing it when the
consumer consumes the product.

Secretary Bentsen. Well, let's address that one. Let me say that,
for example, taxing natural gas when it is received by the local dis-

tribution company removes approximately 60 million taxpayers
fi*om the system. That should significantly reduce the IRS's collec-

tion problems.
The tax must also be imposed upstream, particularly in the case

of electricity, to encourage energy efficiency and fuel switching. It

will not be done otherwise. Electric utilities and their regulators
have no incentive to change current fuel patterns. If instead of tax-

ing fuel used by the utility, the tax on electricity was imposed on
the ultimate consumer.

I think the pass through of the taix to the end user will achieve
the administration's energy conservation goals. That is what we
have sought to do.

Senator Breaux. I am concerned that some utilities and some
suppliers are going to have incredible problems with the local Pub-
lic Service Commissioners who are not going to bite the bullet and
not allow the tax to be passed through. They are going to play
games with the whole process.
You know, I think when a tax is going to be a consumer tax, we

ought to recognize that fact and let the consumer see it and let

them decide if it is costing too much they can use less. That is a

point we can debate on.

I just think that we ought to go ahead and make sure that the
tax is passed through. It is not politically a nice thing to do, but
I do not feel that anybody feels that we are kidding them and they
are not going to ultimately pay it. The ultimate consumer is going
to pay.
My second concern with all this, Mr. Secretary—and we have

had discussions with your staff—is that if this tax decreases con-

sumption, I am afraid it is going to decrease the consumption of
the highest priced oil, which obviously is domestic oil. I think it

would be very unfortunate for us to decrease the attractiveness of
domestic oil £ind make it more attractive to import oil.
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Now I know your figures say it is going to decrease oil imports
by 1 percent. But I am really concerned that what we are going to
be doing is making it much more difficult, particularly for deep
water oil, which is not being produced now because the price is too
low. If we increase the cost of energy and oil, I think we wipe out

any hope of any deep water production from ever occurring.
I am concerned about making our domestic production even more

unattractive vis-a-vis imports.
Secretary Bentsen. Let me say. Senator, I was concerned about

that and I kept asking. I said, can you assure me that we are not

penalizing domestic production which we are so dependent on. An
industry that has an incredible loss of emplojonent and has really
had a very difficult time when we are trying to encourage.
They assured me that that would just not be the case, that every

barrel of that domestic oil would be sold, and that the loss in pro-
duction would be insofar as foreign oil and the curtailment in the

dependence on foreign oil, which you and I both share. We wanted
to get away from that kind of
Senator Breaux, Is there any possibility of considering some-

thing that could be done to be helpful for a deep water type of pro-
duction? Is that something that needs to be explored?

Secretary Bentsen. Senator, I do not think I am prepared to

comment about that at this point.
Senator Breaux. What about chemical manufacturing, which is

very important in my state and I know in your own state as well?

They tell me that the tax is going to greatly make exports more un-

attractive, less viable, and imports much more attractive.

We saw that happen when we passed the Superfund Telx, that

imports dramatically increased and exports dramatically decreased.
I have a real concern that the same is going to happen in this case
because the margin is so very thin in these products.

Secretary Bentsen. Let me say you are quite right in that my
state that I represented so long here in the Senate is heavy in

petro-chemicals, as is your state. I checked that. They tell me inso-

far, with our exemption for feed stocks, that we will not have a

problem in that regard. I have been assured of that time and time

again.
The Chairman. Thank you, Senator Breaux.
Mr. Secretary, can I ask a point of importance to this Commit-

tee? We have from the Treasury your final proposal in this matter,
do we not?

Secretary BENTSEN. Yes.
The Chairman. Thank you very much. That is very important.
Senator Daschle?
Senator Daschle. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Before I address my question to the Secretary, let me just re-

spond to a point that you just made about ethanol. There have
been a number of independent studies done showing that, when
compared to the way we produce gasoline from oil, there is a net

positive energy balance in the production of ethanol.
I would be happy to share them with you, and with other mem-

bers of the committee, because I know it is a concern that comes
up from time to time.

The Chairman. The issue was raised. It can be resolved.



21

Senator Daschle. Right.
Mr. Secretary, let me commend you, too, for the manner in which

you proposed
this tax. I think that you have done it in a way that

is frankly essential if you are going to make a proposal of this mag-
nitude.

You have attempted to make it fair by applying it to energy con-

sumption as broadly as possible. You have confronted the problem
of regressivity by increasing the earned income tax credit for those
people whose incomes fall below $30,000. You have diminished its

effect on small business by advocating the investment t£ix credit
and the extension of health insurance deductions. And finally, you
have recognized that struggling new energy alternatives that are
environmentally advantageous deserve special attention as they
compete in the marketplace.
As you said, no one likes new taxes. But I think if we are serious

about reducing the deficit, if we are truthful about the fact that we
cannot do it with cuts alone, then you have raised revenue, in my
view, in as fair a manner as one can find.

What concerns me is the tremendous amount of misinformation,
inaccuracy and misunderstanding that have resulted from this pro-
posal. It is hearings hke this that I hope will clarify some of this.

Senator Conrad raised a very serious concern on the part of

many people in agriculture. I want to pursue that question a Uttle
bit with you. The North Dakota study is one that has been brought
to my attention, as well.

They indicate that for a family earning $17,000 the impact of the
BTU tax would be about $1,200. What I wonder, and I have not
been able to get the answer, is whether that is before or after the
EITC has been applied. It is my understanding that it is before.
Once you apply the earned income tax credit, the $1,200 is sub-
stantially reduced, and this creates a completely different set of cir-

cumstances in terms of the impact of the BTU tax on the farmer.
Could you comment on that, please?

Secretary Bentsen. Senator, the EITC for a family of four of
$15,000 of income is $1,012 a year. The EITC is phased in faster
than the BTU tax.

Senator Daschle. Well, let me ask you, you say $1,000.
Secretary Bentsen. Yes. Let me say in turn, that is not the total.

That is an increase that you can direct right toward the BTU tax.
Senator Daschle. You said $1,040?
Secretary Bentsen. $1,012.
Senator DASCHLE. $1,012.
Secretary Bentsen. That is an increase, a net increase in that.
Senator Daschle. Net increase in the EITC?
Secretary Bentsen. That is correct.
Senator Daschle. Okay. So if you took the $1,200 and subtracted

from that the $1,012 you would get roughly—you are talking about
$188. So, would that not then be the real calculation that a farmer
who had a $17,000 income would look at if he were to try to exam-
ine its impact on agriculture?

Secretary Bentsen. That is right. That is true, without any con-
sideration for any reduction in interest rates on mortgages.
Senator Daschle. Could you also describe for me how you ar-

rived at this six-tenths of 1 percent? You mentioned in your testi-
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mony, I believe, that it is four-tenths of 1 percent for farmers; six-

tenths of 1 percent overall in that geographic area.
Could you elaborate a little bit more on how that calculation was

derived?

Secretary Bentsen. As far as regional balance?
Senator Daschle. Well, no, just in terms of how it was cal-

culated 1 percent in overall

Secretary Bentsen. They took the direct energy costs. Then they
took total energy costs, indirect, too, as to what costs would be in
that regard and applied it on a per capita basis, and that is related
to an income basis of the individual. Those were the final numbers
they gave me. I cannot give you the actual actuarial computations.

Senator DASCHLE. I think for the record, Mr. Secretary, it would
be very helpful if you could supply that.

Secretary Bentsen. All right.
Senator Daschle. Because I think that is going to be a matter

of great interest as we go through these deliberations.

Secretary Bentsen. Good.
Senator Daschle. I would personally like to be able to see that

because I think that's really the crux of it. If, indeed, that figure
is as accurate as I hope it is, then I think that a lot of the mis-

understanding about its overall impact is going to have to be reex-
amined and clarified. And certainly that calculation is key to the
clarification.

I have additional questions, Mr. Chairman, but I realize my time
is up. I thank you, Mr. Secretary.

Secretary Bentsen. Surely.
The Chairman. Thank you. Senator Daschle. Once again we see

the use we are going to get out of better formal submissions of the

way we calculate numbers and the way we got our numbers.
Senator Hatch?
Senator Hatch. Thsink you, Mr. Chairman.

Secretary Bentsen, I am happy to see you again.
Secretary Bentsen. It is good to be back. Thank you.

OPENING STATEMENT OF HON. ORRIN G. HATCH, A U.S.

SENATOR FROM UTAH
Senator Hatch. Let me just say that I agree with both Senators

Conrad £ind Daschle, that it seems to me this energy tax dispropor-
tionately affects and hurts farmers and it is much higher than
what the estimates given by the administration indicate. The aver-

age farm family is going to pay a lot more.
I partially disagree with Senator Breaux in saying that consum-

ers are ultimately going to pay this energy tax. I thmk that is true
to a large degree. But a lot of those farmers are not going to be
able to pass those additionsd costs on. They wiU not be able to get
a higher price for their products in the market place. And if they
do, of course, everj^hing else goes up exponentially. So I am really
concerned about it.

On the coal, I agree with Senator Baucus that western coal

seems to suffer three times the disproportionate effect of eastern
coal. Now western coal is high moisture, low sulphur content, high
BTU, environmentally sound coal. Eastern coal is low moisture,
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high sulphur, less environmentally sound coal. In other words, you
need to blend it to do it.

But if we are going to give the benefit to the eastern coal versus
the western coal, it seems to me that flies in the face of the admin-
istration's environmental concerns. We are very concerned about it

out there.

In Utah, for instance, we have two counties that basically

produce little besides coal. This is going to be devastating to them
and they will not be able to compete.

I would like to just say that when the President announced his

deficit reduction pleui in February, he told us that the BTU tax on
a family of four earning $40,000 per year would be $17 per month
or $204 per year. Now, that $204 per year was represented as an
almost harmless, minimal sacrifice that the administration felt peo-

ple would be glad to pay in the interest of deficit reduction.

However, the latest information that my office has received fi"om

Treasury, from the administration, now indicates that the impact
for a family of four of the energy tax on my home state of Utah
would be at least $416 per year. I am concerned about that new
estimate.

By the Treasury's own admission, the impact of the energy tax

on a family in Utah would be more them double what it was esti-

mated just 2 months ago. And just last fall we were led to beheve
as Americans that the Clinton plan would not raise taxes for any-
one but the very wealthy.
But this seems to, again, be a disproportionate burden on those

who are not wealthy, but who are less wealthy and certainly in

many cases almost poor. All of the administration's statements con-

cerning an energy tax had stressed the supposedly small impact of

such attacks on direct household and business spending on energy.
Now, in fact, the latest Treasury estimates, as shown by the

chEirt that was up there a few minutes ago, show that Utahans
would only pay an extra .63 percent or about half of 1 percent of

their disposable income on higher energy taxes.

Estimates from my state indicate the direct costs of the tax, once
it is fiilly implemented, could be approximately $190 million in re-

sources being trsmsferred from Utah consumers and businesses to

the Federal Government.
Do you have any additional information that details the direct

cost to households and businesses from this modified BTU tax?

Secretary Bentsen. Let me say. Senator, in just talking to staff,

we do not have any numbers that follow the numbers that you
have given me. I £im not sure where those numbers come from.

Senator Hatch. Well, I have a sheet here that is called, "Descrip-
tion of Modified BTU Tax," which I beheve was put out by Treas-

ury. These numbers show that the impact on consumers of energy
tax by region that a lot of states would be .63 and $104 per capita
tax increase right here. That comes right from your office.

Secretary Bentsen. But you just gave me a number far beyond
that one.

Senator Hatch. Really, that is a family of four, $416.

Secretary Bentsen. Is that what you just said?

Senator Hatch. Oh, yes, I was talking about a family of four
which is what the President said. It would be about $204, 2 months
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ago for a family of four. Now it is up to $416 and that is just the
direct costs.

Secretary Bentsen. Senator, we do not know where that number
comes from.
Senator Hatch. Well, it comes right out of your own—maybe I

have somebody else's document, but I think this is from Treasury.
It is entitled, the "Description of Modified BTU Tax." Maybe I am
reading it wrong, but I do not see how I can read it wrong.

Secretary Bentsen. You are multiplying the per capital times
four, is that what you are doing?
Senator Hatch. By four. A family of four. It says per capita. It

does not say per family. So $104 times four is $416 per family.

Secretary Bentsen. Your problem is that a family's consumption
of energy does not rise by four, not at all.

Senator Hatch. Well, then why do they use an amount per cap-
ita then?

Secretary BENTSEN. Well
Senator Hatch. I am not trying to give you a rough time. I just

want to point that out. [Laughter.]
You are the last guy on earth I would try to give a rough time

to, I tell you.
Secretary Bentsen. It seems to me it is incomplete. Let us take

a look at that.

Senator Hatch. I have a lot of other questions that I think could
be considered giving a rough time to the Secretary.

Secretary BENTSEN. Your problem, Senator, one person—four

people do not necessarily, obviously, use four times, living together,
do not necessarily use four times as much energy.
Senator Hatch. Okay. Maybe they ought to use a different defi-

nition than per capita.

Secretary Bentsen. Perhaps.
Senator Hatch. I think it might be a little bit better.

Secretary Bentsen. Okay.
Senator Hatch. But that is the way I read that.

Excuse me, Mr. Chairman, if I could take just one more minute.
The Chairman. Senator Hatch, I just want to get order so you

can be heard.
Senator Hatch. Yes, just one sentence. I appreciate that.

My belief is that when you add in the indirect costs and the ex-

ponential add-ons that every business is going to add on to the ulti-

mate consumer, it is going to be much higher than that. I do not
think there is any question about it. But again I am not trying
to

Secretary BENTSEN. Well, I must say they took behavior response
into consideration, obviously, in trying to come down with these
numbers.
Senator Hatch. Well, I think your numbers are pretty low. They

have got to be low, Mr. Secretary. They have to be. And whoever
is doing them is taking the absolute lowest scenario.

Secretary Bentsen. Well, they took behavior response and they
tried to take all direct and all indirect costs in coming up with that
number.
The Chairman. Can I just
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Secretary Bentsen. Let me say, in no way did we try to influ-

ence the number. We were asking for reality. That is what we have
been able to receive, we hope.
The Chairman. Mr. Secretary, may I say that I do not think we

have Senator Hatch's vote yet. But when this table is emerging, no

doubt, will he see things in another point of view. Then again,
there is going to be more data coming. Thank you. Senator Hatch.
Senator Boren?

OPENING STATEMENT OF HON. DAVID L. BOREN, A U.S.

SENATOR FROM OKLAHOMA
Senator BoREN. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman. I want to

associate myself with the remarks about agriculture made earlier

by Senator Conrad, who I think expressed the situation very well.

I want to turn to another matter briefly, Mr. Secretary. That is

to the problem of lifting cost to oil and gas production. I want to

say first of all, of course no one knows more than you about the
economics of the oil and gas industry. I appreciate the fact that the
administration has already been sensitive to this problem and the

depressed state of the industry as it has considered the collection

point question with the BTU t£ix.

I just received the information this year from the Oklahoma Geo-

logical Survey in the last few days, which indicates that in 1993

my state, for example, will produce less than 100 million barrels

of crude oil. That is the first time that that has happened since

1919. So, virtually since the discovery of oil and the production in

commercial quantities, this will be the lowest year on record.

That trend is mirrored around the country, as you well know.
The rig count is still hovering around 600 which is a historic low
for the industry. One of the things that concerns me especially is

the fact that the BTU tax will have a potentially very harmful ef-

fect on our stripper and marginal production.
In our state, for example, 73,000 of our wells, about three-fourths

of them, are classified as stripper wells, producing very little oil at

very high cost. Some of our wells are even producing 100 barrels
of salt water for every barrel of oil.

This, of course, causes a huge pumping cost. Most of this pump-
ing is done by electric motor as you know, Mr. Secretary. I com-
mend the administration for containing an exemption in your BTU
proposal for natural gas use for enhanced oil recovery of heavy oil.

I think this makes a great deal of sense.
But I am very concerned that we are going to have the pre-

mature plugging of some of these marginal and stripper wells
where the cost of electricity for pumping that oil is so high we are

already right at the margin. They are barely breaking even. We
lost 2,000 of those well in Oklahoma in the last 2 years that were
plugged because the lifting costs, primarily electric, finally ex-

ceeded the value that you could get from the well.

I am wondering if any consideration could be given to one of two
things. Either expsinding the exemption to include the cost of en-

ergy use for lifting oil or enhanced recovery of fossil fiael as well
as the use of natural gas or enhanced recovery. Or perhaps some
kind of a credit for marginal or stripper weUs it would help offset
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the increased cost of electricity on these marginal and stripper
wells.

I realize this may be the first time this issue has been raised.

I do not expect you to give me a definitive yes or no at this point.
But I wanted to rsiise the problem and put it on the radar screen
at Treasury and express the hope that at least there might be some
consideration given to this particular cost as it is involved in en-

ergy production and these very fi-agile, very marginal wells that
otherwise might be plugged.

Secretary Bentsen. Senator, you make some very valid points
about the problems of the industry and they are a serious concern
for all of us. You and I and Senator Wallop, Senator Breaux, Sen-
ator Conrad, Senator Baucus, a number of us, worked very hard on
that last year. And we made some major headway in that regard
and major concession to independent producers to try to assist

them in that.

If there is anjrthing further to be done, we have not presented
it in the legislation. And as I have told the Chairman, our legisla-
tion is complete and we now turn it over for consideration of this

Committee and the Ways and Means Committee in the House.
Senator BOREN. Well, Mr. Secretary, I would just hope perhaps

at least to have considered the increased cost of electricity on mar-

ginal wells, that it might be something we would at least look at

or that you might keep an open mind as we look at that in the
Committee.

Secretary Bentsen. Thank you.
Senator BoREN. Thank you.
The Chairman. Thank you, Senator Boren.
Senator Durenberger?

OPENING STATEMENT OF HON. DAVE DURENBERGER, A U.S.

SENATOR FROM MINNESOTA
Senator DURENBERGER. Mr. Chairman, thank you.
Mr. Secretary, I guess, as Winston Churchill once said about

Americans, we always end up doing right, but only after we have
tried everjkhing else. This committee has always struck me as a
wonderful microcosm of America because we represent so many
varied interests in this country.
The one difference between this Committee and the average

American is we usually get to do the right thing ahead of most
other people. I think that has been your experience, but, again,

only after we have tried everything else, which is what this hearing
seems to be all about.

I would like to reflect a concern that has been consistently ex-

pressed today about rural America in rural Minnesota. It is not

just the combination with the increased fuel tax on barges and the
cutback on the estate taxes and a lot of other things. It is the re-

ality that rural Americans have been living as pricetakers for so

long in our society that is very difficult for them to deal with in-

creased costs.

So I would first just add that personal reflection fi'om my part
of the country, to what you have heard fi^'om others.

A second thought is that this tax has two values, I would say,
as a tax. One is that it is broad-based and the other is that it is
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based on consumption, and I like both of those. But the temptation
in a tax system Hke that is to create exemptions and we are begin-
ning to hear some of them already. We heard some of them on the
floor of the Senate.

I would just express a concern about the known temptation that
all of us cannot resist the urge to add exemptions to a broad-based,
consumption oriented tax.

A third is an observation learned over the last couple of weeks
in particular, that is: We have to ask "a tax for what?" It is just
an observation from a friend that says, unless we can get behind
us some of the issues that have been created between us, the ad-

ministration—and not just Republicans, but a lot of the rest of us
here—about what it is we are doing with the fiscal process here,
it is going to be very, very difficult to sell even a very good tax in

my State of Minnesota and I do not classify this as a good tax.

The fourth issue that I might ask you to comment on as others

may have is the issue of international competitiveness. We have all

of the taconite that goes into American steel, practically. There is

a little in northern Michigan and some comes out of Canada. But
we have much of the raw material that goes into American steel

today.
We have a large proportion, for a relatively small state, of the

paper that is produced. Some of the related wood products that are

produced in this country as well.

It is that experience that reflects an obvious concern and that is

that the one area in which American industry has an advantage
over its competitors has been the cost of energy.
And to the degree that government decides to raise the cost of

energy, it does so disproportionately across a wide variety of Amer-
ican industry. That will have not only an impact on those indus-

tries, of which the two that I have mentioned are highly competi-
tive. Of course we in effect protect, to some degree, with trigger

pricing and other mechanisms, American steel. But paper is highly
competitive, particularly with northern Europe and some other
£ireas.

So on the margin this tax overcomes the current advantage we
have and perhaps could become in some cases a disadvantage. I

have read your paper which says its impact, a cross manufacturing
in America, is only one-tenth of 1 percent. But in taconite I am told
it is around 1 percent, a little bit over; and in paper, it is probably
somewhere between five- and seventh-tenths of a percent.
That may seem small, but in industries with marginal profits, it

is a fair factor. And in the Congress, which may have a temptation
to raise rates, it is a deep concern.

Secretary Bentsen. Let me say. Senator, on the various points
you have raised, the one about farming, for example, that is one
of the reasons we did some of the things we did in the way of ex-

emptions that you are talking about on ethanol. We did that one.

The other one insofar as what it will do for interest rates, we think
it is something that will be quite beneficial to farmers. Most of
them owe something on that farm.

And, hopefully, they will be able to do some refinancing that far,
far pays many times over for whatever the increased energy costs
are.
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You mentioned one, I wasn't quite sure what you mean insofar
as the estate taxes. There were a lot of rumors that there was
going to be a curtailment in the exemption, the $600,000 exemp-
tion, on estate taxes. No such thing has been proposed.

Senator Durenberger. Very good.
Secretary Bentsen. And I have heard no consideration of that

one.
Senator Durenberger. I am pleased to hear that.

Secretary Bentsen. I would not have concern about that one.

Now insofar as the international competitiveness and where
there are energy-intensive industries, the most that we have been
able to find, the most intense, was an increase in the cost of the
end product by 3 to 4 percent. That is of some concern.

I would also state though that in comparison to the other G—7
countries that our energy costs, even after the implementation of

this tax, full implementation in 1997, it would still be substantially
below all of those countries with the possible exception of Canada
and that depends on some balance configured one way or the other,
that one or the other has the advantage. But overall, we remain

extremely competitive.
Senator Durenberger. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
The Chairman. Thank you. Senator Durenberger.
Senator Riegle?

OPENING STATEMENT OF HON. DONALD W. RIEGLE, JR., A U.S.

SENATOR FROM MICfflGAN

Senator Riegle. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Let me welcome the Secretary here this morning. I am generally

in support of the President's program taken as a whole. There are
some concerns about the energy part, mostly about whether it is

balanced exactly right.
I might just say that in Michigan we rank among the ten highest

energy-consuming states because of the size of our manufacturing
base and we are the fourth largest exporting state. So the whole

question of how these additional energy taxes come in on the cost

of production and work their way through the system is a concern
to me.

I want to associate my remarks with those earlier of Senator
Conrad in expressing a concern about how this comes in on agri-
culture. We are a very large agricultural state as well and I am
concerned about whether we have a load coming in there in the

area of the economy that I think is struggling more and more all

the time.
I w£uit to bring to your attention a little mailer that one of our

two utility companies in Michigan has sent out now to all of the

people that they service in their part of the state.

This is the Consumer's Power Company. On one side they have
the names and addresses of all the members of our congressional

delegation and, of course, two Senators, and a map as to who is

where. Then on the other side they have a summary. The essence

of this: it says, "Energy taxes could cost you an additioned $400 a

year."

They go on then to state some conclusions. They say the proposed
broad-based taxes would raise your energy bills by approximately
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$150 per year depending upon your consumption. Then they have
as a second point, that the energy tax would increase the cost of

Michigan gocKls and services you consume by an additional $250 a

year. Then they raise an issue about global competitiveness in

terms of us being able to sell as effectively in global markets.
I would appreciate it if somebody who is on top of this in the

Treasury Department would take this. I am sure it is typical of

what is around in other places in the country. I would Hke a re-

sponse to it as to what you would see in reference, a response to

the arguments that they make so that I can see how the analysts
and react to the assertions made in this particular instance.

Secretary Bentsen. Senator, we would be happy to do that. I

think any time you get a tax, and a major one, there is going to

be contentions and you are going to find the interest groups re-

sponding to that and trying to sway opinions.
A good example of that is the API and what we are seeing there,

the American Petroleum Industry, which has major oil companies,
many of them with most of their reserves and production overseas.

This will curtail the importation of oil by some 400,000 barrels a

day. I am sure that disturbs them.

They have put out some numbers that do not agree with our
numbers. I do not know what brings about that difference. We are

trying to analyze them now. We will be delighted to look at those

numbers.
Senator RiEGLE. Well, I think it would be useful. I would like to

have, so that I can put side-by-side
—I mean they have taken a look

at it and they have drawn one set of conclusions.

SecretEuy Bentsen. We would be happy to.

Senator Riegle. I would like to see your analysts look at that

how you see it on the other side.

Secretary Bentsen. Fine.

Senator RiEGLE. Also, I have a question regarding how we stack

up with our international competitors, particularly our major G-7
competitors around the world. When you look at their energy costs

as a cost of production and you look at ours, ours have been lower,
have they not?

Secretary BENTSEN. Oh, yes. And even after the implementation
of this tax wiU remain substantially lower with the possible excep-
tion of Canada where we are in balance.

Senator RiEGLE. Some have said that the higher energy costs in

Europe, in Japan, reflect essentially higher gasoline taxes, which
some say is more a tax on consumption and not a broad-based en-

ergy tax which would be something like a BTU tax, which would
be seen more as a tax on production.
But what is the essential argument as to why a BTU tax is pref-

erable to a gasoline t£tx?

Secretary Bentsen. What you run into is different impacts on
different regions. Now you take the farming area of your state, and
of my state, and there are a number of these states around here,

you would use a very disproportionate amount of gasoline as com-

pgired to some of the larger cities that have mass transit, that t)^e
of thing.
So the impact regionally was quite different and we were trying

to get as much regional balance as we could. If you take a look at
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the coal tax, the carbon tax, it would be hitting the coal states very
hard and they would carry a disproportionate burden in that re-

gard. So we chose not to take that one.

As you look at an import tax on oil, I can imagine what kind of
a filibuster we would get out of the northeast on that one and the

disproportionate impacts. So those are the things we tried to bal-

ance off in taxing sources for the BTU tax, plus hoping to cut back
on pollution and further dependence on foreign oil.

Senator Riegle. Well, we do not need any more filibusters. We
have one too many right now.
Thank you.
The Chairman. Thank you, Senator Riegle.

May I just respond to the Secretary? It has been an enormously
complex task that you have taken on and you have done it very
well. I do not have to tell you that we would not settle for a gaso-
line tax like that. We would take the subways. And you for some
reason did not think that was the best approach. That is under-

standable, too.

Senator Wallop would not settle for a gasoline tax.

Senator Wallop. No, sir. I hope to not to have to settle for this

one either. [Laughter.]
Secretary Bentsen. You come as a great surprise to me, Senator.

I thought you would be very enthusiastic about this.

Senator Wallop. I thought you might think that.

Mr. Secretary, I have cufferent information, I think, than what
you are producing for the Committee as to the energy costs of our
G—7 competitors. I think you were talking about gasoline costs.

Secretary Bentsen. No, sir. I am talking about more than that.

Gasoline is very dramatic. We are talking about more.
Senator Wallop. Well, the Europeans provide massive subsidies

for energy and utility fuels. Most European nations, industrial na-

tions, appear to take full advantage of the European community's
rule allowing them to subsidize their energy sector by up to 20 per-
cent. You are still saying with that subsidy that they would have

higher cost energy than ours?

Secretary Bentsen. Senator, I am so advised.
Senator Wallop. Mr. Secretary, I would hope maybe that we

could get this information verified because it is completely different

information than we have.

Secretary Bentsen. Fine.

Senator Wallop. Especially in Britain and France. I think that
this is not the case.

Secretary Bentsen. Well, let me give you an example then that

they give me. Here are some of the countries that are involved.

Italy levies a special tax on light fuel oil used by industry that is

182 percent of the pre-tax price. France, Germany, Italy and the
United Kingdom, all a part of the G-T, all impose special taxes on

heavy oil, fuel oil, used by industry that range from 11 percent in

the U.K. to over 65 percent in Italy of the pre-tax price.
Senator Wallop. But then the subsidy comes in up to 20 per-

cent. Is that not correct?

Secretary Bentsen. I do not have that.

Senator Wallop. Well, I think that is maybe a worthwhile pur-
suit. Again, dealing with international competitiveness, I think
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people have asked my questions about the costs and you even men-
tioned something about the costs of production of oil and agri-
culture.

But it is my understanding, as I understand the GATT rules,
that the BTU tax as you have currently formulated it and as it ap-

plies to U.S. products, is not border adjustable. Is that correct?

Secretary Bentsen. That is correct.

Senator Wallop. Well, why should we not make it border adjust-
able?

Secretary Bentsen. Well, if we did that, I am sure that would
be a GATT violation. I assume it would be.

Senator Wallop. It depends on where and at what moment in

which you apply it.

Secretary Bentsen. Well, we would run into problems imme-
diately with GATT and we would certainly have problems with the
U.S.-Canada Free Trade Agreement.
Senator Wallop. Well, some would say that this is pretty close

to a direct subsidy on Canadian energy, depending on how you
Secretary Bentsen. I would not share that viewpoint.
Senator Wallop. And there is another figure around that has

been presented uncontested to the Energy Committee that this tax,
in fact, increases our oil imports by 100,000 barrels a day, not de-

creases them by 400,000.

Secretary BENTSEN. Senator, that is dramatically different from
the numbers I am given.

Senator Wallop. Well, I think both have come from the adminis-
tration. Would there be a way for us to reconcile them?

Secretary Bentsen. I don't think they can be reconciled, those
numbers. But I will be happy to look at it.

Senator Wallop. Is that light off?

The Chairman. No, sir.

Senator Wallop. All right, thank you.
I am concerned by the statement in yesterday's New York Times

that the administration is considering a major announcement on
global climate change policy which could freeze by the year 2000
greenhouse omissions at 1990 levels. If this new policy is an-

nounced, won't there be enormous pressure on you to raise the
BTU tax to make this commitment?

Secretary Bentsen. I do not anticipate such and I have not seen
the administration's progrEun finalized.

Senator Wallop. According to the Department of Energy, which
has a very optimistic view of this tax, I must say, the BTU tax
would cut greenhouse gas emissions by only some 25 million metric
tons by the year 2000. And we will be producing nearly 100 million
more in 2000 than we were in 1990.

Secretary BENTSEN. Senator, that is not within the jurisdiction
of my Department.
Senator Wallop. Well, one of the problems that we have is that

once you introduce new forms of control of public behavior it is

easiest to use that form down the road. I mean, if there is anything
that we have learned—you have learned and that I have learned—
is that new taxes are virtually irrevocable and they are used as the

simplest forms of gaining other public behavioral responses.
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Secretary Bentsen. Senator, I have not found the increase in

any tax easy.
Senator Wallop. It is not easy, but it is easier to increase the

tax that is on the table than to find yet another one.

Secretary Bentsen. I have no anticipation of that.

Senator Wallop. Mr. Chairman, could I ask that the statement
I have be inserted in the record?
The Chairman. Of course.

Senator Wallop. An opening statement. Thank you.
The Chairman. Thank you, Senator Wallop.
And now the last of our first round, and perhaps we are going

to be sensitive to the Secretary's demands elsewhere. Senator

Grassley?

OPENING STATEMENT OF HON. CHARLES E. GRASSLEY, A U.S.
SENATOR FROM IOWA

Senator Grassley. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Thank you, Mr. Secretary, for spending so much time with us.

Let me tell you I appreciate a person who understands agriculture,
being in the high position you are in. I think that that was best

represented by the fact that you did see the importance of the etha-
nol issue and the decision you made on that. Thank you very much
for that letter.

My questions, too, deal a little bit with agriculture. If I could re-

iterate what Mr. Conrad has stated so well, that maybe the dis-

proportionate effect that the BTU tax has on agriculture. You prob-
ably are aware of some figures from the American Farm Bureau
Federation. They stated that the average 400 acre com and soy-
bean farmer might pay an additional $1,600 in taxes. That would
be $800 direct and $800 indirect.

And, of course, I understand the administration's view of lower
interest rates and lower interest rates have already helped agri-
culture to some extent. But I do not believe that lower interest

rates are a guarantee like obviously the increase in this tax and
its impact on agriculture is.

I say like two or three of my colleagues have said, it is very dif-

ficult for a farmer to pass that on. Again, not to throw out a figure
that you would necessarily have to justify at this point, but, there
is one other figure regarding some disagreement on what house-
hold costs might be from the BTU tax.

Our Iowa Department of Natural Resources which has jurisdic-
tion over the energy costs in our state, has estimated that the BTU
tax—this would be the Iowa State Government—has estimated
that the BTU tax would cost the average family of four, now a fam-

ily of four and not per capita, over $300 per year.
So, you know, I do think that even though the ethanol thing is

very much appreciated and it will be helpful, if we have a BTU tax
I think overall it could be disproportionately harmful to my state.

Now then I want to go on to some things that I think would
make it just a little bit more difficult and then ask for your com-
ment. Speaking of exemptions, I was very disappointed that the
525 percent increase in the inland waterway or barge tax remained
in the President's budget despite the fact that there was an over-

whelming sense of a Senate vote of 88 to 12 against it.



33

Then I think it was right after that that the President himself
or somebody close to him indicated that he would reconsider it and
maybe he did reconsider it. I do not want to say he did not recon-
sider it. But he did then turn around and leave it right in his budg-
et.

This would have an estimated additional cost of 9 cents to 18
cents a bushel for transportation costs of grain. So my first ques-
tion is, is the administration still going to consider doing away with
the barge tax proposal or is it now a firm part of your plan?

Secretary Bentsen. Senator, it is a part of our plan. Obviously,
it will be given consideration by this Committee and by the Ways
and Means Committee. What you have seen since 1986, various

legislative initiatives to increase non-Federal cost sharing in Army
Corps of Engineer projects and operating costs for special projects
now entirely financed by user fees, while the Federal Government
continues to finance part or all of the capital costs.

So that part of that initiative obviously is going to be subject to

consideration.
Senator Grassley. Well, thank you very much. I hope that you

will help us do that. I think it is going to be very difficult for us
to do it by ourselves because, you know, it is only one part of the

equation. If you do something some place, you have to come up
with something some place else.

In regard to the tax as it relates to coal, now I know you have
made a decision to move it from the point of mining to the utility.
But has it been determined at what point the tax will be collected
at the utility? Is it going to be paid for before the coal—I suppose
the bottom line is, will it show up as a separate item in the con-
sumer's bill or will it be paid for by the utility before the coal in
a sense is consumed by the utility?

Secretary Bentsen. The tax is paid for by the utility. It would
not show up as a separate item.
Senator Grassley. Yes. But the point is, as it is coming in, in

other words before it is actually burned by the utility or after that

point?

Secretary Bentsen. As it is coming into the utility, before it is

burned.
Senator Grassley. Thank you.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
The Chairman. Thank you. Senator Grassley.
The hour of noon has arrived, and an important panel, including

the American Petroleum Institute, is up next.

Are there Senators who have distinct 15-second questions for the

Secretary?
Senator Packwood. I have two distinct 15-second questions.

One, when can we see legislative language?
Secretary Bentsen. What?
Senator Packwood. Legislative language, when will we see it?

Secretary Bentsen. We would anticipate it in the next 10 days.
Senator PACKWOOD. Oh, very good. Thank you.
The second question. I understand Senator Roth's difficulty of at-

tempting to explain family economic income to average families.
When you tell them it includes the rental value of their house and
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the value of their fringe benefits, they look at you and think you
should not be here. I understand what it is.

Do I understand the Treasury will not give to us estimates based
upon adjusted gross income, even if the members ask for them?

Secretary Bentsen. Well, let me give consideration to that, Sen-
ator. We, frankly, think that it just confuses the process. But let

us look at it.

Senator Packwood. Thank you.
The Chairman. Mr. Secretary, may I join Senator Packwood in

saying I think we should see that because we will end up seeing
it from some other source anyway.

Secretary Bentsen. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
The Chairman. Senator Roth?
Senator RoTH. A couple of quick questions.
The Chairman. No, no, very quick.
Senator Roth. Will utilities be able to itemize the amount of the

tax in their monthly bills to consumer taxpayers?
The Chairman. You only get one of those questions now.
Senator Roth. The third time does not count.

Secretary Bentsen. They advise me it would be the utility's deci-

sion along with the regulators.
Senator RoTH. I am not following.
Secretary Bentsen. They advise me it would be the utility's deci-

sion along with the regulators.
Senator Roth. You mean the state regulators?
Secretary Bentsen. Well, whatever the regulators are handling

that utility.
The Chairman. Very, very succinct.

Senator ROTH. Mr. Chairman, I would just ask that we have per-
mission to submit further.

The Chairman. Of course. All of that will be done. Somebody is

back there taking notes of all the things you agreed to send. We
are pleased that we will have legislative language. And if it takes
an extra day, that will do.

Mr. Samuels, we welcome you to this conference table. We hope
one day to confirm you. [Laughter.]
With very great appreciation, Mr. Secretary, we thank you for

coming here.

Secretary Bentsen. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I appreciate re-

turning to the Committee.
The Chairman. I have just had an occasion to talk with Mr.

Packwood. Mr. Noble's confirmation hearings will take place Mon-
day if his FBI file arrives before then. We hope to have him con-

firmed next week so he can take on the present concerns you have
about Waco.

Secretary Bentsen. Thank you very much. [Pause.]
The Chairman. Now, ladies and gentlemen, our hearing is not

concluded.
If I could ask our distinguished panelists to come forward.
We will now hear from a panel consisting of the producers of en-

ergy in our country. They are, respectfully, Mr. Victor Beghini, who
is the President of Marathan Oil from Houston and who appears
on behalf of the Americsui Petroleum Institute. Mr. Beghini, we
welcome you, sir.
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And Mr. Eugene Ames, who is chairman of the board of the
Venus Oil Company of San Antonio and you are representing the

independent producers.
Next is Mr. Robert Catell, who is a constituent and friend of

mine and is president of Brooklyn Union Gas Company. He ap-

pears on behalf of the Natural Gas Council. We welcome you, sir.

Finally, General Richard Lawson, who is president of the Na-
tional Coal Association here in Washington. General, we come you.

In the order in which our witness list is taken, first of all, Mr.

Beghini.

STATEMENT OF VICTOR G. BEGHINI, PRESIDENT, MARATHON
OIL COMPANY, HOUSTON, TX, ON BEHALF OF AMERICAN PE-
TROLEUM INSTITUTE

Mr. Beghini. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. It is a tough job to fol-

low the eloquence of Secretary Bentsen and appear before this

Committee.
The Chairman. And not nearly as tough as following that energy

flow chart.

Mr. Beghini. Well, if you spend 36 years with it as I have it be-

comes slightly simpler.
Mr. Chairman, I am President of Marathon Oil Company and I

am testifying on behalf of the American Petroleum Institute. We
endorse the President's goals of reducing the deficit, creating jobs,
and enhancing long-term economic growth and we applaud his ef-

forts to reduce spending. We are gratified that the Congress chose
to make additional cuts.

We do, however, oppose the BTU tax as part of the package.
That view is shared by the majority of Americans. A recent NBC/
Wall Street Journal poll found that 62 percent opposed the tax,
while only 35 percent favored it.

Clearly, many people are concerned about the effects on jobs and
income. We believe the BTU tax will distort energy markets, make
U.S. products less competitive in world markets and retard job
growth in the economy. By taxing production, the tax will most se-

riously affect the competitiveness of energy intensive U.S. indus-
tries such as refining, steel, lumber, aluminum, airlines and agri-
culture.

The tax will create highly inequitable results across income

groups and across regions of this country. It places the greatest
burden on middle-income Americans who spend a greater propor-
tion of their income on energy than do higher income people.
The tax will cripple the domestic refining industry, reduce do-

mestic energy production and narrow the field of competition in the

industry by driving small- to medium-size firms out of business.
Rather than enhancing the prospects that the President's overall

program will encourage U.S. economic growth, the tax actually di-

minishes the likelihood of that occurring.
The results of a recent DRI McGraw Hill study shows that by

1998, less than 1 year after full implementation, the BTU tax will

result in a loss of GDP of nearly $34 billion annually and a cor-

responding loss in jobs of about 400,000.
For all of these reasons, Mr. ChairmEin, the API urges you to re-

ject the BTU tax. However, if Congress does move forward with
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this proposal, there are a number of design issues which must be
addressed and we would hope to work with the Committee in re-

solving them.
Let me highlight four major problems. Market distortions caused

by the BTU tax are a major problem and there are a number of

factors that contribute to the distortions.

First, the rate for petroleum is two and one-third times greater
than the tax on competing fuels. This means that suppliers will not
be able to recover the supplemental oil tax in those markets where
oil companies compete directly with natural gas £uid coal. They will

either have to absorb the tax in order to compete or lose market
share to other fuels.

Second, the taxation of purchased fuel used to make fuel will

force domestically refined products to carry that imbedded cost

while imported products will not. To the extent domestic refiners

attempt to recover this additional tax cost on gasoline and other

transportation fuels, their ability to do so will be limited because
similar imported products will bear a fixed rate of tax that does not
include this embedded cost.

Two things will occur. Gasoline and other light end product im-

ports will increase and domestic refiner margins will be squeezed
even further in order to compete with imports. Both will have a

tendency to drive refining capacity off-shore with consequent U.S.

job loss and greater product imports.
The third problem, the point of tax collection, is still a major

issue. As you can see firom the energy flow chart, this tax can be
levied at any of a number of locations, each with its own set of

complications.
Imposing the tax at the refinery gate poses serious problems for

administering exemptions for petro-chemical feed stocks and other

non-fuel uses, fuel imports and the reduced rate of home heating
oil. This is because the use of many petroleum products is not

known until very far down the distribution chain.

Refinery gate tax collection also causes market distortions be-

cause of the difference in product transit times and resulting carry-

ing costs. Imposing the tax further downstream, when product
breaks bulk at a terminal rack, is crucial to alleviating many of the
market distortion problems and would simply the administration
and collection of taxes.

A fourth problem is that the tax rate is indexed to inflation. Over
the last 10 years the price of crude oil has fallen 44 percent while

inflation, as measured by the implicit price deflator, has increased
over 44 percent.

If the BTU tax on crude oil were in effect at the beginning of the

period, tax collections fi'om the industry would have increased by
almost $10 billion at a time when industry profits were depressed
and, as the Secretary mentioned this morning, 450,000 jobs were
lost.

This measure will lead to substantial erosion of real income and
cause the loss of thoussmds of jobs in the oil and gas industry.
The Chairman. Mr. Beghini, may I just say, we continue to have

time here. Please finish your statement. Take your time.

Mr. Beghini. I am essentially finished. In summary, Mr. Chair-

man, the API supports the President's goals, but has strong res-
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ervations about the BTU tax. If additional revenues are needed, we
suggest that a broad-based consumption tax would be better suited
to improving U.S. competitiveness and enhancing long-term
growth.

Nevertheless, if the committee moves forward with the BTU tax,
we want to work with you to make it less onerous and more man-
ageable. I thank you very much for this opportunity to testify.
The Chairman. We thank you. You have a different view about

where this tax should be collected. You would like to collect it at

product terminal, is that what you said?

Mr. Beghini. Yes, sir.

The Chairman. That is a judgment on which I would never dare
to presume on my own experience. But a decision has to be made
and we very much welcome it. I followed your points and we will

get to conversation.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Beghini appears in the appen-
dix.]

The Chairman. Mr. Ames?

STATEMENT OF EUGENE L. AMES, JR., CHAIRMAN OF THE
BOARD, INDEPENDENT PETROLEUM ASSOCIATION OF
AMERICA, AND CHAIRMAN, VENUS OIL COMPANY, SAN AN-
TONIO, TX
Mr. Ames. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. My name is Grene Ames

and I am an independent geologist from San Antonio, TX. I am
serving a 2-year term as chairman of the Independent Petroleum
Association of America. Independent producers actually produce 60
percent of the natural gas in the country and 40 percent of the oil.

We drilled about 80 percent of the wells, historically, back when we
were drilling weUs.

I cannot talk about BTU taxes without talking about people. The
effect of the tax as it was originally proposed on millions of Ameri-
cans and on the economic future was wrong. I am speaking for the

roughnecks, the roustabouts on the drilling rigs, the seismic crews,
the land men, the geologists, well service contractors, their employ-
ees, bulldozer operators, secretaries, others who work in the domes-
tic, natural gas and oil industry.

I am speaking for the tens of millions of people who live in the
33 states which produce gas and oil. Most of their UveUhood, and
a great deal of their economy and their state tax revenues, comes
from national gas £md oil resource production.
More than 450,000, as Mr. Beghini and Secretary Bentsen said,

more than 450,000 jobs have been lost in this industry. As survi-
vors in this industry, we are ready to go back to work, but we know
that further job cuts will come if the BTU tax is added to the totals

already assessed against our industry, an industry that was once
the nation's largest contributor to the overall economy.
The pictures emerging from the collapse of our industry in the

mid-80's are anything but positive. They show a future for domestic
oil and gas industry that is frightening. The administration is

aware of our concerns. We know that the administration knows
about the problems we have had. They supported fine-tuning the
BTU tax as it was proposed.
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Especially Secretary Bentsen has worked closely with our indus-

try to try to address the concerns about the BTU tax. Many con-
cerns have been addressed. The collection point issue has been
somewhat addressed in part. We are grateful for that.
But we really remain confused by the inconsistencies and the

market distortion which are still in this tax as proposed. For in-

stance, as Senator Bentsen correctly noted, oil and natural gas
consumed on the premises where oil and natural gas are produced
was exempted, but not the cost of the purchased fiiel and electricity
used to run the pumps on most stripper wells.

Totally ignored was the fact that electricity can be more than
half the cost of producing marginal oil. We come to you all today
as good citizens to try to point out what we sincerely believe are
some errors in the government's proposed BTU tax, which must be
corrected if it must become law.
The BTU tax will cause a rise in foreign oil imports because the

costs of producing the marginal barrels at home will rise. The cost
of purchased fuel to produce domestic energy will rise. The cost of

transporting drilling rigs and equipment to new sites will rise. So
will the price of the 400 to 600 gallons of diesel fiiel required daily
to operate these rigs rise.

Unfortunately, the one thing we cannot see rising is domestic oil

and gas production. If the BTU tax is adopted, we urge you to off-

set its impact on domestic natural gas and oil production. This
should be accomplished through a production-based tax credit for

marginal oil and gas wells, a necessity if these wells are to be kept
on line.

These marginal oil and gas wells comprise 77 percent of the gas
and oil wells in this country, and probably produce over half of the
oil and gas produced in the lower 48 states, a very valuable re-

source to us that must be preserved.
Since the oil price collapse in 1986, tens of thousands of marginal

wells have already been abandoned.
I began by telling you my concerns about the future welfare of

thousands of workers in this industry whose jobs may be placed in

jeopardy by the BTU tax. Let me close by focusing on the signals
the BTU tax sends, not only to the industry, but to all America.

If we want to send the signal that natural gas is the cleanest fiiel

of the future, why not tax natursd gas at a preferential rate to all

fuels? The double tax on oil is a wrong signal. Pulitzer Prize win-
ner author, Dan Yergin, in his award-winning history. The Prize,

pointed out vividly the direct correlation between the production of
oil and hving standsirds throughout the world.

Oil remains our most vital natural resource.
The Chairman. Mr. Ames, I am sorry to disturb you. I want you

to finish when you are ready. We are not trying to cut you off. You
came a long way to get here now.
Mr. Ames. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Oil does yet remain our most vital natural resource. And al-

though we must reduce our dependency on foreign oil, we must in-

crease our domestic oil production to do this.

There is a sound, environmental reason for you to consider ex-

empting compressed natural gas from the tax. There are no pes-
ticides used in producing natural gas. The administration proposes
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to exempt such a tax on ethanol, why not exempt natural gas as
well?

If we do not do something to start our drilling, there may not be

enough natural gas in the future. The active drilling rig count in
the 33 states is at a record low—603 rigs just last week. At a time
when Solomon Brothers estimates that we need twice as many rigs

drilling for gas than we have.
There are only 6 rigs active in North Dakota today where there

were once almost 150. This is true all over the oil patch. Yet there
is great potential for new resources, for developing major gas re-

sources, and 44 states contain potential for oil and gas, an unrecog-
nized but important source of economic growth if we develop it.

Recently, the administration expressed its desire to help the
former Soviet Union with its serious financial problems, specifically
President Clinton promised Russia millions of dollars to save

among other things the infrastructure of Russia's collapsing petro-
leum industry.
Such a good neighbor policy is needed and commendable. But I

must remind the Congress and the President that the infrastruc-
ture of the United States oil and gas industry is also collapsing.

In the effort to refocus our effort on domestic issues, do not forget
the need to rebuild America's domestic natural gas and oil produc-
tion industries.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
The Chairman. Thank you, Mr. Ames.
[The prepared statement of Mr. Ames appears in the appendix.]
The Chairman. And now to hear further about natural gas, Mr.

Catell.

STATEMENT OF ROBERT B. CATELL, PRESffiENT AND C.E.O.,
THE BROOKLYN UNION GAS COMPANY, BROOKLYN, NY, ON
BEHALF OF THE NATURAL GAS COUNCIL
Mr. Catell. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, distinguished members

of the Committee. I would like to thank you for the opportunity to

testify here today.
I am Robert Catell, president and C.E.O. of The Brooklyn Union

Gas Company, Brooklyn Union is primarily engaged in the dis-

tribution of natured gas and serves nearly 1.1 million customers in
an area of New York comprising 4 million residents. We are also

engaged in the production and exploration for natural gas.
I am pleased to appear here today on behalf of the Natural Gas

Council, a coalition which includes the American Gas Association,
the Independent Petroleum Association of America, the Interstate
Natural Gas Association of America, and the Natural Gas Supply
Association, representing all segments of the natural gas industry.
I welcome this opportunity to comment on the administration's pro-
posed BTU tax.

The Council strongly supports the President's commitment to

curtailing Federal spending, reducing the deficit and promoting
economic growth. In a letter to the President, member Associations
of the Council stated they are on record as not supporting energy
taxes, but pledge to work constructively with the administration on
the unresolved issues in the economic package. We make the same
pledge to you.
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The BTU tax substantially adds to the average household's an-
nual costs. It will increase gas bills by $25, electric bills by $23,

fasoline

costs by $76, and hidden costs in goods and services by
184, for a total annual increased cost of $310, somewhat higher

than the amount mentioned by the Secretary.
We believe there will be regional disparities among amounts con-

sumers will pay.
In addition, contrary to the perception of some, the tax will not

increase markets for natural gas. Among other things, natural gas
would lose market share to electricity and renewables, such as
wood chips, and industrial and commercial applications.
Now let me address the important point of collection issue. The

administration's proposal to collect the tax on natural gas, prin-
cipally at the city gate, in and of itself will increase the tax burden
in some states by as much as 15 percent because of piggy-back
taxes, such as grocery receipts and sales tax.

Further, the city gate collection point threatens the weU-being of
all gas companies, particularly gas utilities which may be denied
full and immediate flow- through of the tax. The cost of the tax
would equal or exceed the annual net income of a large number of
utilities and would harm all segments of the gas industry and their
customers.

In response to the question which was asked earlier, regardless
of where the tax is imposed, some state PUCs will require disclo-

sure of the tax on the customer bill. And a number of gas company
C.E.O.s advise us that for prudent business purposes they will in-

form their customers of the tax to explain the increase in cus-
tomer's bills.

The best way to structure the tsix is to impose it upon the ulti-

mate consumer or end user and collect it from the last seller of gas
to that consumer in a manner similar to the Federal Excise Tax
on the telephone service. This would not result in any administra-
tive burden. The utility collects the tax and remits it to the Federal
Government.

Collecting the tax at the end user level would minimize or eUmi-
nate many of the problems associated with the BTU tax.

The Chairman. Mr. CateU, this is the burner?
Mr. Catell. At the burner tip, essentially. Right, at the

consumer.

Following up on that, this method best achieves the administra-
tion's goal of flowing through the tax and reducing the gas compa-
ny's exposure to absorbing the cost of the tax. The end user collec-

tion point could avoid possible conflicts with state and local regu-
latory authorities in getting the cost of the tax included in cus-

tomer's rates and it would avoid the need to pre-empt state or local

regulatory authority.
Second, the end user collection point reduces the ultimate cost to

consumers by avoiding the piggy-back tax on tax. We estimate that
a city gate collection point will cause these piggy-back taxes to in-

crease the cost of natural gas to consumers by $350 to $400 million

annually smd the cost to both gas and electricity to consumers by
$1 billion to $1.2 billion annually.
Many states have these piggy-back taxes, but not aU. In the

State of New York, for example, the gross receipts tax is 5.61 per-
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cent and 2.35 percent in New York City. Additionally, up to 8.25

percent is added to this as sales tax, resulting in a total exceeding
16 percent.

Illinois imposes a gross receipts tax of 5 percent. The City of Chi-

cago adds a municipal gross receipts t£ix of 8 percent. The State of

Texas imposes a 2 percent gross receipts tax on residential users
and the City of Houston imposes an additional 4 percent tax.

Again, these extra costs to consumers will not occur if the collec-

tion point for the tax is at the end user as we support.
Third, the end user collection provides an administratively sim-

ple collection process with minimal collection points and minimizes
market distortions. This approach helps meet the administration's

stated BTU energy tax objectives, including energy conservation
and a clean environment.

If in the final legislation the tax is collected at the city gate, two
factors need to be addressed. First, utilities should only be required
to pay the pipeline what they collect from their customers. And,
second, some mechanism, other thsin the normaUzation approach as

proposed by the administration, is needed to accomplish pass
through.

Lastly, the administration has proposed an exemption for meth-
anol and ethanol in vehicular applications. If this exemption is to

remain, the Council feels strongly that the vehicular compressed
natural gas should be treated the same as methanol and ethanol.

Some members feel that there should be no exemption, but all

members feel strongly the treatment should be the same for alter-

native vehicle fuels.

This concludes my testimony. Thank you very much. I will be

happy to answer any questions. Thank you.
The Chairman. We are following you.
Mr. Catell. Okay.
[The prepared statement of Mr. Catell appears in the appendix.]
The Chairman. Mr. Lawson, do you want to wrap up for the pro-

ducers here?

STATEMENT OF RICHARD L. LAWSON, PRESIDENT, NATIONAL
COAL ASSOCIATION, WASHINGTON, DC

Mr. Lawson. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, Senator Packwood. I am
Richard Lawson, the president of the National Coal Association.

The Association is a Washington, D.C.-based industry association

which represents coal producers and other companies associated
with the production, the domestic distribution and the export of

U.S. coal.

Our member companies account for approximately 70 percent of

the total U.S. coal production and about 80 percent of coal exports.
Our members operate mines in all regions of the country, serve all

markets, the utilities, steel mills, industrial markets in the U.S. as

well as the utilities and steel mills abroad.
Mr. Chairman, despite the fact that several of the provisions con-

tained in the President's economic proposal, certainly including the
BTU tax, will impact upon the coal industry, the National Coal As-
sociation believes that deficit reduction is the paramount national

priority.
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We recognize the administration has decided upon a broad-based

energy tax and we commend the administration for already rec-

ognizing the problems of a tax placed directly on energy production.
We are committed to work with the Congress and the administra-
tion for the passage of the tax.

We beheve the nation has now come to the point where it must
address the need to reduce an ever growing deficit and this re-

quirement must override other concern. We believe this means
there must be a reduction in spending and, if necessary, an in-

crease in revenue.
And the President, as part of his package, has proposed a com-

bination of spending cuts, initiatives and tax increases, a large por-
tion of which is the revenue identified by the administration to be
known as a BTU tax.

In addition to contributing revenue for the overriding objection of

deficit reduction, the administration has also outlined several ob-

jectives that the energy tax is designed to achieve—promotion of

conservation, the encouragement of an increase in energy effi-

ciency, and a reduction and reliance on foreign sources of oil.

To these stated administration goals we add the following

goals
—that these objectives should not discriminate against indi-

vidual energy sources in the terms of the amount, the tax should
be on all sources of energy, and to the maximum degree possible,
the incidents of the tax should be borne by the ultimate consumer
of the energy.
And finally, we would suggest that the energy tax should be

phased out as soon as the nation's budget deficit reduction objec-
tions have been achieved.
So our assessment is that a BTU tax is the form of a broad-based

energy tax that best accomplishes the goals outlined above. How-
ever, it is our belief that the administration will need to have the

collective expertise of private industry, the Congress, as well as its

own, if we are to msiximize the ability of a BTU tax to accompUsh
the foregoing stated objectives.
We have attached a list of comments to our printed statement on

these comments on the modified tax that we believe deserve addi-

tional consideration and work, and we are pledged to continue to

work with the administration and the Congress to further enhance
the proposals capability to achieve both administration objectives,
maintain a level playing field among the energy sources and mini-

mize negative impact on both the domestic economy and upon the

international competitiveness of U.S. exports.
With those comments, Mr. Chairman, I will reserve and await

your questions.
[The prepared statement of Mr. Lawson appears in the appen-

dix.]

The Chairman. Thank you very much. General. Just to help me
and to satisfy my own curiosity, we export 15 million tons of coal,

mostly through the Gulf down in Mississippi. What proportion of

eastern coal production is the 15 million tons?
Mr. Lawson. We export 15 miUion. That is true. Through the

waterway system that leads into the Gulf. I would say that is about
80 percent eastern and 20 percent western.



43

The Chairman. Yes. And of our total production, what does it

represent? Do we know?
Mr. Lawson. The total production
The Chairman. We don't export energy.
Mr. Lawson. We export 110 million tolls all told.

The Chairman. Okay.
Mr. Lawson. About 10 percent of our total production. We pro-

duced right at 1 billion tons last year and about 10 percent of that
went overseas for about $4.9 billion worth of positive exports.
The Chairman. Some of it still goes to Japan, does it not?
Mr. Lawson. Yes, throughout the Pacific Rim and to Europe.
The Chairman. And, of course, to Europe. And we have been

working on the question of getting you an 80-foot port.
Mr. Lawson. We are looking forward to that.

The Chairman. You have been waiting over 15 years. [Laughter.]
And wood chips, I think you mentioned wood chips, Mr. Catell.

Mr. Catell. Yes.
The Chairman. Whence cometh wood chips and why aren't we

taking them?
Mr. Catell. Well, I cannot answer the question, Mr. Chairman.
The Chairman. Senator Packwood will destroy that statement. Is

there a significant amount of energy produced? Is it a cost of lum-

bering? I assume so.

Mr. Catell. I think there is, yes. And it is growing as part of
the effort to use more renewables. Certainly that is growing.
Senator Packwood. It is interesting how history goes in cycles.

We are seeing a more co-generation with the use of wood chips.

Eighty to ninety years ago, almost all of the mills, the lumber
mills, produced their own electricity. There was no central distribu-

tion system. Then we had the central distribution system and they
quit doing it; and now they are coming around to doing it again.
So it is funny how the cycle goes. Wood chips is one of the prin-

cipal things they are using.
I want to ask a question about reserves.
The Chairman. You seem to have gone by the issue, why aren't

we taxing.
Senator Packwood. Well, we do not want a tax co-generation.
The Chairman. I got that. Thank you.
Senator Packwood. Let me ask this of all of you because my

hunch is you will £dl know the answer. When we use the word "re-

serves" of oil and gas, we are talking about reserves at a given
price, aren't we?
Mr. Beghini. Absolutely. We are talking about in most instances,

reserves that have been found and have an economic life under to-

day's price.
The Chairman. Does Mr. Ames agree, the geologist?
Mr. Ames. That is absolutely right.
The Chairman. You mean if the price doubled the reserves would

double?
Mr. Ames, Sure. If the price goes up the reserves go up

because
Mr. Beghini. They would not double. But they would go up only

because the economic life of the well would be extended.



44

The Chairman. Is there no term for the physical reality
—that

there is so much coal in the ground as against what it would pay
you to dig it up?

Mr. Ames. Well, there is a finite amount of reserve, resources
there, obviously, at any price.
Senator Packwood. But no one knows exactly what it is, do

they?
Mr. Ames. Well, you can make some educated guesses.
The Chairman. Well, they know something.
Mr. Ames. There is a recoverable resource base in the United

States, for example, of 1,250 trillion cubic feet of natural gas. That
is a resource base. It is undeveloped. In order for it to become re-

serves, it has got to be drilled and developed.
Senator PACKWOOD. Is that a U.S. Geological Survey estimate?
Mr. Ames. It is a result of the National Petroleum Council's

major study on natural gas that was completed this year.
Senator Packwood. Now the reason I am going down this line

of questions, and I have not done a lot of research on this subject
since we deregulated gas, but at the time we did I went back and
I looked at the old U.S. Geologic Surveys and they were forever es-

timating not the reserves, but the quantity that was there. Am I

correct in my memory?
Mr. Beghini. Absolutely.
Senator Packwood. And again, I emphasize, not the reserves,

just the quantity that was there they were under emphasizing. So
is there any reason to assume that their estimate is accurate now?
Mr. Beghini. I think you have to accept the fact that they have

made their estimate with the best technical knowledge they have
at this point in time. As the years go out and technology advances,
I am sure that there will be better estimates.
But the tendency of the industry over time has always been to

underestimate reserves. In 1970, for example, world reserves devel-

oped were 570 million barrels. In 1990, world reserves were 1 tril-

lion barrels. So, obviously, technology does allow new barrels to be

developed.
Senator Packwood. Now am I correct, whether it is technology

or the deregulation of natural gas, we seem to have found in-

creased, stumbled onto, in North America incredible increases in
natural gas.
Mr. Ames. That is in the resource base.
Senator Packwood. Yes.
Mr. Ames. The knowledge of the resource base is greatly ex-

panded because we have improved our ability to estimate. The geol-

ogy has improved so much with the new technology that you now
have a much better, more accurate estimate of what the resource
base is that is there. But, of course, resources are not reserves until
we drill for it.

Senator Packwood. No, I understand it is not reserves and the
reserves depend upon whether in oil you are getting $10 a barrel
or $50 a barrel and there are a lot more reserves at $50 a barrel
than there is at $10.
The reason again I am pursuing this, one of our large—well, the

only one in Oregon—nuclear plsint has been closed and the com-

pany is going to phase it out. It has been going 20, 25 years and
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it is not worth continuing. They are going to generate with natural

gas instead and they have some long-term contracts and figure it

is worthwhile. This is not something they would have considered

doing 20 years ago.
What has changed that an electric utility can look at this and

say, yes, we can get a long-term contract. We think it is viable. We
can produce electricity at a modest price, fi'ankly, almost competi-
tive with hydro.
Mr. Beghini. I think one factor is that the basic economy of the

fuel has allowed the supplier to make that kind of long-term deal.

Not knowing the contract, I would not know whether it would be
indexed to some deflator.

Senator Packwood. I do not know.
Mr. Beghini. But the fact is, I think everyone feels much more

comfortable with the fact that natural gas is available in this coun-

try and can be developed at an acceptable price.
Senator Packwood. You say in this country. Do you mean in the

continental 48 or do you mean North America, counting Canada
and Mexico?
Mr. Beghini. I am talking about in the continental United States

and off-shore.

Senator Packwood. It almost seems as if we ought to quit—not

quit worrying about, but quit derating ourselves of being short of

energy. We seem to be a cornucopia of energy natural resources, in-

cluding coal.

I mean, if you want to look at a country that is barren, you look
at Japan that does not have any natural resources of any great
consequence. And we sit here wealthy beyond belief, at least in the
existence of the resources, am I correct?
The Chairman. Resource based?
Senator Packwood. Resource based.
The Chairman. Is that the term we use?
Mr. Ames. Yes. The economics have to be there to develop it.

The Chairman. Well, we know that.

Senator PACKWOOD. I know that. But at least we have the base
to develop it.

Mr. Ames. Absolutely. We do.

Senator Packwood. And that we should quit going around crying
poor mouth and saying we are running out of energy.
Mr. Beghini. In fact, Mr. Chairman, in 1981, 85 percent of the

energy used in this country was domestically produced. We im-
ported 15 percent of our total energy requirement.
Senator Packwood. Now let me ask you to separate oil from gas.

Mr. Beghini, are you confident—separate if you want continental
United States and land-based from continentsil and off-shore and
add North America and Alaska in a separate question—can we ex-

pand our recoverable oil resources, not expediential as you have in-

dicated, but significantly in the continental land-based United
States with increased prices or there is the resource base running
dry.
Mr. Beghini. I believe the continental United States has a lot of

future involved and primarily in enhanced recovery and looking for
smaller fields. That is being done today because we have much bet-
ter seismic techniques.
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Enhanced recovery, whether it be the injection of steam in Cali-

fornia, inert gas or carbon dioxide in Texas, or chemicals in some
other part of the country, is a very high-cost mode of production.
To do that you have to have a price scenario that will allow you
to take both the capital risk to initiate it and the ongoing expense
risk.

The BTU tax, in particular, when it taxes purchased energy, as
is currently proposed, has a very, very detrimental effect on en-
hanced recovery projects. But there is a great deal of opportunity
in this country to maintain £ind expand our energy base.

As Gene mentioned earlier this morning, we have an immense
number of stripper wells that we must in some form keep operating
so that we can apply enhanced recovery techniques to these fields.

Those wells will be there.

Senator Packwood. Expand your judgment—and, Mr. Ames, hop
in on this if you want—expand your judgment on the resource base
to include aJl of North America, including Mexico and Canada,
which I hope will £dl be soon trading and Alaska and off-shore. If

we do that, do we have a significantly expandable base of oil?

Mr. Beghini. Yes, we do, sir.

Mr. Ames. Yes, sir. Arco has just announced two major discov-

eries in the last year or so in Alaska in the Cook Inlet and north
of Anwr that are in the 1 to 5 billion barrel category, giant fields.

There is a major new discovery, of all places, in North Deikota,
that has just been completed that is capable of flowing

Senator Packwood. I am not sure that Senator Conrad would

agree with your description.
Mr, Ames. Well, pardon me, Senator Conrad, but North Dakota

has used
The Chairman. Better than ethanol?
Mr. Ames. It is 4,000 barrels a day of oil. That well will flow

4,000 barrels a day of oil. It is like a Saudi Arabian well and it

is in an area that had very little deep drilling.
Senator PACKWOOD. Is this close to the surface or not? I am curi-

ous,

Mr, Ames, It is about 10,000 feet deep.
Senator Packwood, Is that close or not?
Mr, Ames, Well, it is intermediate.
Senator Packwood. Is it? Okay.
Mr. Beghini, It would not be considered deep.
Senator Packwood, Okay.
Mr. Catell, If I could just follow on, Senator Packwood. In addi-

tion to the oil reserves, as was mentioned by Gene, I think we have
confirmed the tremendous resource base for natural gas. We
thought many, many years ago we were running out of natural gas.
It is just not the case. At the right price it can be developed.

Following on your electric generating plant, one of the reasons is

the resource base is there and a gas plant can be built in a fairly
short period of time at a reasonable price; and gas obviously is an

environmentally clean—burning fiiel. So it has aU of those advan-

tages as well.

We have a tremendous resource base of energy in this country
and we are concerned that the BTU tax could have a detrimental
effect on some of that.
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Senator Packwood. I have the same concern and I am glad you
confirmed what I intuitively thought, that we are not resource

poor. We may choose to tax it out of existence or we may pass laws
that say you cannot drill for it. But that is not the same as being
resource poor.
Mr. Lawson. If I may, Senator, perhaps I can add to that. Amer-

ica happens to be the Saudi Arabia of coal. The fact is, we are bet-

ter than the Saudi Arabia. They have about 28 percent of the
world's oil. We have 36 percent of the world's coal, 488 years worth
at our current production—488 billion tons that is economically
Senator Packwood. At our current production and that does not

stretch the limit of what vou could produce.
Mr. Lawson. Not at all. And that is all economically recoverable.

The resource base is about 3.4 trillion tons. So there is a huge en-

ergy stockpile right there, immediately available, to begin to put
pressure on some of these imports as well as to continue with the

export of the commodity.
Mr. Ames. May I make one statement?
The Chairman. You can meike as many statements as you would

Uke.
Mr. Ames. Mr. Chairman, we are very lucky we have this re-

source base. But independent producers who historically have
drilled 85 percent of the exploratory wells in this country have no
outside capital for drilling. That is our problem. It is not the prob-
lem of resources.
The Chairman. Mr. Ames, you can clarify something for me.

When I first came on this Committee, which was many, many
years ago, these indep)endent producers you describe were referred
to as "grandma." Grandma was a firm or something that always
had a stripper well in the backyard. I do not know where it was.
Do you have grandma firms?
Mr. Ames. Yes, sir. Ma and pa.
Senator PACKWOOD. I have no further questions.
The Chairman. Well, I found this very revelatory in terms of the

resource base. I would also say that with our current consumption
of coal, we have hcdf a melania worth left. If we cEuinot get diffu-

sion by then, then we have to give up anyway. [Laughter.]
Could I say that several points have been made about where this

tax is most efficiently collected if it is to be imposed. And may I

say you have all argued—I am not a lawyer, but I have learned
from my colleague here the technique of arguing in the alternative.

I believe I heard some of that. My client did not shoot his wife; or

alternately. Your Honor, if he did shoot his wife it was accidental.

[Laughter.]
We will pay very close attention to these questions and we will

consult with Secretary Bentsen. We very much appreciate your
coming. And we will be in touch with you.
Senator Packwood. Thank you.
Mr. Ames. Thank you very much.
Mr. Lawson. Thank you.
Mr. Catell. Thank you very much.
Mr. Beghini. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.
The Chairman. We thank our guests and we thank our reporter.

We adjourn this first hearing.
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[Whereupon, at 12:45 p.m., the hearing was adjourned ]
LThe prepared statements of Senators Malcolm Wallop and OrrinHatch appear in the appendix.]



ADMINISTRATION'S ENERGY TAX PROPOSALS
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U.S. Senate,
Committee on Finance,

Washington, DC.
The meeting was convened, pursuant to notice, at 10:05 a.m. in

room SD-406, Dirksen Senate Office Building, Hon. Max Baucus
presiding.
Also present: Senators Rockefeller, Conrad, Packwood, Chafee,

and Grassley.

OPENING STATEMENT OF HON. MAX BAUCUS, A U.S. SENATOR
FROM MONTANA

Senator Baucus. This hearing will come to order. This is the sec-

ond of two hearings on the administration's energy tax proposals.
Today, we have three panels of witnesses. The first peinel is made
up of representatives from essentially the environmental sector.

The second panel will consist of representatives of the electrical
sector of the energy industry. And the final panel represents a
cross section of American industries including agriculture, manu-
facturing and transportation.
This is an opportunity for various individuals and various groups

to comment on the administration's proposed energy tax. There will
be hearings on other tax proposals in the future. As I said, this is

the second of two hearings so far on the energy tax propossds.
I would just like to outline the procedure for everyone. Essen-

tially, each witness will be limited to five minutes. Testimony will
be included in the record, and I would encourage witnesses to sum-
marize the testimony and basically take it from there.
The first panel is Melanie Griffin, Washington director for the

Economic Program, The Sierra Club; Roger Dower, program direc-

tor. World Resources Institute; and John Hemphill, executive direc-
tor of the Business Council for a Sustainable Energy Future.

Why don't all three of you come up to the witness table?
Melanie Griffin, why don't you begin?

STATEMENT OF MELANIE L. GRIFFIN, WASHINGTON DIREC-
TOR, ECONOMIC PROGRAM, THE SIERRA CLUB, WASHING-
TON, DC
Ms. Griffin. Thank you. Good morning, Mr. Chairman and

members of the committee. Thank you for this opportunity to share
the views of the Sierra Club on the administration's proposed BTU
energy tax.

(49)
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I am here today on behalf of the 600,000 members of the Sierra

Club, and I am also representing the Natural Resources Defense
Council, the Union of Concerned Scientists, and Friends of the
Earth.
The Sierra Club has long been interested in the use of tax policy

to protect the environment, and we are very encouraged by the re-

cent activity in this area. U.S. tax policy has historically encour-

aged polluting industrial activities and natural resource exploi-
tations. It is time to reverse this trend and begin to use tax policy
to encourage pollution prevention and energy efficiency and con-
servation.

To that end, Sierra Club joined with other environmental groups
in suggesting that President Clinton include £in energy tax in his

plan for economic recovery. When the President presented his eco-

nomic program, we were very encouraged to see that he had, in-

deed, included an energy tax. While not perfect, the President's tax

proposal represents a good first step towards reducing our wasteful
use of polluting energy.

External energy costs, in the form of air and water pollution,
land destruction, oil spills, and military risks, are already being
borne by the American public. These costs could pale in comparison
to the future costs of global warming and nuclear plant decommis-
sioning and waste storage. It is time to begin to incorporate these
societal costs of energy into the market pricing of energy. Let us

put the costs where they belong.

Energy taxes can also give U.S. industries the push that they
need to fully explore and implement energy efficiency measures
and renewable energy sources. Unlike Japan and several western

European nations, the U.S. has done little to foster international

exports of these technologies.
As the international community begins to confront global warm-

ing, the U.S. must take back the lead in developing and marketing
these technologies if we are going to remain competitive. Even after

the administration's BTU tax is fully implemented in 1996, prices
for all energy sources in the U.S. will still remain lower than our

European and JapEinese competitors.
We believe that the BTU tax approach, with exemptions for

emerging renewable energy sources, is an appropriate framework
on which to build. The extra surcharge on oil recognizes that our

country bears many societal costs as a result of our oil addiction.

The President's proposed BTU tax is set at very modest levels.

It is important to note that the positive environmental effects of
the tax are enhanced by other environmental initiatives contained
in the administration's budget resolution, and in his proposed eco-

nomic stimulus package.
When the tax revenue is recycled into programs such as Federal

Energy Management, PubUc Transit, Weatherization, and Renew-
able Energy Development, the environmental benefits rise substan-

tially.

The administration was careful to provide offsets for families
with lower incomes: increased Food Stamp programs, Low-Income
Home Energy Assistance Program, and the Earned Income Tax
Credit should ensure that low-income families are not burdened.
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We must also take into account the fact that energy pollution it-

self is very regressive. Disadvantaged communities bear much of
the burden because polluting operations, like coal-fired power
plants and nuclear waste facilities, are likely to be located in low-
income areas.

Another attractive aspect of the President's BTU tax is that all

energy consumers can legsilly avoid paying the tax and simulta-

neously help the environment. An industry can invest in more effi-

cient motors, a business can invest in efficient lighting systems,
and homeowners can add insulation. Commuters can opt to use
public transit, or purchase more fuel-efficient vehicles.

Overall, the administration has proposed a well- designed energy
tax. We do have serious concerns, however, with a number of

changes in the proposal, as reflected in the modified BTU tax re-

leased by the Treasury Department April 1st.

We believe that all forms of energy used should be taxed, with
the exception of emerging, truly renewable energy sources, like

solar and wind power. Each exemption provided for an industry or
a fuel source compromises the environmental integrity of the BTU
tax, and it also risks regional equity.
And, of course, at some point the revenues generated by the tax

plan will be seriously reduced by multiple exemptions. The BTU
now contains special breaks for alcohol fuels, municipal solid waste,
enhanced oil recovery, home heating oil, and more. We believe this
is bad environmental and fiscal policy. There's no environmental
justification for these exemptions, and we fear that the door is now
open for exemptions for other special interests, whether it be alu-

minum, or hydroelectric.

Exemption for non-fuel sources of fossil fiiels is potentially a

giant loophole through which revenue and pollution could flow. We
urge the committee to give very careful consideration to the feed-
stock exemption to ensure that only the percentage of the fiiel that
is really used for non-fuel purposes is exempted. We strongly urge
the committee to resist further exemptions. The environmental bS-
ance of the tax has already been damaged by existing exemptions.

Finally, a few points on who pays, £uid where. A major goal of
the environmental community is improving energy efficiency in all

sectors of the economy. Thus, we believe that all energy users
should bear the added costs of the energy tax. The tax should be
assessed and incorporated as a cost of doing business at every point
in the production and distribution process. It should be assessed as
far upstream as possible to encourage efficiency throughout the en-
tire production process, including refineries and pipelines.
We oppose a forced passthrough of costs by electric utihties to

ratepayers. While end users should bear some of the costs of the
energy tax, they should not automatically bear the brunt. Home-
owners can make some efficiency choices to reduce their bills, but
they cannot switch fuels or make efficiency improvements for their
utilities. States already have provisions to allow utilities to pass-
through legitimate costs, and this process should not be overridden.
Thank you agedn for the opportunity to testify.
Senator Baucus. Thank you very much, Ms. Griffin.

[The prepared statement of Ms. Griffin appears in the appendix.]
Senator Baucus. Next, Roger Dower.
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STATEMENT OF ROGER C. DOWER, PROGRAM DIRECTOR,
WORLX) RESOURCES INSTITUTE, WASHINGTON, DC

Mr. Dower. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and members of the com-
mittee. I'm Roger Dower, Director of the Chmate, Energy, and Pol-

lution Program at the World Resources Institute, a public policy re-

search center specializing in international and national environ-
mental issues.

Senator Baucus. Do we have a statement from you?
Mr. Dower. Yes, you do, sir.

Senator Baucus. I do not have one. [Pause]
Mr. Dower. I want to thank this committee for the opportunity

to be here this morning on behalf, and that of my colleague. Dr.
Robert Repetto.

In my brief oral comments, I would like to share with you what
I think are three closely related points derived from our work on

energy prices and pollution taxes that relate to the Clinton admin-
istration's energy tax proposEd.
As the energy tax debate turns ever more frequently to what or

who gets exempted and where the tax should or should not be

placed, it is easy to lose sight of the broader context in which I

think this proposal should be evaluated. I hope that my few gen-
eral observations this morning will help refocus some of that atten-

tion and help guide your deliberations and debates. So, let me
begin.
One, unless you really think that credible deficit reduction can

occur without raising revenues, the energy tax proposal has to be

compared to other forms of raising funds. It is not useful or appro-
priate to compare a broad-based energy tax to nothing else at all.

From this comparative perspective, a properly designed energy
tax has several distinct advantages. Virtually all traditional ways
of raising Federal funds, such as taxing income, savings, payrolls,
and capital, impose significant and very real costs on the economy.
These taxes tend to (fiscourage precisely those economic activities

that I think most of us feel are important to our National economic
health and welfare, such as savings, investment, and employment.
A broad based energy tax, on the other hand, can be designed to

have the opposite effect, to discourage activities that hurt the econ-

omy, such as pollution and over-reliance on imported oil. Taxes
that reduce these activities will create economic benefits and avoid
the costs of distorting the economy associated with most other

taxes. All taxes raise revenues, but few can create environmental
and economic benefits at the same time. As we seek to create a

strong economic future for this country, it is critical that we look

to revenue sources that work for us, not against us.

Two, as this committee considers the economic impacts of an en-

ergy tax, I hope you will again ask the question, the economic im-

pacts, as compared to what? I know of no real—and I stress, real—
deficit reduction options—spending cuts or revenue raisers—that

do not have some depressing effect on the economy in the short

run. Energy taxes are no exception in this regard.
This observation, however, ignores the fundamental economic

justification for undertaking deficit reduction in the first place: im-

proved long-term economic health through lower interest rates, in-

creased investment, and enhanced productivity.
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These beneficial economic effects of deficit reduction are likely to

overwhelm any short-term economic effects of an energy tax. Yet,
most economic simulations that I am aware of an energy tax do not
take into account these economic gains.
This point, I think, is particularly important as you consider con-

cerns over international trade and competitiveness. Reductions in

long-term interest rates and a healthier U.S. macro-economy will

have trade enhancing effects that far outweigh any loss in competi-
tiveness that might result from very small increases in production
costs associated with this tax. If we have to borrow less from for-

eign sources to finance our deficit, our trade balance will improve.
As we show in our written testimony, there is little evidence that
low energy prices are a prerequisite for a strong balance of trade.

Finally, it is important not to forget the potential environmental
benefits of a properly designed energy tax. Our Nation's energy sec-

tor, even with existing regulations, continues to be a major source
of air pollution in this country. The impacts go far beyond our own
boundaries. For example, the U.S. is the single largest source of
carbon dioxide emissions, a major greenhouse gas, in the world.
The environmental costs of our current energy consumption and

production decisions are very real. Yet, to the extent that the en-

ergy tax reduces these costs, there are benefits to this tax that are

unlikely to be included in any of the economic impact analyses that
will be presented to this committee.

I am fairly confident that a larger tax or a tax that is more pollu-
tion specific, like a carbon tax, could create larger environmental
benefits than the administration's proposal.
On the other hand, there are still environmental benefits from

this tax that are not insignificant. I think you will find, for exam-
ple, that the administration's energy tax proposal, even at its rel-

atively low level, will play an important role in helping this admin-
istration meet its international commitment, announced by the
President yesterday, to stabilize greenhouse gas emissions by the

year 2000 at 1990 levels. Ignoring these benefits is to ignore a key
function of the tax.

Mr. Chairman, a broad-based energy tax that helps to reduce the
environmental and other costs of energy use offers the opportunity
for this committee to take a small step towards a tax system that
works for the economy and the environment, and not against them.
An energy tax, as proposed by the Clinton administration, can
mark the beginning of a ftindamental change in the way we use the
Tax Code to create revenues and economic opportunities. I hope
this possibiUty will not go foregone because, I'm afi*aid, using a
tired cliche, we fail to see the forest for the trees.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Senator Baucus. Thank you, Mr. Dower.
[The prepared statement of Mr. Dower appears in the appendix.]
Senator Baucus. Next, John Hemphill.

STATEMENT OF JOHN G. HEMPHILL, EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR,
BUSINESS COUNCIL FOR A SUSTAINABLE ENERGY FUTLTRE,
WASHINGTON, DC
Mr. Hemphill. Good morning, Mr. Chairman. My name is John

Hemphill. I am executive director of the Business Council for a
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Sustainable Energy Future. I appreciate the opportunity to appear
here today to present the Business Council's views on the adminis-
tration's proposed energy tax.

Business Council for a Sustainable Energy Future is a newly-
chartered organization comprised of business leaders from the en-

ergy efficiency, renewable energy, natural gas, and utility indus-
tries that share a commitment to pursue a new energy strategy for

the 1990's and beyond through the rapid deployment of efficient,
non- and low-polluting energy technologies.

Expanded reliance on these technologies as the three pillars of
an energy strategy will strengthen the economy and enhance the
environment. We believe that President Clinton's economic package
signals a major change in national energy policy: the recognition of
the need to transition to clean, efficient energy resources. The Busi-
ness Council welcomes this change in direction.

Although we have interest in many provisions of the administra-
tion's proposed economic package, my testimony today wdll focus on
the broad-based energy tax.

President Clinton has proposed an energy tax designed to raise

more than $20 billion when fully phased in. According to the ad-

ministration, in addition to raising revenues, the energy tax will

encourage conservation by making energy more expensive, reduce

pollution, and decrease the country's dependence on foreign energy
suppliers. The Business Council supports these goals.
While members of the Business Council may have preferred

other tax formulations, we recognize that no approach is v^thout
criticism. The Business Council is ready to support the administra-
tion's energy tax proposal, in recognition that this tax is an impor-
tant step in the direction of a sustainable energy future. In particu-
lar, we applaud the exclusion of renewable energy resources from
the tax.

The Business Council does have some concerns, however. First,
the tax will have only a modest result in encouraging energy con-
servation. Because of this modest impact, we feel that it may be

appropriate to provide energy tax credits to consumers to further
enhance energy conservation that would not otherwise be achieved.

Second, although we support the tax as currently structured, we
recommend that serious consideration be given to adjusting this

tax at some future date to better support the administration's goals
of overall energy and economic betterment.

Third, the Business Council has concerns over the administra-
tion's proposed collection of natural gas at the city gate. Applying
the t£Lx at this point would expose the natural gas industry to un-
warranted fin£incial risk. A similar situation existed with respect
to independent power producers that have long-term, fixed- price
contracts. And, in this case, the administration came up with a so-

lution by moving the collection point to the exit end of the power
plant, rather than having it be taxed on the fuel inputs.
This approach helps to ensure that the tax is borne by the ulti-

mate consumer, and is consistent with the Business Council's prin-

ciples of having the tax be applied to the consumer, thereby maxi-

mizing the environmentgd and energy efficiency benefits.

The natural gas industry has proposed a similar solution to this

collection point problem, namely, that the tax should be assessed
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on the end user of the gas and collected by the seller. We urge that

you adopt this solution to the collection point issue.

Fourth, we would like to point out our displeasure with some of

the exemptions that are being proposed, specifically, the exemp-
tions on ethanol and methanol, from the energy tax. These exemp-
tions discriminate against compressed natural gas, which is in di-

rect competition with these fuels.

Finally, I would like to address an implementation concern of
some of our members. The administration is proposing to exempt
non-fuel use of fossil fuels, including natural gas liquids. Under the
administration's proposal, the tax on these liquids is to be collected

at the processing plant. Imposition of the tax at the processing
pleuit, however, would have an unintended effect of taxing feed-

stock fuels due to the fact that a high percentage of these products
are used as feedstocks. The solution to this problem is a simple.
Impose the tax at the point these products are odorized for com-
mercial fuel use.

In conclusion, the Business Council believes that the country
needs to follow a new energy path for economic, environmental,
and security reasons. The Business Council views the broad-based

energy tax as a good first step, and we stand ready to work with

you on this issue.

Thank you very much.
Senator Baucus. Thank you very much, Mr. Hemphill.
I have a question that I suspect Senator Packwood has, with re-

spect to hydropower. This focuses on the northwest, or, specifically,
the aluminum industry. I would think that you would agree that

hydro is a renewable source of energy and does not damage the en-

vironment, not the air and water, and so forth, compared with
other fuels. I am just curious if you would generally agree with
that.

Ms. Griffin. Well, again, we do support the exemptions for re-

newal sources. But, for emerging renewable sources—and hydro is

a very mature industry and it does not need the extra boost. And,
also, we think from the equity standpoint, that a lot of hydropower
is federally subsidized.

And, in order to keep the tax equitable across the country, I

think it is important to keep those. It would not be fair to raise
the rates on other folks and not on the people who are already pay-
ing lower rates than the national average. And, of course, as you
have said, hydropower does not contribute to air pollution prob-
lems, but it certainly does contribute to some water problems, and
to riparian habitats, and to fisheries, and so on.

Senator Baucus. As I understand it, the BTU tax on hydro is

three times what it should be, since the national average of BTU
is actually three times that of hydro. Some people suggest that, for
that reason, too, hydro should be exempt.
Ms. Griffin. But we would not support that.

Senator Baucus. What about the aluminum industry, some kind
of feedstock exemption for the aluminum industry, do you have any
views on that?
Ms. Griffin. Well, we do. The aluminum industry—the feedstock

exemption—this is what I was referring to—resdly needs careful
consideration because we want to make sure that only the actual
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portion of the fuel that is used for non-fuel purposes and actusdly
becomes physically incorporated into the final product is exempted.
And, in the case of aluminum, the energy is used for a process,

aluminum smelting, a chemical process, but it is not actually incor-

porated into the final product. So, we would not think that that de-

serves a feedstock exemption.
Senator Baucus. I am just a little bit curious. On the one hand,

the environmental community wants the collection point to be clos-

er to the source, thereby, arguably, encouraging a utility to choose
a less polluting fuel. On the other hand, the more that occurs, the
less consumers are involved in making choices of whether they can
consume energy or not. That is the kind of point, I think, to some
degree, that Mr. Hemphill made.
Would you not want the collection point more toward consumers

so the consumers can then decide whether they want to consume
energy or not consume energy?
Ms. Griffin. To some extent, it is going to end up on them in

the end. But I think it is really importgmt that we gdready have
State laws that allow the passthrough of legitimate costs, and we
think that those ratepayer activities should continue. But, cer-

tainly, we think that the utilities are the ones who can make the
decisions to actually switch fuel or make major efficiency invest-

ments. The homeowners and residential folks cannot make those
decisions for the utility, so I think it is important that everyone
pays the price to help the economy.
Mr. Dower. Mr. Chairman, may I give a more general answer

to that? One of advantages of thinking about a broad-based energy
tax—this particular tax or other taxes—as an economic incentive to

encourage environmental gains, is the fact that it encourages envi-

ronmental reductions at all points in the market, both from the

production side and the consumption side of the market, and tries

to find ways of creating incentives for cost-effective reductions on
both ends.

And, from that extent, you would want to have the teix as far

back as possible so that where there are production efficiencies to

be gained, or fuel switching efficiencies to be gained, those are

taken advantage of, or the prices are passed to consumers so that

we get all of the price responses, not just some of them.
Senator Baucus. What is there to be learned from Europe? My

vague understanding is that Europe has basically a consumption
tax system. It has high gasoline taxes which are designed, to some

degree, to stifle, I guess, energy consumption. That revenue is then
used for various purposes. Europeans, essentially, as I understand

it, do not have a BTU tax.

Can any of you kind of generally give us some guidance and edu-
cate us a Uttle bit on what the European system is, and what les-

sons can be learned from theirs?

Mr. Hemphill. I am not sure whether the Europeans, in fact,

have a BTU tax, per se. But you are correct, they do tax a number
of forms of energy. In psulicular, one of the more visible ones, is

the tax on motor fuel, which is very high and obviously has a very
positive effect in terms of the efficiency of the European fleet rel-

ative to that of the American automobUe fleet. So, I guess there is
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some empirical evidence that energy taxes are an effective tool in
terms of encouraging energy conservation.
Senator Baucus. That is on the consumer.
Mr. Hemphill. That is correct. But the point that is being made

here is that in theory, you are going to get more efficiency by hav-

ing the tax as far upstream as possible, thereby capturing all the

efficiency in the use of the fuel.

Our concerns are with some of the practical problems with the
theoretical imposition of the tax as far upstream as possible, in
that we have both contractual and regulatory constraints to those

flow-throughs of taxes, and that is where practical problems kind
of intervene with the theoretical ideal of having it further up-
stream.
Senator Baucus. Thank you.
Senator Packwood.
Senator Packwood. Yes. I want to follow up on the aluminum

answer, because I do not quite understand it, Ms. Griffin. You say,
"I reiterate that we oppose any exemption for the aluminum indus-

try. The proper way to determine whether energy is actually being
used as a non-fuel source is to test whether the chemical elements
in the fuel are present in the final product." By that, I take it you
mean, if you use oil and turn it into plastic, if there is some portion
of oil in the plastic, that would be exempt, in your judgment, as
a feedstock.

Ms. Griffin. Right. If the hydrocarbons in the
Senator Packwood. In the product itself

Ms. Griffin. Right.
Senator Packwood. But aluminum is one of the few things I

have some modest experience in. I worked one summer as a
potman 40 years ago.
Senator Baucus. That is exactly right.
Senator Packwood. That was the hardest work I ever did, I

think. I lost 11 pounds in 7 days.
Senator Baucus. That is exactly right. That is the hardest job I

ever had.
Senator Packwood. Yes. God, it was tough. But, what you have

got are these gigantic rods and you are running the electricity
through the melt the bauxite, and the electricity is obviously not
part of the final product. And you are saying, unless you physically
can have it as part of the final product, it does not count for any
kind of a credit, even though it is an incredibly disproportionate
portion of your cost.

Ms. Griffin. That's right, because it is not included in the final

product.
Senator Packwood. No, I understand it is not. And that is your

test.

Ms. Griffin. That is right.
Senator Packwood. And the fact that the aluminum industry is,

by and large, a very portable industry—most of the raw material
they use is not produced in Montana, or produced in Oregon and
Washington; a lot of comes from Jamaica, a lot of it comes from
overseas—you can just as well go anyplace that electric rates are
such that you can smelt it. And you are suggesting that you would
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give no heed to the extraordinary portion of the cost, to the alu-
minum industry, of electricity?
Ms. Griffin. Well, that is right. I think, in effect, that is what

we are talking about. Very energy-intensive industries would have
even more incentive to increase their efficiency because their per-
centage is going to go up higher than other industries.
Senator Packwood. Oh. I understand that. But, until we lit-

erally invent a new process—and maybe we will 1 day—the smelt-

ing process is tremendously energy-intensive. And the aluminum
industry has, indeed, increased its productivity over the years, but
it still is going to use a tremendous amount of electricity, no matter
how productive it becomes, because it is such a basic element of its

process.
Ms. Griffin. Well, the administration estimates that the costs

could go up 4 percent for the aluminum industry.
Senator PACKWOOD. Yes.
Ms. Griffin. And I think that that would give them, as I said,

even more incentive to try and find more efficient ways to do the

smelting process.
Senator Packwood. Mr. Hemphill, tell me a little bit about your

organization. How old is it?

Mr. Hemphill. We were established in December of last year, so
we are a very new organization.
Senator Packwood. And tell me some of the companies or indus-

tries that belong to it.

Mr. Hemphill. We have Enron Corporation, essentially a pipe-
line and natural gas marketer.
Senator Packwood. Yes.
Mr. Hemphill. Southern California Edison, Southern California

Gas, Northern States Power, are some of the utilities that are
members. Honeywell.

Senator Packwood. Is a fair portion of the natural gas industry
members supporting it?

Mr. Hemphill. No. We have, in total, 30 members, of which

maybe one-third, thereabouts, are in the gas business. So, we have
on the order of 10 or so that are in natural gas, including all

phases. We have some small producers that are members, as well
as pipelines and local distribution companies.
Senator Packwood. All right. Let me ask a further question, Mr.

Chairman. The day before yesterday when Secretary Bentsen, and
then people from the coal industry, the natural gas industry, and
the oil industry 'testified, their uniform conclusion was—forgetting
the environmental argument for the moment—we have an almost
inexhaustible supply of what you would call non-renewable energy
sources. Would you agree with that?
Mr. Hemphill. We have a large supply of energy sources, includ-

ing natural gas: coal, even oil, although not sufficient to meet our
domestic needs.
Senator Packwood. No. But we are an immense oil producer, in

any event.

Mr. Hemphill. Right.
Senator Packwood. Let me ask the other two, would you agree

with that statement?
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Mr. Dower. It depends on what one thinks is exhaustible. We
have large quantities of economically recoverable coal in this coun-

try, there is no question about that. Oil and natural gas are ex-

haustible on an economic basis, and we are seeing that in the oil

fields in this country. But we have a lot of coal.

Senator Packwood. Right.
Mr. DowER. We also have a lot of wind, a lot of solar. We have

a lot of other sources of energy as well.

Senator Packwood. But what I mean is, absent the environ-

mental argument, if we had to depend on what would be defined

as exhaustible resources, we could go several centuries without

running out.

Mr. Dower. I suppose that that is right, absent the environ-

mental concerns.

Senator Packwood. Right.
Mr. Dower. We have coal.

Senator Packwood. And I say, in comparison to Japan that does
not have much in the way of natural resources, they have no choice

but to import most of their energy because they just do not have

any natural resources.
Mr. Dower. That is true.

Senator Packwood. Would you agree, Ms. Griffin?

Ms. Griffin. Well, not in the case of oil, no, especially the rate

that we use it, I do not think that we have that much time left.

But it is hard for me to forget the environmental arguments. If you
talk about economically recoverable and you do not think about the

environment, and then you think about how much we are going to

have to bend to counteract the effects of global warming, who
knows, 10, 20, 50 years from now, I do not think you can forget
those things when you are talking about energy supply.
Senator Baucus. Senator Rockefeller.

OPENING STATEMENT OF HON. JOHN D. ROCKEFELLER IV, A
U.S. SENATOR FROM WEST VIRGINIA

Senator Rockefeller. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
There are two points that I would make, and neither comes in

the form of a question. All of this discussion in this hearing and
others that we are having, including the votes with regard to the
stimulus package—all of it, have to do with the economy and fun-

damentally reducing the budget deficit. That is the thrust, basi-

cally, of aJl that we are doing here—the reduction of the budget
deficit.

It is just interesting for me to note—and I would have made this

observation at the hearing with Secretary Bentsen, and, I am sure,
would have had his total agreement—that if we do everything that
is being contemplated, not just energy taxes, but other taxes, budg-
et cuts, the stimulus, which we now will not be doing, but other

things that we will be doing—that the budget deficit—would begin
again immediately rising again in 1997 due to health care costs.

The taxes that we are talking about, BTU, any other kind, will

have a negligible effect on the budget deficit long-term—by long-
term, I mean within 4 years—leaving us right back where we are
now unless we pass heedth reform legislation.



60

The point I want to make is that, unless we pass all of the health

care reform legislation this year, in that it will take several years
for that to be implemented, pass all the implementing legislation
this 1993 year, and do the cost containment that goes along with

that, along with the coverage phased in that goes along with that,

unless we do that this year, all of this discussion, BTU tax, all the

rest of it, makes no difference whatsoever because the deficit con-

tinues to climb back up.
And it is only health care reform in combination with, linked in-

extricably to what we are discussing here today, and all of the

other parts of the economic plan that will allow the country to get
the deficit under control. And this is very, very clear. And I just
wanted to make that statement. Since this meeting has nothing to

do with health care, I felt it was particularly appropriate for me
to make it. [Laughter.]
But I make it with a good deal of tenacity because there is kind

of a word going around, primarily based on the fact that the health

care package has not been produced. The press does not have very

many good news stories, so they are kind of wandering around and

asking people, do you think health care can pass this year? It is

probably a lot easier to say no than to say yes, because if you say

no, that means if it does you look good, and if you say yes and it

does not, you do not look so good. So, I just thought I would inter-

ject that into the conversation this morning.
None of this means anything—anything—for the American econ-

omy without doing health care reform this year. All of the partisan-

ship of both sides that were observed by this Senator, at least, in

the last several weeks over the stimulus package are going to have
to disappear and lessons are going to have to be learned by both

parties that those kinds of games cannot be played when we are

talking about the American people.

Now, that has nothing to do with any of this, but has everything
to do with all of this. I wanted to make that point, Mr. Chairman,
and £dso put my statement in the record.

[The prepared statement of Senator Rockefeller appears in the

appendix.]
Senator Rockefeller. And, also, agree, as I know the Senator

from Montana will give you the liberty to do so, when Secretary
Bentsen indicated on Tuesday that the relative impact of the BTU
taix on western coal and eastern coal, he indicated this was not a

problem. The Congressional Research Service has reached a similar

conclusion. This has to do with the relative impact of the BTU tax

on eastern versus western coal. I want to submit for the record,

also, the Congressional Research Service study which shows that

to be the case.

[The prepared study is retained in the committee files.]

Senator Rockefeller. That was just a statement, Mr. Chair-

man. You raised your hand.
Ms. Griffin. Yes. Can I comment? I think that it sounds as if

what you are saying about health care does not have much to do

with what we are talking about today, but if you look at the health

care costs that we pay because of our energy use, particularly di-

rectly the air pollution costs—the American Lung Association has
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estimated billions and billions of dollars because of health care

damage due to air pollution
—I think it is connected.

Senator Rockefeller. It surely is. It surely is. You are exactly

right. It is connected, both in health care terms vis-a-vis what we
are talking about, and in terms of what the Congress has to do this

year: both packages this year.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Senator Baucus. Thank you, Senator, for your first statement, as

well as your second.

At the risk of prolonging this hearing this morning, I just have
a basic question. How much is this BTU tax going to, in fact, im-

prove our environment? I mean, none of your statements quantified

anything. How much is it going to reduce CO2; how much is it

going to reduce nitrous oxides in the atmosphere; how much is it

going to reduce CFCs; how much is it going to reduce the green-
house gases; how much is it going to, in fact, reduce contamingints

in our rivers, our lakes, and our streams; how much is it going to

reduce pressure on landfills, incinerators, and so forth?

I mefui, there is a lot of theory here and a lot of high-sounding
words. But, to be honest about it, I have not heard much that is

qu£uitified here in any of the various areas of the environment. Do
any of you have Einy data or any studies that could go to any of

that? All your statements this morning were, gee, this sounds good.
That does sound good. But is it good, and how good is it?

Mr. Hemphill. We have some assessments of the impacts, and
I, unfortunately, do not have the information with me, but I would
be glad to get that to you. They do have positive impacts on reduc-

ing the demand for fossil fuels—modest but measurably positive

impacts—and correspondingly positive impacts on the various

forms of pollution. We do not have estimates of pollution reduction,
but we do have estimates of the shift of energy use. One could cal-

culate or estimate emission reductions from the estimated reduc-

tion in fossil energy use.

Senator Baucus. You have quantified the fact of fuel switching,

say?
Mr. Hemphill. We have estimates. Yes.
Senator BAUCUS. You beUeve the utility will undertake that as

a consequence of that.

Mr. Hemphill. Yes, sir. We do.

Ms. Griffin. I think, also, part of that depends on what you all

do with the tax and how it is designed, and the collection points,
and the exemptions, and so on.

Senator Baucus. Under the modification that the administration

proposed.
Ms. Griffin. Well, the American Council for an Energy Efficient

Economy has estimated that it could reduce our energy use by 2

percent, which does not sound like a giant number. But, if you
think of it as, like, 35 fossil-fuel fired power plants, that is going
to reduce a lot of controversial local power plant siting issues, and
also protect public health because of our increases in efficiency in-

stead of using more fossil fuels.

And, again, it is really important to note that this is part of the
whole economic package, and we were very disappointed to see the
environmental components of the stimulus package go down be-
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cause it did include weatherization, Federal efficiency, public tran-

sit, and a lot of other things that really complemented the energy
tax and would have made it work better. We are hoping to see
some of those revived, and, of course, some of the subsidy cuts that
are in the budget reconciUation as well will help enhance the effect
of the tax.

Senator Baucus. Senator Packwood.
Senator Packwood. I am surprised—I do not know about Mr.

Hemphill's group, but the other two—that you did not come here
more strongly testifying in favor of a carbon tax instead of support-
ing the BTU tax, which I find a difference from what I think your
traditional position has been. Why is that?
Ms. Griffin. I guess you would call it reality. We do support a

carbon tax and a higher gasoline tax.

Senator PACKWOOD. Would you prefer a carbon tax that would
raise the same amount of money as this BTU tax?
Ms. Griffin. Well, that was our origineil recommendation, that

they introduce a carbon tax, working in tandem with a gasoline
tax. But, because this is designed to add the extra surcharge on oil

and to exempt emerging renewable sources, it is the best type of
BTU tax and certainly will accomplish some of the same goals that
we are looking for.

Senator Packwood. What would you recommend we should do
with the exemption, preference, call it what you want in this, given
to high-sulphur coal?
Ms. Griffin. In what way do you mean?
Senator Packwood. In order to not make this a tremendous hit

on coal, and mainly eastern coal, we have given a preference in
this. It is just like we have hit hydro hard, even though, on a BTU
basis, we would not hit it as hard. But, for a variety of reasons,
you call it equity in others we did. At the same time, on high- sul-

phur coal, if it was to be hit hard, in Senator Rockefeller's State
and half a dozen States would be disproportionately adversely af-

fected. I am curious if you like the way it has been treated in this

bill.

Ms. Griffin. Yes, as far as it being taxed at the straight rate.

I think that is appropriate. I think it is appropriate that our oil tax
be higher.

Senator Packwood. I £mi not talking about oil. Coal.
Ms. Griffin. Right. I think it is appropriate that our oil tax be

higher and I think that a high enough cosd rate is also appropriate.
Senator Baucus. Thank you. Senator Rockefeller.
Senator ROCKEFELLER. No further questions.
Senator Baucus. Thank you all very much. I appreciate your tes-

timony.
Ms. Griffin. Thank you.
Senator Baucus. Our next panel consists of Paul Fry, deputy ex-

ecutive director of the American Public Power Association; William
Drummond, msmager of the Public Power Council, from Portland;
The Honorable Dennis—is it Nagel, Nagel?
Mr. Nagel. Nagel.
Senator Baucus. Nagel, president. National Association of Regu-

latory Utility Commissioners, and chairperson of the Iowa Utilities

Board from Des Moines; Mr. A.W. Dahlberg, president and chief ex-
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ecutive officer of Georgia Power Company from Atlanta, on behalf
of Edison Electric Institute; and Ellen S. Roy, vice president of

Intercontinental Energy Corporation from Boston, on behalf of Na-
tional Independent Energy Producers.

Where is Mr. Fry? [Pause]
Senator Baucus. Thank you.
Mr. Fry.

STATEMENT OF PAUL R. FRY, DEPUTY EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR,
AMERICAN PUBLIC POWER ASSOCIATION, WASHINGTON, DC
Mr. Fry. Mr. Chairman, members of the committee, I am Paul

Fry, deputy executive director of the American Public Power Asso-

ciation. APPA is a national service organization representing more
than 1,750 municipal and other local pubhcly-owned electric utility

systems. These utilities serve 15 percent of the Nation's electric

consumers, or approximately 35 million Americans. They are lo-

cated in 49 of the 50 States, in Guam, the Virgin Islands, and
Puerto Rico.

APPA has a history of opposition to energy taxes, and this oppo-
sition has been based on concerns about the inequitable regional
distribution of the burden of such taxes, the difficulty of ensuring
fair and efficient administration, the potential adverse effects on
international competitiveness, and the fact that an energy tax is in-

herently regressive.

Despite this history, there is a broad consensus of our member-
ship that the Federal budget deficit is a serious issue which must
be addressed. The proposed BTU tax is part of a proposal to deal
with this issue. Accordingly, our organization has suspended its

policy of categoric opposition to energy taxes and is determined to

work with others to perfect the administration proposal so that it

is best formed to achieve its goals in a fair and efficient manner.
In general, APPA believes that an energy tax should treat dif-

ferent fuels, regions, customer classes, and electric utility industry
sectors equitably, and should be structured with an eye to fair and
efficient administration. Additionally, tax revenues should be used
for the purpose of deficit reduction and the tax should contain a
sunset provision.

Since energy t£ixes are regressive, steps should be taken to miti-

gate this effect. APPA members believe strongly that BTU tax rev-

enues should be applied to the goal of deficit reduction. This shared

goal is the paramount reason APPA suspended its traditional oppo-
sition to an energy tax.

If the administration's economic program is successful, it could
mean lower long-run costs for all consumers. For example. Treas-

ury Secretary Bentsen has argued that, for every one-tenth of a

percentage point that long-term bond yields decline, companies and
individuals save $10 billion of interest payments.

Furthermore, we believe that the tax should not be perpetual.
Rather, it should have a sunset feature that cancels the BTU tax

automatically £uid coincidentally with the end of the administra-
tion's economic package. This feature would trigger a mandatory
review of the merits of the tax and its contributions to the goal of

deficit reduction.
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APPA's position with respect to the collection points for the tax
is driven by concern for fair and efficient administration. If collect-

ing the tax upstream near the point of production means fewer tax-

payers, and, consequently, less costly, surer administration, then
that is the structure we would prefer. We suggest merely that pass-
through of the tax be neither prohibited nor limited in any way, in-

cluding the right to itemize the tax on customer bills.

We endorse the administration's position that there be no exemp-
tions from the tax based on the character of the purchaser. This
makes it clear that Federal facilities, for example, will be respon-
sible for their fair share of the tax as applied to their electricity
bills.

On the important issue of fairness, we believe more information
is needed. There is a willingness to accept shared sacrifice in order
to deal with the problem of deficit reduction, but the sacrifice must
be distributed equitably. Our membership would like to see a de-

tailed, verifiable analysis of who will bear the burden of the pro-

posed tax. Such information is essential for the evaluation of per-
ceived inequities and the modifications proposed for their remedy.
We do not believe that the information released to date is adequate
for this purpose.
Thank you.
Senator Baucus. Well, that was nice and brief. Thank you very

much, sir.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Fry appears in the appendix.]
Senator Baucus. Next witness is

Senator Packwood. I would like to introduce, if I might, Mr.
Drummond.
Senator BAUCUS. Yes. Yes.
Senator Packwood. Mr. Chairman, I would like to introduce Mr.

William Drummond, who is a distinguished witness fi-om my State

of Oregon. He is the manager of the Public Power Council, which
is an association of publicly- and consumer-owned utilities in the

Pacific Northwest.
He has been with the PPC since 1985. He started, first, as a staff

economist and became manager in 1988. He is here today to dis-

cuss the effects of the proposed energy tax on consumers of hydro-
electric energy. He has considerable knowledge and expertise in

this area, and I welcome his comments.
Senator Baucus. Thank you.
Mr. Drummond. Thank you, Senator.

Senator Baucus. All right. Mr. Drummond.

STATEMENT OF WILLIAM K. DRUMMOND, MANAGER, PUBLIC
POWER COUNCIL, PORTLAND, OR

Mr. Drummond. Thank you. Mr. Chairman, members of the com-

mittee, as the Senator has pointed out, I am William Drummond,
of the Public Power Council. We represent about 115 publicly and

cooperatively owned electric utilities in the northwest.
Because of the inherent inflationary and regressive nature of en-

ergy taxes, the Public Power Council has long opposed the adoption
of any form of an energy tax. We applaud the administration for

taking significant steps to mitigate the regressivity of the proposed
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tax and for exempting from taxation energy conservation and non-
conventional fuels.

Nonetheless, the Public Power Council continues to oppose the

energy tax in its current form due to the excessive tax burden that
would be placed on consumers of hydroelectric energy. The Public
Power Council believes that the a(hninistration's proposed energy
tax applies a scientifically invalid heat rate to hydropower that re-

sults in an excessive taxation of this energy source. Correction of

this portion of the energy t£ix would not violate regional equity, nor

significantly reduce the revenue generated by this tax. In contrast,
failure to assign scientifically correct BTU value to hydropower will

result in significant regional economic dislocation and discourage
the use of an important renewable resource.

We have three main objections to the tax in its current form as

it is applied to hydropower. First, as I mentioned, hydropower is

taxed at an artificially high rate. As the members of the committee
are aware, the administration's energy tax is purported to tax each
fuel based upon its heat content, as expressed in BTUs, or British
Thermal Units. However, under the tax plan, hydropower is taxed
at nearly three times its actual BTU equivalency.
Under the administration's proposal, the tax on hydropower is

based upon the BTU input of an average fossil fuel plant rather
than the actual BTU value of a kilowatt hour of electricity gen-
erated from falling water.
The BTU rating in the administration's proposal is 10,315 BTUs

per kilowatt hour. The correct number is 3,754 BTUs. The higher
BTU number incorrectly assumes that converting fadling water to

electricity is as inefficient as generating electricity with fossil fuel.

This incorrect assumption results in nearly a tripling of the tax
rate applied to hydropower.

Second, we believe that the energy tax could cripple the north-
west economy. While the Pacific Northwest is historically charac-
terized as having low electric rates, these rates are rising steadily.
The estimate for the pending Bonneville Power Administration rate
case has recently been revised upward to at least a 15 percent in-

crease. Resource acquisitions. Endangered Species Act compliance,
and sustained drought are likely to result in additional rate in-

creases of 20 percent over the next few years.
The administration's Power Marketing Administration Repay-

ment Initiative, if adopted, would add a four percent rate increase.
If unadjusted, the energy tax would add an additional 12 percent
to current BPA rates. Combined, the region could face a 50 percent
increase in the cost of Bonneville Power within 3 years.
While the administration's energy tax is clearly designed to reve-

nue or deficit reduction, this is not an end in itself. Rather, it is

a means of achieving the goal of long-term economic growth and
fiscal health. If the over-gu-ching purpose of the plan is the restora-
tion and maintenance of a strong economy, then it must be recog-
nized that economic conditions in the Pacific Northwest are ex-

tremely fragile and unlikely to sustain the impact of a proposed en-

ergy tax as currently calculated.

Sixty percent of Bonneville's energy sales go to industriaJ cus-
tomers. Given the energy-intensive nature of the northwest econ-

omy, correcting the conversion factor for hydropower would provide
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much-needed economic relief. This rehef could be provided without

dramatically decreasing the total revenue generated by the energy
tax. Accorchng to our calculations, the reduction in tax receipts
would be approximately $500 million per year once the tax is fully

phased in.

Finally, the hydropower tax causes regional inequity. Adminis-
tration officials concede that the imputed BTU value for hydro-
power is not scientifically justified. They suggest that the high en-

ergy tax rate was necessary to create equity in the impact of the

energy tax on different regions of the country. While this goal is

understandable, in fact, the excessive hydropower tax appears to

impose a disproportionate burden on the Pacific Northwest.

According to a preliminary analysis of the tax based upon De-

partment of Energy data, the per capita increase in Montana would
be 30 percent higher than the national average; in Washington, the

impact is 20 percent above the national average; Idaho would be
5 percent above the average; and Oregon residents would be at

about the national average.
According to an analysis by the Washington State Energy Office,

taxpayers in that State would still pay more than the national av-

erage, even if the hydropower tax were correctly calculated, only to

climb at long driving distances and energy-intensive industries.

Some will point to the lower electric rates in the northwest and

question how the tax on hydropower can be reduced without violat-

ing regional equity. It must be understood that the higher-than-av-
erage tax burden to the region results primarily from the petro-
leum surcharge, due to long driving distances.

According to the Department of Energy data, tax on oil will com-

prise 52-64 percent of the total energy burden within the States

in the region. The Public Power Council urges Congress to tax hy-

dropower at its actu£d equivalent value of 3,754 BTUs. Making this

adjustment will ensure scientific consistency, regional equity, and
economic vitality.
Thank you, and I would be happy to answer any questions.
Senator Baucus. Thank you, Mr. Drummond.
[The prepared statement of Mr. Drummond appears in the ap-

pendix.]
Senator Baucus. Next, Hon. Dennis J. Nagel.
Senator Grassley. Mr. Chairm£ui.
Senator Baucus. Yes.
Senator Grassley. He is a constituent of mine. Could I say

something about him?
/ Senator Baucus. Absolutely.

Senator Grassley. Well, first of all, he is the first lowan that

has held the position of president of the National Association of

Regulatory Commissioners, so I want to compliment him for that

leadership. He has been on our utility regulation board, I think,
about 5 years, if I am right, roughly.
He previously has been aides to two Governors in two different

States. One, Governor Ahill, in New Jersey, and then I first met
him when he came on the staff where he served Governor Ray, of

Iowa, for about seven or 8 years. I think he started to work for

Governor Ray about the time I left the State Legislature.
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So, I am very proud to have Mr. Nagel here with us. Most impor-
tantly, very proud to have him in a position of leadership, as he
is with the National Association.

STATEMENT OF DENNIS J. NAGEL, PRESmENT, NATIONAL AS-
SOCIATION OF REGULATORY UTILITY COMMISSIONERS, AND
CHAIRPERSON, IOWA UTILITIES BOARD, DES MOINES, lA

Mr. Nagel. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and members of the com-
mittee. Good morning. This morning I testify on behalf of the Na-
tional Association of Regulatory Utility Commissioners. We greatly
appreciate the opportunity to present our views on the subject of
the proposed energy tax.

The NARUC has been an active participant in the debate over
the administration's modified BTU tax since shortly after President
Clinton announced his original tax proposal in February. While
NARUC remains neutral on the issue of the energy tax, our resolu-

tion states six items we believe must be addressed in the design
of any broad-based energy tax.

I want to devote my time this morning to address the Treasury's
proposal on the passthrough issue, and also discuss the major issue
of energy efficiency, as affected by the tax proposal.
NARUC is supportive of one of the key objectives of the modified

BTU tax, which is to send price signals to energy consumers: con-
serve energy. We are willing to work with the administration, the

Congress, and other interested parties in seeing that this objective
is achieved.
At the same time, the NARUC is committed to its twin principles

of seeing that Federal preemption of State regulation is an action
of absolute last resort and should be undertsdten only when fiilly

justified, and that State Commissions, because of their proximity
to the people we regulate, are best able to determine the justness
and reasonableness of utility rates.

The Treasury Department's April 1 proposal on the passthrough
issue would deny certain tax benefits to utilities for periods during
which the energy tax is not completely passed through to end
users. Withholding the benefits of normalization from a utility for

the time period that the BTU tax is not passed through would un-

necessarily extend the reach of the normalization provisions into
another area of State ratemaking authority. It also runs counter to
the original Congressional intent of normalization, which is to slow
the flow-through of utility tax benefits to ratepayers.

I would submit that there already exists a time- tested and effec-

tive means of passing through the cost of the energy tax, and that
is State Commission rate- setting mechanisms.
Most State Commissions have a mechanism for dealing with fuel

cost increases that would occur as a result of the modified BTU
tax. These mechanisms are generally known as energy cost adjust-
ments and are commonly referred to as Fuel Adjustment Clauses,
or FACs, in the electric utility industry, and Purchased Gas Adjust-
ments, or PGAs, in the gas utility industry. The tables accompany-
ing my written testimony indicate that three- quarters of the
States have FACs in place, and 47 States use PGAs.

In States without these mechanisms, or when the BTU tax is im-
posed directly on hydro- or nuclear-generated electricity, a utility
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may file for a rate increase. These increases typically go into effect

in short order, subject to suspension by the State Commission.
Both rate mechanisms—the energy cost adjustments and rate fil-

ings—provide ample opportunities for utilities to recover their in-

creased costs due to the tax.

There also is no evidence to support the claim that a State Com-
mission might withhold any portion of the Federal tax paid by a

utility. In fact, we can find no incident where a State Commission
has taken such action against a utility. State Commissions are

obliged by the Constitution to include all reasonable costs of pro-

viding utility service and rates, and bona fide taxes imposed by the

Congress have always been viewed as reasonable costs.

Besides calling for no preemption of State ratemaking authority
in the design of the energy tax, the NARUC believes that such a
tax should be designed to encourage energy efficiency £ind optimal
use of fuels.

We do not beUeve there is sufficient evidence to prove that en-

ergy efficiency would be substantially improved if there is a man-
datory requirement that utiUty ratepayers bear the full cost of the

BTU tax.

Guaranteeing 100 percent passthrough does not, in our opinion,

guarantee substantially more energy savings or energy efficiency

improvements. What it does is actusdly remove incentives for utili-

ties to make their energy production, transmission, and distribu-

tion operations more efficient. These costs and these efforts encom-

pass the optimal use of fuels used in the generation of electricity.

Congress, in passing the Energy Policy Act of 1992, expressly re-

quired the State Commissions to consider regulatory incentives

that would allow electric utilities to improve their supply side effi-

ciency. NARUC supported enactment of this provision.

Ensuring that the tax is borne only by entities on the demand
side of the utility meter runs counter to the policy adopted just last

year by this Congress. Therefore, we believe that any energy tax

should be designed to encourage efficiency on the supply side, as

well as the demand side of the meter.
Let me conclude, Mr. Chairman, by telling you that the NARUC

is willing to work with this committee, the Congress, and the ad-

ministration, in determining what energy tax is in the best interest

of our country.
Thank you very much.
Senator Baucus. Thank you, Mr. Nagel.
[The prepared statement of Mr. Nagel appears in the appendix.]
Senator Baucus. Mr. Dahlberg.

STATEMENT OF A.W. DAHLBERG, PRESIDENT AND CHIEF EX-

ECUTIVE OFFICER, GEORGIA POWER COMPANY, ATLANTA,
GA, ON BEHALF OF EDISON ELECTRIC INSTITUTE

Mr. Dahlberg. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. My name is Bill

Dahlberg, and I am president and CEO of Georgia Power Com-

pany. Greorgia Power Company is the largest subsidiary of the

Southern Company, a large utility holding company. Georgia Power

Company serves about 1.6 million customers in one of our Nation's

fastest-growing States.
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I appreciate the opportunity to appear before the committee this

morning, and I am representing this morning the Edison Electric

Institute, the association for investor-owned utiUties, to present our
views on the administration's proposed BTU energy tax.

EEI supports the efforts of the President and the Congress to re-

duce the Federal budget deficit and to promote further economic re-

covery. We believe that most of our customers and most Americans
want to see the budget tamed primarily through cuts in Federal

spending, and then, if necessary, through fair increases in taxes.

Thus, it is not surprising to learn that in a recent Wall Street Jour-
nal NBC News poll, it found that only 35 percent of Americans
support the energy tax, while 62 percent oppose it.

Over the last several months, EEI has analyzed the impact of the
administration's proposed BTU tax on our companies, on our cus-

tomers, and on our National economy. As a result, we believe that
if Congress, (1) recognizes the direct impact this tax would have on
low- and moderate-income families, and (2) considers the effect of
the BTU tax on the competitiveness of American industry, then

Congress, like EEI, will reject this form of taxation.
Low cost and reliable energy is a fundamental ingredient in eco-

nomic well-being. The proposed BTU t£tx will have an alarming rip-

ple effect throughout the economy as the costs of all products and
all services increase. This ripple effect at home will create waves
for American manufacturers seeking to do business overseas.

Large industrial consumers of electricity will be significantly af-

fected. In Georgia, for example, our industrisd customers will pay
an additional $166.9 million. That represents an increase of six to

7 percent in the energy cost for these industrial customers.
In some regions of the country, the increase in the cost of elec-

tricity will exceed 10 percent for industrial customers. With the ad-
ministration's additional tax, some of our most valuable indus-
tries—autos, airlines, primary metals, aluminum, chemical manu-
facturing, paper, and agriculture—will be put in a less competitive
position at home, and, more importantly, abroad.
You have heard others assert that American energy costs are too

low in comparison to other developed nations. I want to tell you
that that is not a problem. To the extent that our energy costs are

low, it gives us a competitive advantage and we should be striving
to protect, not destroy, that competitive advantage.

It is also interesting to note that our trading partners have large-
ly rejected broad-based energy taxes, and, in some instances, sub-
sidize the energy sector. Ironically, the proposed BTU energy tax
will act as a subsidy for foreign imports since those goods will be
exempt from this tax.

The importance of international competitiveness to the American
economy cannot be overstated. In 1992, growth in U.S. exports ac-
count for one-third of this Nation's 2.1 percent growth of GDP.
Thus, it makes little sense to penalize the sector of the economy
that continues to lead us out of the economic doldrums. Beyond
this obvious macro-economic effect, the BTU tax would have a sig-
nificant and direct impact on the average American family.
Americans have been told that the energy tax will add only a few

dollars a month to their home utility bills, and a few dollars a
month more at the gasoline pump. Presented that way, the energy
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tax doesn't sound too bad. And, for those below the poverty level,
or marginally above it, we are assured that there will be tax re-

bates and income credits.

What the public may not understand is that, in reality, we will

all be paying for the energy tax. Everything that America buys, if

it is made in America, will carry a hidden price tag that includes
the energy taxes paid by the manufacturer, by the manufacturer's

suppliers, and the distribution network, including transportation
and additional retail costs.

Consumers are going to pay this tax whenever they buy food,

clothing, shelter, or any product or service that has an imbedded
energy cost. In fact, the Treasury Department estimates that a

family of four earning $40,000 a year will see its cost of living rise

$440 a year because of the total burden of the BTU tax. This rep-
resents about a 15 percent increase in the Federal tax burden that
such a family faces as a result of Federal income taxes.

As proposed, the BTU would be compounded by State and local

piggyback taxes. An increase in fuel costs caused by the BTU tax
will automatically increase State and local taxes on gross receipts,
franchise fees, sales taxes, and other utility taxes. In some cases,
these piggyback taxes amount to up to 16 percent.
We hope that the committee will explore carefully whether an in-

herently regressive BTU tax will have the deficit fighting punch
that its backers might hope. The administration's budget contains
billions of doUcirs of additional spending for Earned Income Credit,
Food Stamps, and Total Energy Assistance.
To a large degree, the additional spending is required to simply

reduce the regressive impact of the BTU tax itself. We beheve that

the remaining possible benefits of the tax will be lost, or a BTU en-

ergy tax will reduce economic growth, cost the economy jobs, and
increase inflation.

A recent data resources analysis
Senator Baucus. I am going to have to ask you to summarize,

Mr. Dahlberg, as best you can.

Senator Rockefeller. Yes. I was going to suggest the same my-
self.

Mr. Dahlberg. Let me make just one concluding statement then.

Our concern, really, is two-fold. It is the impact on gdl of our con-

sumers, but our principal impact is on the industries of this coun-

try. We think it does put us at an international competitive dis-

advantage. Some studies show that it could cause us to lose as

many as 600,000 jobs. I do not know how m£iny, but I do know it

will have an impact on our competitive position and we should not
let that occur.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Senator Baucus. Thank you, Mr. Dahlberg.
[The prepared statement of Mr. Dahlberg appears in the appen-

dix.]

Senator BAUCUS. Ms. Roy.
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STATEMENT OF ELLEN S. ROY, VICE PRESIDENT, INTERCONTI-
NENTAL ENERGY CORPORATION, BOSTON, MA, ON BEHALF
OF NATIONAL INDEPENDENT ENERGY PRODUCERS
Ms. Roy. Thank you. Mr. Chairman, my name is Ellen Roy. I am

vice president and director of Intercontinental Energy Corporation,
and the Chairperson of the Energy Tax Committee of the National

Independent Energy Producers. I thank you for allowing me to tes-

tify here today.
I am here to talk about three things. One, is to tell you a httle

bit about the independent power industry and what we do; second,
is to explain how the design of the energy tax can be improved to

better serve the goals of conservation and efficient revenue collec-

tion without putting an unfair burden on the ability of the inde-

pendent power industry to compete; and third, is to show why pass-

through of energy taxes for future, as well as existing IPP projects,
is critical to the development of competition in the power indus-

try
—a goal that Congress recently reaffirmed when it passed the

Nationsd Energy Policy Act in 1992.

Intercontinental Energy Corporation is an independent power
producer, or IPP, as we say, with co-generation facilities in Massa-
chusetts, New Jersey, and Pennsylvania. The National Independ-
ent Energy Producers, or NIEP, as we also say, is an association

of companies like ours that generate electricity for sale to utiUties,
and steam for sale to industry. Our members use highly reliable

fossil fuels and renewable technologies, including hydro, pump stor-

age, geothermal, biomass, wood, and waste energy, as well as tradi-

tional natural gas, oil, and coal.

Our companies' facilities, most of which were built in the 1980's,
are highly efficient and use state-of-the-art, environmentally ad-
vanced technologies. Our companies typically sell power wholesale
to electric utilities on the basis of long-term contracts. In 1989, the

independent power industry has supplied over 50 percent of all

new electric capacity brought on-line in the United States.

The key to a fair and efficient energy tax is its collection point.
In the administration's February proposal for upstream collection

of the tax, the seller of gas, coal, or oil would collect the tax at the

point of sale prior to the fuel being used to produce electricity.
NIEP has expressed concern about this to the administration,

that a tax in this form would have the unintended consequence of

damaging the independent power industry. IPPs are not like regu-
lated utilities which can pass on, in most cases, costs to ratepayers.
Instead, IPPs sell electricity to utilities under long-term contracts
that typically do not permit the seller to passthrough the energy
tax.

The unintended consequence is this: if IPPs have to pay all or
some significant portion of the tax with no way to pass it along,
the tax could well jeopardize our ability to repay our bank loans,
or even to keep operating.
An equally important effect of this tax in the way it is currently

designed is its impact on competition in the electric power markets.
Wholesale generators of electricity, such as IPPs, compete with tra-

ditional cost-of-service plants for the right to build new electric ca-

pacity.
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If IPPs with long-term contracts are placed at a disadvantage
relative to their utility competitors by virtue of the IPPs inability
to passthrough the tax to the ultimate consumer, competition will

be tilted in favor of the utilities, depriving consumers of many of
the benefits of competition.
To better meet the administration's goals, NIEP recommends the

following alternative to an upstream energy tax. The energy tax
should be imposed downstream at the retail burner tip for natural

gas, or at the retail electric meter. This collection point would
eliminate the passthrough problems for utilities and IPPs, alike.

NIEP believes that this approach to the energy tax better serves
national policy objectives. For example, the goal of revenue collec-

tion is met; the goal of conservation is enhanced; and the goal of

administrative ease is also furthered.

NIEP is pleased that the administration, in its April revisions to

the proposed energy tax, has responded to some of our concerns by
providing a special rule designed to ensure that independent power
producers would not be competitively disadvantaged. While thus ap-

proach is less efficient than a downstream retail tax, it is a big im-

provement over Treasury's original proposal in February.
To further improve the design of the tax, NIEP recommends ad-

ditional modifications with respect to definitions, deferral versus
credit mechanisms, and the perspective application of the tax.

I would like to emphasize this last point. To avoid undermining
the purpose of the Public Utility Regulatory Policy Act, as well as

the 1992 National Energy Policy Act and the competitive position
of the independent power industry by giving utilities another bar-

gaining chip over IPPs, the energy tax credit deferral mechanisms
for IPPs should apply prospectively, as well as to existing contracts.

Thank you for your time, and we look forward to working with

you on this problem.
Senator Baucus. Thank you, Ms. Roy.
[The prepared statement of Ms. Roy appears in the appendix.]
Senator Baucus. Ms. Roy and Mr. Dahlberg—if you want to join

in, Mr. Drummond, that is fine, too—you have heard the earlier

panel testifying that the collection points should be further up-
stream, forcing utilities to make better environmental choices, as

opposed to the collection point for the downstream, as you suggest,
a burner tip, for example. What about their argument that it is fur-

ther upstream that forces utilities to make better environmental

choices, in selection of fuels, for example.
Ms. Roy. I have two responses to that. First of all, as the witness

alluded to, there are practical problems to that, which are our long-
term contracts and other mechanisms which prevent the consumer
from ever seeing that tax. In our case, in our industry, if you put
the tax upstream, we will absorb 100 percent of that tax, and, yet,
we have no ability to change our behavior in response to that tax,
or in response to that price signal.

So, there are areas in the economy which, if you put it all the

way upstream, in fact, that company will absorb 100 percent of it

and the consumer will never see the price signal in which to pro-
vide for ch£uiges in their behavior, and no conservation goals will

be met.
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The second point that I would make is that we are profit-moti-
vated and if we have $100 that we are spending on fuel today and
the energy tax will make it $110 or $120, we still have a large in-

centive because of that $100 we are already spending on fiiel to

come up with a more efficient way of organizing our electricity pro-
duction.

Senator Baucus. Mr. Dahlberg.
Mr. Dahlberg. Senator, I really think, in the long-term, all costs

of doing business are going to be reflected in consumer prices. It

gives the consumer the opportunity to evaluate that price against
others, whether that is an import or a competitor. I think we need
to give the consumer the opportunity to make those choices. Sooner
or later, I think that is the point it should be, whether you enact
this and place it at one point. Sooner or later, it will be reflected,
I believe, in the price of the product, and that is where it properly
should be.

Senator Baucus. Mr. Nagel, in trying to evaluate what to pass-
through and what not, and trying to assess the environmental im-

pacts of utilities' options, will PUCs essentially say, in assessing,
say, Georgia Power's request for the passthrough of this BTU tax,

that, oh, no, Georgia Power, you have got to change your fuels a
Uttle bit here and you have got to be more environmentally sen-

sitive, to what degree will Commissioners make that assessment?
Mr. Nagel. Not in the direct sense that you just indicated.
Senator Baucus. I am sorry?
Mr. Nagel. Not in the direct sense that you just indicated. It is

in a longer term consequence that that issue would arise. As I

mentioned, the Constitution basically requires if you incur reason-
able costs, then we cannot dis£dlow that reasonable cost in the reg-
ulatory process, and certainly a Federal tax would be deemed to be
a reasonable cost. That issue would arise in a longer term con-

sequence, looking at the mix that a utility puts together to procure
its resources. Then if a public utility commission would deem that
there was a better mix available, a lower cost mix available to
serve the customers, there might be some disallowances involved.
But the direct Federal tax itself would not be a trigger for dis£dlow-
ance.

Mr. Dahlberg. Senator, I might add one thing. We have just
gone through a great debate over the last couple of years that re-

sulted in the enactment of a new national energy policy. One of the

requirements in that law is the filing of an integrated resource

plan so that commissions have the opportunity to review the total

concept of the utilities' plans and can look at the economic mix. I

think that is the proper way to look at these things. Additional fuel
costs would be one element in that plan, and we do have Federal
legislation now that provides that mechanism.
Senator BAUCUS. You know, there are a lot of people who say

that this country must do a better job in pursuing sustainable de-

velopment. That is, countries like Japan consume about half the
energy we consume per same unit output, and consume half the
natural resources that we consume versus the same unit output;
the argument being that, therefore, they are much more efficient
in their production and manufacturing process, and, therefore, are
much more competitive in world markets. Further, that there is
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less of environmental damage because there is less energy con-

sumption. Most energy consumption does have an environmental

consequence. I am just curious what your reaction is to all that. To
go further, I am very impressed with some organizations—one per-
son in particular I met down at the Rio Summit, is putting to-

gether large business organizations, CEOs of major companies
worldwide—who are very much pursuing life cycle planning of sus-

tainable development, not for better environmental objectives, but
to prove their bottom line. I am curious what your reaction is to

that.

Mr. Dahlberg. I guess my reaction is—again, I do not want to

push it off on another piece of legislation
—that we have gone

through a period of time when we have looked at environmental

policy, and we did enact the Eunendments to the Clean Air Act just
2 years ago, and we responded to that. Last year, in the National

Energy Act that was passed, again, there are provisions for review-

ing utility plans.
I would suggest, if you look at the improvements and efficiencies

in electric utilities over the last few years, you would see sizeable

improvements in the use of energy for the production of power. If

you go to an American manufacturer today, I think you will see im-

provements in the efficiency of that production.
Senator Baucus. Your argument is that we need more incentives

in this country to push us further in this direction.

Mr. Dahlberg. I think that is correct. Yes, sir.

Senator Baucus. You do think we do?
Mr. Dahlberg. Yes, sir.

Senator Baucus. Is that not one of the arguments behind the
BTU tax, to help achieve that goal?
Mr. Dahlberg. Well, I think one of the counter problems,

though, is that if you impose this tax on energy, those industries
that are energy-intensive, those that have to compete with foreign

products, are really going to be put at a competitive disadvantage.
So, you might push it in that direction. You have to be concerned
about aluminum producers, or primary metals, or papers.
Senator Baucus. Thank you.
Mr. Dahlberg. There are no provisions offset at the border.

Senator Baucus. Thank you. Senator Packwood.
Senator Packwood. Max, you mentioned Japan. It is interesting,

on this subject of aluminum. Japan is energy short. I will first use
the analogy of the apparel industry and then move to aluminum.

Twenty years ago, Japan was in the top 10 in the world on the ex-

port of both apparel and textiles, both the cloth and the cloalt. They
decided they could not compete in the wage industry in apparel; it

was still heavily a hand industry. They basically got out of the ex-

port of apparel. Today they are not in the top, probably, 25. I have
not seen figures below that. They are still successful in the export
of textiles, which is heavily capital intensive, and you can do well.

They made the same decision on aluminum. Twenty-five years
ago, Japan used to be a large aluminum smelter, but energy was
too expensive. They did not have enough energy, and they got out
of it. They just said, this is an industry we cannot afford to justify,
based upon the energy content it takes. I fear that is what is going
to happen to Montana and Oregon.
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Senator Baucus. The same with the coal mines, too. They shut
down their very inefficient coal mines.

Senator Packwood. Yes. They could not do it. And I think that

is a lesson we ought to keep in mind as we start to increase and
increase the cost of our production for the aluminum industry.

They can well go someplace else, and they may decide to do that.

Mr. Dahlberg. Senator, I share that exact same concern. Alu-

minum is probably the most energy-intensive. But we have a wire

manufacturer in Carrollton, Greorgia and they have exactly the

same difficulty. This tax will increase their energy costs by about
8 percent.
Senator Packwood. Yes.
Mr. Dahlberg. When I am looking for wire suppliers, I am going

to evaluate their costs versus the imports that we see, and we do
see imports. And that 8 percent is something that they cannot off-

set. So, I have the exact same concern that you do. While they can

compete successfully now, if a tax is imposed on them that is not

imposed on foreign importers, then that is going to be a problem.
They also have £ui export market, £uid they are going to lose some
of that market as well.

Senator Packwood. I am fascinated by those who say, well, this

only increases business' cost four percent, as if four percent is noth-

ing. Four percent is the difference in many businesses, in terms of

competition.
Mr. Dahlberg. I agree with you.
Senator Packwood. Mr. Drummond, let me ask you a question.

Administration indicates that the impact of the tax on the west
coast States of California, Oregon, and Washington will be slightly
below the national average, and yet you suggest that, in the north-

west, it is going to be 20 percent more than the national average.

Why is that, is California lumped into that, and because they are
so heavy it weights the average?
Mr. Drummond. California completely swamps any analysis that

you do of impacts in the northwest. The analysis that I referred to

was done on the States of Idaho, Oregon, Washington, and Mon-
tana.

Senator Packwood. And, in that case, we are going to get stuck

pretty heavily.
Mr. Drummond. That is correct. And, as I mentioned, again,

even changing the hydro tax, as we suggest, it is lost because of
the great driving distances we face in the west.

Senator Packwood. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Senator Baucus. Thank you. Senator Rockefeller.

Senator ROCKEFELLER. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Mr. Dahlberg,
I am going to try to put this as tactfully as I cam. I have worked
very carefully with Edison Electric Institute on the Staggers Act.

I think that we caused, through legislation that did not pass, in

fact, a change to be made on the Interstate Commerce Commission,
which made your life a lot easier.

But I have to say that listening to your testimony is like testi-

mony I used to hesir when I first came up to the Congress about
6, 7, 8 years ago: all one-sided, just protect your own interest at

any cost, that what happens to the Nation makes no difference

whatsoever. The Federal budget deficit does not seem to make any



76

difference whatsoever, I mean, you made a series of statements
that are amazing to me. You started out by saying—as everybody
who is about to savage a particular proposed does—we beheve very
strongly in budget deficit reduction. And then you say, well, we
should just do it by budget cuts, and then taxes if we have to.

I think one of the things that is clear is that the President has
made the most major effort in deficit reduction of the last 20 years,
$1.5 trillion. And what you are basically sajdng is that you cannot
live with that, that we are going to be nationally uncompetitive.
My understanding, generally, of utilities is that utilities can make
more money, or less money, depending upon what public service

commissions do to them. But it is not very often a utility loses

money.
I am interested in what your response is in terms of the effect

of the budget deficit itself on international competitiveness of
American industries.

Mr. Dahlberg. Senator, I am sorry I did not give you the proper
impression. I do wish the President all the success in the world,
and the Congress all the success in the world. I do treat the deficit

as a severe problem. I do not want to m£ike that problem worse.
Senator Rockefeller. Could you answer my question, please?
Mr. Dahlberg. Yes, sir. My concern is that our analysis of this

tax
Senator Rockefeller. No, no. My question was, could you give

me your impression of the effect of the current budget deficit and
the direction that it is going, of the interest payment on the na-
tional debt, the cost of all of that on our international competitive-
ness, which is the reason that you gave for being against this par-
ticular tax, and virtually any energy taxes.

Mr. Dahlberg. Yes, sir. I do not have an analysis of it. But there
is no question

Senator Rockefeller. But you are a businessman. You have
been in this. You can talk to me about it.

Mr. Dahlberg. There is no question that the deficit has a nega-
tive effect on our business and on our competitiveness. My concern
is that we make that problem worse. And our concern is, if we do
the analysis, once you apply the tax and you look at the effects on

specific industries, that, in effect, it will take more out of the econ-

omy than it will gain, and, in effect, the deficit would not be re-

duced.
Senator Rockefeller. And you are saying that the way that this

tax would affect utilities which are basically held-harmless in

terms of losing money in relation to most other businesses in this

country—you are going to have some people in the next panel from
steel and aluminum complaining about massive job loss directly.
But you do not lose jobs.
Mr. Dahlberg. No, sir.

Senator Rockefeller. You talk about worrying about the cost to

your customers. But are you saying that the cost of this to your
utility or to the utilities in general in this country is going to be
a greater threat to national competitiveness than our current
course on the budget deficit?

Mr. Dahlberg. No, sir. My testimony supports, I think, what you
will hear later. I am not commenting principally on the utiUties
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themselves, in the short-term. I think, certainly, if we lose manu-

facturing base and we lose manufacturing jobs, that, in the long-

term, yes, it will hurt us, because that is a customer gone. If we
have a manufacturer that cannot compete or is put at a competitive

disadvantage and they reduce production, yes, it causes a reduction

for the utilities. My concern is the impact on all of American indus-

try.
Senator Rockefeller. Well, I understand what you are saying

very, very well.

Let me just say that I hope that, in conversation with Senators

and Representatives, as you, yourself, do this, that you will be far

more effective if you do not use the so-called slash and bum tactics

that were used four or 5 years ago by industries and others who
came in who generally took the point of view, if you do this, the

world is going to come to an end, we are not going to be able to

compete. Everything comes to a dead halt. We have grown a lot

more sophisticated around here now.
I come from a State that—Mr. Drummond was complaining

about the fragile Oregon economy, and his unemployment rate is

7.3 percent, which is just slightly above the national average. In

West Virginia, we count ourselves lucky if we are below 11 percent.

My suggestion is that recently around here there are a lot of us—
including those of us who come from energy States—who recognize
that the budget deficit is our greatest problem. And we all are com-

ing to the point where we are beginning to adjust our thinking to

think more moderately, more persuasively, frankly, more intel-

ligently, in how we solve our Nation's problems. And we do that by
reflecting in the way we talk that we are not all going to get every-

thing we want out of this, that we are all going to have to make
some kind of a sacrifice, and we are going to have to do that in

order for the country to survive. And that is true whether you are

talking about health care—do I wish the President would pick

something other than an energy tax? Of course I wish he would

pick something other than an energy tax; I come from an energy-
producing State. But he has picked an energy tax, and we have
worked to try to modify it in certain ways, and it has been done.
And I am going to live with it, and I am going to support it, be-

cause that is my contribution, as a Senator, towards the reduction
of the national deficit, and, therefore, our international competi-
tiveness.

I guess I would just—and I have run over my time, Mr. Chair-
man—sort of think about updating the way you approach testi-

mony in talking with people. We think a lot differently around here
than we did four or 5 years ago.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Senator Baucus. Thank you. Senator. Senator Grassy.
Senator Grassley. Thank you. Mr. Nagel, once again, thank you

for your leadership, and thank you for coming to testify. I know
you are testifying for your association, and I guess I would invite

either association or your own personal point of view, as you might
want to identify. Some argue that since some States have auto-
matic passthroughs, other States are going to be unfairly impacted.
Would an automatic passthrough on the BTU tax be justified, or
should it be left up to the individual States?
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Mr. Nagel. As I tried to explain in my testimony, Senator Grass-

ley, the great majority of States have provisions which, without

having an additional hearing or delay, should accommodate those
utilities that will experience this tax.

In Iowa, for example, we have both a PGA for the gas utilities,
and an Energy Adjustment Clause for the electric utilities. This
tax, because of the component of the fuel tax, the cost of fuel will

be passed on to the customers through those adjustment clauses

automatically. So, certainly, the utilities in our State will not face

any problems recovering the costs there.

And, in the few States that do not have these automatic adjust-
ment clauses, the normal rate case mechanism is available for ad-

dressing this concern, emd certainly the last thing I think we need
to keep in mind is that the tax component is simply one element
of the overall set of costs that a utility will incur in providing util-

ity service. And, while one element may be going up, other ele-

ments may be going down, and a certain utility in a State that does
not have an automatic adjustment clause will have to consider, is

this the best time for us to come in for a rate case?
Senator Grassley. Also, Mr. Nagel, if this tax would be imposed,

how would you feel about limiting the ability of certain customers
to avoid the tax by either bypassing utility systems or installing
their own electric generation, or should such attempts at bypass be

subject to the tax anyway?
Mr. Nagel. One of the consequences of the automatic adjustment

clauses that I mentioned is that this tax be treated as if it were

simply the additional increment of the cost of fuel. And because
fuel costs are typicgdly passed on to customers on a per-unit basis

of fuel consumed, that means it falls disproportionately on certain

customers. Primarily, that means industrial customers. Those cus-

tomers, inevitably, are the best-suited to bypass the local utility to

seek an additional source of energy. And that is where I think pub-
lic service commissions have the obligation, working with those in-

dustrial customers and with the utilities, to look at alternative rate

design programs, or economic development efforts to make sure
that that bypass only occurs when it is economically justified.
Senator Grassley. If this BTU tax is passed, and if it does cause

loss of U.S. industry because of foreign competition, or, under the
instance if it causes what we just talked about, it causes industries

to leave the utility system, would this mean higher prices on resi-

dential and commercial customers who remain on the system, and
then, consequently, cost-shifting?

Mr. Nagel. That is always a possibility. Senator. In our State,
I would tell you that is probably not a significant likehhood be-

cause none of our utilities have disproportionate reliance on indus-

trial customers for their sales. But if you go to a State, such as In-

diana or Illinois, where, perhaps—let me give you a better exam-

ple.
Minnesota Power, which serves the taconite customers in North-

em Minnesota, has over 60 percent of its load devoted to serving
those major customers. If they left the system or shifted a major
share of their power consumption ofT the system, yes, you woiild

probably see some shifting, ultimately, of costs to other consumers.
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The point being, to prevent that from happening, pubUc service

commissions, I think, are attentive enough to needs to encourage
economic development in their States. They would work very close-

ly with the utility and their industrial customers to see what kind

of rate design changes can we make to obviate those concerns.

Senator Grassley. Yes. Maybe, in closing, I would just comment
on what Senator Rockefeller said last, and not in any way to pick
a fight, because it is a new environment around here, and it ought
to be a new environment.
But too often we sometimes think if you just increase rates or es-

tablish a new tax, that somehow it is static, it does not have an

impact on people's behavior. And that sort of projection projects a

massive amount of income that sometimes does not materialize, be-

cause tax changes do affect behavior, and, of course, behavior is

part of what is behind the BTU tax.

But we are still assuming a lot of revenue coming in that might
not, and, of course, we do have, from the last tax bill, the tax on

boats, where we know that it has just about destroyed the industry
in the Nation because people do not have to buy boats, so they
haven't. Or, if they have, they have gone someplace else to buy
them.
Senator Baucus. Thank you, Senator. Senator Chafee.

Senator Chafee. No thank you.
Senator Baucus. Thank you. Thank you all very much for your

testimony.
Senator BAUCUS. The next panel consists of Mr. Leland Swenson,

President of the National Farmers Union.
Mr. Paul Huard, vice president of the Taxation and Fiscal PoUcy

Department of the National Association of Manufacturers.
John Buckley from Massachusetts on behalf of the New England

Fuel Institute and various other associations.

Mr. Gordon Aoyagi, chief of the Division of Transit Services,

Montgomery County Department of Transportation, Rockville, MD,
on behalf of the American Public Transit Association.

And John Collins, senior vice president, American Trucking Asso-

ciations, Inc.

Mr. Swenson, why don't you begin?

STATEMENT OF LELAND H. SWENSON, FRESmENT, NATIONAL
FARMERS UNION, DENVER, CO

Mr. Swenson. Thank you, Mr. Chairman and members of the

committee.
I am Leland Swenson, president of the National Farmers Union.

I represent over 250,000 family farmers and ranchers throughout
the United States.

Members of the National Farmers Union support the basic con-

cepts outUned in President Clinton's economic program.
We believe there is a need to stimulate the economy, especially

the rural economy throughout the United States.

We believe that it is time to invest in people and our Nation's

infrastructure, to reduce the Federal deficit, and to reform our Na-
tion's tax system.
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And I would submit to the committee a complete copy of my tes-

timony and summarize, if I may Mr. Chairman, just to expedite the

process.
[The prepared statement of Mr. Swenson appears in the appen-

dix.]

Mr. Swenson. But I would neglect my duties as a representative
of a general purpose farm organization if I did not point out that

production agriculture has already contributed a great deal to our
National debt reduction.

As noted in the chart in my testimony, agriculture is the only en-

titlement program that has experienced a reduction of outlays in

the past and is scheduled and will accept even more reductions in

the future.

Because of their effect on both net farm income and the future

competitiveness of agricultural exports, the Farmers Union has se-

rious reservations concerning both the BTU tax proposal and the

proposed increased in the inland waterways fuel tax.

But getting straight to the point, if farm income were up, there

would be much less concern about the potential implications of

those energy taxes on our industry 8md rural America.
Just to give you a brief snapshot of the financial condition of ag-

riculture based on the current farm programs, the U.S. Agriculture
Outlook Board in January estimated that 1993 net farm income
would be in the range of $42 to $48 billion, down from the $51 bil-

lion level in 1992.

That is a net range 12 percent drop. And it is finally a 17 percent
decline in projected net farm income to say that the net average
farm income of producers across the board is about $16,236. So you
take that projection based in Jguiuary and now look at increasing,

significant production costs.

FAPRI has estimated that when fully phased in in 1998, produc-
tion costs for com associated with fuel and lubrication, fertilizer,

chemicals and harvesting operations would increase by $2.34 an
acre.

And if you take a look at cotton and put those same factors in,

it is $3.37 per acre.

Farm production expenses for fertilizer for petroleum-based fuels

and oils, electricity and custom work would rise by $690 million in

1998 under the proposed energy tax.

Farm income is sheeted by 2.3 percent or $1.2 billion by the total

economic package.
North Dakota State has done a study which is referred to in my

comments, and one has been done in my home State of South Da-
kota. They show that there is significant impact.
The point I want to emphasize is that the agricultural sector, un-

like many of the other sectors of industry, is unable to pass those

additional costs on. And thus, the only place to recover them is by
higher returns for the commodities we produce.
We cannot just assess a higher cost for those commodities as we

go to the market. And modem agriculture is energy intensive

today. And we have few alternative energy sources in the produc-
tion of food.
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Independent farmers and ranchers have virtually, as I said, no

way to pass through the increased burden to the end users of the

food and fiber.

But beyond just that of production agriculture, let me just share

some other concerns that exist in the rural communities. According
to the Census Bureau, each rural family generates 62 percent more
in daily auto travel than do those in metropolitan areas.

And only a small percent, 1 percent of rural workers, have access

to public transportation. And heating and fuel costs for rural struc-

tures can average 15 percent more than metropolitan areas be-

cause of the isolated location and the exposed positions of rural

buildings and the delivery costs of energy.
As we point to those concerns, what do we see are some of the

solutions? First of all—and I know that it is beyond the jurisdiction
of this committee, but first of all is income, the price for the com-

modity.
The Farmers Union is working with Congress and the adminis-

tration to make sure that we can boost agricultural income in the

rural economy to absorb some of the increases in BTU tax.

Another alternative would be that there would be £in exemption
for that used for the production of agriculture.
Another option would be to eliminate the energy tax and replace

the amount of revenue by either decreasing investment proposals
or I would favor an increase in the progressivity of the income tax.

Another approach would be to provide credit for energy gen-
erated by renewable resources, such as windmills and solar.

And we commend the Secretary of Treasury for excluding ethanol

from the BTU tax as a way to increase the usage of that commod-

ity.

We look forward to working with this committee.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Senator Baucus. Thank you very much, Mr. Swenson.
Mr. Huard.

STATEMENT OF PAUL Ft HUARD, VICE PRESffiENT, TAXATION
AND FISCAL POUCY DEPARTMENT, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION
OF MANUFACTURERS, WASHINGTON, DC
Mr. HUARD. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
I am pleased to be here to present the views of NAM's more than

12,000 manufacturing members, all of whom are signific£uit users

of energy.
NAM believes the President is correct in concluding that signifi-

cant reduction of the Federal deficit is essential to long-term U.S.

economic growth.
Just as importantly, he has accurately focused on our need for

less emphasis on immediate consumption and more emphasis on
the private investment that is so essential to both productivity im-

provement and job creation.

However, while the administration has proposed BTU taxes, a
well intentioned effort to tax consumption, it is to a significant ex-

tent rather a tax on industrial production.
As such, this tax would unilaterally increase the cost of U.S.-pro-

duced goods relative to foreign- produced goods thereby impairing
U.S. competitiveness in both domestic and overseas markets.
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NAM therefore opposes the proposed BTU tax for the following
reasons. It would significantly damage the U.S. economy. By 1998,
we estimate GDP would be $38 billion than otherwise. And there
would be 610,000 fewer jobs in the economy.
While the net amount of deficit reduction achieved by this new

tax would be less than half the amount being predicted, it would
have a very uneven impact by geographic reasons.
Some States are more than four or five times energy intensive

as other States most adversely affected in the south or the west.
The impact on the manufacturing industry would be even more

uneven. Some manufacturing lines are as much as 100 to 150 times
as energy intensive as others.

The lines most adversely affected would be fertilizers, cement, re-

fined petroleum products, paper, metals, and chemicals.
And then, probably most importantly, the injury to U.S. manu-

facturers caused by the BTU tax is unilateral.

It does not affect foreign-based production nor is there any legal
way under the general agreement on tariffs and trade to impose a
similar cost penalty on such foreign production.
Now, much is made by supporters of this tax is the fact that,

well, even after the tax, you will still have lower energy cost than
most of your competitors.

I do not hear the advocates of that line of argument pointing out
that while we may have lower energy costs relative to most of our

foreign competitors, we have higher wage costs.

We have higher costs for employee and retiree health care. And
we have higher costs for complying with the torrent of product li-

abiUty litigation. We have higher costs in environmental compli-
ance.

All of these costs go into the price of the product. Unilaterally
raising one of the few areas we have an advantage is not going to

help U.S. competitiveness.
NAM does agree, however, that we need to increase the relative

tax burden on consumption. The BTU t£ix just happens to be the

wrong approach.
All of the negative attributes of a BTU tax, outlined above, can

be avoided by levying a general national consumption t£ix, such as
a value-added tax, at a single rate on the broadest possible base
of both goods and services.

A particular design advantage of the VAT is that it would apply
to imports into the U.S., but not the exports from the U.S.

In conclusion, NAM urges the committee to drop the proposed
BTU tax. To the extent tax increases are required for deficit reduc-
tion purposes, NAM believes a broad-based general tax on con-

sumption will do the least amount of harm to the economy, will

avoid damage to our international competitiveness, and with prop-
er adjustments to offset regressivity, will be the most uniformly
fair across all social, regional, and economic sectors.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
[The prepared statement of Mr. Huard appears in the appendix.]
Senator Baucus. Thank you, Mr. Huard.
Mr. Buckley.
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STATEMENT OF JOHN G. BUCKLEY, COTUIT, MA, ON BEHALF
OF THE NEW ENGLAND FUEL INSTITUTE, EMPIRE STATE PE-
TROLEUM ASSOCIATION, FUEL MERCHANTS ASSOCIATION
OF NEW JERSEY, OREGON PETROLEUM MARKETERS ASSO-
CIATION, AND INDEPENDENT PETROLEUM DISTRIBUTORS
FROM MICHIGAN, MINNESOTA, DELAWARE, AND PENN-
SYLVANIA
Mr. Buckley. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Good morning.
I am here today representing 3,500 small, mostly family owned

businesses who sell heating oil: heating fuels to homes, nonprofit

institutions, towns, cities, businesses, and farmers.

I represent heating oil dealers from Oregon, Minnesota, Michi-

gan, Delaware, Pennsylvania, New Jersey, New York, Connecticut,
Rhode Island, Massachusetts, Vermont, Maine, and New Hamp-
shire.

We do support the BTU tax. Our problem with the BTU tax, as

initially presented by the administration, was the unfairness that

came from the supplemental tax on oil.

I am here today to discuss three issues really. The first of which
is the non-binding resolution passed by the Senate a few weeks ago
known as the Kennedy Amendment, co-sponsored by Senator

Mitchell, Senator Moynihan, and Senator Chafee from this commit-
tee.

I know it is not binding on this committee or on the administra-

tion, but we were heartened when more than two-thirds of the
members of this committee voted for that amendment.
And the administration has responded partially to the amend-

ment, but the key word is partial. There are two problems. First

of all, the Treasury regulations and changes apply only to Number
2 heating oil used for residential heating.
Senator Mitchell made it very clear in his statement that all

heating fuels should be exempt: kerosene and propane, also used
for heating. The omission of kerosene is particularly hard on the
rural poor.

I would like to hand to the committee a new study that has just
been published on the impact of the BTU tax on the poor prepared
by the Economic Opportunity Research Institute. The two authors
are people who have spent the last decade on the LIHEAP Pro-

gram.
It does point out that the rural poor, as my colleague noted, bear

the burden much more. And many of them live in trailer homes.
And they use kerosene for space heating.

Excluding kerosene as one of the heating fuels will only have an

impact of about $22 million in lost revenue, very, very small, but

very important.
Second, the Treasury proposal exempts only residential cus-

tomers, subjecting all non- residential users for heat to the 59.9

cent BTU t£ix, that is, the supplementary tax, which is almost two
and a half times higher than that imposed by customers who hap-
pen to be on another fuel. It is unduly burdensome.
Senator Kennedy made it clear that he wanted churches and

schools and colleges £ind municipalities, towns, town buildings,
businesses, stores, farmers, and others not to have to pay the sup-
plementary tax for heating.
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These are accounts which we call commercial accounts. They rep-
resent about 40 percent of our business. We compete with natural

gas.
Please understand, the supplemental oil tax, because it is so

much higher will, if we are not given relief on these accounts, will

end inter-fuel competition for these accounts.
And do not forget that when you market natural gas in a given

locality, you have a monopoly. There are no other gas companies
that you compete with. The competition comes from home heating
oils.

When you give one fuel an enormous advantage over the other
because of a differential tax policy, you are, in effect, signaling the
end of inter-fuel competition, particularly since all of these taxes
are going to be indexed. And they are going to be rising, which
means the differential will rise as we get out into the out years.

Moreover, the way the Treasury has handled these non-residen-
tial users is to impose an excise tax directly on the end user. This
creates another half million new taxpayers who will be pa3dng ex-

cise tax directly and will represent an administrative impossibility.
We do, as I said at the beginning, support a BTU tax, but it must

be fair. It must treat all customers equally. That was the essence
of the Kennedy Amendment.
The Treasury has responded partially. And we urge this commit-

tee to fully implement the Kennedy Amendment.
I think the ideal solution from the standpoint of administration

is to expand it slightly to include all off-highway users of diesel.

That would solve a lot of the farm problem because their diesel

would not be subject to the supplemental tax.

Mr. Chairman, I would also like to touch on the fact that inter-

fuel competition between heavy industrial fuel and natural gas is

similarly going to be negatively impacted by the supplemental tax.

And here again, you've got competition between oil and gas and
coal supplying utilities, manufacturing, large apartment houses,

hospitals.
This committee, with all of its anti-trust background, it is ironic

to be put into a position where you are putting through a tax pro-

gram that ends competition between fuels.

Mr. Chairman, I think there are solutions to this problem. I

think you can design a fair BTU tax that does not have bias

against one fuel. We certainly would be happy to discuss that with

you.
We are ready to bear pain, our share of it fairly. We think the

committee should place the same burden in price increases over all

end users.

Thank you.
Senator Baucus. Thank you, Mr. Buckley.
Mr. Aoyagi.

STATEMENT OF GORDON A. AOYAGI, CHIEF, DIVISION OF
TRANSIT SERVICES, MONTGOMERY COUNTY DEPARTMENT
OF TRANSPORTATION, ROCKVILLE, MD, ON BEHALF OF
AMERICAN PUBLIC TRANSIT ASSOCIATION

Mr. Aoyagi. Good morning, Mr. Chairman and committee mem-
bers.
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First of all, I compliment you on the pronunciation of my name.
You did an excellent job.

Senator Baucus. I had to work on it. Thank you. [Laughter.]
Mr. AOYAGI. You have spent some time obviously on the west

coast.

My name is Grordon Aoyagi. I am the chief of the Division of

Transit Services, Montgomery County Department of Transpor-
tation of Rockville, MD, and representing the American Public
Transit Association today.
Thank you for giving APTA this opportunity to testify on the

BTU tax and other issues.

Today is Earth Day. And the transit industry is proud to be part
of the pollution solution for economic growth.

Additionally, we support thousands jobs in transit agencies: bus,
rail car, and equipment manufacturing firms, construction projects,

energy companies, and other sectors of our economy.
With full funding of the transit program authorized by the vi-

sionary Intermodal Surface Transportation Efficiency Act, or other-

wise known as ISTEA, transit can do even more to protect the en-

vironment, reduce congestion, msdntain competitiveness, and create

jobs.
If this vision is to prevail, we need your help in coordinating Fed-

eral policies, funding, and tax incentives that benefit transit, not
constrain it.

We applaud and support the administration's efforts to reduce
U.S. dependence on imported oil and limit vehicle emissions.

Transit's primary contribution to each of these goals is to provide
£in alternative to the single- occupant vehicle which is the principal
source for rising fuel consumption and certsiin air poUutants.
One person using transit for a year, instead of driving alone,

saves more than 75 pounds of pollutants and over 200 gallons of

gas a year.
If transit is not exempted from the BTU tax, it would cost transit

agencies about $93 million more per year to operate our services.

That is real money to transit agencies that have been under very
tight fiscal constraints for more than a decade.

Transit can only respond to these additional expenses by raising
fares, cutting services, or postponing maintenance and new capital
investments.

Surely, this cannot be the vision of the future that we held when
we passed ISTEA.
We urge you to exempt transit fi"om the BTU tax. APTA only

seeks equity in this exemption, to promote conservation.
The tax exempts oxygenates because they promote cleaner burn-

ing when mixed with gas. Transit can top that. The transit rider's

car left at home does not bum any fuel at all.

The revenue loss would be very small. By fiscal year 1997, the
BTU tax would generate about $22 billion, with transit accounting
for less than six-tenths of 1 percent or about $100 million of that
amount.
Other Federal mandates are already placing demands on con-

strained transit resources: the Americans with Disabilities Act, the
Clean Air Act, and now, the impending Federal drug and alcohol

testing requirements.
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These Federal mandates will cost transit agencies several billion
dollars per year in providing our services.

They will make it harder for us to compete against the single-
occupant vehicles that are subsidized by over $300 billion per year,
according to the World Resource Institute.

We need your help and urge transit's exemption from the BTU
tax.

I would also like to take the opportunity to talk about two other
tax issues. First of all, thanks to the leadership of this committee,
the new transit pass reform act will encourage commuters to use
transit.

This law allows employers to provide employees up to $60 per
month in transit benefits. This benefit can be greatly enhanced at
no cost to the Treasury by including it in the cafeteria menu of
benefits that employers can provide to their employees.

Second, we support legislation to exempt commuter railroads
from the 2.5 cent per gallon excise tax on diesel fuel passed in

1990.
Last year, Congress passed legislation to correct this mistake as

part of the tax bill, but it was vetoed by President Bush.
This year, it is part of H.R. 17 which is now pending in the

House Ways and Means Committee. We urge your support when
your committee considers this tax legislation.
Mr. Chairman and members of the committee, we can begin to

end real gridlock and improve our transportation systems by ex-

empting transit from the BTU tax, extending the expiring 2.5 cent

gas tax, and allocating it to surface transportation trust funds with
a minimum of 20 percent going to mass transit accounts, exempt-
ing the commuter rail from the 2.5 cent tax on diesel fuel, and
making transit passes part of the employee cafeteria plan.
Thank you.
[The prepared statement of Mr. Aoyagi appears in the appendix.]
Senator Baucus. Thank you, Mr. Aoyagi.
Mr. Collins.

STATEMENT OF JOHN J. COLLD^S, SENIOR VICE PRESIDENT,
AMERICAN TRUCKING ASSOCIATIONS, INC., WASHINGTON, DC
Mr. Collins. Mr. Chairman, Mr. Conrad, Mr. Chafee, my name

is John Collins. I am senior vice president with the American

Trucking Associations which is a national trade association of the

trucking industry.
As a final witness on the final panel, I think it is very important

for me to get right to the bottom line today. I know you do have
a busy day today.
Our bottom line is that the trucking industry is prepared to do

its fair share for lasting economic improvement, but we do not be-

heve that it is fair to require trucking companies to make dis-

proportionate sacrifices for goals that are really intended to benefit

all Americans.
Let me make four specific points. The first one is that ATA does

not oppose a broad-based level energy tax that taxes aU fuels at the

same rate, even though we are an energy-intensive industry, but
the administration's proposed tax would fall more than twice as

heavily on transportation users than on other energy sources.
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As it stands, we believe the plan is neither fair nor balanced and
must be adjusted. The President wisely rejected an overt fuel tax

that would have fallen heavily on western States. We believe that

the committee should act to make sure that a camouflaged fuel tax

labeled as an energy tax is not enacted.

The second point is, we do not believe that the tax should be in-

dexed. There has not been a whole lot of talk about that today, but
we are concerned that indexing the tax would add to its unfairness

and would be a significant step away from Congressional oversight
of tax rates. The committee needs to stay involved in how those tax

rates play out.

Third, we applaud the recent recommendation of the administra-

tion to move the 2.5 cents per gallon general fund fuel tax into the

highway trust fund. We believe that the full amount should go into

the highway account and be spent as provided in the Intermodal
Surface Transportation Efficiency Act of 1991. This would allow the

transfer to transit at local initiative.

Fourth, do not cut back the business meal deduction for truck
drivers whose very modest, on-the-road expenses, we believe, are

fully justified business expenses.
Let me turn to some of the specifics of our position on the BTU

tax. Our number one concern is the form of the proposed energy
tax.

Although ATA would prefer that energy-intensive industries not
be subject to a new energy tax, we would not oppose a truly broad-
based and level energy tax that taxes all fuels at the same rate.

However, a tax that hits the only fuel that is available to trucks
at a rate that is 2.3 times the rate that appUes to users of other

energy sources while allowing more than a dozen exemptions con-

stitutes a camouflaged fiiel tax.

It is not fair. It is not balanced. And we believe it must be

changed.
I will put some numbers around this. The 1996 rates would

amount to 7.5 cents per gallon for gasoline and 8.3 cents per gallon
for diesel fiiel based on the heat content of the fuel. At 1996 rates,
commercial truck owners would have to pay roughly $2.9 billion in

added fuel tax. That is roughly 10 percent of the total gross reve-

nue projected from the new tax.

We believe that this burden is totally unfair, given that trucking
accounts for less than 5 percent of the gross domestic product.

If you want to look at that another way, Mr. Chairman, at 1992

profit levels, that tax alone would account for 50 percent of the in-

dustr5r's profits. So it is a tremendous burden on our industry.
Truck owners and other highway users have already been paying

more than their fair share for deficit reduction. Since the 1990

budget agreement, 2.5 cents of the fuel tax has been going into the

general find. That has added $900 million per year to the fiiel bill

of commercial truck operators.
Administration officials have mentioned, but not specified

externalities or environmental costs associated with petroleum, but
there are already a wide variety of explicit and hidden environ-
mental taxes on petroleum and various products.
Many States have similar taxes, some at even higher rates than

the Federal taxes. And by October 1993 of this year, highway diesel
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fuel tax will cost an estimated 4 to 7 cents per gallon to comply
with recent Clean Air Act rules.

Adding the administration's camouflaged 8 cents per gallon fiiel

tax to the diesel tax from the Clean Air Act effective tax means
that the truck operators will be paying as much as 15 cents per
gallon for purposes that do nothing to build highways or transit

systems.
These non-highway diesel fuel tax levies are on top of 20 cents

a gallon Federal highways tax and State taxes that may reach 33
cents.

Mr. Chairman, perhaps most important is that long-haul truck-

ing really does not have a viable alternative when it comes to alter-

native fuel options.
Because of the lower BTU content of alternative fiiels, if we

switch to an alternative fuel, it adds weight to the truck, which
means we carry less cargo, which means we have to put more
trucks out on the road.

So we think there is a boomerang effect here. If the propulsion
system becomes heavier, then the result is going to be counter-

productive.
Our bottom line recommendation is that if a broad-based energy

tax is adopted, we urge you to lower the rate on petroleum to the

same level as other fuels.

Our written statement, Mr. Chairman, deals with some other is-

sues.

In summary, the trucking industry is certainly willing to make
its share of sacrifices if it will contribute to long-run, non-inflation-

ary growth, but we believe that any sacrifices must be fairly
shared.
Thank you.
[The prepared statement of Mr. Collins appears in the appendix.]
Senator Baucus. Thank you very much, Mr. Collins.

Mr. Aoyagi, you suggested that the 2.5 cents Federal gasoline tax

be divided so that 20 percent would go, I guess, to the mass transit

account and 80 percent would go to the surface transportation and

highway account.
As you probably know, in other words, it is called the Byrd Rule

here, not Senator Robert Byrd, but Senator Harry Byrd, a former
member of this committee.

If projected revenues in the surface transportation account and
the highway account are projected to be deficient, automatic pay-
ments to States must be proportionately reduced.
The projections show that in the next several years that the Byrd

Rule will be triggered, that is, even with the 2.5 cents, even 2 cents

going back from deficit reduction to the highway account, still the

Byrd Rule is going to be triggered, that is, there is not going to be

enough money in the highway account in about three, four, or 5

years from now.
At the same time, the mass transit account is pretty flush. It has

$8 billion, I think, in surplus. And it is projected to stay in surplus.

Why doesn't it make more sense for the 2.5 cents to go fully to

the highway account rather than 20 percent of it to go to an ac-

count that is already flush when, again, the other one is about to

go belly up?
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Mr. AOYAGI. Well, it seems to me, Mr. Chairman, I think we
have to look at the root cause of why the mass transit fund account

appe£irs to look flush.

You might recall that predictable sources of funding for mass
transit have not been forthcoming in the last 10 years. And so the

ability of transit agencies to plan capital investments that will

spend at a predictable and stable rate, like the highway industry
has, we have not been able to do that.

There is a lot of pent-up demand for transit. ISTEA captured
that vision and, in fact, allowed local decision-making to transfer

some of that funding to transit, but there are a lot of communities
in the area that are looking for transit solutions.

That will take significant amounts of capital investment. And we
think to establish the balance for that is what we need.

Senator Baucus. Thank you. I have more questions here.

Mr. Swenson, I also share a deep concern about the effect of a
BTU tax on agriculture. Some on the other side, however, say that

the earned income tax credit increase will take care of that. Your
response.
Mr. Swenson. Well, the fact is is that it will not deal with all

of the results.

The anticipated offsets from the changes in the earned income
tax credit will do little to help especially the smaller farmer whose

average age is 55 or over with no children at home, nor will any
allowance for an investment tax credit because the proposal on the
investment tax credit excludes used equipment. The main invest-

ment that they are making in equipment is in used equipment.
Senator Baucus. Could you expand a little more on particularly

the earned income tax credit? Because that is where a lot of oppo-
nents to this BTU tax rely on.

Mr. Swenson. Well, when you take a look at

Senator Baucus. As it affects agriculture.
Mr. Swenson. Sure. As we take a look at further reductions in

net farm income and when you take a look at the fact that you've
got in 1990 two-thirds of what FAPRI classified as small farmers,
which makes up 75 percent of all the farmer's income with sales

less than $50,000, they are experiencing a loss. They are in a nega-
tive earning position in their operation.
Their only income comes from off-farm jobs. And so really you do

not have an earned income situation in which to have credits to be

appUed against. And so you cannot gain back that actu£d outlay in

cash.
Senator Baucus. Thank you.
Senator Chafee.
Senator Chafee. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. Swenson, I was astonished to read your statistics about

smedl farms in the United States. You stated at the bottom of page
1 of your testimony that 75 percent of all farms have sales of

$50,000 or less.

Assuming they make a maximum of 10 percent on their sales,
these farmers have a total net income of something probably less

than $5,000.
And, indeed, then, you go on to say that two-thirds of these

farms lost money. How do they keep going?
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You go on tx) say that they only remain solvent through off-farm

jobs. Those are astonishing statistics. Are these recent statistics?

Mr. SWENSON. Yes. They are. They are from USDA. And they are

up to date statistics.

Senator Chafee. Well, they certainly are discouraging statistics.

Here is our problem. Every witness here has said two things:
first, they are not opposed to wrestling with the problem of the
Federal deficit. Everybody wants to be helpful.

Second, everybody wants to maintain his or her competitive posi-
tion. Mr. Buckley points that out with respect to natural gas com-
petition and there are other examples as well.

Let me explain how I approach this problem. The first thing I

look at is how a particular tax proposal is going to affect our inter-

national competitive position?
This probably does not affect Mr. Aoyagi.
Senator Baucus. Aoyagi.
Senator Chafee. Aoyagi, I thank Senator Baucus for that clari-

fication. But it does affect what you are doing and what Mr. Huard
is doing. In other words, if we boost the cost of producing our ex-

port products, then, we will not be as competitive.
The second thing I consider is what a proposal will do to the

competitive position within the country, for example, trucks versus

rail, gas versus oil, and so forth?
And it seems extremely difficult to come up with some formula

that, indeed, is fair.

And then, we take into consideration non-tax factors. For exam-
ple, we consider it good to encourage mass transportation because
that gets people off our highways. And that is why we subsidize
Amtrak and mass transit in general.
Suppose we just went to a strmght gasoline tax increase for non-

commercial vehicles, or have an exemption for noncommercial vehi-
cles.

Now, it does not seem to me that would affect our competitive
position. And that would still create some environmental benefits.

What do you think of that?

Well, let's start with you, Mr. Huard, just a straight 50 cents a

gallon, just to try something with commercial vehicles. In other

words, Mr. Collins' trucks would be exempt from that and tractors,

too, Mr. Swenson's tractors. What do you say to that?
Mr. Huard. Well, fi'om a manufacturing standpoint, it would cer-

tainly pose less of a problem than the BTU tax for no other reason
than gasoline
Senator Chafee. Why would it propose—you say less of a prob-

lem. Why would it propose any problem?
Mr. Huard. I think singling out any sector of the economy for

excessive taxation is a problem. That is why we support a very
broad, uniform rate, general consumption tax across the board on

goods and services.

That is what will raise revenue and create the least amount of
distortion in economic decision- making. Picking out a single sector,
we think, is bad tax policy.

Senator Chafee. Well, I will guaraintee you
Mr. Huard. Admittedly, gasoline is not a significant component

of industrial production. It would be less of a problem than the
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BTU tax, but that is as far as I will go at sa3dng nice things about
it.

Senator Chafee. Well, I will guarantee you, if we have a sugges-
tion for a broad-based VAT tax, for example, there would be a line

stretching down that hall of people who have justifiable reasons to

oppose it.

Mr. HUARD. I would not be in it.

Senator Chafee. Well, you would be the only one missing I

think. [Laughter.]
I do not want to take too much of my time.

Mr. Buckley, what do you say about that?

Mr. Buckley. Senator Chafee, I think you may have stumbled
on something here. Most of the problems that

Senator Chafee. Stumbled? Let's put it on a higher plane than
that. [Laughter.]
Mr. Buckley. Senator Chafee, in your erudite line of

questioning [Laughter.]
Most of our problems, whether trucking or farming or heating

fuels, manufacturing industries that happen to be on oil, hke the

paper industry, airlines, chemicals, oil refining, the problem with
this whole approach is that you have 2.3 times as high a tax on
oil as on anything else.

If you got rid of that supplemental tax, you would get rid of all

the exceptions. You get rid of the administrative difficulties.

To replace that money and still get the $22 billion, you go back
to the very low BTU tax that they started with 25.7 cents. And you
add in a 7.5 cents gasoline tax, 2.5 cents a year, phased in over
3 years. You will have the same revenue.
And you already have the collection mechanism in place. You do

not need to create a whole new bureaucracy to do it.

Senator Bentsen said in response to a question from the chair-

man on Tuesday that we have the lowest energy cost here. Our
rates are low compared to Europe because they tax everything.
There is a new publication just out by the International Energy

Agency of the OECD, which I happened to be reading the other

night. And it studied Germany, Japan, Denmark, Canada, the
United States, a number of the OECD Nations.

I just want to read one sentence from that. It is talking about
the German VAT. "As in most European countries, the VAT is re-

funded at 100 percent for all purchases for commercial purposes.
This means that no VAT is collected for industry use of energy, for

energy use in electricity generation, or in automotive diesel."

Now, see, what the Europeans and Japanese do is protect their

industry from higher cost and make them more competitive.
What we are doing is shooting ourselves in the foot with really

what amounts to an all import tax with this supplemental tax on
oil.

Senator Chafee. Okay. My time is up.
Senator Baucus. Right. Thank you very much.
Thank you. Senator.
Senator Conrad.
Mr. Buckley. I will give the committee this new International

Energy Agency booklet because I know you are interested in how
other countries deal with energy.
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Senator Baucus. That will be very interesting. We appreciate
that. Thank you.

Senator Conrad.
Senator Conrad. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Let me just say that Senator Chafee through his erudite ques-

tioning has perhaps stumbled on something that really is impor-
tant.

The thing that I am very concerned about is that we are being
told that Europe has much higher levels of taxation on energy than
we do.

And if you look at it on an aggregated basis, that is true. Unfor-

tunately, industries do not operate on an aggregated basis.

They operate on a disaggregated basis. What matters is the effect

directly on an industry, not the total energy cost or the sector costs

by country.
I have asked my staff, if you take out the very high taxes they

pay on gasoUne and diesel for individual consumers, what does the

picture look like then?
What does the picture look like then? I guess it would look far

different knowing how high fuel tcuces are in Europe.
We may really have a much different picture emerge in terms of

what we are doing to our competitive position by imposing a tax
like this one.

So I think Senator Chafee is asking the right questions. And I

think we've got to make certain we know the answers before we
ourselves stumble ahead and do something that would be very
counter productive for the competitive position of the United
States.

The whole question of aggregate effects goes to the heart of the

point I want to make here this morning that affects my specific

constituency. Aggregate effects often mislead.
The other day, we had the Secretary of the Treasury here. He

was talking about the effect on the incomes of people of various re-

gions of the country. The average effect was about six-tenths of 1

I)ercent of their income.
I pointed out then that we should look at a specific industry and

a specific effect on that industry. I look at agriculture, and my
State is one of the most agricultural in the Nation.

Let's look at the average income in my State for the average size

farm—the average size farm is 1,200 acres. The average income for

that size farmer is $17,600.
Mr. Swenson, I thought your testimony was superb. I had a

chance to read it this morning. I thought you made the point very,

very well.

People have an incredible misp)erception of agriculture in this

country. There are some farmers that are well-to-do, absolutely, not

many of them, a very low percentage.
The fact is most farm producers in this country are very small.

Average income in my State for the average size farm is $17,600.
The average BTU tax effect would be $1,200.
By my calculation that is 6.7 percent. It is not six-tenths of 1

percent. It is 11 times the effect on the average person in this

country.
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Now esirlier this week, we heard a lot of talk that the earned in-

come tax credit is going to solve this problem for farmers.

Well, let's examine that. Let's go right to specific examples. This

chart shows the effect of the EITC on North Dakota farmers. I

have used my own State for obvious reasons, but we could plug in

any farmer who is similarly affected.

Farm income again is $17,600 for the average size farm, with an

average BTU tax at $1,200. Under current law governing the

EITC, if you have no children, you get nothing. Under the Clinton

proposal, no children means you get nothing. The EITC expansion
means nothing if you have no children.

If you have one child under current law, you get $1,013, under
the CUnton proposal, $995. You actually go down $18 from current

law.
With two or more children a family gets $1,102 under current

law, $2,062 under the Clinton proposal, a $960 increase.

So the point is, if you have no children, it is not going to help

you. The EITC is not going to solve this BTU problem. If you have
one child, it is not going to solve the problem.
And the fact is, we just got the statistics from our State. Mr.

Swenson is exactly right. Thirty-eight percent of the people in our

State who are farming are over the age of 55.

In general there are no children in this category. The EITC is not

going to help them at all with respect to their BTU tax burden.
Let's go to the next chart and show where this leaves us then.

Let's compare a farmer with a non-farmer and see how equitable
the final burden is.

This chart shows the combined effect of the BTU tax and the

earned income tax credit expansion, farmers versus non-farmers.

The first column shows farmers with no children, and $1,200, their

BTU tax effect. Of course, a non-farmer does not have that effect.

With one child they have a $1,200 BTU cost and they lose $18
on the earned income tax credit proposal of the Clinton administra-

tion. The non-farmer would just lose the $18. So again, the farmer
is down $1,200.
With two or more children, the farmer has gained $960 on the

earned income tax credit, lost $1,200 on the BTU tax. So he is

down a net $240. The non-farmer is up $960.
Where is the fairness in that? Where is the fairness in that?

That is the point I thought needed to be made today after what
we were told earlier in the week about the earned income tax cred-

it offsetting this problem. It doesn't. It doesn't. That is the bottom
line.

You add in this incredible proposal of a 525 percent increase in

the barge tax, which, Mr. Swenson, you indicate increases a farm-
er's cost 5 cents a bushel. That costs this farmer another $2,400 in

the State of North Dakota.

Now, that is not fair. It is not reasonable. If this Senator has

anything to say about it, it is not going to happen because I will

not vote for it.

I am not going to be sdone because if you look up and down the
line here, you've got a lot of us who represent these farmers. This
isn't fair.
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I hope somebody is getting the message somewhere. You add all
of this up and it is too much. It creates a burden that is unfsdr and
it cannot be allowed to pass.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Senator Baucus. Thank you very much, Senator.
And I want to thank the panel very much for your testimony.
The hearing is adjourned.
[Whereupon, at 12:35 p.m., the hearing was concluded.]
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Prepared Statement of Eugene L. Ames, Jr.

mr. chairman and members of the committee.

I am Gene Ames, Jr., chairman of Venus Oil Company of San Antonio, Texas, and

chairman of the board of the Independent Petroleum Association of America (IPAA). I am
pleased to provide for you these written views of the IPAA on the BTU tax.

At the outset, let me make clear that the IPAA does not support any tax on domestically-

produced energy. Nonetheless, we are committed to work with the Administration and the

Congress to mitigate the negative impacts that any change in tax policy may have on
domestic oil and natural gas production. To that end, we urge the Congress to consider the

BTU tax with a thorough review of its impacts on the present weakened condition of

America's natural gas and oil producing industry.

IMPORT DEPENDENCE. America has vast undeveloped resources of natural gas and oil,

yet our nation is rapidly losing a vitally important industry and is becoming dangerously

dependent on imported oil. If current trends continue we could be importing the 17 million

barrels of petroleum each day by the year 2010. This year, the U.S. is projected to import
as much oil as we did in 1977, the peak year for oil imports.

REDUCED drilling. Independent producers drill 85 percent of all U.S. wells and

produce about 60 percent of domesdc natural gas and about 40 percent of domestic oil. We
are eager for economic conditions which would allow us to increase domestically produced

supplies of natural gas and oil. Yet drilling for natural gas and oil hit an all-time low last

year, and this year looks no better. Except for the first six weeks of this vear. when drilling

was pushed up due to the expiring non-conventional fuels tax credit, drilling on a week-to-

week has been sienificanUv below the level recorded last vear. We could be heading toward

a new record low. Meanwhile, the domestic energy equipment and supply industries are

deteriorating at an alarming rate.

PEOPLE LOSING JOBS. More than 450,000 people have lost their jobs in the industry
over the last decade, more than in virtually every other U.S. industry. In the first quarter
of this year, employment was down seven percent from the same period a year ago. We
have lost more jobs than we have retained in the domestic oil and natural gas producing

industry. These are real people-roughnecks and roustabouts who work on the drilling rigs,

the seismic crews, the landmen, geologists, engineers, the well service contractors and their

employees, the secretaries, bookkeepers, and the other folks who work in our offices. White
collar and blue collar, skilled and unskilled, these people have one thing in common ~

they
are losing their jobs at an alarming rate.

We share President Clinton's priority to create jobs. We agree that there's no recovery
worth it's salt that doesn't put the American people back to work. We want to put back to

work some of the nearly 450,000 people who have lost their oil and natural gas jobs in the

past decade.

(95)
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BTXJ TAX PROBLEMS. From an independent producer's prrsjixtive, there were
fundamental problems with the Administration's initial BTU , x proposal. We immediately
relayed those concerns to the Administration. We are encouraged that "collection point" was
reexamined and that the Administration is now recommending several changes that will

mitigate the impact of the BTU tax on the domestic industry. We are particularly encourage
with the recommendation that collection points for oil and natural gas be moved downstream,
although we support efforts to ensure that the tax is collected from the ultimate consumer.

COLLECTION POINT. Where the BTU tax is collected is critically important. Collecting
the BTU tax, as was originally proposed, at the refinery input for oil or at the pipeline inlet

for natural gas would have devastated producers, who are "price-takers" in the marketplace
and arc, thus, unable to pass along such taxes. Where oil is concerned, refiners would likely
have deducted the tax from the posted price of oil, which we must accept if we arc to sell

our production. Collecting the tax at the refinery tailgate, as the Administration now
proposes, is a significant improvement, but we would support efforts to move the oil

collection point to the terminal rack.

The collection point for the BTU tax on natural gas is a vital concern for independents who
produce 60 percent of the domestic supply of natural gas. The IPAA supports the testimony
of the Natural Gas Council on the issue of natural gas collection point

~ our joint
recommendation is to move the collection jx)int for natural gas downstream to the ultimate

consumer, thus keeping the conservation benefit and preserving domestic production levels.

It is important that no one segment of the natural gas industry be put at risk of having to

absorb a part of the tax, if the nation is to achieve the long-term energy policy goals of

expanding use of clean-burning natural gas. The natural gas industry is undergoing a much-

needed, but economically painful restructuring . No segment of the industry can afford to

absorb a significant part of the BTU tax and still be able to meet the expansion challenges
which it faces under recently enacted energy sututes and regulate

-'
changes.

Let me underscore the point that producers are not in a position to absorb any part of the

BTU tax. Natural gas producers have been working on very tight profit nurgins in large

part due to low natural gas wellhead prices. The proposed BTU tax on natural gas exceeds

the average net earnings per million BTUs of this country's most efficient independent

natural gas producers and is probably several times the typical producer's profit per million

BTU.

The IPAA also recommends that the collection point for natural gas liquids be at the point

that these products are odorized for commercial use. Normally, natural gas liquids sold prior

to the point of odorization are used for exempt purposes.

The collection point is not the only concern we have with the proposed BTU tax.

SUPPLEMENTAL TAX ON OIL. In our view, there is no rational justification for a double

tax on oil. It falls equally on domestic and imported oil and, thus, will ruji decrease our

nation's oil import dependence one iota. By depressing oil demand, the BTU tax will tend to

reduce oil prices, and reduced oil prices have a greater impact on domestic producer than on

most foreign oil producers. We do not believe the BTU tax will achieve the

Administration's annou •» goals for protecting the environment and reducing oil imports.
In addition to the possit.e wellhead price impacts, we believe the BTU tax, as a whole, will

increase the nation's import dependence because by raising the costs of both drilling and

domestic production, especially production from marginal or "stripper" wells.

ENERGY USED TO PRODUCE ENERGY. To the extent that the BTU tax is levied on the

energy used to produce energy, it will increase the costs of incremental and advanced oil and

natural gas recovery and thus decrease domestic energy production. The Administration's

exemption for oil and natural gas produced and consumed on the premises to produce oil or

natural gas helps greatly. However, the greatest nsk to the greatest number of wells will be

the rising cost of electricity used, for example, to run artificial lift pumps and water disposal

facilities. Of course, the BTU tax on any purchased fuel will increase the cost of drilling

and production.
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Marginal wells, in particular, will be hard hit. More than 90,000 of Oklahoma's 101,000

operating wells are on artificial lift, and most use electricity for that purpose. While

Oklahoma is well-known as an energy-producing state, it is by no means alone in the high

percentage of its wells that will be at risk due to the higher costs associated with the BTU
tax. States like Kansas, Kentucky, Indiana. Ohio. New York, to name a few, have most of

their production in low-volume, high-cost wells. (Sec attached map.)

ENHANCED RECOVERY. The IPAA also advocates that energy used to for enhanced oil

recovery be exempted from the BTU tax. The Administration has recommended that natural

gas used in the enhanced recovery of heavy oil be exempted. IPAA supports that

recommendation. However, the exemption is too narrow should be expanded to include all

energy purchased and consumed for enhanced oil recovery projects if we are to take

advantage of the new domestic reserves thai improvements in recovery technology are

providing.

COMPRESSED NATURAL GAS. The Administration has recommended that two

alternative vehicular fuels, ethanol and methanol, be exempted from the BTU tax. IPAA

strongly recommends that compressed natural gas also be exempted from the BTU tax.

INFLATION ADJUSTMENT. Another point of contention is the inflation adjustment

provision in the BTU tax proposal. The tax is on BTUs, not on energy prices; inflation

affects the price of fuel and not their BTU content. The inflation adjustment is just build-in

tax increase, and it should be dropped from the plan. Indeed, if the BTU tax is enacted.

Congress should commit itself of a thorough review of its impact on the U.S. economy and

domestic energy production, and for that reason the IPAA would support efforts to sunset the

tax after a period of years.

TAX POLICY AND THE BTU TAX. Assessing the impact of the BTU tax on the domestic

oil and natural gas industry requires that it be considered together with other tax policy

proposals. Last year, as part of the Energy Policy Act of 1992, this Committee took a

leadership role in advocating and supporting changes in the Alternative Minimum Tax

(AMT) laws to reduce the penalty on capital investments in domestic natural gas and oil

drilling. We are grateful, yet we must report that the industry continues to have ''.ifficulty

attracting investment capital. In part, that difficulty arises from the fact that t ; ' .vestment

benefits of those AMT tax changes can be and, for a while, were negated by tiling oil or

natural gas prices.

Further erosion of the value of last year's AMT reforms is inevitable under the higher

personal AMT and regular tax rates proposed in the Administration's economic plan. These

higher rates will hit the majority of IPAA members, who operate as sole proprietors,

partnerships or Subchapter S corporations, increasing their tax rates by as much as 10

percent.

PRESIDENT'S INVESTMENT INCENTIVES. The President's proposed investment tax

credit will not benefit most domestic natural gas and oil producers, because our principal

investments are for drilling costs which do not qualify for the credit. Nor will producen be

able to attract capital through the President's proposed capital gains reduction for small

businesses, because the proposal specifically excludes stock in resource companies.

Investment capital is the life blood of our business and giving investment incentives to some
small businesses while essentially excluding ours, obviously puts domestic producers at a

compeutive disadvantage in vying for investment capital. If the President and the Congress
can provide a stimulus for investment in the domestic natural gas and oil industry now, there

is still time to save the infrastructure of this industry. If this opportunity is missed now,

many family owned independents will go out of business.

MARGINAL WELL PRESERVATION. More must be done to maintain domestic

production levels. The domestic oil and natural gas industry, represented by IPAA and 44

state, regional and professional associations, developed a comprehensive agenda to revive the

domestic industry. That "Unified Agenda" (attached) has as its central theme and top
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priority the preservation of America" s marginal wells. To that end, the IPAA strt gly

recommends that the Committee include in its legislation provisions to encourage investment

in marginal well production.

Marginal wells, those that daily produce less than 15 barrels of oil and 90 thousand cubic

feet of gas, are important to our overall domestic energy supply and are essential to

maintaining the industry's service and supply infrastructure. Marginal wells provide at least,

and probably considerably more than, 20 percent of domestic crude oil and 13 percent of our

natural gas.

Legislation has been introduced by members of this Committee to provide tax changes

designed to preserve marginal well production. I strongly encourage you to consider these

proposals and include them or similar measures in any tax legislation passed this year by the

Congress. We believe that a production-based credit for marginal wells, patterned after the

successful non-conventional fuels credit, will do the most to stimulate needed investment in

marginal wells. In addition, this type of credit will revive drilling activity in geological

formations, such as Appalachia's tight sands and Michigan's devonian shale, which benefitted

under the now-expired Section 29 credit. A production-based credit would also help to offset

the detrimental impacts or domestic production that are sure to result from enactment of the

BTU tax and the Adm lij ration's other tax proposals.

THE INDEPENDENT PRODUCER AGENDA
To Revive

The Domestic Natural Gas and Oil Industry

Independent producers urge President Bill Clinton and the 103rd Congress to build upon the

Energy Policy Act of 1992 to decrease America 's dangerous and costly reliance on imported

oil and petroleum products and to rebuild the weakened domestic natural gas and oil

industry. We urge the President and Congress to support measures to encourage the

developmeru of both conventional and non-conventional natural gas and oil in this country,

as well as measures which preserve and promote marginal natural gas and oil wells, by

implementing the following initiatives:

• CRUDE OI .. .Revise policies governing oil imports and exports to stabilize and expand

domestic oil production and to prevent the premature loss of stripper oU production, including

establishment of an import fee on crude oil and petroleum products and repeal of the ban on

the export of Alaska's north slope crude oil; adopt policies that ensure a greater share of

federal research funding for crude oil and technology transfer.

• NATURAL GAS. Implement recently enacted policies that expand domestic and international

markets and make them more competitive, including full implementation of natural gas

pipeline rate reform; adopt policies that ensure a greater share of federal research funding for

natural gas and technology transfer, that encourage longer term sales contracts, that maintain

a level playing field for domestic and imported natural gas, and that recognize the

environmental benefits of natural gas for electric generation, industrial use and as a

transportation fuel.

• TAXES. Adopt policies that encourage capital formation for oil and natural gas exploration,

development and production, that encourage the maximum recovery of the domestic oil and

natural gas resource base through initiatives to maintain existing marginal production and the

use of advanced recovery technology, and that improve the economics of enviroimiental

protection. Oppose any new tax imposed on energy at the wellhead.

• ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION. Support environmental proposals that are equiuble,

cost effeaive, and which prevent documented environmental harm; work to change existing

laws that do not meet these requirements; support retention of the present state-based

regulatory program for oil and natural gas exploration and production wastes, and ensure that

the present federal policy that exempts such wastes from designation as hazardous waste is

retained under the Resource Conservation and Recovery \a (RCRA), the Comprehensive

Environmental Response Compensation and Liability Act (CERCLA), and is incorporated into

other appropriate statutes and regulations.
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PUBLIC LAND . Adopt policies to improve and increase access to federal lands for oil and

natural gas exploration and production under reasonable terms and conditions.

Approved by Uw IPAA Executive Conimiltee

Febniuy 6. 1993
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Prepared Statement of Gordon A. Aoyagi

Introduction

Mr. Chairman and Committee members, my name is Gordon Aoyagi. I am Chief of the

Division of Transit Services, Montgomery County Department of Transportation, of

Rockville, Maryland. Thank you for giving the American Public Transit Association

(APTA) this opportunity to testify on President Clinton's proposed broad-based energy tax

and other tax issues that affect the transit industry.

The U.S. transit industry is a powerful tool for economic growth. We serve more than 10

million customers each weekday, and our riders make a total of 8.6 billion trips each year.

Transit agencies serve the nation's cities, suburbs, and more than 3,000 rural counties. They

employ 282,000 workers who receive compensation of $11.5 billion annually. We support
thousands of jobs for workers in bus, rail car, and equipment manufacturing firms,

construction workers on our capital projects, and employe -s in all sectors of the economy.

With the right mix of federal tax and investment policies, our industry can do even more to

sustain economic growth, create jobs, and improve productivity by eliminating transportation

inefficiencies. If transit reaches its full potential, all Americans will benefit from cleaner

air, reduced congestion, a greater range of convenient transportation choices, and improved

quality of life in our cities, suburbs, and rural areas. For these reasons, we thank the

Committee for its past, and we hope future, support of tax policies that promote transit use.

The transit industry welcomes the Administration's economic program as a long overdue

effort to set our nation's priorities straight. This Administration understands that one key
to economic revitalization is to bring transit funding closer to the levels authorized in the

visionary Intermodal Surface Transportation Efficiency Act (ISTEA). These investments are

needed to create a surface transportation network that enables our economy to function

effeaively and productively.

Mr. Chairman, you and your colleagues on this Committee must ensure that our tax system
works in concert with other govenmient policies to achieve, rather than frustrate, the goals

established in ISTEA, the Clean Air Act Amendments of 1990, the Americans with

Disabilities Act (ADA), and last year's energy policy act. Today, I would like to evaluate

the effect of various tax proposals on these national goals.

Btu Tax

The President has proposed a tax based on the British thermal unit (Btu) content of

different energy sources, with the revenues to be used for deficit reduction. The transit

industry is prepared to support the Btu tax because it is a cornerstone of the

Administration's economic revitalization program. We bt eve that this program, in its

entirety, strikes a good balance in its efforts to reduce the deficit, to fiind essential

investments in our economic future, and to modify the tax structure to encourage energy
conservation and discourage pollution.

To enhance the Administration program's effectiveness, we believe that you should eliminate

or compensate for any of its potential adverse impacts on transit. This is in the best

interests of the Administration's program, it is consistent with the goals of the Btu tax, and

it is essential for successful implementation of ISTEA.

The transit industry approaches tax issues with two concerns - maintaining a reliable source

of revenue for federjil surface transportation programs and ensuring that tax policies

encourage conservation and other benefits to society. For these reasons, APTA has

supported increases in the federal excise tax on gasoline, with revenues dedicated to transit

and other surface transportation programs.
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We agree with the Administration that the Btu tax will have positive environmental and

energy benefits, largely because it would increase the cost of gasoline. When fully phased

in, the Btu tax is estimate i to add 7.5 cents to the price of a gallon of gasoline, or 5.7

percent of the total coi . "rom what we know about the elasticity of demand for gas, an

increase of this magnitude will have an impact on driving behavior, but not a substantial

one. Supporters of higher gas taxes usually argue that increases on the order of 50 cents

per gallon would be needed to reduce demand substantially.

The Btu tax would also significantly increase costs to the public agencies that provide transit

service. APTA estimates that it would add $29 million to the annual operating cosu of

transit agencies in FY 1994, $60 million in FY 1995, and $93 million in FY 1996. The tax

would increase transit operating expenses through its impact on the price of fossil fuels,

electrical propulsion power used by rail systems, and utilities. In 1991, the transit industry

spent $510 million to purchase 670 million gallons of diesel fuels and 40 million gallons of

gasoline. We spent about $575 million on electrical power propulsion and utilities.

Federal policies should encourage, not discourage, the use of transit. If the entire cost of

the Btu tax to the transit industry were passed on to our riders in the form of higher fares,

the result would be a 0.6 percent reduction in ridership. That's only 50 to 55 million fewer

trips per year
- a small share of the nearly nine billion annual trips on transit. But, any

reduction is unsatisfactory if we are concerned about reducing air pollution, conserving

energy, or fulfilling the promise of ISTEA Substantial increases in ridership are essential

to achieve these objectives.

Transit agencies don't necessarily have to raise fares to pay for increased costs. They can

reduce services, defer operations and maintenance expenses, and postpone capital spending.

Unformnately, all of these options threaten ridership because they make it harder to provide

dependable, convenient service. The costs of the Btu tax will hurt the transit industry,

especially since they will be 'sh at the same time as the costs of complying with the ADA
the Clean Air Act, and recent energy legislation. The total impact of these federal

mandates could be as much as several billion dollars per year.

Protecting the Environment

We support the goal of protecting the environment through tax policies that reduce smog
and greenhouse gas emissions. Up to 110 million Americans breathe air that is unhealthful,

and air-pollution related illnesses add $40 billion to our yearly health care bill. By 1994,

vehicle emissions will begin to rise for the first time since 1970, as more driving outweighs
the gains from cleaner tailpipes.

It is important to ensure that any tax changes encourage transit use, since our industry's

greatest contribution to a clean environment is to provide an alternative to single-occupant

vehicles, the greatest source of transportation-related pollution. All forms of transit

significantly reduce pollutant emissions compared to single-occupant vehicle driving. One

person using transit for a year instead of driving alone saves 9.1 pounds of hydrocarbons,
62.5 pounds of carbon monoxide, and 4.9 pounds of nitrogen oxides.

Conserving Energy

The Administration estimates that the Btu tax "will reduce projected growth in energy

consumption by over 7 percent." By the year 2000, the tax is expected to reduce oil imports

by more than 400,000 barrels a day. These savings can only be achieved by slowing the rate

of increase in vehicle miles travelled (VMT), because transportation uses 63% of our oil and

is the only sector of the economy where oil consumption is still rising. In recent years, oil

imports have accounted for as much as two-thirds of our trade deficit, and if current trends

continue oil will cause the trade deficit to expand by billions of dollars more.
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This makes it all the more important to encourage transit use as an alternative to single-

occupant vehicle driving, which consumes more energy per capita than any other form of

transportation. One person taking transit to work for a year instead of driving alone saves

200 gallons of gasoline, and a 10% increase in transit use nationwide would save 135 million

gallons of gasoline each year.

Protecting Low-Income Americans

We believe that low- and moderate-income individuals should be proteaed from the impacts
of the Btu tax. The Administration stresses that the impaa on low- and moderate-income

famihes would be o^et by other proposals, including expansion of the earned income tax

credit, increased funding for the Low Income Home Energy Assistance Program (LIHEAP)
and more funding for Food Stamps.

Any increase in transit costs would penalize the most vulnerable members o: 3ur society,

including people who depend on transit because their incomes are so Umited. People in

these income categories are more dependent on transit than the population as a whole. On
a nationwide basis, 27.5% of transit riders have incomes below S 15,000. In contrast, 14.2%

of the total population is under the S 13,924 poverty line for a family of four. Twelve million

families had no motor vehicle while another 31 milUon had just one vehicle. For many
people in these households, transit is the only transportation option.

Since transit fares increased by 32% in real terms during the 1980s, we believe that low-

income p>eople who depend on transit have already sacrificed enough. We hope you will

ensure the energy tax policy protects them.

Exempting Transit from the Btu Tax

According to the Administration, the Btu tax is more likely than any alternative revenue

measure to advance a combination of pohcy goals
-

raising revenue, saving energy, reducing

pollution. We ask you to remember that increased use of transit is more likely than any
alternative to advance a wide range of policy goals

- proteaing the environment, saving

energy, Umiting traffic congestion, providing accessible transporution to transit-dependent

people, and making our transportation sys ;r more efficient movement

Because transit provides these benefits, we urge you to shield it from any adverse impacts
of the Btu tax. The most straightforward option would be to exempt transit from the tax

on the grounds that transit use is an environmentally beneficial form of conservation. The
tax would not apply to nonconventional fuels (solar, wind, geothermal, biomass, municipal
soUd waste, and tires burned as fuel) or to oxygenates (ethanol, methanol, ETBE, and
Ml BE). As the Administration notes, "all of the oxygenates, when mixed with gasoline,

promote cleaner burning and reduce our de]>endence on foreign oil." Transit use goes one

better: The fuel in a transit rider's car doesn't bum at all.

The loss of revenue from exempting transit would be minuscule. The Btu tax is estimated

to raise $1.95 billion in FY 1994, of which transit accounts for only $29 million. Total

revenue will reach $22 biUion in FY 1997, with transit accounting for less than $100 millioiL

It may be argued that transit should not be exempt because everyone should pay a share of

this tax. We beUeve that transit-dei>endent riders with Umited incomes have already paid

enough. But what about people who choose transit even though they have the option of

driving their own vehicles? The Btu tax is supposed to encourage people to use forms of

transportation, such as transit, that conserve energy and reduce vehicle emissions. At 7J
cents per gallon of gas, the tax can fairly be called a gentle nudge toward conservation and

clean air. That makes it all the more important to ensure that the tax does not increase the

costs of transit and thereby discourage some individuals from choosing transit
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Increasing Operating Assistance

If it is not feasible to exempt transit from the E i tax, another option would be to increase

federal operating assistance. Operating assistance in FY 1993 is $802_3 million, much less

than the authorized level of $1.03 billion. Current formula apportionments to smaller

urbanized areas in 24 states are insufBcient to fund their operating limits. Operating aid

to rural transit operators was reduced by over 14%. The outlook for FY 1994 is no better.

The Administration has proposed to freeze operating assistance at S8023 million.

ISTEA provided, for the first time in 10 years, a mechanism to increase federal op>erating

assistance each year to reflect transit's increased cost of doing business. With every year

and every new federal mandate, it becomes more urgent to make the full amount of this

funding available.

We applaud the Administration's efforts to reduce U.S. dependence on imported oil and

limit vehicle emissions. Transit's chief contribution to each of these goals is to provide an

alternative to the single-occupant vehicle, the mode of transportation that causes the lion's

share of the problem. Any federal policy that makes transit less competitive will be

counterproductive. If increased transit oj)erating costs due to the Btu tax are passed on to

customers - whether as higher fares or service reductions - it will hinder the transit

industry*- a*- ility to increase ridership and thereby save energy and reduce air pollution. We
look to

) DUi- Committee to prevent this unintended negative consequence of the Btu tax

from occurring.

Transit and National Goals

Increased transit ridership is a prerequisite for successful implementation of the Intermodal

Surface Transportation Efficiency Act (ISTEA), the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA),
the Qean Air Act Amendments of 1990, and the comprehensive energy bill of 1992. It is

still very much an open question whether these laws can accomplish their ambitious goals.

ISTEA reversed a decade of steadily declining federal support for transit Congress must

now provide full funding of the ISTEA authorized transit program - $5.1 billion per year

in FY 1994-96 and $7J billion in 1997. Even with full funding, federal transit funding will

remain well below 1981 appropriations levels in real terms.

ISTEA also changes the institutional mechanisms for determining transportation policy. We
believe that President Qinton and Transportation Secretary Pena are committed to the

institutional transformation envisioned in ISTEA. We hope you will endeavor to ensure that

the tax system encourages this process.

The promises of money have not yet been entirely fulfilled. The President's stimulus

package, as originally proposed, would close half the gap between FY 1993 appropriated and

authorized transit funding - yet it is stalled and the transit funding may be reduced. The

FY 1994 budget proposal includes 87% of the authorized transit spending, compared to full

funding for the highway programs authorized in ISTEA.

Meanwhile, the bills for costly mandates are steadily coming due. Expanded paratransit

service, capital investments for accessible vehicles and facilities, purchase of clean fuel

vehicles, and other expenditures are creating new pressure on transit agency budgets.

APTA's comprehensive survey of transit capital needs, conducted in 1990, identified overall

capital requirements of $90.8 billion during the 1992-1997 period. The General Accounting
Office recently testified to the Senate Transp>ortation Appropriations Subcommittee that

the $90.8 billion figure is probably understated because it does not fully account for:

"(1) costs for transit vehicles to convert to alternative fuels, due to clean air or energy
conservation requirements; (2) ADA requirements to make existing transit stations

accessible to persons with disabilities and to provide expanded special services for

the disabled; and (3) expanded transit services to meet specific transportation-related
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goals, such as reduced traffic congestion or improved air quality." [Mass Transit:

FTA's Projections Could Better Reflect State and Local Needs, March 11, 1993.]

Now that transit systems have developed cost estimates for paratransit service and ADA-
related capital investments. APTA hopes to develop a more a':curate estimate of these costs.

We believe that annual, nationwide costs will be three o ft ir times greater than the $938

million per year estimated by DOT in 1991. The Clean Air Act requires reduced emissions

for many transit vehicles, and additional alternative fuel requirements were included in last

year's energy legislation. The annual cost to install exhaust cleaners and upgrade fuel is

$110 million. One nationwide survey found that installation of particulate traps on the U.S.

bus fleet would cost an estimated $522 million. Although final rules have not been issued,

federal drug and alcohol testing requirements are expected to cost transit agencies millions

of additional dollars. We hope that Congress and the Administration recognize the

importance of helping our industry with these expenses.

We believe that everyone should have access to modem, efficient transit systems that reduce

air pollution and congestion by attracting new riders and getting them out of their

automobiles. Without adequate federal support, the reality is that transit-dependent people
-

including many low-income workers, senior citizens, and people with disabilities - will be

consigned to shabby, inefficient transit systems. People who have a choice will use their own

vehicles regardless of the consequences for pollution, congestion, and wasted energy.

The Federal Gasoline Tax

APTA strongly favors extending the 2.5 cents per gallon federal excise tax on gasoline that

is due to expire at the end of September 1995. We believe that this tax, now used for deficit

reduction, should be dedicated to transportation and deposited in the Highway Trust Fund

(HTF). At least 20% of this tax, or one half cent per gallon, should be designated for the

Mass Transit Account (MTA) of the Highway Trust Fund.

We are very pleased that Transportation Secretary Peiia h:
-

proposed to extend the 25

cents gasoline tax and dedicate it to the Highway Trust Funv with an 80/20 split between

the Highway Account and the Mass Transit Account - two cents for the Highway Account

and one half cent for the Mass Transit Account.

We applaud Secretary Peha's decision to give the Mass Transit Account 20 percent of the

revenue from the 2.5 cents because it upholds a longstanding precedent. In 1983 and again
in 1990, the Mass Transit Account received 20 percent of the increase in gas taxes

designated for the Highway Trust Fund. In 1991, Congress reaffirmed the 20 percent
minimum when extending the 1983 and 1990 tax increases in Title VIII of ISTEA.

Secretary Pena's proposal sends a strong message of federal support for transit and other

high-occupancy modes of travel that are essential to clean up the air, reduce energy use,

control traffic gridlock, rebuild our cities, and meet the mobility needs of all Americans.
This is especially valuable right now, since local areas are developing comprehensive, long-
term transportation plans that comply with Clean Air Act and IST^A requirements.

In addition, the Mass Transit Account needs the revenue from the extra one half cent.

APTA estimates that, withou' additional revenue, the Mass Transit Account's committed
balance will exceed its cas b Jance in FY 1998. This estimate assumes full funding of the

part of the ISTEA transit program that is funded from the Mass Transit Account, a very
reasonable assumption given recent funding history. In FY 1993, nearly 96% of funds

authorized from the MTA were appropriated. Overall transit funding was $1.6 billion below
the authorized amount, but not because MTA appropriations fell short of the authorized

level. Only 37% of the transit program's General Fund authorization was appropriated, and
that accounts for virtually all of the shortfall.
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An additional source of intense pressure to appropriate the entire authorized MTA funding
level will be the growing need for Section 3 Discretionary New Start funding for major

capital projects. ISTEA specifically authorizes 48 New Start projects in 23 states, with total

federal funding of S6.112 billion. So far, $1.1S2 billion has been appropriated for these

earmarks, leaving a $4.96 billion New Start funding requirement in FY 1994 through FY
1997. As work on these projects goes forward, and new ones are proposed, the demand for

New Stan funding has nowhere to go but up. To the extent that these major capital projects

continue to have support in Congress, there will continue to be pressure for MTA
appropriations to reach the full authorized level.

As Congress plans for the years after the end of the ISTEA authorization period in FY
1997, we hope that Congress will address future revenue requirements of both the Mass
Transit Account and the Highway Account in a fair and equitable way.

Commuter Rail Diesel Tax Exemption

Traditionally transit systems have been exempted from paying federal excise taxes on fuel.

APTA supports legislation to ex<^mpt conunuter railroads from the 2S cent per gallon excise

tax on diesel fuel passed in 19:>0. lliat year's budget reconciliation act exempted other

transit systems from this tax, but, in what APTA believes was an oversight, commuter
railroads were required to pay the tax.

Congress last year passed legislation to correct this mistake as part of a tax bill vetoed by
President Bush. APTA favors the passage of legislation to exempt commuter rail operators
from this tax. Any new taxes are passed on in the form of higher fares, which act as a

barrier to increased ridership.

Transit Pass

Mr. Chairman, we want to thank you and the Committee once again for your leadership in

enacting the transit pass provision of the Comprehensive National Energy Policy Act of

1992. This law provides that, as of January 1, 1993, employers can provide employees up
to $60 per month in transit benefits ~ nearly triple the $21 per month that was previously
allowed ~ or a $60 per month benefit for employees who commute in commuter highway
vehicles such as vanpools and commuter buses. The new law also caps nontaxable

employer-paid parking at $155 per month, so that parking benefits in excess ci t'at amount
must be counted as income to the employee.

This is good public policy because it extends a benefit to people who depend on transit,

many of them lower-income workers, and it begins to reward those who choose to use

transit and thereby do their part to clean up polluted air, save energy, and reduce traffic

congestion.

This law has excited a great deal of interest all across the nation, and APTA has received

hundreds of inquiries about the new transit pass benefit. We are working with the

Association for Commuter Transportation (ACT) and the Federal Transit Administration

to ensure that the transit pass reform law is successfully implemented. Our goal is to

educate employers and commuters about the new law, to provide technical assistance to

transit agencies and employers, and to disseminate information about successful local transit

pass programs. Because increased use of transit and carpooling will be more and more

important in areas with air pollution problems, we hope to focus attention on the urbanized

areas with the most serious non-attainment problems, including the New York, Chicago, Lx»s

Angeles, Houston, and Philadelphia metropolitan areas.

One possible refinement of the law would be to require the inclusion of transit pass and

vanpool benefits in "cafeteria benefit" programs offered by employers. We hope to work
with the Committee on this and other ways to ensure that the transit pass law fulfills its

promise.
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We also want to alert you to one possible issue that may arise as the Internal Revenue
Service develops regulations pertaining to this law. We believe that Congress intended this

proposal to encourage people to use all forms of transit, including driving to pa:"-and-ride
lots at bus and rail terminals.

To encourage park-and-ride commuting, employers may wish to provide an employee with

up to $60 per month in transit pass benefits and up to $155 per month in parking benefits.

We hope that the IRS regulations will recognize that Congress intended to encourage park-
and-ride commuting as well as other forms of transit and shared-ride services.

Setting Transportation Prices Fairly

The transit pass reform law is a significant first step toward equitable treatment of transit

riders and drivers of single-occupant vehicles. Other government policies, however, continue

to subsidize single-occupant vehicles.

Two years ago, Mr. Chairman, you described many of the problems caused by the way we
Americans set transportation prices in the introductory statement to Senate Report 102-71,

on S. 1204. One effect is to inhibit the use of transit, but society and the economy pay many
other costs. As you pointed out, congestion increases with no end in sight because space
'n our highways is perceived as a free good; auto-induced sprawl raises the t x ills for

more roads, utilities, sewers, and other infrastructure costs of new development aud other

environmental and energy consequences have already been noted.

The World Resources Institute has estimated that drivers pay for only about 13 percent of

the public costs of highway transportation
- we all pay the remaining 87 percent in our tax

and medical bills, in inconvenience, and in diminished quality of life, but without any label

showing that highway travel costs are responsible. The U.S. has by far the lowest gas tax

rate of any Western industrial economy. The average rate for Japan and five European
industrial countries is six times ours. Little wonder, then, that per capita fuel consumption
is three to four times greater in the U.S. than in other nations.

We in transit believe that your Committee should seriously consider increases in the federal

gasoline tax to levels that reflect the high hidden costs of gasoline consumption, as a way
to increase the efficiency of our transportation system. A gas tax increase, with all or part
of the revenues dedicated to transportation piuposes, would reduce the trade deficit and

promote conservation and cleaner air by discouraging drive-alone commuting. It would

reinforce ISTEA's mechanisms for encouraging local flexibility and competition.

Conclusion

Mr. Chairman and members of the Committee, your decisions on these tax issues can make
the difference between stagnation for the U.S. transit industry or a new era in which transit

increases its ridership by providing a modem, efficient alternative to single-occupant vehicle

commuting. We ask for your support so we can do our part in improving productivity,

providing all Americans with accessible transportation, creating jobs, cleaning up polluted
i ', reducing dependence on imported oil, and protecting the quality of life \x. urban,

suburban, and rural commimities throughout the nation.
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Prepared Statement of Senator Max Baucus

I appreciate you calling this hearing today, giving us the opportunity to discuss
the broad-based energy tax proposal with the distinguished Secretary of the Treas-

ury, and former Chairman of this Committee, Lloyd Bentsen. Welcome Back Mr.

Secretary.
As I stated in the Secretary's last appearance before this Committee, I commend

the President for compiling an economic package that seriously addresses three of

the most important issues facing this nation: The deficit, jobs, and long-term capital
investment. I am committed to working with you, Mr. Secretary, and the rest or the
President's team to see that long-term economic growth and deficit reduction become
a reality.

I respect the Administration's decision to choose the BTU tax as the revenue-rais-

ing proposal most likely to achieve a mixture of policy goals ranging from energy
conservation to enhanced national security. However, over the longer term, more
significant steps will be needed to encourage corporations and individuals to save
and invest more and at the same time borrow less. Specifically, this means that a
new tax, based on consumption, will have to be enacted along with relief fi-om the
income tax for working class Americans and corporations.

I am encouraged by the Administration's willingness to assure that the impact of
the proposed BTU tax is fair from a geographic and an industry perspective. This
commitment to fairness is clearly shown by tne modified version of the proposal that
shifts the collection point of the tax and repeals the supplemental tax on home heat-

ing oil.

The proposed BTU tax also places a heavy burden on the U.S. agriculture. Farm-
ers would get hit by the tax in all phases of their work. They would pay the tax
on the energy used for irrigation and operation of equipment, on the raw materials
of food production such as ^rtilizer and crop protection chemicals, and on the trans-

portation required to get products to market.
There are other legitimate problems that must be addressed, if the BTU tax is

to become law. For example, I remain concerned about the effect of the energy tax
on the international competitiveness of energy-intensive industries, such as alu-

minum. The U.S. aluminum industry would not be able to pass on the cost of the
tax to consumers because prices are determined by the international marketplace.
As a result, imposition of tne tax may result in the loss of jobs in Montana and nu-
merous other states.

Finally, it may be necessary to consider further technical refinements to the tax
in order to insure that it fully satisfies both its environmental and fairness objec-
tives. I look forward to working closely with the Administration to enable this and
other components of the economic package to move toward completion.
Thank you.
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Prepared Statement of Victor G. Beghini

This statement regarding the Administration's energry teuc proposal
is submitted on behalf of the Americam Petroleum Institute (API) .

API represents approximately 300 companies involved in all
aspects of the oil and gas industry, including exploration,
production, transportation, refining euid marketing.

API POLICY

API has long supported the notion that growing federal deficits
sap the vigor of the American economy by crowding out productive
private sector investment, and we applaud the President's efforts
to take serious steps to reverse this process, especially the
spending reductions that are inclu ""ed in the package. Spending
growth, not reduced revenues, if t le primary cause of the current
deficit. Federal spending, at nearly 24% of national income, is
the largest drain on the private economy. Since the mid-1960 's,
federal revenue as a percent of GDP has remained relatively
consteuat at 18-19%. On the other hand, federal spending as a
percent of GDP has grown over the same period from 17.6% to 23.5%
in 1992.

We also agree that the individual elements of the President's
plan should not be assessed in isolation, but rather in terms of
their effects on achieving the goal of the overall plzoi, namely
to enhance future prospects for U.S. economic growth. It is on
those grounds that we oppose inclusion of the Btu tax in the
plan. The Btu tzuc distorts energy markets; increases the costs
of all U.S. goods; makes U.S. products less competitive in world
markets; in^oses the added burden of administrative complexity;
and, creates highly inequitable results across income groups and
across regions of this country. Moreover, it works at cross
purposes to other key elements of the President's progreun, and
substantially diminishes the prospects that the program will
enhance U.S. economic growth.

If, after all appropriate spending reductions have been achieved,
additional revenues are required, we believe that a broad-based
credit invoice Value Added Tax is the prefereible alternative. It
has few of the adverse effects of the Btu tax, and would, in-
stead, reinforce the elements of the President's package intended
to restore vigorous long term growth to the U.S. economy.

THE BTD TAX - ECONOMIC EFFECTS

If passed on fully to consumers, tl Btu tax will raise the cost
of fuel consumed in the United States by about $31 billion per
year by the time it is fully phased in in 1997. Moreover,
because of the higher tax on oil, revenues derived from petroleum
products will constitute a disproportionate share of the total.
While petroleum consumption is expected to acco\int for only eibout
39% of Btus consumed in 1997, it will account for about 60% of
revenues from the tax.

The Btu tax will raise consumer prices of virtually all energy in
the United States. But, contrary to Administration goals, the
burden of these increases will not be spread fairly across income
classes, regions or industries.

The tax will be borne overwhelmingly by the middle class. Across
regions of the co\intry there are also wide disparities in the
patterns of energy consumption. Hence, some regions will pay far
more in direct and indirect costs than others . Because the tax
on oil is more than twice that of other energy sources, workers
and consumers in states that rely heavily on oil--for consumer
and industrial use--will be especially hard hit.
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One of the principal factors affecting these regional variations
is the wide diversity of energy use patterns by industry.
Petrochemicc 1, aluminum, and many other types of manufacturing
inherent 1- aquire substantial euaounts of energy to produce their
products, while other industries such as services, require less.
The tax thus singles out U.S. manufacturing and certain other
sectors (such as traoisportation, e.g. airlines, rail, etc.) to
bear the heaviest burden of the tax.

These discriminatory in^acts are particularly a problem for those
firms producing goods to conq?ete in world markets. Petro-
chemicals and aircraft manufacturing are two such industries, but
there are many others who will be unable to pass through the tax
on the world market. It has been argued by some that U.S. energy
costs are so low by world steuidards that this tax won't affect
our competitiveness. This is simply wrong. In particular, if we
look at industrial energy costs for our North Americaui trading
partners, Mexico and Canada, energy prices in the O.S. for
industrial use are generally as high or typically higher already.
The cost of fuel oil for industrial use, for insteuice, is about
identical between the U.S. emd Canada, but higher than Mexico.
Natural gas in industrial use is slightly more costly in the U.S.
than in Ccuaada, and far more costly than in Mexico. Moreover,
these are important, growing markets for the O.S. Intra-North
American trade by 1991 had become a larger share of U.S. trade
than that with either Europe or Japan, and with passage of NAFTA
will expand further in the fut\ire . It is a risky environment in
which to propose a tax that will make U.S. industrial energy
costs unambiguously the highest in North America, which this tax
does .

API has asked DRI-McGraw Hill, a noted international economic
consulting group, to examine the effects of the President's
package, both on energy markets auid on the O.S. economy. The DRI
results show hat the Btu tax by 1998 (less than 1 year after its
full impleuen^-ation) will result in a loss of GDP of nearly $34
billion annually in 1993 dollars, resulting in a loss of eibout
400,000 jobs. This will cause other government revenues tied to
economic activity to be lower, and expenditures tied to economic
activity (such as unemployment compensation) to be higher, theui

they would be without the Btu tax. These effects offset about
40% of the direct revenues raised by the tax. As a consequence,
while the tax raises over $31 billion annually by 1998, the defi-
cit falls by only $19 billion. If the administration attempts to
offset these negative effects with other direct spending (such as
the proposed $10 billion increase in Low Income Home Energy
Assisteince Program, food stamps, and the Earned Income Tax
Credit), the net effect on the deficit could be far lower.

Second, the DRI results suggest that the tax seriously increases
the inevitable short r\in costs that will need to be incurred to
secure the deficit reduction the President is seeking by 1998,
and in the process signif iceuitly compromises the President's goal
of enhancing the long run growth potential of the U.S. economy.

Over the 1993 to 1998 period covered by the President's program,
the DRI euaalysis shows that serious deficit ef iction efforts
such as those proposed will actually dampen ht level of U.S.
economic activity and cost jobs. Such costs are transitional,
and may be an unavoidable cost of reorienting the economy from
consiimption to investment. DRI estimates that the prograun as a
whole will reduce the deficit by $117 billion, at a cost of
between 500 thousand and 800 thousand jobs by 1998. The benefits
of this deficit reduction lie beyond the horizon of the
President's proposal. This does not suggest that the President's
program is not worth pursuing, since a $117 billion deficit
reduction is a sizeable achievement with significant long term
benefits. It does suggest, however, that the short run cost of
this achievement is likely to be sizeable, and certainly that it
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ceuonot be ignored. Particularly, we cannot afford to neglect
available revenue alternatives that could achieve the seune
deficit reduction at stibstantially lower cost. Our opposition to
the Btu tax stems in part from the fact that other revenue
alternatives are available to achieve the seune level of deficit
reduction at subst2uitially lower short term cost than that
associated with the Btu tax. Of the 800 thousand jobs lost by
1998 in the DRI study, nearly 400 thouseoid, or about half, were
directly attributaible to the effect of the Btu tax. Moreover,
the DRI results show that these short run losses could be
substeuitially reduced by the .substitution of a broad based Value
Added Tax of e<iual yield. As a consequence, the Btu tax
unnecessarily raises the short run cost of achieving the
President's deficit reduction goals.

Perhaps even more inqportantly, the Btu tax compromises the
effectiveness of any given level of deficit reduction in
enhancing D.S. economic growth over the long term. The tax
permanently raises U.S. production costs, sacri. cing U.S.
productivity and making the U.S. less competiti\ . in world
markets. By contrast, a VAT taxes only consumption, not
production, preserving U.S. competitiveness and providing an
incentive to private savings which reinforces rather than offsets
the effect of deficit reduction.

The Administration argues that the tax will improve our energy
security by reducing our dependence on foreign oil. It will
reduce oil consuiiq>tion, by Administration estimates, by eibout

400,000 barrels per day by the year 2000. If correct, this will
decrease U.S. import dependence in the year 2000 by a trivial
eunount (from about 56% to about 55% of total consumption) .

However, the tax is also likely to decrease the supply of
domestic crude oil and products by an aunount sufficient to offset
much, if not all, of the expected consusqption decline. Fuel auid

related costs accoxint for between 25% and 40% of oil and gas
production costs even at sites using conventional production
technology. Btu tax cost increases could reduce oil and gas
production from conventional sources by from 20,000 to 100,000
barrels of oil equivalent per day by the year 2000.

Finally, even if imports were to fall by the full 400,000 barrels
a day claimed by the vd linistration, the cost of $34 billion in
lost GDP is excessive relative to other alternatives for
improving energy security. Using the Administration's optimistic
predictions of import reductions, the cost of the Btu tax works
out to about $230 per barrel. By contrast, oil can be purchased
for the SPR at a cost of eJsout $20 per barrel, which contributes
in a direct and tangible way to U.S. capabilities to respond to
any such future interruption. Taking steps to strengthen
domestic petroleum production such as opening federal land and
offshore areas would provide a mesuis to increase energy security
that would enhance U.S. economic performance, not detract from
it. Given these alternatives, it is implausible that any small
reductions in oil imports attributable to the Btu tax represent a
cost effective way to address U.S. energy security concerns.

The Administration argues that the tax represents a desirable way
to reduce emissions from the burning of fossil fuels. Granted,
the tax will reduce consumption of energy slightly, but even the
Environmental Protection Agency forecasts these effects to be
minimal, amounting to about a 0.8% decline in nitrogen oxides and
a 0.25% decline in hydrocarbons and carbon monoxide. Moreover,
sulphur dioxide emissions, associated with acid rain, could
actually increase since the tax encourages a shift from low
sulphur fuel oil to high sulphur fuel oil. Low sulphur fuel oil,
which requires additional refinery processing, will be more
expensive to produce and, therefore, will be priced higher in the
market (estimates vary from 2 to 7 cents per gallon) . While EPA
regulations require on-road diesel to be low-sulphur (effective
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October 1, 1993), other fuel oil users are free to purchase
either high or low sulphur fuel for heating or other off -road
uses . Since the propose<^ Btu tax does not recognize the

environmental benefits o using low sulphur fuel oil for heating
and other off -road purposes, continued extensive use of high
sulphur fuel oil can be anticipated.

In fact, there are far more effective ways to deal with these
various emissions than a broad based energy tax. The emissions

reductions expected under the Cleeui Air Act Amendments of 1990
require far more significant, and more targeted reductions. For
example, the CAA amendments of 1990 are expected to result in
reductions of 15% in hydrocarbon emissions in smog-prone areas,
about 17% in nitrogen oxides, and 45% in total sulfur dioxide
emissions by the year 2000. By comparison, any environmental
benefits associated with the Btu tax are at best small euid

relatively expensive.

In summary, the Btu tax as currently proposed represents poor tax
policy. It offsets rather than reinforces the beneficial effects
of deficit reduction. It raises U.S. production costs, making
all U.S. products less competitive in world markets. It costs
jobs, and reduces GDP by more than the revenues raised by the
tax. As a consequence, it seriously damages the effectiveness of
the President's prograun in promoting economic growth.

THE BTU TAX-DBSIGM ISSUES

Since the Administration first pxiblisbed its proposal in
February' it has made a number of design modifications.
Nevertheless, the tax would still create inequities in the
domestic energy market, disadveuitage U.S. products vis-a-vis
international competition, and create burdensome compliance euid

administration problems. API has identified the following issues
with regard to the design of the tax.

Petroleum Surtax

The most onerous aspect of the tax for the petrolexim industry and
its customers is that the rate for petroleum products is 2 1/3
times that of the rate on competing fuels. Where our products--
for example, resid, heavy oil euid petroleum coke--compete
directly with natural gas and coal, refiners will either never
fully recover the tax or will lose market share to the con^eting
fuels. The surtax, in combination with imposition of the tax at
the refinery gate, will result in increased gasoline and other
light end imports. This will drive more refining offshore, with
consequent job loss and greater product imports. For eui industry
that has lost 450,000 jobs oVer the past decade and is spending
billions of dollars annually to comply with new environmental
mandates, this additional blow is unconscionable.

Point of Collection

The point of collection of the tax should be at the terminal
rack, or when the product "breaks bulk." Imposing the tax at the
refinery gate, as the Administration proposes, creates major
problems for administering exemptions for petrochemical
feedstocks euid other non-fuel uses, fuel exports, and the reduced
rate for home heating oil. This is because the end use of many
petroleum products is not known until very far down the
distribution chain.

If the tax is generally imposed at the refinery gate, one of
three methods will have to be applied to exenqptions for dual use
products: 1) all products would be sold tax-included with the
final consTimer of the exempt use applying for a refund. This
would impose the carrying cost of the tax and cash flow problems
on those persons entitled to the exemption and create massive
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refund claims for the IRS to administer; 2) all dual use products
(blendstocks, feedstocks, e.g.) would leave the refinery untaxed
with a use tax imposed on the person using them for a taxaUale

purpose; or, 3) a con^lex and cumbersome system of exemption
certificates would be developed. Either of these latter two
methods creates opportunities for tax evasion. Whichever
exemption method were chosen, an expensive audit system would be

required to ensure proper compliance.

Refinery gate imposition also createi competitive distortions
between domestic refiners and blen'e s. NGL blendstocks such as
butcuie and natural gasoline are ta: able at the natural gas rate
when they leave a refinery or gas plant. If blended with
finished gasoline downstreeun at a terminal or bulk plant, the NGL
blendstocks will bear the lower rate. If, on the other hand,
they are blended with gasoline at the refinery, the total volume
of other finished product will be taxed at the gasoline rate. A
blender could have a significant tax advantage over refinery
produced products. Similar problems arise with regard to the

exemptions for oxygenates which cim. also be blended at terminals
or bulk plemts. It must be clear that the blending of non-taxed
or low taxed con^onents to produce a fuel must be taxed at the
scune rate as refinery produced fuel.

Finally, imposing the tax at the refinery creates market
distortions between imported and domestically refined product
because of the difference in transit time between tax point and
market eind the resulting difference in carrying cost of the tax.

The terminal rack--where most federal gasoline tax is currently
collected--is the tax point that creates the least market
distortions, provides most easily for administration of

exemptions, and offers reduced in5>lementation costs for both
taxpayers and the IRS because' it can piggyback on an existing
collection system.

Energy Content of Manufactured Goods

A major problem with the tax is the increased energy cost
embedded in manufactured goods which makes them less competitive
with foreign mauiufactured goods in both domestic and foreign
markets. Retaining U.S. industries' f 'mpetitive position in
world markets would require some methoJ of imposing the energy
tax on imported products and rebating it on exports . The
difficulty of designing and administering such a system, however,
is mind boggling. Also, it may not be possible under
international trade agreements. It is our understanding that the
General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade (GATT) prohibits imports
from being taxed at a higher rate than like domestic products.

The problem of increased energy cost embedded in manufactured
goods is exacerbated when the energy used by manufacturers of
taxable energy is also taxed. For example, in the process of
producing eind refining oil and natural gas that will ultimately
be subject to the BTU tax, the petroleum industry uses large
volumes of energy. Taxing energy used to produce oil or natural
gas, auid other taxable energy, would vinfairly impose an addition-
al increase in the embedded energy cost of manufactured products .

Competition with Imported Energy

The Btu tax also makes domestically manufactured energy less
competitive with inserted energy. Petroleiim production and
refining i» one of the most energy intensive manufacturing
processes . If domestically produced petroleum and petroleum
products are forced to carry the embedded cost of the BTU tax
while imported products do not, domestic refiners will be at a
further disadvantage. This would jeopardize further refining
capacity in this coiintry and promote the importation of petroleum
products --exactly the opposite of the President's stated
intention.



113

The Administration has obviously recognized the serious economic
burden when "fuel used to produce £uel" is taxed because the
revised version o£ their proposal provides several exemptions in
this regard. However, a number of issues remain unresolved. For
example, crude oil used in a refinery is exeunt but not other
fuels used in a refinery; natural gas used in enheuiced oil
recovery (EOR) projects for heavy oil is exempt, but not natural
gas used in other EOR projects; crude oil or natural gas used "on
the premises where it is extracted" is exeiia>t, but not purchased
crude oil or natural gas. Each of these narrowly drawn
exemptions, while a start in the right direction, creates
additional distortions. All energy used in the production and
manufacture of taxable energy should be exempt .

Hidden Tax Increase - GDP Deflator

The Administration proposes to index the Btu tax to the Implicit
Price Deflator, a measure which bears no relationship whatsoever
to the value of the energy commodity.

Indexing the tax will lead to a s\ibstantial erosion of real
income in the oil and gas industry. Over the last ten years, the
price of crv e oil has fallen over 44 percent while the general
price level, as measured by the Implicit Price Deflator, has
increased by over 44 percent. If the Btu tax on crude oil had
been in effect at the beginning of the period, tax collection
from the industry would have increased by $9.7 billion at a time
when industry profits were depressed and 450,000 jobs were lost.

The Btu tax will lead to a substauitial erosion of real income and
cause the loss of thousands of additional jobs in the oil and gas
industry unless some provision is made to limit the effects of
increasing taxes during periods when product prices fail to keep
up with inflation.

Floor Stocks Tax

While a floor stocks tax is a typical feature of eui excise tax,
the typical excise tax does not contemplate eumual changes in the
rate. Annual floor stocks taxes triggered by the indexing
mechanism will not only exacerbate the harmful effects of
indexing but also will create a significant administrative
burden. There should be no automatic floor stocks taxes after
the tax is fully phased in.

Other Issues

It must be remembered that there is currently no federal
mechanism for the taxation of natural gas. Additionally, there
are no federal mechanisms for taxing petroleum products at the
refinery gate or coal by the recipient. API believes that the
time allotted for inclementation of the tax is overly optimistic,
given the niimber of details which must be resolved. For example,
who will be the taxpayer of natural gas liquids at a processing
plant if the plant owner does not own the gas being processed, or
any of the end products? It is also unclear what is meeuit by the
terms "premises", "refinery", "crude oil", "fuel", "enhanced oil
recovery", "heavy oil", "pipeline", "coal seam methane", etc.

Another ineciuity which has not been addressed is the imposition
of the petroleum surtax on petroleum coke . In view of the fact
that the principal competing fuel of petroleum coke is coal,
petroleum coke should be treated, for the purposes of the tax, as
coal . Petrolexim coke used as anodes should be exempt from the
tax.

CREDIT-INVOICE VALUE ADDED TAX

API's position is that, since the budget deficit is driven by
expenditure growth. Congress euad the President should focus on
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spending reductions. Taxes should not be increased first. If,

after all spending reductions are implemented. Congress
eventually concludes that there should be significant additional

taxes, any new taxes should: 1) avoid penalizing U.S.

manufacturing in domestic and foreign markets; 2) be neutral with

respect to economic decision-making by business-^-s and consumers;

3) not be overly regressive or progressive; and \) avoid negative

impacts on incentives to save and invest. The API believes that

only a credit -invoice style value added tax (VAT) satisfies these

criteria, would have the least harmful effect on the economy, and

would be the fairest and most equitable way to raise revenues .

Under a credit method VAT, each firm's tax liability would eopial

the tax on its sales minus the tax that the firm paid on its

purchases of capital goods as well as raw materials. Thus, a VAT
does not discriminate against capital as does ein income tax. A
VAT avoids the numerous distortions that an income tax produces
in decision-making throughout the economy: in choices of methods
of finauice; in choices of form of doing business; in choices of

production and technology; and in choices among consximption
goods .

Furthermore, it is widely agreed that capital investment in the
U.S. should be increased. Thus, it is preferable that any new
tax should fall on consumption rather than discourage savings and
investment. A VAT meets this objective.

A VAT does not harm U.T. competitiveness in world markets. U.S.
manufactured goods ar€ n 't burdened with a VAT when they are

exported, and imports laust bear the same tax as comparsible
domestic goods for sale in this country. A VAT does not
interfere with the consumer's decisions ed>out what goods or
services to consume since relative prices are not changed. And,
a VAT does not have the regional distortions that many energy
taxes (such as a Btu tax or a gasoline tax) have and does not
fall on but one industry or product.

The credit -invoice VAT- -under which the tax is separately stated
on each invoice and each business gets a credit for the tax that
it paid on its purchases --encourages compliance, effectively
accommodates exemptions emd a multi-rate tax, facilitates border
tax adjustments, does not become a cost of doing business,
potentially captures taxes from activities that currently avoid
the income taix and places the incidence of the tax on the non-
business consumer. Thus, the credit mechanism is superior to
other methods of calculating the VAT.

The major arguments against a VAT are that it is regressive,
would tempt Congress to expand federal spending, euod would be
costly and burdensome to implement. A credit invoice VAT can
easily accommodate the regressivity concerns by using zero rates
for basic goods and services such as food and medicine. In
addition, the regressivity of a VAT can be offset by chauiges in
either the income tax (e.g., the earned income tax credit) or
government transfer programs . Historical data show that VATs do
not add to government spending or to total tax burdens that would
occur amyway. A study published in the National Tax Journal
found that the VAT did not increase the share of GDP going to
taxes euaong countries be] ranging to the OECD. Growth rates in tax
burdens did not significa cly differ between non-VAT and VAT
countries. While there wxll be start-up costs with a VAT--as
with any new tax- -the European experience has shown it to be a
more efficient revenue collector than income taxes.
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Prepared Statement of Secretary Lloyd BE^^^SEN

Chairman Moynihan, members of the committee, I want to thank

you for asking me to come up and discuss the specifics of our

energy tax proposal with you.

Let me say from the outset that no one likes to raise a tax,
but there are times when you have to do it. I'm pushing this
hard because of its significance to our long term economic
health. As a nation we need this. Frankly, it's long overdue.

This energy tax is an important part of our overall plan to
reduce the deficit, create the conditions to restore long term
growth to our economy, and create the jobs and income growth
Americans want. It also reflects the very clear understanding in
the Clinton Administration that we cannot let the status quo
continue. We must take bold steps to control our economy.

We cannot view the energy tax in isolation. Let me tell you
why. These deficits that we've been running up so rapidly for
over a decade now have been draining the pool of private savings.
They have been cutting the rate of capital formation by our
industries. They have caused us to borrow from abroad.
The net result has been a slowdown in the rates of growth of

productivity and in the real income of American workers. In the

process, we've become the world's leading debtor nation.

That ' s why the energy tax is important to us — to help us

get the deficit headed down.
"

Between 1994, when we get the first
elements in place, and 1998, when it will have been fully
functioning for a year, this tax will produce over $72 billion
dollars in revenues. That's a significant contribution. In

fact, it's one-sixth of the total net deficit reduction in our

plan for the years 1994 through 1998. The first year this tax is

fully phased in, 1997, it will produce over $22 billion in
revenues. That eimount will grow over time.

This program has won widespread support throughout America.
But I know that not everyone in the energy business agrees with
us that we need this energy tax. Take the American Petroleum
Institute for instance. It is composed of some of the world's
largest oil companies, and they have most of their reserves and a

good deal of production overseas. Their opposition is

understandable, since our program will reduce oil imports.

I am gratified, nowever, that some of the members of the API— like Arco and Shell — agree that what we're trying to do for
the country is worthwhile. Not only have those firms endorsed
our program, but we've also gotten the support of a broad
spectr\im of the energy business, from the smaller independent oil
and gas producers, all the way up to electric utilities.

Now, let me make a few br >a^ points about the energy tax,
and then get into some of the specifics.

First, this program is fair. It is fair economically. It
is fair geographically. You can see that from my first chart
And, rather than singling out any particular fuel, we went after
the Btu content of all our fuels and energy sources.

Secondly, we should look at what this tax accomplishes, and
what it will cost American feunilies.

Obviously, it is a vehicle for deficit reduction. But at
the same time we're encouraging a shift toward cleaner fuels,
reducing pollution, encouraging conservation and cutting back on
our imports of oil by an estimated 400,000 barrels a day. Let me
put that number in perspective for you: over a year's time,
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that's" about the energy equivalent of the amount of gasoline it

would take to drive every automobile in the United States 1,000
miles.

Conserving energy, reducing pollution, cutting energy
imports, and reducing our deficit are significant
accomplishments. You should also remember that as we reduce the

deficit, we lower interest rates, raise investment and increase

long run productivity and growth.

This tax, contrary to what some might argue, will not be a

drag on our ability to compete in world markets. That's just not
so. You can see on this second chart that we estimate that on

average, manufacturing production costs will rise just one tenth
of one percent because of this ta^.

It will be more costly in a few industries, such as those
which are very energy intensive. But if we'd exempted them, it

would have required higher taxes on other energy users, and it

would have undermined our objectives of increasing energy
efficiency and increasing energy security. The deficit reduction

impact of the energy tax should reduce interest rates and thus

capital costs, and that's beneficial for energy intensive
industries which also tend to be capital intensive. Not only
that, but other elements of our package, such as the investment
tax credit and the AMT relief, should benefit those industries.

My next chart shows that even after our tax is fully in

place, our energy costs will still be the lowest among our G-7

partners, or second lowest depending on what fuel you consider.
And energy costs in Europe could go up even more if this new
carbon n- Btu tax they are talking about gets put into effect.
The Japi.nese are also considering a new energy tax, although
their energy costs already are among the highest in the world.

What will our proposal cost Americans? In general terms,
it's well under 1 percent of disposable personal income. We
calculate that, when fully phased in, the direct costs of the tax
on electricity, natural gas, home heating oil, and gasoline for a

typical family of four with an income of $40,000 will be just
$9.50 per month. Our entire revenue program, including the

energy tax, adds up to just $17 a month for the average family at
the $40,000 level four years from now.

A family refinancing a $100,000 mortgage down from 10

percent to 7 percent is already saving more than $200 a month, or
several times the energy tax. We have to remember that one of
the goals of our deficit reduction program is to keep those
interest rates down and reduce interest costs for consumers,
business and government.

When we designed this tax, we paid very close attention to
its impact on all Americans. A four-person family with earnings
of $25,000 is roughly $40 a month better off when the expansion
of the Earned Income Tax Credit is taken into account.
And for families that do not qualify for the EITC, we've also
expanded the Low-Income Home Energy Assistance Program (LIHEAP)
and Food Stamps.

Now, let me get into a few of the more specific details, and
then I'll try to answer your questions.

I. The Choice of the Energy Tax

Before we settled on a Btu tax, we considered a number of
energy tax options in looking for the right combination of
environmental and energy security benefits, regional neutrality,
and balanced impact on market shares of our various energy
sources .
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We rejected taxes aimed at a specific fuel, such as gasoline
or oil imports, because they would have a disproportionate impact
on some regions of the country. The impact would be particularly
severe in the case of an oil import fee, which would cause energy
costs to increase by much more than the tax. If we'd taxed the
carbon content of a fuel — even though not specifically aimed at
coal — it would have a disproportionate impact oa coal, and on
the regions that produce and use coal.

We also considered an ad valorem tax on energy. We rejected
this approach because it would amplify the effects of sudden
changes in energy prices, and it would not provide a predictable
stream of revenue.

The proposed Btu tax, unlike taxes aimed at a specific fuel,
applies to the heat content of all major energy sources. Thus,
no region gains or loses because of its dependence on a
particular energy source, or because it is an energy-producing
region or state. In addition, a Btu tax is a stable revenue
source that is not directly tied to changes in energy prices.

This is not a pure Btu tax, with all sources taxed at the
same rate. Instead, the tax is generally imposed at a basic rate
of 25.7 cents per million Btus. But there is a supplemental rate
of 34.2 cents per million Btus for oil. Without this extra tax
on oil, the tax on natural gas would be higher, as a percentage
of price, than the tax on petrolevtm products. Yet it will not
hurt the sale of our domestic oil production, since every barrel
will be sold, and the price will not be decreased. We also were
concerned that not adding the supplemental rate would discourage
natural gas use and frustrate the environmental and energy
security objectives of the tax.

This is an important point here. We're quite serious about
the goal of protecting the environment. Natural gas is a clean-
burning fuel, and abundant supplies are available domestically.
On the other hand, oil use, particularly as a motor fuel,
contributes to air pollution. Additionally, as iir-^orts rise, so
does the risk of environmental damage from oil spi" Ls, and the
concern about energy security rises also.

Furthermore, additional imports increase our trade deficit.
Last year we spent about $43 billion on imported oil. That's
more than half of our $84 billion merchandise trade deficit.
We get about 40 percent of our oil from overseas, and if we get
too dependent on imported oil, we're more vulnerable to an
embargo, as happened 20 years ago.

II Basic Design of the Energy Tax

I'm providing a detailed description of the Administration's
proposed Btu tax with my testimony. I'd like to summarize the
principal features.

As you know, when we announced our preliminary decision on
the broad concepts of a Btu tax, we a.' so invited comments from
those most affected by the tax. Ir p irticular, we wanted to hear
from the energy industry, industrial end-users, state and federal
regulators, and congressional offices. As a direct result of
these comments, including comments from many of you, we have
significantly refined the initial proposal.

The tax is imposed on coal, refined petroleum products,
natural gas, nuclear-generated electricity, and hydroelectricity.
Imported fuels and electricity are taxed in the same manner as
their domestic equivalents.

The basic tax rate of 25.7 cents per million Btus applies to
all taxable energy sources. Refined petroleum products are
subject to both the basic rate and the supplemental rate of 34.2
cents per million Btus. However, the supplemental rate does not
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apply to liquefied petroleum gases, regardless of whether they're
produced from natural gas or from crude oil. And it does not

apply to natural gasoline and home heating oil.

We decided to collect the tax at a point that satisfies
three criteria: it minimizes the number of taxpayers, or tax

collectors; it is far enough downstream to ensure that fixed

price contracts do not prevent a pass-through of the tax to the
end user; and it is also far enough downstream to be certain that
domestic and imported products are taxed at the same rate. Most
of the collection points for the tax have been modified or
clarified since our original proposal, generally as a result of

applying these criteria to new information we got, some of it

from committee members.

For example. Senators Boren, Breaux, and others expressed
concern over the possibility that the tax on natural gas might be
collected at the wellhead. We agree that could be a problem
because it would involve large numbers of taxpayers. Many of
them would be unable to pass through the tax because of fixed

price contracts. We opted to generally impose the tax at the

city gate. And, we decided the tax on oil should be collected at
the refinery tailgate. That equalizes the tax applied to

imported and domestic refined products.

In the coal industry, we found that if we put the collection
point at the mine mouth, it would have caused three problems.
Small mines would be burdened measuring BTU content. In some
cases it would cause a doubling up on royalties and state
severance taxiS. And it could prevent a pass-through for fixed-
price contr^c' s. It makes more sense to put the collection point
at the util .ty or industrial end-user. It should solve all three
problems, and be far easier to administer.

A number of you told us there was a similar pass-through
problem for independent power producers if they were operating
with fixed-price contracts. We agreed, and we've addressed that
concern with a special provision dealing with power produced
under existing fixed-price contracts.

III. Application of the tax

We are not imposing the tax on nonfuel products, nonfuel
uses of fossil fuels, or on exports. Nonfuel products include
such things as asphalt, lubricants, and waxes. Nonfuel uses of
fossil fuel include using it as a feedstock. The exemption for
exports applies to both fuels and electricity. In the case of
exported electricity generated from fossil fuel, an appropriate
credit will be provided. Jet fuel and bunker fuel used in
international transportation will be exempt so there's no
competitive problem in this industry.

The last time I was here, a number of you raised some
issues about the application Of the tax, and we've addressed many
of those with clarifications. For example. Senator Conrad
alerted us to the potential for a double tax on the coal
gasification facility, which makes synthetic natural gas from
lignite coal. In effect, we would have been taxing the coal that
went into the synthetic natural gas production, and then turning
right around and taxing the synthetic natural gas. We didn't
intend for that to happen. We're just going to tax the synthetic
natural gas.

You've got something similar in pumped storage for
generating electricity. You know how that works. In off-peak
times you use some power, pump the water back uphill, then run it
down through turbines at peeUc times to get extra electricity.
Under our original proposal, both the power used to pump the
water, and the hydroelectricity, would have been taxed. Now
we're going to tax that power only once.
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Senator Wallop will tell you it takes steam to get heavy oil
out of the ground. To meet environmental regulations, you often
have to buy natural gas from off the site to produce the steam.
We'd have been taxing that gas, but not taxing heavy oil from the
site used for the same purpose. That wouldn't be fair, and we
didn't want to hurt heavy oil production. We fixed that problem.
The natural gas is exempted.

We also learned that the energy industry had d similar
problem in cases where they use energy to extract or process
fuels. We have exempted crude oil or natural gas that is used
where it is extracted, to get out more crude oil or natural gas.
And, we will not tax crude oil used in a refinery, or natural gas
used in a natural gas processing or fractionation plant.

Senators Daschle, Conrad and others had concerns about the
application of the tax to ethanol and methanol. When we looked
into it, we concluded that oxygenates such as ethanol, methanol,
ETBE, and MTBE — and the feedstocks used to produce them —
should not be taxed. This decision is consistent with our
objectives of encouraging use of alternative fuels, reducing our
dependence on foreign oil and cutting down on pollution.

One of the things we were very concerned about was making
certain our proposal had regional balance. Initially we looked
at applying the supplemental oil rate to home heating oil.
Chairman Moynihan and Senator Mitchell reminded us that in many
areas natural gas is not available for home heating. Homes in
those areas are dependent on home heating oil, propane or butane.
By treating home heating oil as we treat other home heating
fuels, like natural gas and propane, we maintain the balance
across our regions.

There also were concerns in the Northwest about the partial
application of the oil supplemental rate in the formula for
taxing hydroelectricity. We responded to those concerns, but we
believe hydroelectricity should be subject to the tax itself.
Although hydroelectricity is arguably a renewable sou-ce, the
energy tax is a deficit reduction measure. Exempting
hydroelectric power entirely would cost substantial revenue, and
taxing it is necessary for regional balance. We cannot ask other
regions to pay a tax on home energy costs but exempt regions
where those costs are now the lowest.

Lastly, environmental concerns led us to exempt coal seam
methane from a mine being degassed prior to operation. We did
that because it encourages capturing that greenhouse gas rather
than venting it into the atmosphere.

IV. Conclusion

As you see on my last chart, the energy tax offers us a
significant opportunity to make a major contribution to our
deficit reduction plan, while simultaneously cutting pollution,
encouraging energy conservation and reducing our dependence on
imported fuel. And, as we lower that deficit, we get lower
interest rates, more investment, and more productivity. When we
do all of that, we improve wages and our long-term standard of
living.

Mr. Chairman, raising taxes is never an easy or popular
process. I know the votes that lie ahead for the committee may
be difficult ones. But I have sensed a new realism in Congress
and among the American people. I think everyone now knows that
we must change the status quo if we are to change our nation's
economic course.

This tax offers a way to do that, and I look forward to
working with all of you on this and our other programs.
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Responses of Secretary Bentsen to Questions Submitted by Senator Roth

1. Question: WiH Treasury pnpaie a distribution of the Administration's revenue proposals

using adjusted gross income (AGI), rather than Family Economic Income, as the income

classifier? If not, then why not?

Answer Distribution tables show the effect by income class of all taxes, including

excises, payroll taxes, and the corporate income tax, as well as the individual income tax.

Professional economists are in agreement that the fairness of the tax system can only be assessed

if the income measure used in the tables provides a reasonable ranking of families by their

economic well-being. Family Economic Income, the income classifier used by the Treasury

Dqaitment to prqare distribution tables, and similar broad-based income measures provide

reasonable ranldngs; AGI would not

AGI is a concept qwdiic to the individual income tax and was never inte Je to be a proper

measure of income for distribution tables. AGI omits a number of income it ;m:i that clearly are

part of a family's economic well-being. For example, AGI excludes tax-exempt interest, most

government transfer payments, IRA and other deductible retirement savings contributions, and

employer-provided fringe benefits such as health insurance. Also excluded are most pre-tax

corporate profits, which are the base for the corporate income tax. AGI may iocludfi more

income than a fiunily actually earns in a year. For example, capital gains are generally included

in AGI in the year the gains are realized even though the gains may have accrued over many

years, and gains are not adjusted for inflation.

Family Economic Income is a broad measure of income that includes items of income omitted

ftom AGI, and adjusts the meuure of certain items included in AGI (for example, capital gains

are measured on an inflatioa-adjusted, annual accrual basis). Unlike AGI, which may be

redefined by changes in the income tax, Family Economic Income is independent of the tax law

itself, so fiunilies are H«f«fi>^ in the proper income class even when the tax law changes.

(Significant changes to the definition of AGI, for example, were made in the Tax Reform Act

of 1986.) Further, Family Economic Income includes all income of all family members for all

Cunilies; AGI is reported oa tax returns, which are not filed by a significant number of families

with AGIs below the tax filing thresholds, while some families have two or more filing units

(each of which reports only its port of the family's AGI).

For lower- and middle-incoine families, over 90 percent of Family Economic Income on average

is included in AGI or is in other forms of cash income, and over 9S percent is in cash or fringe

benefits. Only for high-income families, those with Family Economic Incomes of $100,(XX) or

more, do non-cash fmns of income rqnesent a meaningful share of the total.

Professional tax economists at universities, in research centers, and in State go^'^mments all use

broad income meuures in distribution tables. The Congressional Joint Commi x on Taxation

(JCTT) and the Congressional Budget Office (CBO) also use measures of income considerably

broader than AGI in their distribution tables. The Treasury Department has used Family

Economic Income continuously in its distribution tables since 1984, and used a very similar

concept in distribution tables during the Ford Administration.

The Treasury Department continues to believe that a distribution table using AGI as the income

measure would confuse, rather than clarify, assessment of the Administration's revenue

proposals.

2. (>ucinipn: what is the eUgibility for the Earned Income Tax Credit (ETTQ by AGI class

for returns by filing status and, within each filing status, for filers with and without children?

What is the impact of the energy tax and the proposed increases in the ETTC, Low Income

Home Energy Assistance Program (LIHEAP), and foodstamps by income class?

AnSKfiC The enclosed table (Enclosure 1) shows, by AGI class up to $30,(XX) and over

(above $30,000 of AGI no returns are eligible for the ET O for joint returns filed by couples
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with children, head of household returns with children, jo nt letums without children, and other

returns (single, manied filing separate, and head of household without children) the percentage

of returns in each cat^ory that are eligible for the ETTC.

The second enclosed table (Enclosure 2) shows, by income class and for each year from 1994

through 1997, the average monthly impact of the Administration's entire revenue proposal,

including the energy tax and the proposed increases in the ETTC, LIHEAP, and foodstamps.

The table shows that on average over the 1994-1997 period, Sunilies with incomes of less than

$30,(XX) will receive a tax cut of $2 per month, and femilies in the $30,(X)0 to $50,CX)0 income

class will have a tax increase of $10 per month.

3. fhlffiffjp"' Will indexing the energy tax rate fcH- inflation result in automatic tax increases

for low- and middle-income taxpayers and increase the incentive for government to pursue

inflationary policies? Is an automatic increase in tax rate built into any other tax?

Answer Indexing of the energy tax rate may result in nominal tax increases for ^milies

at all income levels. The energy tax burden relative to income for each family, however, should

remain the same as incomes rise (and actually decrease to the extent the tax encourages energy

efficiency and the use of lower-taxed fuels).

Indexing the tax does not increase the incentive for government to pursue inflationary policies.

Inflationary policies would increase government expenditures as much as government revenues,

thus resulting in no net revenue to the government. Prior to 1985, unindexed exemptions and

rate brackets caused government revenues to increase fisSSL than the rate of inflation, whereas

with indexation the energy tax rate will rise only at the same rate as inflation.

The only other tax that includes an automatic increase in ra s is the tax on ozone-depleting

chemicals, which provides for increases of 45 cents per year after the phase-in period. All

taxes, however, are equal to the tax rate multiplied by the tax base. For many taxes the tax base

is effectively indexed for inflation. These taxes include ad valorem excises OLg*. the luxury

excise tax, the telephone excise tax, and the air transportation excise tax), the income tax, estate

and gift taxes, and payroll taxes.

4. Question: How did Treasury calculate the regional impacts of the energy tax? How does

this relate to the Treasury's figures for the impact of the entire package of revenue proposals?

Answer The enclosed table (Enclosure 3) provides information on the regional impacts

of the Administration's proposed energy tax when the rates are fully phased in (July 1, 1996).

The first column of the table shows by Census r^on the dollar amount of tax that would be

paid on a per capita basis. The second column of the table expresses the tax as a percent of

disposable personal income in each region. The third and fourth columns show the same

information as the first two columns, but expressed as a percent of the national average. A map

showing Census regions and data from the second column follows the table.

The table is based ofv IXpartment of Energy data on energy consumption (in Btus) by energy

source, sector (residential, commercial, industrial, and tran^xntation), and area, and Department

of Commerce data on population and di^XMable personal income by area. The applicable energy

tax rates were first applied to each energy source for eadi sector. The total tax for each sector

was then allocated by ^wmii region in the following manner, which is meant to reflea the

underlying assumption that the entire energy tax will be fully passed forward to households.

Taxes on 100 percent of residential energy consumption, 50 percent of commercial energy

consumption, and 80 percent of motor gasolbie tTan^x>rtation consumption were allocated to the

Census region where the energy was consumed. Taxes on the remaining 50 percent of

commercial energy consumption and 20 percent of motor gasoline consumption, as well as 100

percent of taxes on industrial energy consumption and on ixm-mottH' gasoline transportation

consumption were assumed to be borne by househdds in proportion to their total consumption
of all products, and allocated by Census r^on on the basis of each it^oa's share of aggregate

di^x>sable perMnal income.
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The total amount of energy tax allocated to a region was then divided by the total population in

the r^ion to obtain the first column of the attached table. The second column of the table was

obtained by dividing the total amount of energy tax allocated to a r^on by the amount of

disposable penonal income in the region.

There are no diacrepandes in the figures Treasury has released on the regional impact of the

energy tax and on the impact of the Administration's total revenue proposal (see the answer to

question 2, above). Both sets of figures include the total (direct and indirect) effect of the

energy tax. The regioaal figures, however, do not take into account the offsets to the energy

tax (such as die expansion of the ETTC), whereas these offsets are taken into account in the

income distribution table (Enclosure 2).

5. Question: Why art Treasury's revenue estimates for the energy tax lower than private

estimates? Would Treasury oppose a further increase in the energy tax?

Answer The revenue estimates prepared by Treasury (and the Joint Committee) for the

energy tax are net of the 'income offset,* which is the reduction in income and employment

taxes because GDP and the price level are assumed to be unchanged in making the estimates (the

assumption is standard for making all Budget estimates, including all revenue estimates). Note

that in Treasury figures showing the effect of the energy tax on product prices and consumen

(e.g., in the.regional impacts shown in Enclosure 3), the figures are not reduced by the 'income

offset'
•

The Administration has not proposed any future increases in die energy tax, and has no plans

at this time to propose such an increase.

6. Question : Does any other major industrialized nation impose a specific broad-based

energy tax? If so, what are they, and do they offer offsetting manufacturing subsidies?

Answer Currently, the Scandinavian countries and Belgium have bi laa-based energy

taxes. These taxes provide some reductions for manu£icturen and other usen. For example,

manufacturers and farmers are taxed at 25 percent of the base rate of the Swedish carbon tax

(which is substantially higher than the proposed U.S. energy tax). No energy tax is imposed

at the border 00 non-energy imports, and no rebate is made for exports, under these taxes.

The proposed EC carbon/Btu tax. which would phase in over ten years, would be much higher

than the proposed U.S. tax. It would provide reductions in tax fw energy-intensive industries

(defined as industries with high ratios of energy costs to value-added); these reductions could

be as high as 90 percent The proposed U.S. energy tax, however, when fiilly phased in, would

tax fossil fuels at rates that are 70 to 83 percent lower than the proposed EC tax when fully

phased in. Therefore, even with the largest possible reductioos, the proposed EC tax would be

about as large as the proposed U.S. tax. The EC tax would not provide bender tax adjustments

for imports or expoits.

I

Question : Is this tax 'import neutral' so diat U.S. taamifactann are not placed at a

disadvantage in the international marketplace? Won't this proposed energy tax place an

additional burden on U.S. manufacturers that will not be borne by their foreign competitors?

Is there any way to quantify the impact these increased costs would have on our international

competitiveness?

Answer: The Administration's proposed Btu tax would raise manufacturing production

costs by an avenge of just 0. 1 percent This is unlikely to hurt the competitive position of most

U.S. exporters. Even for the most energy-intensive industries, the Btu tax will increase

production costs by no more than 4 percent Offsetting this increase, other elements of the

Administration's economic proposals, especially deficit reduction, have already p^uced interest

rates and thus will reduce capital costs for exporting industries.

The Ways and Means Committee bill would reduce the effect of the tax on domestic producers.
The bill includes exemptions from the supplement rate for diesel and gasoline used on farms and
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a feedstock exemption for decthdty used in electrolytic processes. In addition, the Ways and

Means Committee bill provides a border adjustment on imporu of energy-intensive products.

Question: What would be the average increase in the price of an American automobile

as a result of the energy tax?

Answer By 1998, when die energy tax is fully implemented, the average price of a new

car will increase $64 as a result of direct and indirect effects of the energy tax. This rise in the

average price of a new car reflects the direct and indirect effects of increases in the price of

input m^erials — fabricated metal, rubber, glass, machinery, other transportation equipment and

a host of other industrial commodities which go into the (mxhiction of a car.

7. f^|*><tit>n- WiU the energy tax disproportionately affect lower-income elderly?

Answer Lower-income elderly, wh( n dve a substantial amount of their income from

Social Security benefits, will at most be mcdestiy affected by the energy tax. Even middle-

income elderly will be substantially protected from the enei:gy tax.

The energy tax will not reduce die purchasing power of Social Security benefits, because the

automatic COLA (inflatioo indexing) will ofhet any effect of the energy tax on the real value

of Social Security benefits. (Notethatif prices do not rise due to the energy tax. Social Security

benefits will likewise purchase the same real amount of goods and services.) Some elderly also

receive fiilly ot partially indexed pensions, and will be protected at least to some extent by

adjustments to this income source as well. As a result, low- and middle-income elderly will not

experience any reduction in their real incomes due to the ener;gy tax to the extent their income

consists of Social Security benefits and indexed pension benefits.

In addition, the low-income elderly will qualify for die Administration's proposed expansions

of LIHEAP and of food stamps. Moreover, low-income elderly workers without children, and

low- and modeiate-inoome elderly worken with qualifying children, will also qualify for the

Administratioo's proposed expansions to die ETTC.

8. nii^<rinii» Why has die Administration proposed diat die energy tax be levied at die city

gate, collected by the local distribution company and remitted to die Treasury by the pipelines?

Would coUectioa fitom die end user be more administratively efficient and better promote energy

conservation?

Answer In the Ways and Means Committee bill, die ultimate user of natural gas

generally is liable for the tax. In the case of natural gas removed from an LDC by an ultimate

user, the LDC collects die tax and is generally secondarily liable for die tax to the extent that

die user does not pay the tax to the LDC. For: 'tural gas removed direcdy ftom a non-LDC

pipeline by an ultimate user, the pipeline operate, collecu die tax (but is not secondarily liable

for die tax).

9. ()^^f^tinn• h your pToposal to have die interstate nabiral gas pipeline remit to die

Treasury the tax they collect from local distribution companies or end-users workable given the

Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (FERC) ordered restructuring of the interstate natural

gas pipeline industry under their order 636? Since gas transmission is now a complex set of

transactions between numerous parties with the number of transactions for a single delivery of

gas easily reaching a dozen, is it realistic to think that the pipeline is in the best position to remit

die tax to-die Treasury?

Answer The Ways and Means Committee bill provides diat for natural gas removed

direcdy from a non-LDC pipeline by an ultimate user, the pipeline operator collects die tax from

die end user (but is not secondarily liable for die tax). For nabiral gas removed ftom an LDC

by an ultimate user, die LDC collecu die tax firom die user and is generally secondarily liable

for die tax. The Committee bill provides for both tax-free transfers to certain registered

recipients and for downstream refunds.
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10. QiiCiBl"**- yftat provisions of the Administratioii plan will prevent young single

taxpayen with $11,000 of adjusted gross income (AGI) and young childless married couples

with S 16,000 of AGI from experiencing tax increases? What is the lowest level of AGI at which

a tax increase, net of proposed offsets, could occur?

Answer The Administration recognizes that deficit reduction entails tax increases for

many taxpayers. The Administration's program includes a number of specific proposals that

offset die effect of tax increases for low-income households (Lfi., increased fimding for LIHEAP
and food stamps and expansion of the ETTC). Although families with children will receive much

of the relief provided under these proposals, low-income single and childless taxpayers may also

benefit

Young tasqnyen will benefit disproportionately horn deficit reduction. Today's deficit

reduction efforts will lower tax burdeiu for young taxpayen in their peak earning years.

Moreover, young taxpayers are generally net borrowers and wiU benefit immediately from lower

interest rates. Although not put of the budget plan, the educational assistance proposed in the

Administratioa's national service plan will also disproportionately benefit young taxpayers.

The lowest level of AGI at which a tax increase, net of proposed offsets, could occur is

zero. For namptr, an individual with tax-exempt interest income of S200,000 and no other

income has no AGL That individual would not qualify for the ETTC, LIHEAP, or food stamps,

and would bev tbe ftiU burden of the energy tax.

11. Question: What is the additional monthly burden of the energy tax on families?

AlUfil ^1. Enclosure 2 shows, by income class and for each year from 1994 through 1997,

the average iv ^nthly impact of the Administration's entire revenue proposal, including the total

(direct and indirect) effects of the energy tax. The table shows that for fomilies in the 530,000
to $50,000 income class, with average incomes of about $40,000, the effect of the

Administration's entire revenue proposal will be a tax increase of $17 per month in 1997 when
the energy and other taxes are fully phased in.

12. OuCTtiOli; Does Treasury agree with Senator Conrad's estimates that the energy tax,

when fully phased in, for an average family form in North Dakota will be $1,200 per year?
How were the estimates cited by Treasury, that the energy tax would add 0.4 percent to

agricultural 'production costs and 0.1 percent to overall manufacturing costs, derived? Has

Treasury attempted to estimate the impact of the energy tax on the international competitiveness
of agriculture and manufacturing?

Answer Senator Conrad's estimate is for a typical North £>akota grain farm of 1,264

acres, with 610 acres in wheat, 180 in barley, 60 in oats, 160 in sunflowers or oilseeds, and 254

acres fallow. Based on USDA estimates of the cost of the energy tax per acre in North Dakota

for various crops, the Treasury estimates that the total annual effect of the fully phased in energy

tax, as prcqx>sed by the Administration and mo if? d by the Ways and Means Committee, on the

typical North Dakota grain farm, including th : househ(^d, used in Senator Conrad's example
would be $382. Note that these estimates do not take into account increased energy conservation

by the fanner in response to the tax. Further, comparison of tbe cost estimates to net form

income implicitly assumes that ail farm product prices will remain constant rather than reflecting

the increased farm costs due to the energy tax. In addition, the estimates do not take into

account the effect of offsets to the energy tax, such as the increase in the ETTC. Using an

average family farm income of $17,600, the inrwaw in the ETTC for a fomily with two or more

children under the Administration's proposal will be $961.

The estimate for the impact of the energy tax on overall manufocturing costs was made by the

Dqnrtment of Energy using data from the Dqartment of Commerce on direct energy purchases
and total production costs for manufacturers. >^>plying

«-Hmaw»i of the cost increases for energy

purchases due to the fully phaaed-in energy tax to the energy purchase data resulted in an

estimate that direct energy purchases as a share of total production costs would increase from
2.6 percent to 2.7 percent, an inctcue of 0. 1 percent Note that increased energy conservation

by manufocturers in response to the tax is not taken into account in these estimates.
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The rtfiwm'y for the impact of the energy tax on agricultunl costs is based on USDA data on

farm productioo costs by type, including direct energy eaqiendituTes. An>lying estimates of the

cost increase due to the fully phaaed-in energy tax to the energy expenditure data resulted in an

estimate that diiect eneigy expenditures as a share of total Cum production costs would increase

from 5.8 percent to 6.2 percent, an increase of 0.4 percent Note that increased energy

conservatioo by fiumen in response to the tax is not taken into account in these estimates.

The Treasury Department has not made direct estimates of die effiect of the energy tax on the

international competitiveness of die manufacturinf and agricultural sectors. However, we do

not believe the overall inqncts will be large, givi die relatively small impacts of the tax on

production costs. Further, the energy tax and other elements of die Administration's deficit

reduction proposals have already reduced interest rates, making our exporting sectors more

competitive by reducing their capital costs. In addition, it should be noted that even with the

energy tax fully in place, energy prices in the United States will remain the lowest or second

lowest (depending on the type of energy) in the G-7 countries. Moreover, as stated in the

response to question 6, the Ways and Means Committee bill provides a border adjustment on

imports of energy-intensive products.

13. f>n^""' ^^'hat is Treasury's estimate of the impact of the energy tax on GDP?

Answer The Treasury Department has not made any estimates of the impact of the

energy tax on GDP or other macroecooomic variables. The energy tax is only one component

of die Administration's total Budget proposal. We believe that the impact of the overall Budget

proposal on die economy should be quite favorable. The proq>ect of lower future deficits due

to the proposals have already led to lower interest rates, rediucing die cost of c^tal for business,

and mortgage interest and other borrowing costs fo* families. Investment initiatives in the

Budget should also encourage economic growth an^ productivity.

Enclosure 1

Percentage of Returns Eligible for the EITC
Under the Adminstration's Proposal (1)

-

Adjusted
Gross
Income

(000)



130

Enclosure 2

AdminisuaUon's Ravmiu* Pachag*. Taking Account of

PhSM hi ol Energy Tax and QaaoUna Tax Extanslon (1)

(1994 IncoiM Lavala)

Family Economic
Incoma ClBM (2)—eswu^

Numborol
FamiHas

(MMlona) 1994

Avraga Tax Par Famliy Par Monih

1995 1996 1997
•Avaraga
1994-1997

0-10
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DEPARTMENT OF THE TREASURY
WASHINGTON. DC.
.Tunc 15, i?9?.

SECRETARY OF THE TREASURY

The Honorable John D. Rockefeller IV
United States Senate
Washington, D.C. 20510

Dear Jay:

I appreciated the opportunity to describe in detail the
Administration's proposed modified Btu tax in my recent testimony
before the Senate Finance Committee. I am happy to respond to

your follow-up letter of April 23, which asked for my comments on
correspondence you received from Mr. George B. Kitchens,
President of West Virginia Power.

Mr. Kitchens asked whether the Treasury Department had thought
about the problems of taxing farm-tap gas ( i.e. . natural gas that
is provided to a farmer from a tap into a pipeline that crosses
the farmer's land). A limited amount of fam-tap gas is provided
free of charge in exchange for the pipeline right of way, and the
remainder is sold to the farmer either directly by the pipeline
or by the local distribution company (LDC) that meters the gas
delivered to the farmer.

The Administration's proposed tax, as modified by the Ways and
Means Committee, is imposed on the person receiving the natural
gas when it is removed from the pipeline (including an LDC
pipeline) unless it is removed into another registered pipeline.
The tax is collected by the pipeline from which the gas is
removed and, in the case of gas removed from an LDC pipeline, the
LDC is generally secondarily liable for the tax. It is our
understanding that these rules were developed by the Ways and
Means Committee in response to concerns expressed to the
Committee by the American Gas Association and a number of its
ncnbcr LDCs .

Under these rules, the tax on gas that a farmer receives free of

charge or purchases directly from the pipeline would be imposed
on the farmer and would be collected by the pipeline. The LDC
would not be secondarily liable for this tax because the gas is
not removed from the LDCs pipeline system. If, however, the LDC
receives the gas for resale to the farmer, the ways and Means
proposal is unclear regarding who would be liable for the tax—
the farmer or the LDC, and who would be responsible for
collection—the pipeline or the LDC.

Mr. Kitchens noted that in some cases farm-tap gas may not be
metered. Neither the Administration's bill nor the Ways and
Means' proposal requires the installation of meters where none
currently exist. We assume, however, that pipelines and LDCs
will use reasonable estimating procedures in determining the
amount of gas delivered to unmetered customers.

Mr. Kitchens also asked how many farm taps there are in the
United States, and how many are not metered. We forwarded this
question to the Energy Information Administration (EIA) , which
collects energy data for the government. EIA has informed us
that it cannot quantify either the number of farm taps or the
extent to which they may be unmetered.

I am sending a copy of this letter to Chairman Moynihan, so that
he has a complete record of the testimony and follow-up
questions.

Sincerely,
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Response of Secretary Bentsen to a Question SuBMnrED by Senator Riegu:

IMPACT OF ENERGY TAX ON MICHIGAN

Question : What is the Treasury Department's analysis of the assertions made in the maiier

prepared by the Consumers Power Company of Michigan? (Senator Riegle)

Answer : The mailer asserts that the Administration's proposed energy tax would: (1) raise

energy bills approximately SI 50 per year and the cost of goods and services by
S250 per year, for a totaJ cost of S400 per year; (2) reduce the global

competitiveness of Michigan businesses; (3) increase inflation and interest rates;

and (4) particularly hurt states like Michigan that have more severe weather and

energy-intensive manufacturers. The Treasury's analysis of each of these

assertions is as follows.

1. Cost Michigan Families S400 Per Year . The Treasury- Department has not

made estimates of the impact of the energy tax on typical families in each slate.

However, it has estimated the impact, on families at each income level, of the

Administration's entire revenue proposals, including the direct and indirect effects

of the proposed energy t2x. Those estimates indicate that for a typical family
v,'ith an income of about 140,000 the total cost of the Administration's proposals,
when the energy tax is fully phased in, will be S198 per year (a little less than

S17 per month). (This figure is essentially unchanged by the Ways and Means
Committee amendments to the Administration's projxjsal.) The Treasury

Depanment has also prepared estimates of the total (direct and indirect) impact
of the energy tax, when fully phased in, by geographic region. Those estimates

indicate that the impact on a per capita basis in the East North Central Region,
which includes Michigan, will be identical to the national average. This suggests
that the i.mpact of the .Administration's entire revenue proposals, including ihc

energy tax, on a typical family in Michigan with S40,000 of income may be

closer to the national iiverage of $198 per year than to the S400 figure given in

the mailer.

2. Reduce the Global Competitiveness of Michigan Businesses . The proposed

energy tax will raise manufacturing production costs by an average of just 0.1

percent. This is unlikely to hurt the competitive f)osition of most U.S.
businesses. Further, the energy tax and other elements of the Administration's

deficit reduction proposals have already reduced interest rates, making U.S.

businesses more competitive by reducing their cost of capital. The
.Administration's investment initiatives should also improve the competitive

position of U.S. businesses. In addition, it should be noted that even with the

proposed energy tax fully in place, energy prices in the United States will remain

the lowest or second lowest (depending on the type of energy) in liie G-7
rniintries. Finally, the House bill impose.*; a border tax on imports of energy-
intensive products. Thus, domestically manufactured products will not be

disadvantaged relative to impons.

3. Increase Inflation and Interest Rates . As noted in the response to assertion 2,

the proposed energy tax, by lowering expectations of future deficits, has helped
reduce interest rates. There is every reason to expect that interest rates will

continue to be lower than they would have been without the deficit reduction

effect of the energy lax. As to infiation, the proposed energy tax may lead to

very modest, one-time increases in the price level as it is phased in over three

years. Infiaiion is defined by economists as a sustained increase in the price

level. There is no reason to expect the possible one-time increases in the price

level as the energy tax phases in to lead to sustained price level increases. So,

while prices might increase by the amount of the energy lax, the tax would nol

meet economists' definition of being infiationary.
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4. Particularly Hurt Michigan. The proposed modified Blu energy tax was
chosen over other forms of energy taxes in part because of its regional balance.

As noted in the response to assertion 1, Treasury's estimates of the geographic

impact of the proposed energy lax indicate that the impact on the region that

includes Michigan is right ai the national average. Our analysis, therefore, is that

the tax will not particularly impact Michigan, or any other State.

Responses of Secretary Bentsen to Questions Submitted by Senator Breaux

DOMESTIC OIL

Ouestion : Won't the energy tax cause a decline in domestic oil production before it reduces

imports because domestic oil is more expensive to produce and production costs

for domestic oil will be increased by the tax? (Senator Breaux)

Answer : Domestic production at current levels will not become uneconomical because of

the tax.

The effect of the tax on production costs is minimized by a number of

exemptions.

• Crude oil or natural gas used, on the premises where it is produced, to

produce crude oil or natural gas is exempt.

• Natural gas and coal used in enhanced oil recovery for heavy oil is

exempt.

e Oil and retined petroleum products used in a refinery arc exempt.

Domestic production at current cost levels will not become uneconomical because

of the tax.

• The Department of Energy projects that the tax will reduce crude oil

prices in the year 2000 by less than one percent.

• Even with this reduction, the Department of E.nergy projects that crude oil

prices in the year 2000 will be nearly 15 percent above their 1990 levels.

Oil imports, rather than domestic production, will decrease because the tax will

reduce U.S. consumption of oil, without any significant effect on U.S. production
of oil.

• Reduced U.S. consumption will lead to a drop in world oil production.

• The drop in world oil production will be either spreaa uniformly across

all producing countries (if OPEC tries to maintain market share) or

concentrated in OPEC countries (if OPEC tries to maintain price level:).

Under the House bill, imported refined petroleum products will be subject to a

border adjustment tax for embedded energy costs. Thus, dom.estic refir.ec

products will not h** disadvantaged relative ir» impels.
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CHEMICAL INDUSTRY

Question : Will the energy lax, like the originai version of the Superfund lax, seriously

reduce the ability of the domestic chemical industry to compete with foreign

manufacturers? (Senator Breaux)

Answer : Although the chemical industry is energy intensive, the tax will increase domesiic

production costs by less than one percent.

The effect of the energy tax on petrochemical production is minimized by the

exemption for feedstocks.

In many cases, the effect of the energy tax will be subsunlially less than the

Superfund tax, which in some cases approached S5.00 per ton.

As a capital-intensive industry, chemicals will derive greater than average benefits

from the lower interest costs which have already resulted from the President's

deficit reduction package and from ihe Administration's proposed allcrnaliv:

minimum tax relief.

Under the House bill, a border tax is imposed on imports of energy-intensive

products. Thus, domestically manufactured primary products will not be

disadvantaged relative to imports.

Response of Secretary Bentsen to a Question Submitted by
Senator Packwood

ENERGY TAX ON FAMILIES WITH INCOMES UNDER $75,000

Question : Docs the Treasury agree with the CBO figure that 70 percent of tiie energy tax

falls on people who make S75,000 or less? (Senator Packwood)

Answer : The energy tax is one component of the Administration's revenue proposals, and

it is the distributional effect of ihe entire package of proposals, rather ihan a

particular component, that we believe is relevant to consideration of the package.

The Treasury's distributional analysis of the Administration's fully phased in

revenue proposals (including the offseu to the energy tax ~ increases in the

Earned Income Tax Credit, and increased funding for the Low-Income Home

Energy Assistance Program and Food Stamps) show that only 20 percent of the

revenue changes will be paid by families with incomes of 575,000 or less. A
CBO disiribuiio.ial analysis of the Administration's revenue prop<isals shows that

less than 18 percent of the revenue changes will be paid by families with incomes

of 575,000 or less.

CBO has produced a distributional analysis of the energy tax net of offsets, a.;

proposed by the Administration, that shows thai a little over half (54 percent)

would be paid by families making 575,000 or less. As indicated above, liowever,

we believe that the relevant distributional analysis is for the package as a 'A-holc.

To illustrate the impact of the energy tax, Treasury has provided examples for

four-person families at various income levels below 575,000. For example, when

fully phased in, the impact uf ihe energy tax, as propc-sed by the Adrniniitralion,

on the direct energy expenditures of a four-person family with income of 540,(XX)

will be 59.50 per month. Tlie comparable figure under the House bill is 59.49.
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Responses of Secretary Bentsen to Questions Submitted by

Senator Danforth

ADDITIONAL TAXES FOR HEALTH CARE

Question : Will the Administration's health care plan require additional taxes on top of the

S295 billion revenue increase in the Adminisiraiion's economic plan? (Senator

Danforth)

Answer : The Administration's health care plan is still being formulated, and thus it would

be inappropriate to comment at this time on specific revenue requirements. The

health care plan has two basic objectives: keeping down the cost of health care,

which has been growing at an unsustainable rate, and providing access to health

care to all Americans.

VALUErADDED TAX AND ENERGY TAX

Question : Given that a value-added tax (VAT) has been considered as a mechanism for

funding health care reform, does a separate energy tax make sense, and should

they be considered piecemeal? (Senator Danforth)

Answer : Although a variety of different taxes, including a VAT, were reviewed by

members of the Administration's health reform usk force as potential methods of

financing health care reform, a VAT is not now actively under consideration.

The imposition of a Btu energy tax is designed to meet objectives different from

a VAT (aside from generating revenues needed to help reduce the deficit). In

particular, a Btu energy tax is expected to reduce our demand for imported oil

and encourage the development of processes that are less environmentally

damaging. Moreover, it can be put in place more rapidly, and with a less costly

administrative infrastructure, than can a VAT. In sum, an energy lax is clearly

an appropriate iiem to be considered to cut the deficit, encourage conservation,

and reduce dependence on foreign oil.

ADMINISTRATIVE COST OF TAXES

Question : Isn't it more efficient from the government's and taxpayer's perspective lo

enforce and comply with a single broad-based consumption lax rather than wiih

the maze of taxing systems we currently operate under - ihe corporate income

tax, the individual income tax, Ihe payroll tax system, excise taxes, and a

potential energy tax and VAT? (Senator Danforth)

Answer : Although administering a single broad-based consumption tax would be less costly

than administering a set of different taxes, the benefits of relying on several

different taxes greatly exceed the additional administrative costs incurred. First,

the rate of tax for the single consumption tax would have to be much higher than

current tax rates if the single tax is to generate the same revenue. Since the

distortive aspects of a tax tend to increase more than proportionately with the lax

rate, it is likely that the economic losses due to such distortionary effects will be

greater for a single lax. Second, reliance on a single ux would subject federal

receipts to greater fiuciuations due to changing economic conditions. Third, a

broad-based consumption tax is inherently regres.":ive, and while it can be made
somewhat less regressive through the use of varying tax rates on different goods
and services, such mechanism is quite limited and creates significant

administrative complexity of its own. On the other hand, by expending the

current earned income tax credit (EITC) provision of the individual income lax,

the regressivity of the proposed Btu energy tax can be offset far mere effectively.
In short, though it is more complex, relying on several different taxes (each wiJi

moderately low tax rates) provides greater fiexibility and better meets ihe various

objectives of our tax system.



137

COMPETITIVENESS EFFECTS OF TAXES TO FUND HEALTH CARE REFORM

Question:

Answer :

Ouestion :

Answer :

Has the Administration considered the impact on the competitiveness of U.S.

businesses of new taxes needed to fund health care reform? (Senator Danforth)

Since the Administration's health care program is still being developed, it would

be inappropriate at this lime to comment on the potential revenues that might be

required. Nevertheless, for many U.S. companies, health care currently

represents a significant portion of total labor costs. Getting health care costs

under control, and limiting the cost-shifting that characterizes our present system

of care, is likely to prove very beneficial to U.S. businesses, especially those

engaged in international trade.

GATT LEGAL BORDER ADJUSTMENTS FOR ENERGY TAX

Is it possible to design a GATT legal border adjustable energy tax? What would

be the features of such a tax and was it considered by the Administration?

(Senator Danforth)

The Administration is considering border adjustmenu for the energy tax and

welcomes suggestions on this issue.

The United States Trade Representative (USTR) believes that border adjustments

for the energy tax, such as the import tax included in the House bill, are

defensible under GATT.

The rule in the House bill might be problematic if applied to exports. USTR
believes, however, that a border adjustment for both imports and exports (i.e. .

a tax on imports and a rebate on exports) would be defensible if limited io

primary, semi-finished, and agricultural products and, in the case of manufactured

products, is further limited to the average energy tax on direct energy inpuu used

in the primary production process. Limiting the rebate on manufactured products

to taxes imposed only at the primary (and generally most energy intensive) stage

of production would differentiate such an export adjustment from adjustments

found to violate GATT because they involve so-called "cascading taxes" on

multiple stages of production. In the case of agricultural products, such a

limitation is unnecessary because export rebates for agricultural products are legal

under GATT.

TAXES APPLIED TO BOTH IMPORTED AND DOMESTICALLY-PRODUCED GOODS

Ouestion : Doesn't it make sense that if we arc going to increase taxes, we should do it in

a way that applies lo both foreign and U.S. produced goods and manufacturers?

(Senator Danforth)

Answer : We agree that any excise tax imposed on domestic products should apply equally

to imported products. In the case of taxes that are not imposed directly on a

product, but instead are embedded in its cost of production, we similarly believe

it is appropriate to equalize the tax burden between domestic and imported

products to the extent consistent with our international obligations and

administrative feasibility.
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Response of Secretary Bentsen to a Question Submitted by
Senators Baucus and Hatch

TAX BURDENS ON WESTERN AND EASTERN COAL

Question : Is the tax burden on Western coal three times greater than the tax burden on

Eastern coal? (Senators Baucus and Hatch)

Answer : Using what we believe to be the appropriate measure of the tax burden on coal,

the differential between Eastern and Western coal is quite small.

Most Western coal is low-sulphur, low-ash subbituminous coal, which has a

higher moisture content and a lower Blu content than the bituminous coal

produced in the East. Because the tax on coal is based on actual Btu content

multiplied by the basic tax rate (26.8 cents per million Blu's under the House

bill), the average tax on Western subbituminous coal is S4.67 per ton compared
to an average tax of S6.41 per ton for Eastern bituminous coal.

Almost all Western subbituminous coal production and about 70 percent of

Eastern bituminous coal production is used by electric utilities. The most direct

corr.pciition between Western and Eastern coal is for the Midwestern electric

utility market.

On average, the tax on Western subbituminous coal will be about 20 percent of

the price paid by utilities, and the tax on Eastern bituminous coal will be about

17.4 percent of the price paid by utilities (using 1991 prices).

The tax, as a percentage of price paid by utilities, is the appropriate measure of

the relative tax burdens on Western and Eastern coal.

• Under the House bill, the tax on coal received by an electric utility is

passed through to end users in the form of a lax on electricity.

• It is the amount of the tax relative to the price utilities pay for coal that

determines the effect of the tax on the competitive position of Western

coal relative to Eastern coal.

• As noted above, the tax as a percentage of the price paid by utilities for

Western subbituminous coal is only slightly higher than the tax as a

percentage of the price utilities pay for Eastern bituminous coal.

• The Department of Energy projects a negligible amount of switching
between Eastern and Western coal due to the tax.

Response of Secretary Bentsen to a Question Submitted by Senator Hatch

IMPACT OF ENERGY TAX ON FOUR-PERSON FAMILY

Question : Could Treasury explain the seeming discrepancy among ilie figures that have been

released on the impact of the energy tax on a four-person family? (Senator

Hatch)

Answer : There are no discrepancies between the figures Treasur)' has released on the

impact of the energy tax on a four-person family and other data that Treasury has

released on the impact of the energy tax and on the impact of the

Administration's total revenue proposals. These other data are not for four-

person families, and that appears to be the source of the seeming discrepancy.
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Treasury has released examples of ihe impact of ihe energy tax, when fully

phased in, on the direct enerpv expendit-ires of a four-nerson family . (Direct

energy expenditures are gasoline, natural gas, home heating oil, and electricity).

These examples are based on average direct energy expenditures for four-person
families at various income levels and the appropriate fully phased-in tax rates on

each energy source. The e.xaTr<pic for a four- person family with fi.miiy economic

income of 540,000 shows that beginning July 1, 1996. when the energy tax is

fully phased in, the tax on the family's direct energy expenditures would have

been S9.50 per month under the Administration's proposal. (Under the House

bill, this figure is 59.49 per month.)

Treasury has also released a table, a copy of which is enclosed, that ."?hows the

average tax change per family per month by income class for the years 1994

through 1997 for the Administration's entire revenue package , i ncludin? the direct

and indirect effects of the energy tax . These monthly averages are for all families

in each income class, and not just for four-person families. The table shows that

in 1997, when the energy tax is fully phased in, the impact of the

Administration's entire revenue package on the average family in the 530,000 to

550,000 income class (for which the average income is quite close to 540,000)

will be 517 per month. This is the t'lgure that President Clinton cued in his State

of the Union Address on February 17. This figure is unchanged under the House

bill.

Treasury has in addition released its estimates of the total (direc t and indirec!^

impac t of the energv tax bv region . The attached table provides tliese regional

impact estimates using fully phased-in (July 1, 1996) rates under the

Administration's proposal (before modifications by the Ways and Means

Commiuee). Tlic firs: coiumn of the Uib'.e shows by Cer.sus rogicr. the dollsr

amount of tax that would be paid on a per capita basis. The second column of

the table expresses the tax as a per cent of disposable persona! incorr.s in each

region. The third and fourth columns show the same information as the first two

columns, but expressed as a percent of the national average. A map showing

Census regions and data from the second column follows the table. The first

column of the table shows, for example, that in the Mountain Region, which

includes Utah, the per capita amount of the energy tax, including all direct and

indirect effects, is estimated to be S104 per year (or 58.67 per month). The per

capita amount is obtained by dividing the total amount of energy tax allocated to

the region by the region's total population. The per capita amount cannot be

multiplied by the number of persons in a family to obtain a family amount,

because energy consumption generally increases more slowly as family size

increases.

Response of Secretary Bentsen to a Question SuBMnrED by Senator Wallop

OIL IMPORTS

Question : Will the energy tax increase oil imports? (Senator wallop)

Answer : The Department of Energy projects that the energy tax, as amended in the House

I bill, will reduce oil imports in the year 2000 by more than 350,000 barrels a day.

i • Even with the tax, imjxjrts will increase, but by a smaller amount.

Oil imports will decrease because the tax will reduce U.S. consumption of oil,

without any significant effect on U.S. production of oil.

• Reduced U.S. consumption will lead to a drop in world oil production.

• The drop in worid oil production will be either spread uniformly across

all producing countries (if OPEC tries to mainuin market share) or

concentrated in OPEC countries (if OPEC tries to maintain price levels).
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[Submitted by Senator BiU Bradley]

BILL BRADLEY FINANCE

ENENGV AND
NATURAL RCSOUNCES

SPECIAL COMV-TTEE ON

WASHINGTON. DC 205 10-3O0 1

**"**
Bnitd States Siumt

WASHINGTON. DC 2051 <

April 21, 1993

I>«ar Colleague:

Much has been said over the past three weeks of debate
j

about how best to proBOte growth In our econoay. I think It i

Is l^>ortant for us to reaeaber that the Bost Important
j

groi^h Incentive we can pass In this Congress Is credible
bipartisan deficit reduction. If we continue to pile on
debt, we will place a stranglehi Ir on national Investaent and
ake the United States a second-rate econoalc power. The :

iBpact will be felt aost strongly by our children and our
]

grandchildren. Unless we get our fiscal house In order, GAO
has warned, all of our Incoaes (per capita GMP) will be 40
percent lower In the year 2020 than they otherwise could be.

The President's economic package Is a positive first
step In returning our nation to fiscal sanity, and I support
It. But I think that we can and should li^rove upon the
President's proposal by eliminating the Increamntal
Investment tax credit for large corporations and the
permanent Investment tax credit for small businesses, and
applying the proceeds either to further reduce the deficit or
to lower the top corporate tax rate. I am vrrltlng to enlist
your support for such a change during the reconciliation
process .

The corporate side of the President's package takes from
one class of corporations and gives to another. While we
would raise $31 billion by Increasing the top corporate rate
to 36 percent, we would give $29.5 billion back through the
ITCs. Such corporate redistribution will not stimulate our
economy In aggregate. And to the extent that It Is paid for
either through lower deficit reduction or higher corporate
rates. It will actually harm our economy.

First, only a narrow range of companies will benefit
from the ITCs, $29.5 billion Is a lot to pay for loopholes
that nobody really wants. Investme t tax credits favor
companies that Invest In equipment over those that Invest In
their workers, e.g. through retraining programs. They favor
companies In manufacturing Industries over those In service
and trade industries. They favor older established
businesses over new, entrepreneurial ventures. They favor
companies that can adjust their plans and shift their
investments around over those that have a steady rate of
investment. Most of corporate America would rather we quit
playing favorites and keep their tax rates down or at least
make a downpayment on our staggering national debt.

Second, neither of the credits will stimulate net
long-term investment. Throughout the long history of the
ITCs, one fact has remained true — business men and women in
America will acquire machinery and equlpaent only If It makes
good business sense; they won't Invest simply to get a tax
credit. Although they may appreciate the extra money In
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their pockets \t the end of the day, let's not fool ourselves
Into thlnkli g that we will really be affecting behavior.

Moreover, the credits themselves are extrenely limited.
The permanent credit applies only to firms with "gross
receipts" under $5 million, and even then, the maximum credit
in the out-years would only be 5 percent. Most of these
firms are already tax- favored. A recent report by Jane
Gravel le of the Congressional Research Service Indicated that
under current law the tax rate for large corporations on
corporate capital invested in equipment is twice the rate
faced by unincorporated small businesses. And even if we
pass this credit, the fact is that most of the investment in
plant and equipment will still be made by firms larger than
$5 million.

The problems with the temporary, incremental credit are
even more pronounced. A temporary credit will have no effect
on long-term employment. Indeed, the primary effect of
opening a window like this will be to create a short flurry
of activity followed by an immediate period of lower
investment — a "feel-good today, pay tomorrow" approach.
And we all know the pressure that arises to extend such
"temporary" provisions when they fail to meet their immediate
goals. The primary effect of an incremental credit will be
to reward those companies who have let their investments lag
and punish those who have maintained their Investment.

Finally, these provisions will simply add complexity and
distortion to t^.e tax code and open up opportunities for tax
shelters. The act that we have yet to see final proposals
from the Administration is a testament to the complexity
involved in writing these provisions. How will "qualifying
property" be defined? What "anti-abuse" provisions will be
included? How will "base-periods" for new corporations be
defined? These proposals may end up being a full -employment
act for tax lawyers and accountaifts .

The bottom-line question is who is to decide where our
assets can most productively be placed. Anyone who supports
the ITCs is gambling on the notion that Congress is better at
allocating our scarce resources than markets are. You cannot
In one breath talk about the vitality of the private sector
and in the next breath be calling for narrowly tirgeted tax
breaks .

I plan to offer an amendment during the reconciliation,
process that will strike these provisions. Instead of
spending $29.5 billion for narrow incentives opposed by the
vast majority of corporations, »re should be applying those
funds either to deficit reduction — to free up $29.5 billion
in capital for the entire private sector, or to lowering the
top corporate rate — thereby benefiting all corporations
equally. I hope you will join me in this effort. Please
call Michael Dahl on my staff at 4-3224 for further
information.

Slncerelyi

/lcU.A^
Bill Bradley
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Prepared Statement of John G. Buckley

I. .^iimmary

The New England Fuel Institute ("NEFI") , the Empire State
Petroleum Association ("ESPA"), the Fuel Merchants Association of
New Jersey ("FMA") , the Oregon Petroleum Marketers Association
("OPMA") , the Michigan Marketers Association, ("MMA") , the
Delaware Valley Fuel Oil Dealers Association (Delaware,
Pennsylvania) ("Delaware Valley") , and the Minnesota Petroleum
Association ("MPA") have joined in support of changes to the
Administration's proposed Btu tax that affect the heating oil
industry and its 12 million consumers nationwide. The heating
oil industry is composed primarily of thousands of small, mostly
family owned local enterprises. These firms sell "home heating
oil" to residences, non-profit institutions, municipalities,
businesses, and farmers. They sell No. 2 distillate, kerosene,
on-highway diesel and res:; dual fuel oil. The foregoing
associations alone repr s<. nt more than 3,500 such small heating
oil marketers that are not affiliated with any integrated oil
company .

While the consumers of heating oil are primarily
residential, more than one-half million such consumers are not
homeowners. In every heating oil state, there are many thousands
of schools, hospitals, churches, apartments, businesses and
municipalities that use oil for heat and hot water. In addition,
while most oil used for heat is No. 2 fuel oil, commonly called
home heating oil, a significant amount of kerosene and residual
fuel oil is also used for home heating purposes.

The Treasury proposal, as modified, would exempt only
residential consumers of home heating oil from the supplemental
tax, thereby imposing on residential consumers of other petroleum
fuels and on all non-residential users of heating oil the
supplemental Btu tax rate of 59.9 cents/MMBtu, almost 2 1/2 times
the rate imposed on other consumers.

While the amended proposal is an improvement on Treasury's
initial recommendation, the supplemental Btu tax should not apply
to any consumer of heating oil, whether purely residential, mixed
use, public sector, non-profit;, agricultural or commercial.
Further, the supplemental tax should not apply to any of the
heating fuels, whether No. 2 distillate, kerosene or Nos. 4 and 6
residual fuel. The distinctions established by the amended
proposal have no equitable basis and would impose major
differences in tax burdens on similarly situated consumers.

While the foregoing c inges would treat all heating fuels
consumers fairly, the exemption would be more equitable and
enforceable if it encompassed all off-highway distillate which,
after October 1, 1993, will be a different fuel physically than
No. 2 diesel for highway purposes and will be dyed blue pursuant
to Clean Air Act requirements. This exemption could be more
easily administered and would spare all heating oil users and
farmers the burden of the supplemental tax.

Even with this change, the supplemental Btu tax would impose
a harsh penalty on domestic manufacturers, transporters and
utilities that must rely on petroleum products other than off-
highway distillate. It may even have the perverse effect of
increasing our balance of payments deficit and will have no
noticeable impact on our energy security. Accordingly, the Btu
tax would be simpler, fairer, more regionally balanced and less
economically destructive if the seune rate were applied to all
users of all fuels.
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II. The Treasury Proposal for Heating Oil

As originally proposed by the Administration, the Btu tax
would have m* osed a rate of 59.9 cents/MMBtu on oil consumers,
compared to 2... 7 cents/MMBtu for all other energy users. The
impact on the end-user would be increases of 9 to 12 percent on
heating oil, 23 to 25 percent on residual fuel, about 12 percent
on farm diesel, and only 3 to 5 percent on natural gas and only 3

percent on electricity. Both the Senate and the Treasury have
recognized the harshness of this disparity and have moved to
correct it. The Senate, in an amendment to the Budget
Resolution; and the Treasury, in a change only partly responsive
to the Senate action.

A. Exclusion of Non-Residential Consumers

On March 24, 1993, the Senate adopted a "Sense of the
Senate" amendment, sponsored by Senators Kennedy, Mitchell, and
others, specifically stating that fuels used for home heating
purposes should be exempted from the supplemental Btu tax on oil.
The "Sense of the Senate" amendment was intended by its sponsor
to apply to all users of heating oil, even though commonly called
"home heating oil" users. Senator Kennedy specifically pointed
out the inequity of imposing the higher rate on such institutions
as schools, colleges, and hospitals. The Treasury modification
would exempt "home heating oil" from the supplemental rate, but
apparently would define the term so narrowly as to exclude all
"non-residential" fuel use of> home heating oil, to which it would
apply a "use tax."

Treasury proposes that the person using the product would be
liable for the tax and would remit the tax directly to the
government. This would impose a new federal excise tax
obligation on every school, hospital, church, local government,
store, businesr or doctor's office that uses oil for heat. As a
result, more than 1/2 million "commercial" oil heat users would

become federal excise taxpayers. i' Even with the taxation of
residential heating oil at the basic rate of 25.7 cents/MMBtu,
Treasury points out that the two census regions with the highest
tax per capita remain New England and the mid-Atlantic, at 112
and 104 percent of the national average. As graphically depicted
in Attachment 1, expansion of the exclusion to all users of
heating fuels will certainly bring these two regions closer to
the national average.

B. Exclusion of Residential Kerosene

In the debate on the Kennedy amendment. Senator Mitchell
made clear that it applied to all oil derived home heating fuels,
i icluding kerosene and propane. The modification announced 'y
t .e Treasury on April 1, 1993, would exempt only residenti 1

"home heating oil" from the supplemental tax. This step i^.

unduly restrictive, particularly as the tax affects the r^ral
poor. If the burden on low-income households is to be
ameliorated, it is essential that the supplemental tax not be
applied to kerosene used for home heating. The cost of excluding
such kerosene users from the supplemental tax would be about $22
million/year.

The Economic Opportunity Research Institute recently
analyzed the President's proposed Btu tax and its impact on the
poor. The study concludes that the tax would raise residential

1/ In addition, from 1 to 2 million multi-fzunily units that use
residual fuel, considered comBercial, nay be subject to the
supplemental teue.
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energy costs for low- income households by more than $1 billion !

per year. The study concludes that the tax would be most
burdensome in areas where home heating oil consumers also drive,
particularly in the less densely populated pairts of New England,
New York, the upper Mid-West, and certain parts of the Pacific
Northwest. The average direct impact of the tax on low- income

j

households in these areas would range from $138 to $158 per year
j

and in some cases could be double that amount. 2/
.

A significant portion of this burden on low-income '

households has been lifted by the modification announced by the
Treasury on April 1, 1993. However, much of this burden remains,
primarily because rural, poor* households, particularly in very
cold areas, often use kerosene or propane for home heating, ,

sometimes in combination with No. 2 heating oil.
I

III. The Proper Scope of the Heating Oil Exemption

From the perspective of fairness as well as effective
administration and enforcement, all heating oils should be

subjected to the same tax rate as other heating fuels, such as

coal, electricity or natural gas. Users of all petroleum
products for heating, whether kerosene. No. 2 distillate oil, or
Nos. 4 and 6 residual oil should be taxed at the same rate per
MMBtu. If the base rate is applied to all heating fuels, the

percentage increase in end-user prices would be from 3 to 10 for

heating oils, compared to 3 to 5 for residential gas and

electricity.
]

There should be no distinction for residential or non-
j

residential use. An apartment house in Brookl -n chat uses
residual fuel or a rural residence in Maine the t blends its No. 2 I

oil with kerosene should pay the same rate as the homeowner using
No. 2 distillate, electricity, natural gas or anthracite coal.

Further, the local church, library, business or store, doctor or
dentist office, and police or fire station should pay the same
rate for heating fuel as do similarly situated consumers in other
regions that use other fuels. To distinguish among those
consumers is unfair and an administrative impossibility. The
cost of exempting all of these users from the supplemental tax is
about $250 million/year, assuming that compliance by all such
users with the supplemental tax obligation would be 100 percent.

The Treasury recognizes that it is administratively
impossible to impose the supplemental tax upstream of the end-
user on some consumers of heating oil but not others. Whether
the collection point is located at the refinery gate or the
terminal rack, there can be no segregation of fuel destined for
residential versus non-residential use, because it is delivered
in the same truck by the same marketer. 5/. The only alternative
is to impose the supplemental tax directly on the non-residential
end-user, which is not only burdensome but administratively
unworkable. There are millions of these consumers, primarily
public sector, non-profit and small business users who are not
currently federal excise taxpayers. A massive education and
promotional effort would be needed simply to inform these

2/ A copy of the raport by the Economic Opportunity Research
Institute is submitted to the Conmittee for its record.

1/ In many instances, it is not possible even for the retail
marketer to determine what portion is "residential" and what
portion is "non-residential": for example, a doctor's
office in his home; a farmer's residence on his farm; or an
apartment above a store.
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consumers of their new taxpaying obligations. The imposition of

the tax on hundreds of thousands of end-users also would violate

Treasury's cardinal enforcement principle that excise taxes

should be imposed at a point where there is a small and easily

auditable set of taxpayers.

These problems of equity and administration can be
ameliorated by exempting all off-highway distillate from the

supplemental tax. Beginning on October 1, 1993, off-highway
distillate will be dyed blue pursuant to Clean Air Act
requirements.-^ After that date, diesel fuel for highway use
must meet an ultra low sulphur requirement of .05 percent and,
for the first time, will be a different product physically than
"heating oil." Although most off-highway distillate is used for

heating purposes, both residential and commercial, it is also
used for farm, industrial, railroad, vessel, and electric utility
uses. Approximately 55 percent of off-highway distillate is used
as heating oil, but 7 percent is used by farmers, 10 percent by
industry, 13 percent by railroads, and 2 to 3 percent by
utilities. The cost of exempting all off-highway distillate from
the supplemental tax woul ' be about $500 million per year more
than the cost of exempting heating oil alone.

Constructing the exemption in this way would utilize the
same distinction that currently exists for taxable diesel fuel
and non-taxable distillate. It would permit the wholesale
distributor, which must segregate these products and collect the
tax, to distinguish between products destined for uses subject
only to the base tax and uses subject to the supplemental tax and
the diesel excise tax. This distinction also would ease
enforcement complexities, because clear fuel would be subject to
the supplemental tax and dyed fuel would not.^ The exemption
for all off-highway distillate also would lessen the tax burden
on farmers and further reduce the inequity imposed on the New
England and Mid-Atlantic regions resulting from their much higher
use of distillate for industry and electric power generation.

IV. The Supplemental Tax Should Not be Imposed on Residual Fuel

Residual fuel oil is used primarily by three types of
consumers: industrial, electric utility and apartment house.
The supplemental tax should not be imposed on residual fuel for
any of these uses. First, a supplemental tax on industrial use
will severely handicap the competitiveness of industries that use
oil. Not only will these industries be impaired internationally,
but they will be restricted in their competition with firms in
other regions that are not sxibject to the supplemental tax.

A case in point is the pulp and paper industry. In Maine,
New Hampshire, upstate New York, and western Pennsylvania, this
industry runs on residual fuel. In most cases, there is no
alternate fuel available. These firms compete with Canadian pulp
and paper mills, which will not bear any of these taxes. Many of
these U.S. mills use between 1 and 2 million barrels of resid
annually; therefore, a tax of about $3.68 per barrel will be a
very onerous cost burden. Moreover, once the inflation index
begins to escalate this tax further, there will be no way that
these mills can remain competitive against Canadian competition.

4/ Section 21l(i) of the Clean Air Act of 1990, p.L. 101-549.

S/ There will be instances in which clear distillate would be
used for heating purposes. In such circumstances, a credit
or refund mechanism must be established for off-highway
users of clear distillate.
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In varying degrees, this same handicap will be imposed on the
chemical industry, the steel industry and others. The resulting
decline in our industrial base will further erode the balance of

payments and employment.

The Admin, svration has properly exempted refinery fuel by
taxing the product output of the refinery rather than the crude
oil input to the refinery. This change eliminates a competitive
advantage that would have been enjoyed by imported petroleum
products because their production is not subject to the Btu tax.
This same logic dictates that the supplemental tax not be imposed
on any industrial production. The tax provides too significant
an incentive to import products that are not subject to an energy
tax and therefore are less costly, particularly from Canada and,
after NAFTA, from Mexico.

The supplemental tax would place an equally inappropriate
burden on electric utilities that use residual fuel; and it would
create a severe regional inequity. Only 3 percent of electric
power generation nationwide is fueled by oil, but about 25

percent in New England and 20 percent in New York/New Jersey.
Thus, the supplemental tax will impose a penalty only on
consumers in these regions, with little or no net benefit. In
periods of high demand, these utilities must use oil because
pipeline capacity limits the availability of gas. For this
reason alone, it is essential that the residual fuel marketing
sector remain viable. Further, the residual fuel oil used in
most of the Northeast is ultra low sulphur and, therefore, almost
environmentally benign.

The supplemental tax on residual fuel will also threaten the
viability of simple domestic refineries with a high output of
this product. These refiners will be unable to recoup the
supplemental tax on residual fuel because it will not be imposed
on competitive fu<?\s, like coal or natural gas. Unless they can
pass through the t ix to other refined products,^ this "squeeze"
will lead to downward pressure on the price of the heavy crudes
used by these refiners. In California, where heavy crude oil
production is dependent on residual fuel oil refineries as
customers, this pressure will likely lead to less domestic oil
production and increased imports of crude oil.

Although the Btu tax is designed to distribute burdens
relatively evenly, a supplemental tax applied to residual fuel
would impose by far the highest percentage price increase on any
end-users of any fuel, adding approximately 25 percent to the
price for large industrial or electric utility users! Because of
this very large cost differential, the supplemental tax has
virtually the same effect as an oil import fee to these users and
the regions in which they operate. The retention of the
-urplemental tax on residual fuel oil would impose a heavy

t ei.alty on manufacturers, utility consumers and apartment
residents in these regions, with little or no net benefit; and,
in most cases, on users with no economic alternatives.

V. The Supplemental Tax Should be Eliminated

The supplemental tax creates equally compelling difficulties
for other oil consuming industries. The aviation industry, for
example, which has lost about $10.8 billion over the last 3

years, has no choice but to use petrolevun. The imposition of a
supplemental tax on aviation fuel, together with the base tax.

&/ It IS not likely that the tax could be shifted to users ofother petroleum products, because imported products will be
available with only the proper allocable portion of the BTUtax imposed.
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will add more than .5 billion in costs to our domestic airlines,
and may further diminish the shrinking number of operating
carriers.

All of these problems are real and merit the Committee's
specific attention. One solution is to lace the supplemental tax
with a myriad of exemptions and special provisions, each of which
is meritorious, if not compelling. However, a far better
solution is to eliminate the supplemental tax entirely, and avoid
enacting a tax with a host of exemptions that still creates a
series of secondary impacts on competition, jobs, refinery
output, and crude oil production. Elimination of the
supplemental tax resolves many anti-competitive and
distributional inequities. It recognizes that the Btu tax is an
economic deficit reduction measure, rather than a new, half-
formed and ill-considered energy policy. The failure of the
supplemental tax to accomplish its stated goals, and its adverse
imp?''t regionally and competitively, are the subject of a recer.

repc t by the Petroleum Industry Research Foundation, Inc. : "0^1
and the Btu Tax: Still Time for Re-design." A copy of this
report is submitted to the Committee for its record.

Elimination of the supplemental tax would place the sane Btu
tax burden on all energy consumers, wherever they reside and
whatever fuel they consume. The percentage price increases on

end-users — the ultimate taxpayers — would range from 3 to 5

percent on heating oil to 10 percent on residual fuel. Energy
efficiency would be rewarded, while high energy consumption would
be penalized. Markets and interfuel competition would not be
distorted. Elimination of the supplemental tax would have no
noticeable impact on national security, balance of trade or the
achievement of environmental goals, its only justifications.

VI. Simple and Familiar Collection System

Whatever the scope of the heating oil exemption. Congress
should attempt to establish a collection system that is

relatively simple and draws upon the current excise tax system,
providing taxpayers with a familiar method of col e tion. With a

new collection program, there is often substantia confusion. A

simple and familiar system minimizes these difficulties and
enhances compliance.

One appropriate means or collecting the Btu tax would be to

impose that tax at the terminal rack. On dyed fuel, the terminal
operator would serve as the taxpayer for the basic Btu tax of
25.7 cents per million Btus. The supplemental Btu tax of 34.2
cents per million Btus would be collected, where appropriate, by
marketers purchasing from the terminal who are registered with
the Internal Revenue Service and already serve as taxpayers under
the Federal Excise Tax Program for diesel fuel. On clear fuel,
the Btu tax of 59.9 cents per million Btus would be imposed at
the terminal rack, and the terminal operator would serve as the
taxpayer.

An alternate approach would be to (1) impose the basic Btu
tax of 25,7 cents per/MMBtu's at the refinery gate; (2) move the
Federal excise tax on diesel fuel to the terminal rack; and (3)

exempt all off-highway distillate fuel oil from the supplemental
Btu tax. Under this scenario, in most cases, both the basic and
the supplemental tax, as well as the Federal excise tax, would be
imposed on clear fuel. However, only the basic Btu tax would be
imposed on dyed fuel .
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This system would offset any lost revenue due to expanding
the exemption from the supplemental tax; moving the collection
point for the Federal excise tax on diesel fuel up the
distribution chain to the terminal rack would generate
compensating increased revenues, estimated to be mox . than $100
million per year.

Attachment 2 sets forth in more detail the two proposals
discussed above.

VII. Conclusion

It is difficult for us to support any Btu tax. However, in
order to assist in the laudable goal of deficit reduction, we can
endorse a uniform Btu tax or an ad valorem tax that places the
same burden on all fuels and comparable price increases for all
end-users. This should be the primary design goal of this energy
tax. The Administration's "modified Btu tax" does not meet this
test. The Btu tax can be preserved and improved by equalizing
the tax on all fuels. If a Btu tax is to be enacted. Congress
has the opportunity to craft it in a way that is regionally fair
and imposes an equitable burden on similarly situated consumers.
We strongly recommend adoption of the changes necessary to
accomplish these goals.

Attachments
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ATTACHMENT 1

Indirect Burden of the BTU Tax
Taxes on Commercial Energy Compared

BTU Tax as Proposed
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ATTACHMENT 2 I

• Impose the Btu tax at the terminal rack.

The terminal operator would remit to the IRS only 25.7
cents per million Btus on sales of dyed fuel.

The terminal operator would remit the tax of 59.9 cents
per million Btus on the sale of clear fuel.

• A marketer (a registered "wholesale distributor" that
holds a 637 Certificate of Registry bearing a suffix of "UL")
purchasing dyed fuel at the rack would sell the fuel to either to
(1) another registered "wholesale distributor" w'.th a 637
Certificate, bearing the suffix of "UL" , (2) e h sating oil
retailer (a marketer registered with the IRS and holding a 637
Certificate of Registry with a suffix of "L") or (3) an end-
user.

• If the original registered marketer were to sell the
dyed fuel to another registered marketer (with a certificate
bearing the suffix "UL") , no additional tax would be imposed.

If the original registered marketer sold the dyed fuel
to a heating oil retailer holding a 637 certificate with a suffix
of "L", no additional tax would be imposed.

• If the original registered marketer sold the dyed fuel
to an end-user that is exempt, such as a homeowner, no additional
tax would be imposed.

If the original registered marketer sold the dyed fuel
to an end-suer that uses the fuel for a non-exempt purpose, the
registered marketer would serve as the taxpayer and would remit
the 3 4.2 cents per million Btus to the IRS.

If a registered marketer were to buy clear fuel at the
rack (fuel with a sulphur content of .05 percent by weight), and
the marketer declared that the fuel would be used for a tax
exempt purpose, dye would be added at the rack and no
supplemental Btu tax would apply.

• If a registered marketer were to sell clear fuel, on
which the tax has been paid, to a homeowner or other consumer
using the fuel for a tax-exempt purpose, there mu.t be a credit
or refund mechanism available for the marketer to minimize cash
flow problems. This credit/refund would only be permitted if the
marketer can demonstrate to the satisfaction of the IRS that the
transaction for the exempt use occurred.

This proposal assumes that the Federal excise tax on diesel
fuel remains at its current level — at the point of use when a

registered wholesale distributor determines whether the fuel will
be used for taxable or tax-exempt purposes.

Example 2

* This example assumes that all off-highway distillate
fuel is exempt from the supplemental tax of 34.2 cents per
million Btus.
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This example also assumes that the Federal excise tax
for diesel fuel is imposed at the terminal rack. (This

assumption would change current law) .

Impose the basic Btu tax of 25.7 cents per million Btus
at the refinery gate and have the refiner serve as the taxpayer.

Assume that product moves to a terminal rack; clear
fuel would be subject to two additional taxes—the supplemental
tax of 34.2 cents per million Btus and the Federal excise tax of
20.1 cents per gallon. The terminal operator would serve as the

taxpayer.

• Assume that product moves to a terminal rack; dyed fuel
would not be subject to any additional tax.

If distillate fuel that contains .05 percent sulfur by
weight (typically known as low sulfur fuel) is to be used for an

exempt off-highway purpose, the marketer purchasing the product
at the rack would have to indicate that purpose and the fuel
would be dyed before it left the rack and no additional tax would
be imposed.

If a marketer were to sell clear fuel on which tax has
been paid to an exempt user, there must be a credit or refund
mechanism available for the marketer to minimize cash flow

problems. This credit/refund would only be permitted if the
marketer can demonstrate to the satisfaction of the IRS that the
transaction for the exempt use occurred.

Prepared Statement of Robert B. Catell

i. introduction and summary

Thank you Mr. Chaimijin and distinguished members of this Committee. I am
Robert B. Catell, president & ceo of The Brooklyn Union Gas Company (BUG). BUG
is primarily engaged in the distribution of natural gas to 1.1 million customers in

a New York area comprising 4 million people. We are also engaged in the production
and exploration of natural gas and the cogeneration of power. I am pleased to be

here today on behalf of the Natural Gas Council (Council), a coaUtion which in-

cludes the American Gas Association, the Independent Petroleum Association of

America, the Interstate Natural Gas Association of America and the Natural Gas

Supply Association, representing all segments of the natural gas industry—distribu-

tors (utilities), pipelines and producers. We welcome this opportunity to present our

views concerning the Administration's proposed energy tax.

The Council strongly supports the President's commitment to curtail federal

spending, reduce the deficit and promote economic growth. The natural gas industry
is encouraged by the Administration's expressed desire for greater use of clean-bum-

ing natursd gas. This increased reUance on natural gas will reduce our dependence
on imported oil and improve our environment. These goals can only be met if there

are healthy and growing companies in all segments of the industry.
In a letter to the President, the members of the Council stated that they are on

record as not supporting energy taxes, but pledged to work constructively with the

appropriate individuals within the Administration on unresolved issues in the eco-

nomic package. We believe there are more effective means for achieving the Admin-
istration's policy goals, such as a broad-based consumption tax. The members of the

Council agree that the Btu tax on natural gas should be imposed on the end-user

of the gas and collected by the last seller of that gas. Given the size and complexity
of the proposed energy tax, it is essential that the tax does not inadvertently become

through faulty structuring, a t£ix on the production, transmission or distribution of

gas. The proposed Btu tax should be structured as an excise retail tax levied on the

consumption of gas by the ultimate consumer in the same manner as the federal

excise tax on telephone service.
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The Administration's proposal to collect the tax on natural gas at the citv-gate

or out of the pipeline threatens the well-being of gas companies, particularly gas
utilities which may be denied full and immediate flow through of the tax. The Btu
tax could equal or exceed the annual net incomes of a majority of gas utility compa-
nies. This impact on utilities would adversely affect every segment of the natural

gas industry and its customers. The tax would also hit low-income consumers par-

ticularly hard and adversely affect job growth, the economy and impair global com-

petitiveness.
When the Btu tax was initially conceptualized, there was some thought that it

could promote energy security and environmental goals. As the tax developed and

exemptions and changes were proposed, the environmental and energy security

goals appear to have been lost. In some applications, the tax would work against
these goals.

Collecting the tax upstream from the retail level will increase the tax burden in

some states by as much as 15 percent because of piggyback taxes and another 10

percent for taxing gas that is stored, unaccounted for, lost or used to maintain pres-
sure and gas flow in pipelines. These costs would be in addition to the $310 we esti-

mate the average household would incur because of the Btu tax on energy. In addi-

tion, the point of collection for the tax may very well slow the deployment of clean,

efficient and domestically manufactured energy technologies, since companies that

have historically marketed these technologies might not obtain effective flow

through of the costs.

Moreover, as a result of industry restructuring, there is no longer a clearly defin-

able "city-gate" in the natural gas industry. More importantly, given the number of

pipeline to pipeline transfers involved in transporting gas, including small diameter,
short distance pipe that delivers gas to many end-users, there is the potential for

some to avoid paying the tax collected at the city-gate. Further, under FERC Order

636, ^ pipelines own little or none of the gas they transport to the utility system.

Thus, the city-gate collection point becomes difficult because neither entity has title

to the gas. Indeed, for much of the gas delivered to the utility, for which the utility

is just a transporter, the pipeline and utility do not have contractual privity. The

utility merely delivers the gas it receives to the customer-owner; the utility has no

role in regulating the amount of gas delivered to it. There is no basis for the pipe-
line to bill the utility for these quantities.

Imposing the tax upon the end-user would minimize the administrative and oper-
ational burdens of the tax, ensure that all sources of gas, both domestic and im-

ported, are treated equally and avoid conflicts with other important governmental
policies. Collecting the tax from the ultimate consumer would best achieve the Ad-
ministration's goals of generating revenue from the users of energy, levying the tax

on consumption and flowing the tax through to customers.

The collection of the tax at any other point, including the wellhead, pipeline or

citv-gate, will result in higher administrative costs, compounding of state and local

safes and gross receipts taxes onto the Btu tax (we estimate these taxes would cost

gas consumers an additional $350 to $400 million annually and gas and electric cus-

tomers together $1.05 billion to $1.2 billion once the tax is fully phased in), greater
risk of tax avoidance and market distortions. There would be considerable risk that

not all the tax would be passed through to consumers leaving utilities with stranded

costs. It would be tragic if the Btu tax were imposed in such a manner that domestic

gas supphes are reduced or the industry's ability to transport and distribute gas is

impaired.
While some in Congress may be reluctant to see the Btu tax appear on the cus-

tomer's bill as an excise tax, some state PUCs will require disclosure regardless of

where or how the tax is collected. Further, gas company CEOs advise us, for pru-
dent business purposes, that they will inform their customers of the tax to explain
the reason behind the increase m the customers' bills. In addition, resulting rate

cases will bring greater public and media attention to the tax.

The Council opposes tne exemption of methanol and ethanol from the tax. All al-

ternative transportation fuels should be treated the same or distortions will occur

in the alternative fuels market.

^The Federal Energy Regulatory Commission issued Order Nos. 636, 636A and 636B that pro-
vide for a major restructuring of the way interstate natural gas pipelines work. The impetus
behind the major restructuring rule is to ensure that gas buyers have greater access to the com-

petitive wellhead market. As a result, pipelines are allowed for the first time to sell gas at nego-
tiated rates in a manner similar to the way re-regulated companies sell gas. The central feature

of the restructuring rule is the unbundling of interstate pipeline sales and transportation serv-

ices. However, pipelines are permitted to offer sales and transportation services in a repackaged
format if the rate for each service is separately stated.
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City-Gate Collection Point

The Council strongly urges that the collection point be moved to the end-user. If

not, there are serious problems that must be addressed. First, gas utilities should

be required to pay to the pipeline for remittance to Treasury only what they collect

from the end-user.

Second, utilities should be permitted to recover the tax in customer rates. This

will require some legislation directing state pubUc utility commissions (PUCs) to

allow utiUties to flow through the tax. The Administration has proposed that a util-

ity be denied its tax benefits under normalization if the energy tax is not passed

through. Our concern is that this mechanism is neither a sufficient nor fair way of

encouraging state PUCs to flow through the tax, since the size of the tax could ex-

ceed the benefits gained from normeilization. In addition, the utility could be penal-
ized twice under this proposal, once in the absorption of the tax and again in the

denial of normalization benefits.

Third, we urge Congress to add legislative language to address the problem of

double taxation or compoimding of taxes. Such language should provide that reve-

nues from recoupment of the Btu tax is excluded from any form of federal, state,

local or other taxation.

n. IMPACT OF THE TAX

1. Households

For the average gas-heated household, we estimate the tax would eventually add

$25 to the annual bill, roughly $23 to the electric bill. The average household would
also pay an additional $76 annually on gasoline consumption. We estimate that the

total average household energy costs for a natural gas heated home would rise by
$124 per year. An additional $184 in increased annual costs per household would
be hidden in the costs of all goods and services that rely on energy as they are made
or delivered. We estimate that the total average household cost would be nearly
$310 per year. Larger households would pay even more.

Moreover, the national average numbers hide the higher effects upon particular

regions, especially the northern states with colder winters. According to the Depart-
ment of Energy, cold weather regions use as much as 55 percent more energy in

homes than warm regions. In colder regions, such as Chicago, the tax would add

$38 to $44 to a typical gas bill, rather than the $24 national average.

2. Utilities

If portions of this tax fell upon natural gas companies because of the collection

mechanism, the damage could be significant. Some utilities might have to borrow

money to replace funds that would otherwise be used as working capital to pay the

tax during the period the utility seek to have the tax included in consumer rates

by the state PUC (regulatory lag period). Other companies may be required to ab-

sorb portions of the tax, which could cripple operations. This could cause a reduction

in capital spending. Given the importance of utility capital spending to the economy
as a whole, such a reduction could impede economic recovery. Further, an increase

in rates to satisfy reducing the magnitude of the tax is so large that it might not

receive approval for flow through in a state rate case.

3. Producers

Natural gas producers are in no position to absorb any part of the Btu tax. After

years of low wellhead prices, producers are strapped for the investment capital
needed to drill the new gas wells the country will need in the near term. The cur-

rent Solleman Brothers Natural Gas Report projects the U.S. will need between 500
and 600 rigs drilling each week for natural gas to meet expected demand increases.

Wellhead revenues are the primary source for drilling capital today. The proposed
Btu teix would exceed the net earnings of even the most efficient gas producers and
is probably several times greater than the profit the average producer earns on pro-
duction.

4. Pipelines

From the perspectives of both debt and equity holders, interstate pipelines can ill

afford to incur costs that cannot be flowed through to consumers. Over the long
term, pipeline stock prices and actual return on equity (decUning from 10.1 percent
in 1985 to 8.1 percent in 1991) have suffered from the move to open access transpor-



tation mandated by the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (FERC).^ Moreover,
the bond ratings have declined from their high of A- in 1984 to a BBB- rating
for the 15 major interstate pipelines at the end of February, 1993.

m. WHY END-USER IS MOST APPROPRIATE COLLECTION POINT FOR NATURAL GAS

A Criteria In Selecting Collection Point

The primary focus of the Council's comments is on structuring the tax on natural

gas in a manner that is most practical and least disruptive and burdensome for all

segments of the natural gas industry. The Council believes that such an approach
would best achieve the federal government's net revenue, conservation and environ-

mental goals.
The primary issues for both the Administration and industry revolve around the

related concepts of: (1) who is the taxpayer; (2) where is the point of taxation; and,

(3) who serves as the collection agent for the government. The effort to resolve these

issues should also include the following objectives: (1) maximizing the collection of

the tax and discouraging tax avoidance; (2) minimizing the administrative burdens
on both the industry and government, particularly complexities arising upstream,
such as piggyback taxes, administration of non-fuel use exemptions and timing

problems associated with gas storage; (3) providing for full and immediate flow

through of costs to consumers, while minimizing regulatory lag; (4) ensuring that

domestic natural gas suppliers, marketers and transporters can fairly compete with

their foreign competitors; and, (5) preventing conflicts with other important govern-
ment policies.

B. Analysis of Criteria in Selecting Collection Point

Based on the considerations above, and for reasons discussed below, the only prac-
tical approach to structuring the tax on natural gas is by imposing it on the end-

user of the fuel (taxpayer) at the burner tip (point of taxation), with collection by
the last seller of that gas (i.e., the local utility, pipeUne or other supplier).

1. Ease and Simplicity in Collection of Tax

The point of imposition for the Btu tax should be evaluated in terms of its ease

of collection, simplicity and tax avoidance. A retail-level tax on gas delivered to the

ultimate consumer is the most appropriate
collection point option which meets these

requirements. Such a tax would De collected primarily by local utilities and added
to the bill of each customer. Because most gas utilities have computerized billing

systems and are already structured to collect state sales taxes, the tax could be im-

plemented eificiently. Other sellers to end-users (i.e. marketers) also have sophisti-
cated billing systems capable of collecting a Btu tax. An excise tax on gas would
mirror what is currently done with the telephone excise tax.

Collection at this point reduces the number of remitters such that compliance
with and enforcement of the Btu tax would be improved significantly. This location

restricts the size of the audit universe for the federal government that otherwise

expands in the case of upstream tax collection points due to the large number of

producers.
Choosing the city-gate as the collection point fjiils to meet this criteria. A tax on

gas utilities at the city-gate only accoimts for nearly 60 percent of natural gas
consumed in the U.S. "The remaining 40 percent consists of thousands of relatively

small transactions involving primarily custody but not title changes in gas.

Imposing the tax at any point along the pipeline, entrance or exit, also fails this

criteria. Taxing natural gas at the point-of-entry would require a massive tracking

system that would be difficult to manage and measure for accuracy while creating
much complexity and confusion. A natural gas purchase will typically consist of

many individual transactions, such as between the producer and shipper (person ar-

ranging deal if the ultimate consumer does not do so), shipper and ultimate

consumer, shipper and pipeline, shipper
and storage owner, shipper and other ship-

pers, pipeline and an upstream or downstream pipeline and shipper and other cus-

tomers. Because of restructuring under Order 636, interstate pipelines will no

longer buy or sell virtually any of the gas that goes through their pipelines or have

knowledge of the actual end-user or end-use.
Another problem with imposing the tax at the point gas is injected into the pipe-

line is that the tax would be imposed on top of a transportation charge instead of

^The FERC orders for open access transportation, changes in facility and service certification,

and rules to allow pipelines to sell gas at negotiated rates, while providing gas buyers with

greater access to a competitive wellhead market—have resulted in market forces replacing regu-
lation as the principal factor affecting industry pricing and operations.
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the gas cost. This might not only create administrative and tax avoidance problems,
it might also subiect the tax to regulatory review.

CoUection of the tax at the wellhead creates problems as well. Since there are

over 280,000 producing natural gas wells and thousands of independent and inte-

grated oil and gas exploration and production companies in the U.S., such a large
number of producers invites difficulties with collection and administration of the tax

and problems of tax avoidance.
Measurement of the Btu content of natural gas at the wellhead is inefficient and

inaccurate. When natural gas is produced, it is either wet (contains liquid by-prod-
ucts) or dry (no Uquid products). A tax imposed at the wellhead would create wide

disparities in tax rate from well to well. Most natural gas wells do not have Btu
measurement devices in place at the point of production.

2. Minimizing Administrative Burdens

Imposing the tax at the end-user level avoids many of the problems associated

with collecting it upstream. First, administering the proposed feedstock exemption
and other non-fuel use exemptions would be difficult to administer at any point
above the end-user level. The Administration's proposal would allow for a natural

gas feedstock exemption (natural gas used by the buyer for non-fuel purposes) from
the Btu tax. Because of restructurmg in the natural gas industry, pipeline operators

rarely know the end-use of the gas they are transporting. If the tax is collected at

the wellhead, it would be difficult to administer the feedstock exemption. The seller

to the ultimate buyer is in the best position to know whether the natural gas would
have a non-fuel use and thus quaUfy for this feedstock.

Second, production, gross receipts and state and local utility taxes are often im-

posed as a percentage of authorized utility revenues or rates. If the tax is imposed

upon the end-user as an excise tax, the compounding of state or local taxes on top
of the Btu tax would not occur. Collecting the tax at the city-gate or other points

upstream builds the tax increase into the cost of energy where the local jurisdiction

imposes a sales or gross receipts tax on utiUty bills. In some states, these taxes

could increase the burden of the tax by up to 15
percent

above the pa3rment if the

tax was collected at the retail level. The State of New York imposes a gross receipts
tax of 5.61 percent, for example, while the City of New York adds a 2.35 percent
tax. Illinois imposes gross receipts taxes of five percent and the City of Chica.go adds
a municipal gross receipts tax of eight percent, while the State of Texas imposes
a two percent gross receipts tax on residential users of gas and the City of Houston

imposes a four percent tax. The compounding of taxes, primarily severance and

gross receipts taxes, and royalty burdens, are major concerns at the production
level.

Third, imposing the tax at the end-user level would eUminace the timing problem
associated with gas storage and gas imbalances. The Administration's proposal wiD

require owners of natural gas storage facilities to pay taxes on their inventories or

"floor stocks." For pipelines, and some utilities, the Btu tax imposed on storage gas
would reach some gas which may never be consumed since it is injected into storage
in order to maintain the operational integrity of the storage facility. Taxing gas in

storage creates a timing problem, where the tax may be paid far in advance of ulti-

mate sale and subsequent collection. Almost one trillion cubic feet of gas goes into

storage facilities and may not be consumed for as long as a year.
There is also gas that is needed for line pack to maintain the appropriate amoxmt

of pressure and gas flow in the pipeline and for cushion gas in a natural gas storage
reservoir. While this gas is never consumed, paying the tax at an upstream point
would tax gas that is not used for energy. Also, imposing the tax upstream could

include gas that is lost and stolen or unaccounted for gas. Taxing line pack, stored,
unaccounted for and lost gas could increase the tax burden on natural gas compa-
nies £md consumers by as much as 10 percent.

3. Flow Through and Regulatory Lag
Third, the collection point should maximize the possibility of complete flow

through of the tax and not disadvantage gas versus competitors in the marketplace.
The tax should also minimize the gas company's exposure to a regulatory lag prob-
lem.^ Pass through can be approached in either of two ways: (1) applying the tax

directly on the lutimate consumer in the form of a natural gas excise tax; or, (2)

including the tax in the original cost of the gas commodity. If the tax is an excise

'
Regulatory lag refers to the time between the imposition of the tax and reflection of the tax

in customer's billed rates. In most jurisdictions, gas companies would go through a rate or tariff

proceeding to include the costs of the tax in customer rates, which could take up to a year or

more. Dunng this waiting period, the utility would carry the cost of the tax.
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tax collected from the end-user, the seller of gas most likely could avoid incurring
the costs of pipeline or utility rate and tariff proceeding. This is because the legal
incidence of the tax is at the retail level and the tax is not a part of the utility's

cost of service, subjecting the utUity to a rate hearing.
If history is any guide, regulators will treat the flow through of taxes differently

in each jurisdiction. City-gate collection creates difficulties due to the different

points and allocation of transportation gas flowing through it. For some companies,
there would be no mechanism to allow a flow through at the city-gate. In many
cases, a rate case would have to be filed. Some jurisdictions might not allow full

Sass
through of the costs of the tax and subject utilities to absorbing those costs.

everal states commissioners have indicated they are not willing to allow utilities

to pass through the tax in consumer rates and the State of California has held hear-

ings on the issue. In other jurisdictions, regulatory lag might become a problem, and
a persistent one, given that the tax rate will change each vear. If the incidence of

the tax is at the pipeUne, there would be concerns of regulatory review where the

tax is imposed on top of the transportation charge rather than the gas cost.

4. Importation ofNatural Gas

The tsix should not be imposed to disadvantage domestic natural gas companies
in comparison with Canadian natural gas suppliers. U.S. natural gas suppliers com-

pete head to head in key U.S. markets with Canadian natural gaa suppliers. An ex-

cise tax would eliminate distortions between domestically produced and foreign im-

ported natural gas which otherwise will arise if the points and time of taxation are

not the same for both fuels.

5. Preventing Conflicts With Other Government Policies

The Administration has stressed its support of the use of clean-burning fuels,

such as natural gas. Imposition of the tax in a manner that impairs the ability of

the industry to be a stable and viable industry clearly conflicts with this
policy.

Col-

lection of the tax is critical to those, such as producers, with long-term fixed price

contracts, which serve government policies and consumers by providing long-tern

gas supplies at stable prices. Suppliers locked into such contracts cannot increase

prices to reflect the tax burden. Many low volume stripper wells, which are margin-
ally economic, would feel the pinch if the tax is collected upstream.
Imposing the tax at the retail level avoids the need to preempt state or federal

ratemaking treatment of costs related to providing utility service. This approach
would eliminate the necessity of statutory language aimed at encouraging regulators
to flow through the tax.

IV. PREEMPTION

If a Btu tax is imposed on our industry and at the city-gate, the Council wrgeB

Congress to enact legislation that will direct state PUCs to allow utilities to effec-

tively and expeditiously flow through the tax costs to customers in their gas bills.

The Administration is considering a normalization type approach for effectuating re-

covery of energy tax costs. However, the Administration's approach increases the po-
tential damage to gas companies by denying certain tax benefits (i.e., accelerated

depreciation of public utility property and investment tax credit reflected in rates

over the life of tne asset) for periods which the tax is not completely passed through
to consumers. An excise tax on the end-user is the best mechanism to ensure the

immediate and complete flow through of the tax.

The Council believes the normalization approach is not an effective tool to encour-

age regulators to flow through the tax. Our preliminary figures indicate that the

magnitude of the excise tax would greatly exceed the size of the tax benefits of nor-

mauzation for gas utilities. We are concerned that regulators may opt for the politi-

cally popular short-term action of denying flow through and sacrificing the smedler

normalization benefits to avoid the Isirger gas tax. Utilities could be doubly penal-
ized where they are denied flow through and lose their tax benefits of normalization.
The normalization approach has not been previously applied for compelling the

flow through of an energy tax. There is a danger, based on past experience, of dis-

putes arising between utilities, regulators and the Internal Revenue Service (IRS).

Given the problems which have already occurred involving the application of the
normalization rules, it would be inappropriate to overload this already controversial

mechanism with a new mandate—to assure the recovery of an expense. For ex£im-

Ele,

in City of LA v. CPUC, 15 C. 3d 680, utilities were penalized nearly $500 mil-

on when the IRS interpreted normalization to require the utilities to reflect tax

benefits in a different manner than the state PUC. Similarly, recent disputes be-

tween utilities and regulatory commissions regarding normalization and the treat-

ment of consolidated tax return losses expose utilities to enormous penedty risks.
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We therefore urge Congress, if a Btu tax at the city-gate is unavoidable, to add

provisions in the tax legislation other than normalization that would effectively and

immediately enable utiuties to completely pass through the costs of the tax to con-

sumers. We will work with you on developing appropriate language for this piupose.

V. DOUBLE TAXATION

If the tax is not collected from the end-user, the Council urges Congress to ad-

dress the issue of double taxation caused by gross receipts and other state and local

taxes by including legislative language that would exclude the Btu tax from any
form of federal, state, local or other taxation. Further, the entity remitting the tax

to the TreasuiT should not be liable for any amount of the tax that is in excess of

the amount collected from that party on whom the tax is imposed. In that regard,
the utility would remit to the pipeline only what it collects from the customer.

VI. METHANOL AND ETHANOL EXEMPTION

The Council strongly opposes the exemption of methanol and ethanol from the

tax. We believe such an exemption would substantially distort the market for alter-

native fuel vehicles and potentially cripple the emerging market for compressed nat-

ural gas vehicles.

Vn. CONCLUSION

The Council in its March 4 letter to the President urged that the proposed Btu
tax upon natural gas be paid by the ultimate consumer and collected by the entity

selling that gas to that party. We also stated the four member associations are on
record of not supporting energy taxes, but are ready to work with the Administra-
tion on the economic package. Likewise, we will work with the Congress in structur-

ing the tax to minimize its burden on our industry and its customers. Imposing the

tax at any point other than the end-user will resmt in significant burdens in collec-

tion, administration and flow through of the costs of the tax in consumer rates. It

would also thwart the Administration's stated goal of preventing serious economic
distortions.

If a Btu tax is to be collected at the city-gate, strong preemption language is need-

ed to minimize the costs of absorption upon utilities. Further, gas utilities should

only be required to pay to pipelines what they collect from end-users. To avoid the

problem of double taxation. Congress should adopt legislation excluding the Btu tax

from any form of federal, state, local or other taxation. Finally, methanol and etha-

nol should not be exempted from the tax if all alternative transportation fuels are

to be treated equally.
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Prepared Statement of John J. Collins

INTRODUCTION AND SUMMARY

My name is John J. Collins. I am senior vice president for

government affairs of the American Trucking Associations (ATA),
the national trade association of the trucking industry. I

appreciate the opportunity to comment on tax proposals for
economic stimulus and deficit reduction on behalf of the more
than 30,000 companies that belong to ATA or its 51 state
affiliates and 10 specialized national affiliates.

The trucking industry employs 7.8 million Americans,
accounts for approximately 5% of gross domestic product, and

plays a central role in the competitiveness of U.S. industry.
Clearly, the industry's health is closely tied to that of the

economy as a whole, and we are vitally interested in proposals to

improve economic performance in both the short and the long run.

The President has proposed an ambitious package of spending
and tax changes. Overall, the spending changes are in the right
direction, and we are encouraged that Congress swiftly agreed to
a similar amount of spending cuts in adopting the budget
resolution. In addition, the President has recently proposed
improving the availability of bank credit, a vital form of
stimulus for the small businesses that make up the vast majority
of the nation's 200,000-plus trucking companies.

As for the President's tax proposals, the trucking industry
is prepared to make its share of sacrifices to achieve lasting
economic improvement. But we do not believe it is fair to

require trucking to make extra sacrifices for goals that are
intended to benefit all Americans. Specifically:

o ATA does not oppose a truly broad-based, level energy tax
that taxes all fuels at the same rate, even though that does
place a burden on energy-intensive industries. But the
Administration's proposed tax would fall more than twice as

heavily on transportation as on users of other energy
sources, while providing numerous exemptions. As it stands,
that plan is neither fair nor balanced and must be adjusted.
The President wisely rejected an overt fuel tax; don't enact
instead a camouflaged fuel tax that you label an energy tax.

o Don't index the energy tax. Indexing the tax would add to
its unfairness and would be a significant step away from
Congressional o\;r-.ight of rates.

o We applaud the recent recommendation to move the 2.5-cent-
per-gallon general fund fuel tax into the Highway Trust
Fund. The full amount should go into the highway account
and be spent in accord with the spending rules and levels
Congress approved in the Intermodal Surface Transportation
Efficiency Act of 1991.

o Corporate and individual rate increases are an unfortunate
step back from the 1986 Tax Reform Act, which the trucking
industry supported. Keep existing rates.

o Don't cut back the business meal deduction for truck
drivers, whose on-the-road meals are a modest and fully
justified business expense.

o Don't penalize trucking companies that build or expand
facilities by lengthening the writeoff period for terminals
and other nonresidential structures.
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o Neither a temporary, incremental investment credit, nor a

permanent credit that is available only to certain small
businesses, would deliver effective stimulus. Both credits
would cost more in terms .of complexity and offsetting
revenue increases than they are worth. Scrap both credits
and use the money to alleviate some of the inequities
mentioned above.

o In contrast, the proposed alternative minimum tax deprecia-
tion relief is an "venhanded, low-cost simplification that
should be adopted romptly.

BROAD-BASED ENERGY TAX

Our number one concern is the proposed energy tax. We are
pleased that the President remained firm against an explicit tax
on highway fuels. Although ATA would prefer that energy-
intensive industries not be penalized, we would not oppose a

truly broad and level energy tax that taxes all fuels at the same
rate. However, a tax that hits the only fuel available to heavy
trucks at 2.3 times the rate that applies to users of other
energy sources, while allowing more than a dozen exemptions,
constitutes a camouflaged gas tax. It is not fair or balanced
and must be adjusted.

The Administration has proposed to tax natural gas, coal and
electricity from nuclear and hydro sources at a rate of 25.7
cents per million BTUs (British thermal units), a measure of heat
content. Petroleum would be tay?d at 59.9 cents per million
BTUs, two and a third times as 1 Lc; i a rate as for other fuels.
These taxes would begin on July 1, 1994 at one-third of the above
rates, rising to two-thirds on July 1, 1995, and the full rate on
July 1, 1996. Thereafter, the rates would be adjusted for
general inflation as measured by the change in the gross domestic
product (GDP) deflator.

The 1996 rates would amount to 7.5 cents per gallon for
gasoline and 8.3 cents per gallon for diesel fuel, based on the
heat content of each fuel. These rates would be very costly for
the trucking industry, which uses roughly 12 billion gallons of
gasoline and 24 billion gallons of diesel fuel per year.

BTU tax unfairly burdens trucking

At 1996 tax rates, commercial truck owners would have to pay
roughly $2.9 billion in added fuel costs, or 10% of the gross
revenue projected from the tax. This burden is totally unfair,
given that trucking accounts for less than 5% of GDP. Put
another way, at 1992 profit levels, the tax would equal roughly
50% of the industry's profits.

Truck owners and other highway users have already been
paying more than their share .for deficit reduction. Since the
1990 budget agreement, 2-1/2 cents per gallon of fuel tax revenue
has been diverted into the general fund instead of the Highway
Trust Fund. That provision adds $900 million per year to the
fuel bills of commercial truck owners.

There is no justification for placing such an enormous added
tax burden on the freight transpo ration industry, when that
industry plays a vital part in enhancing U.S. international
competitiveness and the tax is intended to benefit the entire
economy.

Administration officials have mentioned but not specified
"externalities" or environmental costs associated with petroleum.
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But there are already a variety of both explicit and hidden
environmental taxes on petroleum and various products. Explicit
federal taxes include the Superfund, Leaking Underground Storage
Tank, and Oil Spill Liability Trust Fund taxes. Many states have
similar taxes, some at even higher rates than the federal taxes.
In addition, gasoline users in much of the nation must now pay 5-

10 cents more per gallon in winter months for oxygenated fuel.
And by October 1993, highway diesel fuel will cost an estimated
4-7 cents per gallon more to cover the cost of reducing the
fuel's sulfur content in accordance with Clean Air Act rules.

Adding the Administration's camouflaged 8-cent fuel tax to
the clean diesel "tax" means that true) operators will be paying
as much as 15 cents a gallon for pur~o es that do nothing to
build highways or transit. These noi highway diesel fuel levies
are on top of 20 cents a gallon of federal highway tax and state
taxes on diesel fuel that run as high as 33 cents, for example,
in New York state. This is an extraordinary set of tax burdens
to impose on an industry whose profit margin hovers around 2%.

In short, it would be totally unfair to single out trucking
and other transportation industries for a higher rate of BTU tax
than other energy users.

RECOHMENDATION: If a broad-based energy tax is adopted,
lower the rate on petroleum to the same level as other fuels.

In addition to our dissatisfaction with the unfairness of

taxing petroleum more than other fuels, ATA has several technical
or design suggestions regarding indexation, visibility,
collection point and floor stocks taxes.

Indexation of the BTU tax

The Administration has proposed indexing the BTU tax after
1997. Indexing has never before been used to create unlegislated
tax increases. (Income tax indexing, in contrast, is used to
assure that inflation alone does not increase individual tax
burdens . )

We think it would be unwise for Congress to abandon its

oversight of excise tax rates in this case, for several reasons.
First, increasing rates would add to discrimination against
energy users, shifting an ever larger . lare of the deficit
reduction burden onto these taxpayers.

Second, the wide swings in price indexes add uncertainty
about future energy tax rates that would make it difficult for
truck buyers and other energy-intensive businesses to plan
investments efficiently. Carriers that move freight under
contracts that do not allow fuel-cost adjustments (most currently
do not) would also be harmed until the contracts come up for
renewal. The proposed indexing mechanism, the GDP deflator, has
varied from a 10% change in 1981 to a 2.6% change in 1986, and
other indexes have varied even more.

Third, the BTU tax would depress Highway Trust Fund
receipts, once again undermining the solvency of the highway
spending program. The Administration's proposed level of
petroleum tax would cost the Highway Trust Fund roughly $300
million in fiscal 1997 by driving up fuel prices and thus curbing
demand. Indexing the BTU tax could lower trust fund receipts
even more in future years.

RECOHHENDATION: Do not index the BTU tax.
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visibility

Motor carriers want any energy tax to be as visible as
possible. This may make it easier to achieve one of the
Administration's goals, that of making energy users more aware of
the cost of energy. Separate statement of the tax or other
measures to increase its visibility may be useful both for
freight that moves under contract and for rates approved by the
Interstate Commerce Commission and state regulatory agencies.

Collection point

The Administration has proposed to collect the tax on
petroleum products at the point these products leave the refinery
(the tailgate). Evasion of gasoline and diesel fuel taxes has
been an enormous problem at both federal and state levels. The
collection point for the energy tax on petroleum products should
be chosen in a manner that minimizes both potential for evasion
and the compliance burden on law-abiding taxpayers.

Floor stocks taxes

The Administration would require payment of floor stocks
taxes— taxes on the amount of taxable fuels held by a business—
on each adjustment date, with a de minimis exemption. To
minimize burdens on taxpayers and the IRS, this exemption should
be set no lower than $300. Otherwise, the cost of compliance
would exceed the tax due, especially for car* ers that store fuel
in numerous locations. Furthermore, the IRS should have
authority to adjust this de minimis amount upward, for instance
to the next 1000 gallons.

GENERAL-FUND FUEL TAX

The Administration's modified package recommends that the 2-
1/2-cent general-fund fuel tax (now scheduled to expire in 1995)
be continued permanently but be added to the Highway Trust Fund
after its current termination date. We strongly support this
recommendation and urge that the full 2-1/2 cents go into the
highway account and be spent on a timely basis for highway
purposes in accordance with the terms Congress approved in the
Intermodal Surface Transportation Efficiency Act of 1991. Using
the funds for nonhighway purposes, or impounding them to make the
deficit look smaller, would again be an unjustified added burden
on highway users.

The full amount is needed in order to assure that there is
enough money in the highway account after 1995 to keep spending
at appropriate levels. Given the long lead time on highway
planning and construction, it is essential that the funding be
assured today. In fact, fairness and trust fund solvency would
be improved still more by shifting the 2-1/2 cents back to the
Highway Trust Fund effective immediately, instead of waiting
until late 1995.

RECOMMENDATION: Put all proceeds from the 2.5-cent general
fund fuel tax into the highway account of the Highway Trust Fund
to be spent on a timely basis for appropriate highway purposes.

CORPORATE AND INDIVIDUAL RATES

The trucking industry was an early and vigorous supporter of
the 1986 Tax Reform Act. Even though many carriers wound up with
higher tax bills, the industry felt that reducing top marginal
tax rates for corporations and individuals would be good for the
economy and would reduce tax-driven decision-making.
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Now the Administration has proposed to increase the top
corporate rate to 36%, for companies making more than $10
million. But the owners (shareholders) of these large companies
are more likely to be pensioners and middle-class investors than
millionaire "fat cats." Unlike individual tax rates, corporate
tax brackets do not correspond to the income or wealth of the
individuals who own the companies. A lower maximum corporate
rate, applied to all corporate ii. ome , would be fairer than a

surtax on a minority of larger co panies.

The Administration also has proposed raising the top
individual rate to nearly 40% (almost 41% for the vast majority
of high-income taxpayers, who are also subject to a disguised
rate increase through the cutback in itemized deductions). This

steep jump from the current 31% top rate is another step back
from the 1986 Act and will affect some trucking companies that
are taxed as S corporations, partnerships or proprietorships.

RECOMMENDATION: Do not increase corporate or individual
rates .

BUSINESS MEAL DEDUCTION

The Administration has proposed to limit the deduction for
business meals and entertainment to 50% of cost rather than the
curren r'0%, effective January 1, 1994.

Such a change would be very unfair to medium- and long-haul
trucking companies and their drivers (whether employees or

independent contractors), who incur a large amount of legitimate
and unavoidable business meal expenses. Many drivers must eat
all meals away from home 200 or more days per year. These meals
are eaten at truck stops and other modest establishments. The
meals are clearly ordinary and necessary business expenses and
are anything but lavish or frivolous. The drivers either are
reimbursed for those meals at the federal per diem rates of $26
to $38 per day, or make use of IRS meal allowance rules that

permit them to claim these legitimate business expenses. Denying
50% of that modest, unavoidable expense is not fair tax policy.

RECOMMENDATION: Do not cut back the deduction for meals, at
least for meals that do not exceed the top federal per diem rate.

LONGER WRITEOFFS FOR STRUCTURES

The Administration has proposed to give limited relief from
passive loss rules to real estate professionals. The revenue
loss from this change is to be made up by stretching out the

depreciation period for structures, including trucking terminals
and warehouses, to 36 or 37 years, from 31.5 years currently.

Few trucking companies would benefit from the passive loss
relief. Yet any carrier (or other business) that builds, expands
or extensively remodels a terminal or other facility would have
to recovv • its depreciation costs more slowly under these
changes .

RECOMMENDATION: Do not penalize owners of nonresidential
structures by lengthening depreciation periods.

INVESTMENT TAX CREDIT

The Administration has proposed a two-tier ITC. Businesses
with gross receipts under $5 million would be eligible for a
permanent credit on all equipment; larger businesses would be
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eligible for a temporary credit (through 1994) on purchases that
exceed a certain percentage of historical investment. Credit
percentages would vary according to the depreciation recovery
period assigned to each asset type. A large number of other
rules would further limit the amount of credit on each
investment .

Our judgment is that neither the permanent small-business
ITC nor the temporary incremental ITC would provide any s ort- or

long-term investment stimulus in the trucking industry.

Many trucking companies invest primarily in tractors (the
power units that pull trailers). Other investment dollars go
heavily for trucks (power units with attached cargo space) and
trailers. Even the maximum credit rates for these asset classes,
as shown in the table below, are too low to provide effective
stimulus to investment. Further restrictions on companies
subject to recapture or basis adjustment, minimum tax, net
operating loss, aggregation, startup, passive-loss, at-risk and
other rules water down the benefit still more.

MAXIMUM ITC RATE AND TAX SAVINGS FOR TYPICAL TRUCKING ASSETS

Small carriers Large carriers
'93-94 Post-'94 '93-94 Post-'94

ITC rate on :

Tractor 2.33% 1,67% 1.17%
Truck or trailer 4.67% 3.33% 2.33%

Maximum tax savings on :

$50,000 tractor S 770 $ 550 $ 385
$50,000 truck or trailer 1540 1100 770

Note: Maximum tax savings equal percentage shown times
$50,000, less 34% basis adjustment or recapture. If
Administration's proposed 36% corporate rate is

adopted, many large carriers would save even less.

Truck leasing companies are particularly concerned a' nut the
incremental credit. Unless appropriate anti-abuse rules t e

written, their customers would have an incentive to switch from
leasing to purchasing equipment so as to get an ITC. The
Treasury has acknowledged the need to avoid this tax-driven
result, but crafting effective rules may not be easy.

The more restrictions that are imposed to limit abuses or
revenue losses, the more money and effort businesses must expend
in trying to understand and comply with the rules instead of
actually investing. On the other hand, with or without detailed
rules, the tax treatment of similarly situated companies is
likely to vary.

The case has not been made that an ITC provides very
effective short-run stimulus, or that it is a fair way to help
business in the long run. And, even though most trucking
companies have less than $5 million in gross receipts, they
benefit more from tax changes that help the economy as a whole
than from changes targeted onl ' at certain small businesses.
Furthermore, the nearly $30 ji .lion cost of the ITC proposals
over fiscal 1994-98 requires unacceptable increases in other
taxes as a result.

RECOHHENDATION: Scrap both forms of ITC and use the savings
to eliminate the petroleum differential in the BTU tax, the
corporate and individual tax rate increases, or the cutback in
the business meal deduction. Any of these changes would be
fairer and less complex.
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AMT DEPRECIATION RELIEF

The Administration has proposed to simplify and slightly
liberalize the depreciation calculation for alternative minimum
tax (AMT) purposes. We applaud this long-needed step, which will
help all businesses in a nondiscriminatory fashion at minimal
revenue cost. In fact, the revenue loss should be even less than
the Treasury and Joint Committee on Taxation staffs have
estimated, given the savings on compliance that both taxpayers
and the Internal Revenue Service should realize from eliminating
this arduous calculation.

RECOHHENDATION: Adopt AMT depreciation simplification and
relief, with the earliest possible effective date.

MACROECONOMIC EFFECTS AND CONCLUSION

The Administration has proposed a complex set of tax and
spending cuts and increases, w ich are intended to achieve a

combination of short-term stimulus and higher long-term growth
through better-targeted government spending and lower deficits.

These proposals will have mixed effects on trucking.
Probably the most important effects are the macroeconomic ones:
the impact on growth, employment and inflation. On that score,
we would make two observations. First, there is a lot of
skepticism in the trucking industry as to whether spending and
tax "stimulus" is likely to be needed, effective or desirable.
Many trucking executives would prefer to skip bot^i the stimulus
and as many of the tax increases as possible and get immediately
to deficit reduction, primarily through spending cuts.

Having said that, however, the trucking industry is

certainly willing to make its share of sacrifices, if that will
contribute to long-run, noninf lationary growth. But we believe
any sacrifices must be fairly shared. We do not believe we
should be singled out to pay more than our share for national
goals— be they short-term stimulus, long-term investment or
deficit reduction— that are intended to benefit everyone.

Prepared Statement of A.W. Dahlberg

Mr. Chairmem and Members of the Committee:

I an A. W. Dahlberg, President and CEO of Georgia Power Company.
Georgia Power is the largest subsidiary of The Southern Company,
one of the largest investor-owned electric utility holding
companies. The Southern Company serves nearly 3.4 million
customers in the states of Georgia, Florida, Alabeima, And

Kiriissippi. I appreciate the opportunity to appear tc lay
1 ej-resenting the Edison Electric Institute (EEI) to express our

strong opposition to the Administration's Btu energy tax proposal.

EEI is the association of electric utility companies. Our members
serve 99 percent of all customers served by the investor-owned
segment of the industry. We generate approximately 78 percent of
all electricity in the country and provide electric service to 76

percent of all ultimate electricity customers in the Nation.

EEI strongly supports the policy goals of the President and the
Congress to reduce the federal budget deficit and to promote a

strong economic recovery. We have consistently supported these
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efforts. Difficult decisions will have to be made involving how
much and which spending reductions and tax increases, if any, are
needed in order to strengthen the economy and reduce the deficit.
We believe that deficit reduction should occur principally through
spending reductions and, only if a tax increase is necessary, a
broad-based consumption tax rather than a Btu energy tax should be
enacted.

EEI strongly advocates sound economic, environmental, and energy
policies. These policies should be developed so that they are in
consonance with one another. Congress enacted new and strengthened
environmental and energy statutes in 1990 and 1992. The proposed
Btu energy tax must be examined in light of what has already been
enacted and the proposal's economic cost. We believe the net
effect of the proposed Btu energy tax will result in unsound
economic, environmental and energy policy.

Overview of Btu Energy Tax

The Administration has proposed a Btu energy tax which would tax
energy at various points in the fuel use chain. The proposal
significantly revises our Nation's energy policy by altering the
economics of energy through a complex tax on different forms of
energy at different levels.' The tax artificially alters the
relative price of fuels, sometimes taxing at two different rates,
and places disparate tax burdens on competing energy and
electricity suppliers. The revised Btu energy tax proposal places
most of the tax burden on electric and gas utilities, oil refiners,
and importers of refined petroleum products, while many other
energy producers bear no economic risks associated with the tax and
some may receive a competitive advantage due to the tax, some even
a windfall. The proposed Btu energy tax would make our Nation's
products less competitive in the international market place, impose
significant additional burdens on the energy industry at the same
time as it is implementing changes to comply with the recently
enacted Clean Air Act Amendments of 1990 (CAAA) and the Energy
Policy Act of 1992, and cause regional dislocation by
disproportionately increasing consumer costs. We urge you to
reject the Btu energy tax.

Economic lapact

The U.S. economy is the strongest economy in the world, and worker

productivity is higher than in any other nation. The significant
growth in the use of electricity (a doubling since 1970) continues
to support these goals. At the same time, the overall energy
efficiency of the economy has improved substantially. Today, the
U.S. uses 25 percent less energy per dollar of GDP than in 1970.

Against this background, Btu taxes would have unintended and
undesirable economic impacts. The productivity of the nation would
decline. This is because the Btu energy tax will reduce economic

growth, cause jobs to be lost, and increase inflation. Since a

large tax increase would be imposed on a small base (energy
expenditures account for only about 8 percent of GDP) , its negative
impact is greater than many other poss ib. e revenue raising choices.

The harmful impact of the Btu energy tax on the Nation's GDP is

confirmed by a recent study conducted by the National Association
of Manufacturers. This study estimated that the proposed Btu energy
tax could reduce GDP by more than one-half percent in 1996, 1997
and 1998 and reduce employment by more than 600,000 jobs, when the
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Btu energy tax is fully phased In.^ Other studies have shovm lower
job losses, depending upon the effectiveness of monetary policy to
accommodate the tax changes; however, all major studies have
consistently shown a negative impact on the economy resulting from
the proposed Btu energy tax. In our view, while the magnitude of
the impact may be in question, the direction is not. A Btu energy
tax will harm the economy.

The harmful effects of the Btu tax stem from the inherent
inefficiency associated with this type of tax. A recent DRI (Data
Resources Incorporated) analysis of the Administration's Btu tax
proposal indicates that GDP will decline by $25 billion in 1997
when the tax is fully phased-in.^ This suggests that GDP decreases
by more than a dollar for every new dollar of tax revenue. On the
other hand, a broad-based sales or consumption tax has a cost to
the economy of approximately 26 cents for every dollar of tax
revenue.' Thus, the Btu energy tax is a less efficient tax which
will needlessly constrict the economy and reduce the number of
American jobs.

International Competitiveness
The importance of international competitiveness to the American
economy should not be understated. In 1; 12, growth in U.S. exports
accounted for one-third of the Nation's .1 percent growth in GDP.
Without question, the Btu tax will adversely effect U.S.
competitiveness as the price of U.S. produced goods and services
rises in consonance with higher energy prices. By imposing a tax
that foreign competitors escape, relative U.S. costs rise and our
competitiveness declines and GDP will decline. This will harm our
balance of payments in two w^ys. First, impoirts into the United
States will compete more effectively against domestic producers.
Second, foreign competitors will be in a stronger position to
capture the export customers of U.S. producers. In short, U.S.
costs go up, foreign competitors' costs do not. Ironically, the
effect of the proposed Btu energy tax is to serve as a subsidy for
foreign imports since these goods will be exempt from this tax.

Some have argued that, because U.S. energy costs are relatively low
in comparison to other countries, our economy could withstand
imposition of this tax. Although several of our largest trading
partners in Europe and the Pacific Rim have higher gasoline taxes,
they have generally rejected other unilateral broad-based energy
taxes as too harmful to their domestic economies and international
competitiveness*. We cannot afford to lose our competitive
position.

National Association of Manufacturers (February 24, 1993).
Testimony of Jerrv J. Jasinowski. President. National Association
of Manu facturers. On the Comparative Merits of the Administration's
Enercrv Tax Proposal and a Broad-Based National Consumption Tax.
Before the Committee on Energy and Natural Resources. United States
Senate. (Washington, DC), p. 15.

^DRI/McGraw-Hill (March 25, 1993). Data Resources Summary
Table for the U. S. Economy - Administration's Btu Tax Alone Without
Federal Reserve Accommodation . (Washington, DC) .

'Jorgenson, Dale W. and Kun-Young Yun. (November 1990) . The
Excess Burden of Taxation in the United States . HIER Discussion
Paper No. 1528. Harvard University. (Cambridge, MA), pp. 504-505.

* lEA Coal Research (August 1990) . Market Mechanisms for
Pollution Control ; Impacts for the Coal Industry. (Washington, DC) .
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Customer Effects
The burden of the Btu energy tax will fall unevenly across income

classes, industries and regions of the economy. It is estimated
that 27 percent of the additional revenue raised by the
Administration's total tax package will fall on energy consumers'.

EEI has estimated the percentage cost increases on electricity for
each of our customer classes resulting from the proposed Btu energy
tax. The Btu energy tax will cause the average price of

electricity for our customer groups to increase as follows:

Overall Residential gommercial In<JMs1;ri9l
Percent 4.5% 3.7% 4.0% 6.2%
Increase'

A tax on an essential service such as electricity would be

especially regressive for residential consiuners as it is not based
on the ability to pay. The proposed Btu energy tax is a major tax
increase on low and moderate-income households and senior citizens.
These households spend a greater proportion of their income on

energy needs and generally are hard-pressed to pay for additional
measures to conserve energy. A recent study by the Environmental
Protection Agency found that consumers in the bottom 20 percent of
incomes spend 7.5 percent of their incomes on energy consumption
versus those consumers in the top 20 percent of incomes, who spend
only 4.7 percent.' This tax will fall on the elderly and others
on fixed-incomes at a time when lower investment earnings and

skyrocketing health care costs already are decreasing their
standards of living. This is the worst type of regressive tax in
that it is placed directly on essential services such as home

heating, cooking and lighti j.

We applaud the Administration's desire to coxinter the

regressiveness of the proposed Btu energy tax. However, we believe
that the measures proposed by the Administration such as increased

funding for LIHEAP (Low Income Home Energy Assistance Program) , the
Earned Income Tax Credit, food stamps and weatherization programs
will not counter, for many taxpayers, the regressive nature of the

proposed Btu energy tax because of eligibility, participation, and

funding difficulties. As an example, LIHEAP serves less them 25%
of eligible households.

Our industrial customers, of all customer classes, bear the

greatest percentage increase in their cost of energy from the

proposed Btu energy tax. In some regions of the Nation, the
increase in the cost of electricity will exceed 10 percent for
industrial consumers.' With such price increases, there will be

regional and industry dislocations along with associated job
losses. Basic industries, such as steel, aluminum, chemical,
paper, agriculture, airlines, cement, fertilizer manufacturing,
glass, and plastics which consume large amounts of energy will be
significantly and adversely affected by energy teuces. Farmers also

' Administration's Revenue Proposals.

* Edison Electric Institute (1993). fPjT sinmnarv of President
Clinton's Btu Enerov Tax Proposal. (Washington, DC) .

' The Distributional Impacts QJi a CarbfiD—ISXj. U.S.

Environmental Protection Agency, Energy Policy Branch. (May 27,

1992). Washington DC, p. 8.

* Edison Electric Institute (1993). gowpunv ^^Htimate of Btu
Enercfv Tax. (Washington, DC) .



168

will be affected. At a time when industries need to concentrate
resources on productivity improvements and developing new markets
and products, resources would be diverted to pay for a Btu energy
tax.

In o,ddition, included in the Administration's Btu energy tux

proposal is a provision that calls for Btu energy tax rates to be
indexed to inflation after 1997. This indexing provision would
cause an inflationary spiral with Btu energy taxes contributing to

higher inflation and higher inflation contributing to even higher
Btu energy tax rates.

Regional Disparities
As mentioned earlier, a Btu energy tax will result in regional
disparities, and its impact will vary across different states. For
instance, those utilities which burn significant amounts of
residual oil will bear a larger tax burden due to the supplemental
energy security tax. The floor stocks tax and the indexation
component of the tax will also cause regional disparities. The
chart below shows some geographic disparities of the Btu tax.

BILLIONS

TOTAL
BTU TAX
BY STATE

(Inoludlng Net Interatata)

Elactric Flowa

TX C* MV LA FL IL m OM Ml HJ IN QA «M HC Mk TH MA WO AL KT W1 OK MM MD SC

STATES

Source: State Energy Data Report 1960-1990. Table 4, p. 21

Utilities which maintain a large inventory of coal and, even more
so oil, will pay a larger floor stocks tax than those utilities
which rely on other fuels. Our preliminary estimate of the
industry's floor stocks tax payments is $1.1 billion over the
three-year phase-in period of the tax. Because different utilities
rely on different fuels, the floor stocks tax will accelerate and
increase the tax payments of electric utilities in certain regions
of the county.

On a state and local level, many jurisdictions across the country
impose piggyback taxes on utilities such as taxes on gross receipts
or on the sales price. Because some utilities are subject to
higher state and local taxes than other utilities, the piggyback
tax effect exacerbates regional distortions. For example,
piggyback taxes vary from zero to more than 15% throughout the
coiintry .
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Environmental and Energy Pellcy

The Administration has said that the main goals of the Btu energy
tax are to promote energy conservation, encourage energy
efficiency, reduce pollution and reduce the deficit. However, the
costs of an energy tax are unlikely to lead to any meaningful
environmental benefits. The imposition of energy taxes increases
the likelihood that production activities which are negatively
affected will seek locations elsewhere in the world where
environmental regulations are less stringent. Thus, if this
occurs, global emissions may actually rise.

Substantial environmental improvements are already being achieved
and will continue to be achieved under existing U.S. laws and
regulations without the necessity of a Btu energy tax. Between
1970 and 1989, air pollution declined significantly: particulates
fell 61%, sulfur dioxide 26%, carbon monoxide 40% and volatile
organic compounds 31%.' In 1972, the Nation spent about $17
billion on pollution abatement and control.^" By 1990, these
expenditures had risen to $90 billion according to the U.S.
Department of Commerce. ^^

Electricity is already substantially "taxed" because of the costs
to achieve this compliance with environmental regulation. For
instance, electric utilities spend billions of dollars each year to
comply with numerous environmental statutes. The CAAA alone are
expected to add $3 to $4 billion to consumer electric bills
annually.

^^

Both the CAAA and the recently passed Energy Policy Act of 1992
included significant provisions to encourage conservation and to
protect the environment. The CAAA, when fv ly implemented, are
estimated to cost the U.S. economy at least $21 billion annually.

^^

It makes sense to allow these statutes to be fully implemented and
to review their benefits to the environment before placing
increased costs on the energy sector of the economy.

The Energy Policy Act of 1992 sets out an energy policy designed to
meet future energy requiremfents for the Nation. Among other
provisions, this legislation encourages increased emphasis on
conservation and alternative energy resources. Energy efficiency
progreuns in existence before this legislation represented a

significant dedication of resources on the part of electric
utilities toward conservation goals. For example, over $2 billion
was spent by the industry for energy efficiency programs in 1992^*.
Our industry currently has over 2,000 energy efficiency programs in
place. ^' The progrcuns already in existence and those yet to be

' Council of Economic Advisors (January 1983) . Economic Report
of the President. (Washington, DC), p. 231.

'" Bureau of Economic Analysis, U.S. Department of Commerce.
Survey of Current Business. (Washington, DC), p. 35.

"
Ibid., p. 36.

" Office of Air and Radiation, Environmental Protection Agency
(November 15, 1992). Implementing the 1990 Clean Air Act; The
First Two Years. (Washington, DC), p. 39.

"
Ibid, p. 17.

^* Barakat & Chamberlin, Inc., and EPRI (December 1992). Ippagt
of the Electric Utilitv Sponsored DSM Programs on Future CVtstgmgr
Electricity Demand. EPRI Research Project 2863-8. 3rd Ed., (Palo

Alto, California), p.ES-17.

" Plexis Research, Inc. for EPRI. (January 1993) gURIS; PSM
Survey Information System. (Donegal, PA), p.l.
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developed in accordance with the Energy Policy Act will be far more
constructive than a Btu energy tax in achieving energy efficiency
goals.

It is important to emphasize that America consvuned substantially
less energy per unit of GNP in 1990 than it has over the prior
twenty years as is highlighted by the chart below. One reason

ENERGY Cy NSUMPTION PER UNIT OF QNP
(Ttiousand BTU Per S)

tgso

Source: Arthur Andersen/Cambridge Energy Research
Associates. Table 2, p. 57.

for expected gains in energy efficiency along with continued growth
in the use of electric power is that electricity is a more
efficient and environmentally sensitive energy source in many
applications where it ' " replacing direct fuel combustion at the
point of end use. El ctricity, as a percent of total energy
consumption, has grown from 15 percent in 1950 to 37 percent in
1990.^*

For example, electricity also is being used in high-tech
applications that lack alternative power sources, e.g. computers
and automation. Examples of the use of electrotechnologies that
are more efficient than technologies using other fuels include:
electric arc furnaces, induction heating, microwave drying, plasma-
fired technology, and freeze concentration in the chemical, food,
glass, paper, timber and petroleum industries. The future is one
in which the combination of improving energy efficiency and greater
electrification will continue.

The electric utility industry has supported efforts to establish
sound energy policies, e.g., the policy of domestic self-reliance.
As a result, the industry's fuel mix has changed since the 1970s,
when the oil embargo caused the industry to reduce its reliance on
oil in the production of electricity. During 1991, approximately
55 percent of the electricity produced by the industry was

generated from coal, 22 percent from nuclear, 10 percent from

hydro, 9 percent from natural gas, 4 percent from oil which is down
from 16 percent in the 1970s, and less than one percent from other

'^Energy Information Administration (1991. ftrn"'^1 Tjjpercry Review
1991 . (Washington, DC), p. 15.
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sources, such as solar, wind, wood, waste and geothermal .
'"^ The

New York Times singled out the electric utility industry as

responding positively to the energy crisis of the 1970s J' As a

Nation, we should be encouraging the use of electricity for
environmental, energy and economic policy reasons, not discouraging
it with the proposed Btu energy teix.

ZBtpleaentation Concerns

Other reasons why this tax is unwise and should be rejected include
the numerous implementation problems. These problems, as more
fully explained below, involve price signals for efficiency, the

ability to recover the tax, the loss of tax benefits if recovery is

not granted, additional costs due to state and local piggyback
taxes, competitive issues, and potential price distortions, some of
which create winners and losers due to existing contracts. Some of
these examples demonstrate the problems of trying to "fix" the tax

by simply addressing the problems of implementation.

The Administration has indicated that it believes that an energy
tax will be effective in achieving energy conservation. To achieve
this effect, the Administration, through Secretary Bentsen, has
stated that the tax must be imposed on ultimate customers. As
presently proposed, the tax would be imposed on the utility and/or
fuel suppliers, and therefore the tax does not achieve the
Administration's stated goal. For electric utilities, this means
the tax should be imposed at the retail level. This is the level
at which decisions are made on electricity usage and energy
efficiency measures. Because of this decision-making, it is most
important that the ultimate product-user achieve the price signal
from the increased taxes. This signal could very well be muted by
rate recovery difficulties which are discussed in the next

paragraph.

Since the Administration's proposal puts the liability t r and
payment of the tax on the utility, with the exception of petroleum
products and natural gas purchased from a local distribution
company, there is no clear and easy process for recovering the
cost. The various regulatory jurisdictions have unique formulas
for ratemaking and cost recovery. Some companies have fuel
adjustment clauses (FAC) . These FACs may or may not be broad
enough to recover fuel-related taxes. Further, because the point
of collection in the Administration's proposal resides at different
points in the production, transportation, purchase and generation
cycle for different fuels, some elements of the tax may be
recoverable through FACs while others will not.

If there is no existing procedure such as a FAC to recover the tax,
the mechanism to recover this tax will be a general rate case or a

single-issue rate case. Most jurisdictions will not entertain
single-issue rate increases; general rate cases are very time- and
resource-intensive, requiring significemt administrative costs to
be incurred by utilities, regulatory agencies and interveners.

Any Btu tax proposal should not penalize utilities with the loss of
other tax benefits in cases where regulators don't permit recovery
of the tax or where it is not possible to do so. Such a
requirement may not work because of rate moratoria or for other
valid business reasons that preclude an increase in electric rates

^' Edison Electric Institute (1992). Statistical Yearbook of
the Electric utilitv Industrv/1991. (Washington, DC), p. 29.

^' The New York Times. (August 25, 1992). Oil? Nation's
Utilities Are Not So Worried. (New York) .
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to recover the tax. This proposal, in effect, subjects utilities
to "double jeopardy." In such a situation, not only will a utility
be unable to recover some or all of the cost of the tax as
envisioned by the Administration, but it will have to pay a further
penalty by being denied other tax benefits — so far vmdefined —
thus further increasing the utility's costs and decreasing its cash
flow, and in turn customers' costs.

As mentioned previously in our dis'^u'sion of regional disparities,
another problem is the so-called "i iggyback" effect of state and
local taxes. The current tax burden on electric utilities and
their customers, including federal, state and local taxes, is eu&ong
the highest of any industry. As an example, the electric utility
industz-y currently bears an average state and local tax burden that
is more than twice that imposed on all other business sectors.^'
One of the largest components of a utility customer's bill is for
taxes. In many states, 20 percent or more of a customer's electric
bill is for taxes either charged directly to the customer or
indirectly through taxes paid by electric utilities. This does not
include the taxes built into the price of products and services
which utilities buy.

The proposed Btu energy tax will have a compounding effect when
additional taxes, i.e., gross receipts, franchise fees, sales taxes
and other utility taxes are automatically increased due to an
energy tax imposed on electric utilities. The increase in these
"piggyback" taxes is significant and adds to the customers' cost.
These piggyback tax costs are a direct result of the way the
proposed Btu tax is imposed. Because the Btu energy tax is imposed
upon the utility and/or its fuel costs, these piggyback taxes will
automatically increase. If the Btu energy tax were imposed at the
retail level, which is consistent with the energy conservation and
environmental goals of the Administration, these additional
piggyback tax costs generally would be avoided resulting in lower
costs for utility customers.

Also, the differing Btu tax rates applied to fuel sources and the
point in the supply chain at which the tax is imposed will affect
competition among various fuels. Cer*-ain fuel supply contracts may
be indexed to the price of other fv ds subject to differing tax
rates under the proposed Btu energy tax. Unless the tax is on the
ultimate consumer, unanticipated distortions of current
relationships among energy sources and double taxation are
inevitable. For exeimple, under the Administration's revised Btu
energy tax proposal, oil is taxed at the refinery tailgate.
Because certain natural gas supply contracts are indexed to the
price of oil, the cost of the gas will increase due to the tax on
the oil, and the utility which purchases the gas from the pipeline
also will have to pay the tax on the gas itself. This results in
a situation wherein the gas supplier earns a windfall profit,
possibly $0.599/MMBTU and utility customers are charged
$0.856/MMBTU due to the energy tax. These factors, if not taken
into account, could have an adverse and unanticipated impact on
energy competition and increase customers' costs.

In attempting to solve these implementation problems, it has been
suggested that this Btu tax be imposed at the retail level, i.e.,
in the form of an excise tax. This would address the problem of
recovercibility; avoid the piggyback effect, thus reducing costs to
consumers; and avoid potential price distortions. It, of course,
would not avoid the fundamental economic concerns with the tax
which we have outlined.

TTv^nT
Edison Electric Institute. (1993) Analvsis of the Electric

UtUlty Industry 1Q91 Tax Rnrri^p , (Washington, DC) .
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CompetitiTe Issues

The Administration's modified Btu energy tax contains a niimber of

provisions that directly affect the competitive balance within the

electricity industry. Independent Power Producers (IPPs) with
fixed price contracts entered into before the date of enactment
basically escape having to pay an energy tax. Instead, a special
tax is imposed upon the purchasing utility equal to the tax that
would have been paid by the IPP had the exemption not existed. The
Administration's objective in moving the tax further downstream in
the direction of the ultimate custor ex is to ensure that IPP's are
not subjected to the tax on itt .uel purchases without any
opportunity for recovery.

We have several concerns about this proposal. First, there is no

statutory definition of an IPP: Qualifying Facilities (QF) under
PURPA are apparently included, but the Treasury's statement is not

explicit in this regard. Also, it is not clear whether the small
number of entities which are not QFs, but "non-traditional"
utilities regulated by FERC, are included as IPPs.

Next, the term "fixed price contract" is not defined. Contracts
for purchase of QF capacity and/or energy are quite varied; there
is no clear way to classify them into discrete "fixed price" and
"variable price" groups. In a single contract, some price elements
may be fixed, while others are varieible.

There is a great variety of contractual terms and conditions in

power purchase agreements between QFs and utilities. An EEI survey
disclosed that some QF suppliers could, under their current
contracts, pass the Btu tax through to their utility customers.
Out of 54 responding utilities with QF suppliers, 9 answered "yes,"
31 answered "no," and 14 answered "varies." While a majority said
"no," a significant number said "yes," and uncertainty surrounded
many other responses.

In addition, the rates which many utilities pay QFs include
variable energy charges. As the cost of fossil fuel to the utility
increases or decreases, the utility's "avoided costs" change, and
so do the rates paid to the QF for power purchased by utilities.
Of 133 respondents to an EEI survey State Regulation of Non-
Utility Generation, 63 have rates of 1 As sort. Thus, the QFs in

question will receive a major windfall if payments to them go up
because of the effect of the tax on fuel and/or utility avoided
costs. This windfall translates into higher costs for consumers.
EEI has been collecting estimates from affected utilities on the
amount their payments will increase. Estimates received so far are
as high as $20,000,000 per utility annually.

Since "fixed price" is not defined, and since a rate with a
variable energy charge may contain a fixed capacity charge, it is

possible that a QF may receive, under the Administration's
proposal, both the windfall emd the right to (in essence) pass the
tax through. Others may exercise contractual rights to pass the
tax through, and still receive the windfall. In such instances,
the utility's customers will end up paying the tax twice.

Fuel purchased by a cogenerating QF is used in several processes,
including the production of electricity. Often, the generation of
electricity is a by-product. The fuel purchased must be allocated
eunong the various processes for purposes of calculating the tax
credit.

If IPPs, including QFs, with fixed price contracts are not taxed,
then equity requires similar treatment for utilities with fixed
price contracts that sell electricity to other utilities in the
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wholesale market. Many such contracts restrict rate changes, and
the Supreme Court has held that FERC usually cannot disregard such
restrictions.^" Allowing an exemption for IPPs, but not for
traditional utilities under the same circxmstances , is not
equitable and upsets the competitive balance within the electric
industry. In essence, it says that IPPs can be allowed to
circumvent their contracts, utilities cannot.

Also, with regard to imported electricity, under the
Administration's modified Btu tax, fuel supply contracts for gas
and electricity with prices linked to average fossil fuel costs can
result in higher payments to foreign suppliers, creating an
unintended windfall for them as fossil fuel prices in the U.S.
ir.'rrease because of the tax.

Bvmmaxj

In summary, EEI strongly opposes the proposed Btu energy tax
because it will be counterproductive in reducing the federal budget
deficit and promoting a strong economic recovery. If, after
spending reductions are made, additional revenues are needed, then
Congress should consider a broad-based consumption tax. Since a
broad-based consiimption tax is an option being considered for the
financing of health care reform, it appears logical to consider all

types of taxes at the same time. Energy expenditures account for

only about 8 percent of the GDP. A Btu energy tax, which by
definition is narrowly based, is simply an inequitable way for the
government to raise tax revenue by focusing only on energy and U.S.

produced goods and services.

A broad-based consumption tax could be spread uniformly across the
U.S. economy and would not unduly penalize particular businesses or
regions of the country. A Btu tax is more harmful to the economy
than a broad-based consumption tax. Unlike a Btu energy tax, a
broad-based consumption tax will not harm our international
competitiveness because it could be "border-adjustable" and, as
such, could be removed from U.S. exports and imposed upon foreign
imports. A broad-based consumption tax may also exempt essential
goods and services and thereby may not be as regressive as a Btu
energy tax. A broad-based consumption tax also could encourage
savings and investment, since the incidence of the tax is on the
ultimate consumer of all domestically-consumed goods and services.

ThL proposed Btu energy tax is unwise economic, environmental .nd

energy policy. It would seriously deunage the economic recovery,
and it will hurt U.S. international competitiveness. In addition,
the Btu energy tax alters our Nation's energy policy and would
result in questioned>le environmental benefits. If Congress
determines that the proposed tax should be enacted, the tax should
be structured in a way to address the problems with implementation
that I have discussed. This would minimize the piggyback tax
effects on our customers, minimize competitive distortions among
fuels and generators of electricity, and maximize the opportunity
to achieve the Administration's stated energy conservation and
environmental goals while keeping customer costs lower.

EEI appreciates the opportunity to present its views. We are ready
to assist this Committee and the Administration in their
deliberations on this matter.

^FPC v. Sierra-Pacific Power Company, 350 U.S. 348 (1956).
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Prepared Statement of Roger C. Dower

Thank you, Mr. Chairman, for this opportunity to testify. My name is Roger
Dower. I am Director of CUmate, Energy and Pollution Program at the World Re-
sources Institute, a non-profit environmental poUcy research center here in Wash-
ington.
The purpose of my testimony this morning is to construct a general context within

which the Administration's energy tax proposal should be considered. It is far too

easy to lose sight of the potential environmental and economic benefits of a broad-
based energy tax as we move into narrow debates on who and what to exempt.

I am sure that it is not necessary to remind this committee that the present U.S.
tax system is extraordinarily burdensome—impeding the ability of this country to

achieve increased productivity and growth. If raising revenues is going to part of
a credible deficit reduction package, then it is critically important that we select
taxes that impose as little penalty as possible on the economy—even better if you
can find taxes that actually provide a net plus. Our traditional sources of reve-
nues—payroll taxes, income taxes and taxes on capital

—hardly fit the bill. These

penalize precisely those activities that are essential to economic progress: work, sav-

ings, investment, and entrepreneurship. The afler-tax returns to work and savings
efforts are considerably reduced by taxes. As a result, people tend to work, save,
and invest less than thev would have done otherwise. Over time, the resulting lag
in the acquisition of skills, capital, and technology greatly reduces income and pro-
ductivity growth.^
Many efforts have been made to estimate the size of the excess burden of taxes

in the U.S. Even after the tax reforms of 1986, it has been estimated that the aver-

age excess burden of the tax system was 18 cents for each doUar collected.^ Applying
this estimate to 1990 federal tax revenues of about $1.1 trilUon, the cost to the econ-

omy in terms of reduced economic resources could be in the range of $200 billion

per year. Including state revenues of $800 billion from income, payroll, and excise
t£ixes raises the level of potential economic costs to £iround $340 billion

per year.'
The numbers cited above are based on average tax rates across all federal (and

state) revenues. But marginal tax rates are substantially higher than effective aver-

age rates. Thus, the efficiency costs of each new dollar raised by taxing economic
"goods" are much higher than the average burden across all dollars raised. Various
estimates of the marginal excess burden of taxes on labor earnings range from 30
to 48 cents for each dollar of additional tax revenue. The estimated marginal excess
burden of individual income tfixes, which fall partly on savings, is even higher, from
40 to 60 cents on the dollar.''

A broad-based energy tax, properly designed, offers a very different kind of alter-

native. Rather than distorting economic decisions, it corrects the market place as
well as raise revenues. The best case for a broad-based energy tax rests on very dif-

ferent grounds that more traditional sources of revenues.

A broad-based energy tax

Energy use is not an economic end in itself. There is no good economic reason to

encourage energy use through low energy prices. The graphs appended to this testi-

mony, taken from a WRI study published several years ago,^ illustrate the fact that

having low energy prices is not associated with faster rates of economic growth. This
is true for OECD countries and developing countries, energy exporting countries and
energy importers. Having low energy prices is not associated with having low rates

^ As a technical matter, this kind of economic loss is referred to as excess burden and is a
measure of the true welfare cost of taxation. A useful review of the theory and estimation of

efficiency losses from taxation can be found in: Ballard, C.L., "Marginal Efficiency Cost Cedcula-
tions for Different Types of Government Expenditures: A Review," 1991.
^This is based on estimates provided in Jorgenson, Dale W. and Kun-Young Yun. "The Excess

Burden of Taxation in the U.S.," HIER Discussion Paper No. 1528 (Cambridge: Harvard Univer-
sity, November 1990) which calculated an average efficiency cost of the entire tax system to be
18 percent.
^The federal and state revenue estimates for 1990 were derived from U.S. Government, Eco-

nomic Report of the President with the Annual Report of the Council of Economic Advisers
(Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing Office, February 1991), Tables Bl and 32.

* These estimates are drawn from the following sources: Edgar Browning, "On the Marginal
Welfare cost of Taxation," American Economic Review, March, 1987; Charles Ballard, "Marginal
Efficiency Cost Calculations for Different Types of Govt. Expenditure: A Review," paper pre-
sented at the Australian conference in Applied General Equilibrium Analysis, Melbourne, Aus-
tralia, May, 1991; Dale Jorgenson and Hun-Young Yun, "The Excess Burden of Taxation in the
United States," Harvard Institute for Economic Research, Cambridge, Mass. November, 1990.
^Mark Kosmo, Money to Burnl, World Resources Institute, Washington, D.C., October, 1987.
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of inflation, with having a favorable balance of trade, or with attaining any other

economic objective. There is simply no connection.

What having low energy prices is associated with quite strongly is having low

rates of energy efficiency and low rates of improvement in energy efficiency. The
last two graphs show this very clearly. This was true in the 1980s, and I would haz-

ard that it remains true in the 19908.

If there is no particular virtue in using lots of energy, is there any harm? Well

for one thing, the U.S. is a net energy importer, and net energy imports accounted

for more than two-thirds of our overall trade deficit. Moreover, the U.S. is a suffi-

ciently large importer that our demand has some marginal impact on world oil

prices, in tne sense that moderating our demand would help keep those prices sta-

ble.

Further, as Dan Yergin's recent book The Prize ably pointed out, control of world

energy supplies has been a source of international armed conflict throughout this

century. cTonflicts in the Persian Gulf continue this tradition, exposing this country
to risks of militai-y involvement, disruption of supplies, or both. These are externals

cost associated with energy use, not captured in the prices paid by energy consum-
ers. People argue about their magnitudes, but nobody suggests they are trivial.

ENVIRONMENTAL EFFECTS

The other main category of external costs associated with energy use is environ-

mental. Throughout the fuel cycle, there are significant environmental damages. At
the extraction stage, there are problems with land disturbance, mine drainage and

wastes, oil spills, ecological disruptions from hydroelectric storage, and so on. At the

conversion stage, there are impacts on water, land, and air Quality. Atmospheric
emissions in the U.S. still total 20 million tons of SO,, 19 million tons of NOx, 62

million tons of CO, 17 million tons of VO,, and 7.5 million tons of particulates. The

large majority of these emissions emanate from energy use in transportation, elec-

tricity generation, and industrial processes.

Many of these impacts are addressed by environmental regulations, with varying

degrees of effectiveness. Nonetheless, it is clear that there are still significant envi-

ronmental damages associated with energy conversion and use that are not cap-
tured by market prices. Focussing just on electricity for a moment, I have included

in my testimony a table fi-om a recent EPA report.^ This table sunrimarizes a num-
ber of recent estimates of the environmental damages fi-om electricity generation at

current standards of pollution control, expressed in terms of cents per kwh. The

ranges of the estimates are quite wide, and I put no emphasis on the particular

numbers, but point out that even the low end of the ranges—for coal-fired plants,

for example—suggests that externalities due to air quality impacts
alone add ap-

proximately ten percent to generating costs. Although more ana more public utiUty

regulatory commissions throughout tne nation are experimenting with "adders" to

conventional cost calculations to reflect these environmental externalities, it re-

mains true that such damages are not adequately reflected in market prices.
In addition, perhaps the principal environmental externality associated with fossil

fuel combustion is the threat of climate change fi-om accumulation of CO2 and other

greenhouse gases. In its most recent assessment of the science of global warming,
the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (including scientists fi-om all oyer
the world) repeated its earlier finding that "emissions resulting fi-om humem activi-

ties are substantially increasing the atmospheric concentrations of the greenhouse
gases ..." and that "The evidence fi-om modelling studies, fi-om observations and

sensitivity analyses indicate that the response of global mean surface temperature
to doubling CO2 is unlikely to lie outside the range of 1.5 to 4.5 degrees centigrade.'
There is still great uncertainty about the risks such a shift in climate would entail,

but they are wideranging: coastal flooding, disruption of hydrological patterns, re-

gional drought, species extinction, ecological disturbances, and others. These poten-
tial costs are not reflected in current energy prices or regulations. Thus, energy

prices are now distorted because they do not reflect the full costs of energy conver-

sion and use.
A tax that moves energy prices toward full costs is not a distortionary tax; it is

a corrective tax, and improves the allocative efficiency of the economy. Energy users

tend to use energy excessively because the prices they face are less than the full

incremental costs. If set correctly, an energy tax should yield net economic gains,

®U.S. EPA, Air and Radiation Division, Renewable Energy Generation: An Assessment of Air

Pollution Prevention Potential, Wash. D.C., March, 1992.

'Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, 1992 IPCC Supplement, Working Group 1, Sci-

entific Assessment of Climate Change, World Meteorological Organization and U.N Environment

Program, 1992.
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not economic losses. This insight is absent from standard macroeconomic modelling
because such models are not constructed to recognize external costs. Rather, such

costs are assumed away, although they aire far from negligible in reality. Because
the proposed tax rates are

relatively
low and are phased in gradually, it is unlikely

that the proposed tax overshoots uie level that would correct for various external

costs.

The United States has ratified the Framework Convention on Climate Change,
adopting the goad of stabilizing CO2 emissions at 1990 levels by the end of the cen-

tury. One of the most cost-effective ways in which to reach that goal is through a
broad-based increase in the

price
of fossil fuels. This would provide market signals

throughout the economy to all direct and indirect energy users, preserving the maxi-

mum flexibility for innovation and market substitution. Of course, to address the

climate problem as the sole objective, the preferred instrument would be a carbon

tax, levied on fuels in
proportion

to their carbon content per BTU. A carbon tax

would fall relatively more neavily on coal than the modified BTU tax proposed by
the Clinton administration. But both are likely to have similar effects on C02 emis-

sions at least over the next decade.
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Figure 6. Real Growth Rates of Gross National Product and Retail/Border Price Ratios, Annual

Averages, 1973 to 1983*
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Figure 7. Percentage Changes in Current Account Balance and Retail/Border Price Ratios. Annual
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Figure 8. Inflation Rates and Retail /Border Price Ratios. Annual Averages, 1973 to 1983
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Figure 10. Commercial Energy Efficiency and Energy Prices. 1983
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Prepared Statement of William K. Drummond

I am William K. Drummond, Manager of the Public Power Council (PPC). PPC is a

trade association representing consumer-owned utilities - rural electric cooperatives,

public utility districts, and municipal utilities -- in the Pacific Northwest. Because of the

inherent inflationary and regressive nature of energy taxes, PPC has long opposed the

adoption of any form of energy tax. We applaud the Administration for taking

significant steps to mitigate these negative impacts and for exempting from taxation

energy conservation and nonconventional fuels. Nonetheless. PPC continues to

oppose the energy tax in its current form due to the excessive tax burden that would be

placed on consumers of hydroelectric energy

PPC believes that the Administration's proposed energy tax applies a scientifically

invalid heat rate to hydropower that results in excessive taxation of this energy source.

Correction of this portion of the energy tax would not violate "regional equity," nor

significantly reduce the revenue generated by this tax. Furthennore. failure to assign

the scientifically correct Btu value to hydropower will result in severe regional

economic dislocation and discourage the use of an important renewable resource.

Hydropower Is Central to Regional Power Supply and Economy

In order to appreciate the concerns of the Public Power Council with respect to the

hydropower portion of the energy tax, it is necessary to understand the role of

hydropower in meeting the region's energy needs and fueling the region's economy.

All of PPC's 115 member utilities meet a portioi of their total bulk power supply needs

through power purchases from the Bonneville Power Administration (Bonneville), and

Bonneville serves the entire bulk power needs of approximately 85 of these utilities.

Private power companies and certain large industrial consumers also receive large

blocks of power from Bonneville. The power that Bonneville markets is almost

exclusively generated at the federal multipurpose water projects of the Columbia River

system. For those regional utilities that are partial requirements customers of

Bonneville, utility owned hydro projects meet a large share of the remaining power
needs. Consequently, through federal and non-federal projects, hydropower

represents approximately 65 percent of the total electric generation of the region.

Much of the economy of the Northwest is based on the presence of reasonably priced

and reliable electric supplies. Aluminum plants, pulp and paper mills, chemical

companies, air processing facilities, and other energy-intensive industries have

located in the Pacific Northwest, at least in part, because of affordable electric rates.

As discussed further below, the price of electricity from the Bonneville Power

Administration is escalating at a rapid pace. Soon, many of the energy-intensive

industries in the region may be forced to close or relocate in Canada or overseas.

The region has been a she ct ie for conservation, fish mitigation and enhancement,
and multiple use of an interj»(ate waterway However, without competitive electric

rates, much of this success will be placed in jeopardy As additional costs are imposed
on the region's ratepayers, large industries will downsize, shut-down, or relocate,

households will witness an ever increasing portion of their income dedicated to energy
costs, and the ability of the region to finance these important programs will dwindle.

While some inside and outside the region have criticized the region's dependence on

hydropower -- or its good fortune in securing once seemingly endless supplies of low-

cost electricity
-- few can discount the importance of cost-competitive hydropower to

the economic vitality of the region.
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HvdroDower Taxed at Artificially High Rate

As the members of the Committee are aware, the Administration's energy tax is

purported to tax each fuel based on its heat content as expressed in British Thermal

Units (Btus). However, under the tax plan, hydropower Is taxed at nearly

three times Its actual Btu equivalency.

A kilowatt hour of electricity has a heat value of 3.413 Btus. This is an undisputed,

internationally recognized standard. Because hydropower projects operate, on

average, at 90 percent efficiency (e.g.. only 10 percent of the energy potential of falling

water is lost in generating electricity), the Btu value of one kilowatt hour of hydropower
is approximately 3,754 Btus. However, under the Administration's proposal, the tax on

hydropower is based on the Btu input of an average fossil fuel plant
-- 10,315 Btus per

kilowatt hour -- rather than the actual Btu equivalent of a kilowatt hour of electricity

generated by falling water.

This scientifically inaccurate and unjustifiable Btu value incorrectly assumes that

hydropower is as inefficient as fossil fuel fired generation and results in nearly a

tripling of the tax rate applied to hydropower. This excessive tax ignores the high

efficiency of hydropower and discourages the use of this important renewable energy

source.

Energy Tax Could Cripple Northwest Economy

While the Pacific Northwest is historically characterized as having low electric rates,

these rates are steadily rising. The pending Bonneville Power Administration rate

case is likely to result in at least a 1 5 percent rate increase. Resource acquisitions,

Endangered Species Act compliance, and sustained drought are likely to result in

additional rate increases of 20 percent over the next two years. The Administration's

PMA repayment initiative, if adopted, will add a 4 percent rate increase. If unadjusted,

the energy tax will add an additional 1 2 percent increase to current BPA rates.

Combined, the region could face a 50 percent increase in the cost of power within

three year .

As previously mentioned, the economy of the Northwest is particulariy energy

intensive, f^any large industrial consumers depend on low-cost energy supplies to

remain competitive in international markets. For instance, the cost of electricity

represents approximately one-third the cost of producing aluminum. According to the

Direct Services Industries, an association of large Northwest energy consumers,

aluminum plants in the Northwest pay average electric rates that are 20 percent higher

than their worid competitors. That differential will increase with adoption of the

pending rate case and would increase further under the energy tax.

Aluminum plants are not the only energy-intensive industries in the Northwest. Energy
costs are 25 to 35 percent of the cost of electrolytic chemicals produced in the region

and 7-20 percent of the cost of pulp and paper.

While the Administration's energy tax is clearly designed to generate revenue for

deficit reduction, this is not an end in itself. Rather, it is a means of achieving the goal

of long-term economic growth and fiscal health. If the oyerarching purpose of

the plan Is the restoration and maintenance of a strong economy, then it

must be recognized that economic conditions in the Pacific Northwest are

extremely fragile and unlilceiy to sustain the impact of the proposed
energy tax as currently calculated. Some examples of the weakness of the

Northwest economy include:
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• the world price of aluminum, due to dumping by the former Soviet Union, is

very low with little sign of improving. Aluminum companies directly employ

10.000 workers;

• Boeing has recently laid oft 27,000 wori<ers;

• the recovery of the endangered spotted owl has cost thousands of jobs in the

timber industry; and

• most major businesses are reducing their workforce and freezing salaries.

The current and future health of the region's economy is at stake. Access to cost-

effective energy supplies is the region's economic lifeline.

Reducing the tax rate for hydropower to the scientifically correct energy rate of 3.754

Btus would provide much need economic relief to the Northwest without dramatically

decreasing the total revenue generated by the energy tax. According to our

calculations, the reduction in tax receipts would be approximately $500 million per

year once the tax is fully phased in.

Because of the severe economic consequences of the resulting rate increase on

Northwest businesses and industnes, failure to adjust the ta> or hydropower will likely

result in a greater increase in the national deficit due to the li> elinood of industry latwr

reductions, shut-downs and relocations.

Hydropower Tax Causes Regional Inequity

Administration officials concede that the imputed Btu value for hydropower is not

scientifically justified. They suggest that the higher tax rate was necessary to create

equity in the impact of the energy tax on different regions of the country. While this

goal is understandable, in fact, the excessive hydropower tax appears to

impose a disproportionate burden on the Pacific Northwest.

According to a preliminary analysis based on Department of Energy data, the Pacific

Northwest is disproportionately impacted by the proposed energy tax;

• Montana has the sixth highest burden with a per capita tax impact 30 percent

higher than the national average;

• Washington comes in 12 with a per capita tax impact 20 percent above the

national average;

• Idaho ranks 19. with a per capifatax impact 5 percent above the national

average; and

• Oregon ranks 23, with a tax impact at the national average.

According to an analysis by the Washington State Energy Office, e average tax

burden on residents in the region would be 20 percent atxsve the national average. If

the Btu conversion rate for hydropower were correctly calculated,

residents in the region would pay only two dollars less than the national

average, and residents in some states would continue to pay above the national

average.

Some will point to the lower electric rates in the Northwest and question how the tax
on hydropower can be reduced without violating regional equity. It must be
understood that the higher than average tax burden in the region results primarily from
the petroleum surcharge due to long driving distances. According to the analysis of

DOE data, the tax on oil will comprise 52 - 64 percent of the total energy tax burden
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within the states in the region. The higher than average tax impact in the region also

reflects the more severe climate conditions (resulting in higher energy consumption for

space conditioning), and the presence of numerous energy intensive industries.

Correcting the Btu conversion rate for hydropower will not create a "windfall" for the

Northwest. Nor will this correction violate regional equity.

Value of Hydropower Should be Recognized

Finally it is important to recognize that the proposed energy tax is the first effort of the

Administration to fashion an energy policy The previously stated objectives of the

Administration's energy policy are the encouragement of energy conservation,

renewable resources, and environmentally sensitive fuel choices and the

discouragement of foreign energy dependence. Given these objectives, use of

existing hydropower projects should be advanced, not hindered. Hydropower:

•
displaces foreign energy supplies;

• is an important renewable resource, representing 85 percent of our domestic

renewable electric generating capacity;

• has less severe environmental impacts than traditional fossil-fired generation.
While dams have impacted fish and wildlife and riverine habitat, to date

Bonneville ratepayers have paid more than $1 billion to mitigate these

impacts and will continue to pay at least $300 million per year -- for the

foreseeable future - on additional fish and wildlife expenditures; and

•
its low-cost attributes, combined with enlightened utility planning, have
enabled the region to pioneer the nation's most aggressive energy
conservation program.

Accuracy. Equity, and Economy Justify Tax Rate Correction

PPC urges Congress to tax hyo power at its actual energy value of 3, 754 Btus.

Making this adjustment will ensure scientific consistency, regional equity, and
economic vitality.

Prepared Statement of Paul R. Fry

Mr. Chairman, Members of the Committee, I am Paul R. Fry, Deputy Executive Director of

the American Public Power Association (APPA). APPA is a national service organization
representing more than 1 .750 municipal and other local, publicly owned electric utility

systems. These utilities serve fifteen percent of the nation's electric consumers ~

approximately thirty-five million Americans.! Public power systems are owned by, and
are accountable to, the people they serve. APPA's member utilities are located in

forty-nine of the fifty states, only Hawaii is excepted.

I. SUSPENSION OF CATEGORICAL OPPOSITION TO ENERGY TAXES

We appreciate this opportunity to present our views on the Administration's
economic stimulus, public investment and deficit reduction proposals. I would like

to comment specifically on the proposed energy tax and then briefly address some
of the other provisions of particular interest to public power systems.

See attached charts for details of U.S. electric utility industry structure by ownership type, generating
capacity by fuel type, and fuel used for electric generation by state and region. Also attached are
estimated rate impacts of proposed Btu tax for selected public power systems.
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APPA has a history of opposition to energy taxes. This opposition has been based
on concerns about the inequitable regional distribution of the burden of such taxes,

the difficulty of ensuring fair and efficient administration, potential adverse effects

on international competitiveness and the fact that an energy tax is inherently

regressive.

Despite this history, there is a broad consensus of our membership that the fede li

budget deficit is a serious issue which must be addressed. The proposed Btu tax

is part of a proposal to deal with this issue. Accordingly, our organization has

suspended its policy of categorical opposition to energy taxes, and has

determined to work with others to perfect the Administration proposal so that it is

best formed to achieve its goals in a fair and efficient manner.

In general. APPA believes that any energy tax should treat different fuels, regions,
customer classes and electric industry sectors equitably, and should be structured

with an eye to fair and efficient administration. Additionally, tax revenues should be
used for the purpose of deficit reduction and the tax should contain a sunset

provision. Since energy taxes are regressive, steps should be taken to mitigate
this effect.

II. CONCERNS WITH PROPOSED BTU TAX

Since its original release, the Administration has issued a number of clarifications

and modifications of its proposal. Several of these clarifications and changes
respond directly to questions and criticisms APPA offered in i's initial response.
Examples include:

a) Exemption of hydroelectricity from pumped storage projects;

b) Treatment of fuel used in coal gasification plants as an exempt feedstock;

c) Addition of tire-derived fuels, methane from landfills and other biomass
fuels to the list of unconventional fuels which are exempt from the tax;

d) Clarification of the tax rate applicable to imported electricity; and

e) Reemphasis of support for collateral measures intend to mitigate the

regressive nature of the tax, such as increased funding for the low income
home energy assistance program (UHEAP) and weatherization assistance

for low-income households.

While we welcome and support these actions, there remain a number of other

features of the proposal which cause us concern.

A. Importance of Deficit Reduction

APPA members believe strongly that Btu tax revenues should be applied to

the goal of deficit reduction. This shared goal is the paramount reason APPA
has suspended its traditional opposition an energy tax. If the Administrations
economic program is successful, it could mean lower long-run costs for all

consumers. For example. Treasury Secretary Bentsen has argued that for

every tenth of a percentage point that long-term bond yields decline,

companies and individuals save ten billion dollars on interest payments. It is

essential, however, that energy tax revenues be applied to deficit reduction.

We would oppose the "earmarking" of any portion of the Btu tax revenues for

any other purpose.

B. Desirability of Sunset Provision

Furthermore, our members believe that the tax should not be perpetual.
Rather, it should have a "sunset" feature that cancels the Btu tax automatically
and coincidently with the end of the Administration's economic package. This

feature would trigger a mandatory review of the merits of the tax and its

contributions to the goal of deficit reduction.
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C. Root Stock Tax

We are concerned about the impact of the floor stock tax. This proposal
would apply the Btu tax to utility coal inventories as of the date of initiation of

the tax. There are circumstances which require some utilities to maintain very

large coal piles, as much as nine months' supply in some cases. For

example, in Michigan, some coal-fired electric generating plants rely upon
water transport of coal. Because of the seasonal icing of the Great Lakes, coal

piles must be built up to guard against the consequent interruption of coal

deliveries. Should the floor stocks tax be calculated when such inventories are

at their peak, the tax liability could be significant.

We are concerned about the cash flow burden that may be caused by the
collection of a retroactive tax on such large inventories. Since inventories have

yet to generate revenue for their owners, collection of the tax on unusually
large stockpiles should be spread over tine so as not to impose an
unreasonable burden on cash flow.

D. Design and Administration of Tax

APPA's position with respect to the collection points for the tax is driven by
concern for fair and efficient administration. If collecting the tax upstream,
nearer the point of production, means fewer taxpayers and. consequently, less

costly, surer administration, then that is the structure we prefer.

We understand that the Administration intends that the full burden of the Btu

tax be borne by the end users of energy. While others have advocated that full

pass through of the tax to ultimate consumers be mandated or coercively

"encouraged", this is not our position.

We suggest merely that pass through of the tax be neither prohibited nor
limited in any way, including the right to itemize the tax on customer bills.

Similarly, the allocation of the tax among a utility's customer classes should
remain within the sole discretion of the utility or appropriate regulatory body.

We endorse the Administration's position that there be no exemptions from
the tax based on the character of the purchaser. This makes it clear that

federal facilities will be responsible for their fair share of the tax as applied to

their electhcity bills.

E. Fairness

On the important issue of fairness, we believe more information is needed.
There is a willingness to accept shared sacrifice in order to deal with the

problem of deficit reduction, but the sacrifice must be distributed equitably.
Our membership would like to see a detailed, verifiable analysis of who will

bear the burden of the proposed tax. Such information is essential for the

evaluation of perceived inequities and the . edifications proposed for their

remedy. We do not believe that the inform. Jon released to-date is adequate
for this purpose.

III. PROVISIONS AFFECTING FEDERAL POWER MARKETING ADMINISTRATIONS

Hydro power is our nation's most abundant renewable resource, accounting for

approximately 12 percent of our total installed electric generating capacity. It will

continue to make a significant contribution to our energy mix. Federal policy
should encourage its use, both development of additional hydro power facilities

and relicensing of existing facilities.

APPA reaffirms its support for cost-based rates for electricity marketed by the

federal power marketing administrations (PMAs) and its opposition to changes in

the repayment practices of the PMAs. APPA opposes the provisions of the

Administration's economic package that would reduce net outlays for the PMAs by
$100 million annually beginning in FY 1996 and that would authorize "market

Incentives" tor energy conservation by PMA customers. Federal power customers
will share in paying the Btu tax on power marketed by the PMAs; it is unfair to levy

additional costs on these systems. The energy conservation market incentive

program is fraught with workability problems and violates the principle that federal

power should be distributed at cost-based rates.
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The proposal levies a si charge per acre-foot on water sales by Reclamation

projects. However, irrig. tOi s are required to repay their capital costs of these

Reclamation projects only to the extent of their financial ability; those capital costs

beyond the ability of irrigators to repay ultimately are repaid by power customers.

Any surcharge legislation and subsequent implementing regulations must specify
that this water surcharge shall not increase power customers' repayment
obligations.

Any Btu tax that is levied on PMA electricity production should be charged

proportionally to all beneficiaries of federal power. Thus, the tax should be applied
to PMA power distributed to federal agencies and to project power utilized for

irrigation features of Reclamation projects. Again, care must be taken in drafting

the legislation and implementing regulations to insure that none of these costs are

ultimately transferred to the repayment obligation of power customers due to

irrigators' limited ability to pay.

IV. OTHER PROVISIONS OF CONCERN TO PUBUC POWER

The Administration's proposal must be accompanied by other provisions that will

promote economic development, protect consumers from the regressive nature of

the Btu tax, and encourage various energy efficiency technologies. They include:

• The elimination of the $15 million private-use restriction placed solely on

public power (Section 141 (b)(4) of Title 26 of the Internal Revenue Code).
The Tax Reform Act of 1986 lowered the private use test applicable to tax

exempt bonds from 25% to 10%. Additionally, a separate limit was imposed
on public power. Section 141(b)(4) of the tax code provides that the private

use test for public power "output" facilities is to be the lesser of 10% or $15
million. Exceeding this amount of private use destroys the tax exemption of

the bonds issued for such facilities.

No hearings were held c . this special restrictive rule for public power. No
abusive practices were identified as justification for imposition of this separate
limit. No revenue estimate was made to determine whether it would result in a

net saving to the Treasury. In short, there was no policy foundation for the

enactment of this restriction in 1986, nor was there a financial justification.

This provision restricts public power's flexibility in developing, operating and

using bond-financed facilities. In some cases it causes less than optimum use

of generating facilities because of the extremely small amount of surplus

power that can be sold to nonexempt entities (typically, investor owned utilities

and rural electric cooperatives) without jeopardizing the tax exempt status of

the bonds.

This gratuitous restriction should be eliminated. It is in the public interest and
will contribute to more and sounder infrastructure investments by encouraging
valuable public-private cooperation that is in no way abusive of the privilege of

tax-exempt financing;

• The inclusion of tax-exempt bond simplification provisions contained in H.R.

13, the Tax Simplification Act of 1993. introduced recently by Chairman

Rostenkowski, along with additional tax-exempt bond simplification provisions

passed twice last year in H.R. 4210, the Tax Fairness and Economic Growth

Act of 1992 and H.R. 1 1 the Revenue Act of 1992, but vetoed by President

Bush. (This would include provisions to increase from $10 million to $; >

million the bank interest deduction small-issuer exception, and further s mplify

arbitrage rebate requirements); and

• Full funding for Section 1212 of the Energy Policy Act of 1992 (Public Law

102-486), which provides for an incentive payment program for qualifying

renewable energy facilities developed by consumer-owned utilities. Funding
of this provision is consistent with the purpose of the exemption of renewables

from the Btu tax and is necessary to achieve parity with the tax credit provided
to investor-owned utilities.

In addition, deficit reduction and increased public and private sector efficiencies

can be advanced by efforts designed to make the government more efficient. The
Administration must concentrate on cost-cutting efforts, as well as reducing

regulatory lag and taking steps to ensure better coordination and cooperation
between federal agencies.
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Lastly, APPA supports a number of energy and consumer assistance programs
already contained in the Administration's economic package, including in

particular the following: energy conservation and efficiency projects, particularly
those supporting research, demonstration and commercialization of electric

vehicles; joint ventures in support of research, demonstration and
commercialization of renewable energy and energy efficiency; magnetic levitation

and high-speed rail transportation; accelerating the development of a nationwide

broadband, interactive telecommunications network; reducing the backlog of

critical operation and maintenance items at Corps of Engineers and Bureau of

Reclamation projects; and providing additional job training and retraining.

Number of State and Local Publicly Owned Electnc Utilides, By State, 1991
Ficum indwic opcrionc |Oini laxm iscnocs

Aiaoama 37

Alaska 39

American Sanrtoa l

Arizona 25

Arkansas 15

California 46

Colorado 32

Connecticut 7

Delaware 9

Fionda 35

Georgia 53

Guam 1

idano 11

Illinois 42

Indiana 73

Iowa 138

Kansas 123

Kentucky 29

Louisiana 23

Maine 5

Maryland 5

Massacnusetts 42

Michigan 43

Minnesota 129

Mississippi 24

Missouri 91

Montana 1

Nebraska 159

Nevada 8

New Hampshire 5

New Jersey 9

New Mexico 7

New York 50

No»ih Carolina 75

North Dakota li

Ohio 85

Oklahoma 65

Oregon 17

Pennsylvania 34

Puerto Hico 1

Rhode Island 1

South Carolina 23

South Dakota 36

Tennessee 63

Texas 80

Utah .....43

Vermont 16

Virgin Islands 1

Virginia 16

Washington 43

West Virginia 2

Wisconsin 83

Wyoming 14

Tatol 2,026
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U.S. Electric Urilit)' Starisrics
I

I

Statistles lor publicly ownad aystMns. prtvat* aystMnm, cooparaliv* syctMiM and fadanU ytenw ai* iwMd on

Energy Intormatlon Admlnistratton Fonna EIA-MO and EIA-861. Soifw Mltusiniants hM« bMR mad* by APPA.

Numbor of UtlHUM 1M1
PuDiiciy ownea sysicns* 2.014

|

Private oowef cofTioanies .264
l

Coooerative systems 947

Feoerai power agenices" '0

TOTAL 3.235

'Reflcos only nvm utilities •moi tiie Fonn ElA.tt; no me Efcrgr Momvion Aumnfirmm
"'nuxs Aitna Po«er Aanmistrvion Bontcviiw Pomt Ojwiuujwjn SouOaaem PoMi AdnnanMn SomtMtsMn Ptnei Aaninaujiion Wesem Am Poocf

Aominisirjiion Fenneuee v^iey Autnorny u S Amiy Com 01 Eftgner] Bwau ol AedatHMn. Bweai ol moon Atnn wo tnmaiionii Bouxanr aM waer Commij-

$ion fsi uoiiionii intormaion on >eaeni syjnrnj see cogi IS3

Number of UlUmata cuatomara 1991 Paicant

Publicly owned systems 16.565.893 14.6%

Private 84.973.561 75.0%
Coooeratives 1 1.706.776 10.4%
Feoerai 29.700 0.0%

TOTAL 113.275.930 100.0%

WlowaW-MourSalaaToUltlinaf CualowarB(lnin«Hona olWIW») 1991 Pwcanl

Publicly ownea systems 408.385 14 7%
Private 2.110.528 76.0%
Coooeratives .204.921 7 4%

i

Feoerai 52.944 1.9% i

i

TOTAL .Z776.778 100.0% '

Elactrtc Ravattuaa from Salaa to UIMmala Cuatontara (in Owuaanda of doMara) 1991

Pu0lic;y ownea systems 24.503.583 13.1%
Private 147.582.567 786%
Coooeratives 14.139.825 7.5%
Feoerai 1.479.079 0.8%

TOTAL 187.705.054 100.0%

Inatalled Capacity (In thouaanda of lilluiiiaWi> 1991 ISreant

Publicly ownea systems 88.234 11 9%
P'lvate , 551.564 746%
Coooeratives . 32.880 4.5%
Feaerai 66.573 9.0%

TOTAL 739.251 100.0%

NoM uvatwaaoiui'KiuaBtammBnviaM ommmv OaiiMoi«iMsraMeF«nnBM80.pkaPuMBiiaEiKircPQMr/iunr«y

3«a inea csncir a son of cuenoa f«»

lOkiwatt-Hour Ganaratton (In mMHona of kWh> 1991 Pareant

Publicly owned systems .'. .320.017 11.2%
Pnvaie „ „ .2.121.827 74.4%
Cooperativea 1 56.405 5.5%
PeoefaJ „ .233.829 8.9%

TOTAL „.2JS2.078 100.0%
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U.S. Electric Utility Generating Capacity, 1991
NAMEPLATE CAPACITY IN KILOWATTS. NUMBERS REFLECT JOINT OWNERSHIP AND INCLUDE PUERTO RICO

TOTAL U.S_

OAS /
128.4S3.0&4

01
875.601

COOPERATIVE

124&U1

GAS
i.n&80o
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ESTIMATES OF IMPACT OF BTU

TAX ON ELECTRIC RATES

Selected Public Power Systems

Utility

Percentage Price Increase For Electricity
Occasioned By Full Implementation of Btu Tax

Total Wholesale Retail

Systew Sales Sales Res. Comii. Industrial

ARIZONA
Salt River Project

ALABAMA
A^TT Mun. Elec. Auth.

3.1

5.1 3.8

2.7 3.2 4.6

CLIKORNIA
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Total Wholesale Retail

Utility Systea Sales Sales Res. Comw. Industrial

KENTUCKY
Owensboro 7.5

LOUISIANA

Lafayette 4.65
La. Energy & Pwr. Authority 6.05

MASSACHUSETTS

Reading 1.33

MICHIGAN

Lansing 4.1 3.6

MINNESOTA
Rochester 3.6
So. Minn. Mun. Pwr. Agency 10.8
Columbia 4.6
Sikeston 7.45

Springfield 5.2

NEBRASKA
Lincoln 6.0
Neb. Pub. Pwr. Dist. 7.0 3.9

NORTH CAROLINA

Fayetteville 4.12 6.56 7.40
N.C. E. Mun. Pwr. Agency
N.C. Mun. Pwr. Agency 1
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utility

WASHINGTON
Chelan Co. PUD
Clark Co. PUD
Cowlitz Co. PUD
Grant Co. PUD

Grays Harbor PUD
Seattle
Snohomish Co. PUD

WISCONSIN
Marshf ield
Wise. Pub.Pwr. System

PUERTO RICO
P.R. Elec. Pwr. Auth.

Total Wholesale Retail
Systew Sales Sales Res.

15.0

11.2

5.81
6.45
6.82

8.0

6.74

8.0

12.9

6.0

Coim. Industrial

5.5 7.1

Source: Compiled from individual utility preliminary estimates filed with the
American Public Power Association in February and March 1993.

Prepared Statement of Melanie L. Griffin

Mr. Chairman and members of the Committee, thank you for this opportunity to
share the views of the Sierra Club on the Administration's proposed BTU energy
tax. I am here today on behalf of the Sierra Club's 600,000 members and I am
also representing the Natural Resources Defense Council, the Union of
Concerned Scientists and Friends of the Earth.

The Sierra Club has long been interested in the use of tax policy to protect
the environment, and we are very encouraged by the recent activity in this
area. U.S. tax policy has historically encouraged polluting 'Industrial
'activities and natural resource exploitation. It's time to reverse this trend
and begin to use tax policy to encourage pollution prevention and energy
efficiency and conservation.

To that end. Sierra Club Joined with a number of other environmental

organizations in suggesting that President Clinton Include an energy tax in
his plan for economic recovery. When the President presented his r conomlc

program, we were very encouraged to see that ht had indeed inclx le an energy
tax. While not perfect, the President's tax proposal represents a good first

step towards reducing our wasteful use of polluting energy.

THE COSTS TO SOCIETY OF WASTEFUL ENERGY USE

External energy costs in the form of air and water pollution, land

destruction, oil spills, and military risks are already being borne by the
American public. And these costs could pale in comparison to the future costs
of global warming and nuclear plant decommissioning and waste storage. While

energy Industries may be able to assume away these costs, society cannot.

Including environmental costs in energy prices would help to correct these
market failures. It is time to begin to incorporate the social costs of

energy production, distribution and use into the market pricing of energy.

Global Warming

The potential effects of global warming are tremendous, from coastal flooding
and regional droughts to species extinction and agricultural and hydrological
chaos. We cannot know exactly what will happen, or when. But in 1990, a

-group of scientists, including 700 members of the National Academy of Sciences
and 49 Nobel Laureates wrote to President Bush asking that action to curb

global warming "be Initiated immediately." Despite remaining uncertainties,
the scientists called global warming "the most serious environmental threat of
the 21st century" and warned that "\jthcertainty is no excuse for complacency."
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A well-designed energy tax can be an imporcant component In a comprehensive

plan to reduce carbon dioxide (C02) emissions and curb global warming. C02

from the burning of fossil fuels is the major contributor to the greenhouse
effect, accounting for over half of the global warming problem. As the

world's largest emitter of C02 , the U.S. has a special responsibil. y to

reduce emissions. An energy tax will reward investments in efficie cy and

discourage energy waste in the transportation, electric utility, and

industrial sectors of the economy. It is imperative that the U.S. act quickly
to take the lead on this critical international problem.

INTERNATIONAL COMPETITIVENESS AND ECONOMIC GROVnH

Energy taxes can give U.S. industries the push they need to fully explore and

Implement energy efficiency measures and renewable energy sources. Unlike

Japan and several Western European nations, the U.S. has done little to foster

international exports of these technologies. Many solar, wind and efficiency
technological innovations originated in this country, but promoters were

forced to go overseas for funding. As the international cooimunity begins to

confront global warming, the U.S. must take back the lead in developing and

marketing these technologies.

The U.S. spends about $4A0 billion annually on energy, about 11% of our Gross

National Product. (1) This is almost double the percentage of the Japanese
economy. This higher energy usage results in higher product costs and lower

competitiveness. But foreign producers, who face higher energy prices and

energy taxes, have penetrated domestic markets with affordable, efficient cars

and appliances. Even after the Administration' . P TJ tax is fully implemented
in 1996, prices for all energy sources will remain lower than our European and

Japanese competitors . (2)

It is also important to note that low energy prices are not associated with
faster rates of economic growth, lower rates of inflation or a favorable
balance of trade. (3) Similarly, high energy consumption is not necessary for

economic growth. In 1989, the U.S. used only 7% more energy than it did in

1973, yet the GNF was about 46% higher (and there were 20 million more homes

and 50 million more vehicles. ) (4) If the economy were still operating at 1973

efficiency levels, the U.S. would be losing about $180 billion per year and

pumping about 50% more C02 into the atmosphere than it currently does. (5)

A VALUE ADDED TAX VERSUS THE ENERGY TAX

Some have called for a value added tax (VAT) instead of the Administration's

proposed BTU tax. A VAT is not helpful environmentally and we do not believe

it makes economic sense when compared to energy taxes. First, a VAT is levied
on positive activity. It taxes the value added to a product at each stage of

production - things like wages and profits that we would like to see increase.

It makes much more sense to tax an activity we would like to discourage, like

wasteful energy use which causes pollution.

Secondly, a VAT creates distortions in the economy because different
industries have varying abilities to pass along their increased costs. If a

company produces an essential commodity or a large market share of its

product, it may be able to pass along all increased costs. Industries under
more competitive pressure may not be able to do so. In contrast, an energy
tax is a corrective tax - it corrects market failures by including societal

energy costs in the price of energy.

THE ADMINISTRATION'S PROPOSED BTU TAX

We have urged the Administration to ensure that their energy tax meets three
criteria. Ue recommended that the tax be designed to encourage cleaner fuels
and efficiency and that it be set at high enough levels to substantially
benefit the environment. It is also critical that the tax contain offsets for
Americans with lower Incomes.

Ue believe that the BTU tax approach with exemptions for emerging renewable

energy sources is an appropriate framework on which to build. The extra

surcharge on oil recognizes that our country bears many social costs as a
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result of our oil addiction - costs like military protection of overseas oil

supplies, oil spill cleanup, and air and water pollution.

The Pr' s i -lent
' s proposed BTU tax is set at very modest levels. It is

import nt to note that the positive environmental effects of the tax are

enhanced by other environmental initiatives contained In the Administration's

Budget Resolution and economic stimulus package. When the tax revenue is

recycled into programs such as Federal Energy Management, public transit, low-

income weatherization and renewable energy development, the environmental

benefits rise substantially. As it is, the tax alone may result in a 2%

decrease in energy use by the year 2000. The environmental benefits of the

tax would increase if the tax rates were increased.

Just as the Budget Resolution and the stimulus package will enhance the

environmental character of the BTU tax, so should some of the components of

the National Energy Policy Act of 1990. The 1990 Act contains incentives for

improved energy efficiency, renewable energy sources, and demand-side

management in the utility sector.

Encouraging energy efficiency and emerging renewable energy sources will help
to advance our national goals of carbon dioxide stabilization and pollution

prevention. It will also help to reduce local conflicts as utilities opt to

invest in efficiency and conservation rather than In the construction of

controversial new polluting power plants.

The Administration was also careful to provide offsets for families with lower

incomes. Phased- in increases in the Food Stamp program and the Low-Income

Home Energy Assistance Program (LIHEAP) complement the BTU tax. In addition,

the President's economic plan includes an expansion of the Earned Income Tax

Credit (EITC) to ensure that low- income families are not burdened. Ue must

also take into account the fact that energy pollution itself is very

regressive. Disadvantaged communities bear much of the burden because

polluting operations like coal- fired power plants and nuclear waste facilities

are likelv to be located in low- income areas.

Another attractive aspect of the President's BTU tax is that all energy
consumers can legally avoid paying the tax and simultaneously help the

environment. An industry can invest in more efficient motors, a business can

invest in efficient lighting systems, and homeowners can add insulation.

Commuters can opt to use public transit and purchase more fuel efficient

vehicles. .This approach should encourage more long-term investment in

efficiency and conservation throughout the economy.

Overall, the Administration has proposed a well-designed energy tax. We do

have serious concerns, however, with a number of changes in the proposal as

reflected in the modified BTU tax released by the Treasury Department on April

1, 1993.

PANDORA'S BOX OF EXEMPTIONS

Ue believe that all forms of energy use should be taxed, with the exception of

emerging, truly renewable energy sources like solar and wind power. Each

exemption provided for an indxistry or a fuel source compromises the

environmental integrity of the BTU tax and risks regional equity. And of

course at some point, the revenues generated by the tax plan would be

seriously reduced by multiple exemptions. The tax as originally proposed
achieved a delicate regional and environmental balance which should not be

compromised.

Alcohol Fuels

The BTU tax now contains an exemption for ethanol, methanol, ETt2 and MTBE.

Ue believe this is bad environmental and fiscal policy. There is no

environmental justification for these exemptions, and we fear the door is now

open for exemptions for other special interests.
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Ethanol production Is very energy Intensive and requires the heavy use of
fossil fuels and nitrogen fertilization. This results In full-fuel cycle
carbon dioxide emissions that may be even greater than gasoline emissions . (6)

Large-scale production of com and sugar are also detrimental to water quality
and wise land use. The volatility of ethanol mixtures contributes to ozone

pollution during the summer months . Given these environmental drawbacks and
the fact that ethanol is already exempt from fuel excise taxes (resulting in a

$7fflmBTU subsidy,) there is no excuse for further breaks for the ethanol

industry.

Methanol is a fossil -based fuel and deserves no exemption. It comes with its
own set of environmental problems, including formaldehyde emissions and

greenhouse gas emissions when made from coal.

Ue support taxing alcohol fuels at the petroleum rate of $.599 per million
BTUs. At the very least, these fuels should be taxed at the straight BTU tax
rate of $.257 per million BTUs, as recommended by Senate Energy Committee
Chairman J. Bennett Johnston in a March 23 letter to Chairman Moynihan.

Feedstocks

The exemption for non-fuel uses of fossil fuels is potentially a giant
loophole through which pollution and revenue could flow. Ue urge the
committee to give very careful consideration to the feedstock exemptions. Ue
recommend a rebate program for non-fuel uses at the end of the proc :tion

process rather than an exemption early in the process. This would j: nsure that

only the percentage of the fuel used for non-fuel purposes is exempted.
Rebates should be based on the mass of the original fuel that is actually
physically Incorporated into the final product.

Fuels used to produce process heat or drive chemical reactions should not be

exempted from the BTU tax. Electricity used in aluminum smelting is used to

cause a chemical reaction - it is not incorporated into the final product at

all. Likewise, metallurgical coal used in steelmaking should not be exempted
because less than ten percent of the carbon in metallurgical coal ends up in

the steel. Fertilizer manufacturers use natural gas to produce ammonia, and
some of the hydrogen from the gas is incorporated into the ammonia. But even

if all the hydrogen were incorporated into the final product, this would still

only be about 25% of the original fuel weight and should only result in a 25%

rebate.

Municipal Solid Waste

The exemption for municipal solid waste incineration is particularly
egregious, both fiscally and environmentally. Waste incinerators bum up
valuable energy, materials and do?la'S, and threaten public health. In

addition, petrochemicals used in \ la tics would receive a double exemption,
once as a feedstock and again if burned in municipal trash.

Waste incinerators emit highly toxic heavy metals and organic chemicals like
dioxins. Toxics released into the air or concentrated in ash are much more

easily absorbed into the human body than before incineration. Typically, 30-

40% of the weight of garbage that is burned ends up as ash which must be
landfilled.

Allowing solid waste to be an untaxed fuel would impede the development of

truly energy- saving recycling programs, which should be a national goal.
The initial capital outlay for Incinerator construction, not including
operating costs, far exceeds that of establishing an effective recycling
program. Energy produced by garbage incinerators costs up to 50% more per
kilowatt -hour than energy from conventional power plants and incineration

generates far less energy than recycling the same materials.

Home Heating Oil

We do not support the Administration's move to lower the tax rate on home

heating oil. This exemption damages the regional equity in the plan and
removes the incentive for a transition to cleaner natural gas in the
Northeastern U.S. It also introduces the added administrative complication of

determining whether oil is being use^ for residential or commercial heating.

i
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WHO'S NEXT IN LINE FOR EXEMPTIONS?

Now that exemptions have been grante'' to a number of special Interests, we are

concerned that more exemptions are ji. t around the comer. We strongly urge
the committee to resist further exemptions. The environmental balance of the

tax has already been damaged by existing exemptions. We urge you to consider

closing the loopholes in the tax by returning to the principle of taxing all

energy consumed in the economy, exempting only those emerging energy sources

which are truly renewable.

Hydropower

Ue strongly support the tax on hydroelectriclty contained in the

Administration's proposal. Although hydropower releases no pollution into the

atmosphere, it has serious environmental consequences. It has led to major
declines in fisheries, species diversity, riparian habitat and water quality
all across the country. In the Pacific Northwest, dams prevent salmon and

steelhead from reaching about one-third of their original habitat in the

Columbia River basin. In Michigan, over 2,000 mainstem river miles are

blocked by dams. In New England, hydropower dams essentially eliminated

historic runs of salmon, shad and alewives until restoration efforts began.

Taxing hydropower is also essential to the regional balance of the President's

tax proposal. Some states get almost all their power from hydroelectriclty,
and reducing their tax rate (or exempting them) would increase the burden on

other states . Because about half our hydropower comes from heavily subsidized

Inderal facilities, electricity rates In these regions are already mu' h 'ower
' lan the national average .

Aluminum Industry

I reiterate that we oppose any exemption for the aluminum Industry. The

proper way to determine whether energy is actually being used as a non-fuel

source is to test whether the chemical elements in the fuel are present in the

final product. Following this test, aluminum is not entitled to a rebate

because the energy used to drive the chemical smelting process is not present
in the final aluminum.

WHO PAYS, WHEN AND WHERE?

A major goal of the environmental community is improving energy efficiency in

all sectors of the economy. Thus, we believe that all energy users should

bear the added costs of the energy tax. The tax should be assessed, and

Incorporated as a cost of doing business, at every point in the production and

distribution process.

Collection Point

The tax should be assessed as far upstream as possible to encourage efficiency

throughout the entire energy production process. We believe that the tax

should be collected before the oil refinery and before the gas wellhead or

pipeline, not at the tailgate as proposed by the Treasury Department on April
1. Collecting the tax before refining and pipeline transport would improve
the efficiency of the refinery and pipeline process. At the very least, the

Administration should adjust the tax rate upward to compensate for the

efficiency gains not realized during refining and transport.

Ut-lity Passthrough

We also oppose a forced passthrough of costs by electric utilities to

ratepayers. Electric utilities should consider the high external costs of

coal and nuclear power when making investment decisions. We believe a primary

objective of the BTU tax is to provide incentives for investments in cleaner

energy sources and efficiency improvements. States already have provisions to

allow utilities to pass through legitimate costs, and this process should not
be overridden.
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While end- users should bear some of the costs of the energy tax. they should

not automatically bear the brunt. Homeowners can make some efficiency choices

to reduce their bills, but they cannot switch fuels or make efficiency

investments for their utilities. Utilities are sophisticated operations with

the financial and planning capabilities to make these long-term investment

choices when facing increased energy costs.

Thank you for the opportunity to testify today. We look forward to working

further with the Committee.
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Prepared Statement of Orrin G. Hatch

Mr. Chairman, I am pleased that we are holding this hearing today on this very
important topic, the President's energy tax proposal. I look forward to the remarks
of Secretary Bentsen and of the industry panel.
When the President announced his deficit reduction plan in February, he told us

that the cost of the Btu tax on a family of four earning $40,000 per year would be

$17 per month, or $204 per year. This $204 extra per year was represented as an
almost harmless minimal sacrifice that the Administration felt the average Amer-
ican household should gladly contribute for the cause of deficit reduction.

However, Mr. Chairman, the latest information that my office received from the

Treasury Department now indicates that the impact for a family of four of the en-

ergy t£ix on my home state of Utah will be at least $416 per year.
1 am very concerned about this new estimate, Mr. Chairman. By Treasury's own

admission, the impact of the energy tax on a family in Utah will be more than dou-
ble what is was estimated to be just two months ago. Just last fall, Americans were
led to believe that the Clinton plan would not raise taxes for anyone but the very
weaJthy. Now this proposal has doubled its burden on the average Utah family in

just two months.
I realize that the President's plan contains some proposals to ease this burden on

the very poor. For example, the proposal would expand the earned income tax credit

and increase funding for food stamps. I believe, however, that what relief we give
with the right hand should not be taken away with the left with new taxes on en-

ergy
It is naive to think that this tax will not place a significant burden on Utah fami-

lies. For one thing, the offsets would not cover every low-income family. Only fami-
lies with dependent children would qualify for the EITC expansion, and only those
with very low incomes would qualify for the other provisions.
The Treasury's latest description of the energy tax contains a chart that indicates

that Utah families will only have to pay .63 percent more of their incomes for this

tax. This looks like more hocus pocus to me. Recently released family income data
show that fEunilies in Utah counties will pay a far higher portion of their incomes
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for this proposed tax hike. A Salt Lake County family, for example, wiU pay 1.2 per-
cent of its income in increased energy taxes, almost double the TSreasuiy estimate.

A family living in San Juan County, m the southeastern comer of Utah, would pay
2.2 percent of its income in new energy taxes. And these figures are based on total

family income, not disposable income, making my figures conservative.

As bad as these figures look, Mr. Chairman, they still don't tell the entire story
for Utah families on now this tax will affect them. Unlike the taxes most Americans
are used to paying, the Btu tax will be disguised as higher prices. These higher

prices will be on a variety of products and services that all of us purchase every

day. Utility bills, of course, will go up. So will the price of gasoline. But so will the

cost of food, of a new car, of a can of paint, or of a pair of shoes for the kids.

The bottom line is that we aren't getting the full story about the impact of this

tax. It will be much worse than it appears.
"The operating expenses of every Dusiness in Utah will go up because of the Btu

tax—some more than others. Manufacturers will have to pass the additional costs

on to their customers, or if they cannot, lay off workers. Farmers will have to charge
more for food, or get out of farming. A service business will have to charge for more
its services, or again, go out of business or lay off workers.

When assessing the impact of the energy tax, the Administration has obviously
not taken into account the macroeconomic effects on prices and employment. The
fact is, this Btu tax will lead to lost jobs. The National Association of Manufacturers

estimates 610,000 lost jobs. The Petroleum Institute estimates 700,000 iob losses.

Some of these jobs will be lost in Utah. How many? No one knows. And, what do

I say to the family who loses a job because of this tax? That this is their contribu-

tion to the deficit? The fact is, Mr. Chairman, and I say respectfully to you, Mr. Sec-

retary, is that the revenue you expect to obtain from this tax has to come from

somewhere and that somewhere is from the pockets of every single American, rich

and poor.
I look forward to the testimony today.

Prepared Statement of John Hemphill

i. introduction

Good morning, Mr. Chairman. I am John Hemphill, executive director of the busi-

ness council for a sustainable energy future. I
appreciate

the opportunity to appear
before you today to present the business council s views on the administration's en-

ergy tax proposals.
The business council for a sustainable energy future is a newly chartered organi-

zation comprised of business leaders from the energy eflficiency, renewable energy,
natural gas and utility industries that share a commitment to pursue a new energy

strategy for the 1990s and beyond.
This new strategy is designed to realize the na-

tion's economic, environmental and national
security goals through the rapid deploy-

ment of efficient, non- and low-polluting energy technologies. The expanded reliance

on energy efficiency, renewable energy and nature at gas as the three pillars of an

energy strategy wiU strengthen the economy and enhance the environment.

To achieve this end, the business council supports energy related policies and pro-

grams at the federal and state levels that: (1) improve energy efficiency in all sec-

tors of the economy; (2) accelerate the commercialization of renewable energy re-

sources; and (3) promote the use of natural gas in energy production and end use.

The business council is pleased with the prominent role President Clinton has

given to energy efficiency, renewables, natural at gas and the reduction of oil im-

ports in fashioning his economic package. We believe that this package signals a

major change in national energy policy
—the recognition of the need to transition to

clean, efficient energy sources. The business council welcomes this change in direc-

tion.
,

Although we have interests in many provisions of the administration s proposed
economic package, my testimony today will focus on the revenue portion of the pack-

age and, in particular, the broad-based energy tax.

In addition, we also have concerns about the implications of the proposed invest-

ment tax credit as it would be implemented under current tax law. We believe that

current tax policy may inadvertently reduce the benefits of the investment tax credit

for certain industries that need it the most.

II. ENERGY TAXES

As a part of the deficit reduction portion of his economic package, President Clin-

ton has proposed a broad-based energy tax designed to raise more than $20 billion
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annually when fully phased-in. According to the administration, in addition to rais-

ing revenue, "energy taxes wiU encourage conservation by making energy more ex-

pensive, reducing pollution, and decreasing the country's dependence on foreign en-

er^ auppUers." The business council clearly supports these goals.
There are many types of taxes that offer the opportunity to raise revenues while

also serving to support energy and environmental poliCT objectives. While members
of the business council may nave preferred other formulations, we recognize that no

approach is without criticism. The business council is ready to support President

Clinton's broad-based energy tax proposal in recognition that the tax is an impor-
tant step in the direction of a sustainable energy future. In particular, we applaud
the exclusion of renewable energy resources from the tax.

The business council's support for this tax is not without reservations, however.

First, the tax, when fixlly phased in, will result in only modest improvements in en-

couraging energy conservation. In this regard, it may be appropriate to provide en-

ergy tax credits to consumers to further encourage energy conservation. Second, we
beueve the energy tax could be structured to more appropriately reflect the differen-

tial environmental and energy security impacts of various energy sources. In this

regard, we recommend that serious consideration be given to adjusting this tax over

time to better support the administration's overall energy and environmental goals.

Third, the business council has concerns with the proposed
collection point for the

tax on natural gas. The administration proposes to collect the tax on natured gaa
at the "city gate." However, applying the tax at this point would expose the natural

gas industry to xmwarranted nnanaal risks associated with collectmg the tax, due
to possible regulatory constraints on passing the tax on to the ultimate consumer.
A similar situation exists with respect to independent power producers that have

long term, fixed priced supply contracts which would prevent these producers from

passing along the tax, if it were imposed on their fuel inputs, the administration

nas proposed a solution to the independent jjower producer problem by moving the

collection point
to require the utility that receives the electricity to pay the tax. This

approach nelps ensure the tax is bom by the ultimate user of the resource. This

approach is consistent with the business council's
principle

that "energy taxes

snould be imposed in such a way so as to meiximize tneir energy conservation and
environmental benefits."

The natural gas industry has proposed a solution to the collection point problem
on gas which the business coimcil supports—the tax should be assessed on the end
user of the gas and collected by the seller. This approach ensures the realization

of the fiill efficiency and environmental benefits of the tax and minimizes unin-

tended effects. The administration rejected the gas industry's proposal. We urge that

you reconsider the industry's collection point proposal.

Fourth, I would like to point out our displeasure with the proposal to exempt eth-

anol and methanol from the energy tax and to exempt home heating oil from the

supplemental tax on petroleum. These exemptions discriminate against natural gas,

which is in direct competition with these fuels for important new markets.

Finally, I would like to address an implementation concern of some of our mem-
bers. The administration proposes to exempt nonfuel use of fossil fuels including
natural gas liquids. Under the administration's proposal the tax on these liquids is

to be collected at the processing plant. However, since approximately three quarters
of these products are used as feedstocks, imposition of the tax at the processing

plant would have the unintended effect of taxing feedstock fuels. The solution to this

Eroblem
is to impose the tax at the point these products are odorized for commercial

lel use.

III. INVESTMENT TAX CREDIT

Turning now to the investment tax credit issue, the business coimcil supports tile

incentives and exclusions proposed and already in the law for renewable energy in-

vestments. However, we believe that several additional technical revisions in the

manner in which the investment tax credit operates could further the administra-

tion's objectives in providing an investment tax credit.

First, we urge that the amoimt of the ITC that can be used against the alter-

native minimum tax be increased. Existing law limits investment tax credit utiliza-

tion to onlv 25 percent of a company's alternative minimum tax liability, reducing

substantially the value of these new credits for many small, start-up companies as

well as the majority of capital intensive industries that have been in the AMT tax

position throughout most of the recession.

Second, many companies and industries will receive a considerably reduced bene-

fit from a new investment tax credit either because they are currently subject to

the alternative minimum tax, they have unused ITCS, or they anticipate consider-
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able economic losses associated with developing new technologies or starting up new

high-risk business ventures. For these companies, we reconmiend that any invest-

ment tax credits that would otherwise expire before use due to the interaction of

the alternative minimum tax system and the regular tax system be converted into

adtemative minimum tax credits rather than be lost completely.

Third, the council urges that there be no reduction in the production tax credit

for wind and closed-loop biomass investments provided in the national energy policy

act of 1992 that would otherwise qualify for the investment tax credit. Clearly, these

investments reauire the full tax benefits to bring these valuable new energy tech-

nologies to msirket and to treat them similarly to the other renewable technologies.
We recommend either that the restrictive language contained in the existing produc-
tion tax credit be deleted or that the implementing legislation of the investment tax

credit provide that the production credit not be reduced for renewable energy invest-

ments that otherwise Qualify for the investment tax credit.

We would be pleased to work with committee staff on these issues and to submit

written responses to any technical questions the committee may have.

IV. CONCLUSION

The business council appreciates the opportunity to address your committee on

the broad-based energy tax proposal contained in the President's economic package.
We support the President's effort to tackle the country's debilitating budget deficit

while improving environmental quality. As business leaders concerned about the

health of the U.S. economy, we believe that the country needs to follow a new en-

ergy path—for economic, environmental and security reasons.

The business council views the proposed broad-based energy tax as a good first

step in addressing the dual challenges facing our country—economic revitalization

ana environmental enhancement. We stand ready to work with both the administra-

tion and congress in support of these efforts.

Thank you.
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Prepared Statement of Paul R. Huard

Thank you, Mr. Chainnan. I am Paul Huard, Vice President for Taxation and Fiscal

Policy of the National Association of Manufacturers [NAM]. On behalf of our more than

12,000 members, I am pleased to be here to discuss the Administration's energy tax

proposals.

I. General Economic Implications

Before discussing specifics, I want to emphasize at the outset that NAM is fiilly

supportive of President Clinton's deficit reduction goals. We believe he is correct in

concluding that significant reduction of the federal budget deficit is absolutely essential if we
are to achieve long-term economic growth and prosperity and a rising standard of living for

all Americans. Just as importantly, the President has accurately described our need as a

nation for less emphasis on immediate consumption and more emphasis on the private

investment that is so essential to both productivity improvement and job creation.

Our great concern about the President's plan is that it will fail to achieve its desirable

goals of reducing the deficit, creating jobs and increasing productivity-improving

investments. One reason we think this will happen is that the plan relies far too much on tax

increases to reduce the deficit, and far too little on spending cuts. While both spending cuts

and tax increases will cause short-term economic contractions, spending cuts will result in

smaller GDP losses and fewei ob losses than an equivalent amount of tax increases.

Another cause for concern is that the stimulus implied by business tax incentives in

the President's plan is considerably less than the offsetting business tax increases.

Reductions in net business cash flow of the magnitude being proposed will significantly

reduce both investment and jobs. Stated another way, the positive effects of modest or

temporary incentives will be overwhelmed by the negative effects of large, permanent tax

increases. This is especially relevant to the inquiry before this Committee today, since of the

total of about $243 billion in net revenue increases proposed by the President over the next

five years, about $72 billion-at least 30 percent of the total-would be derived from the

proposed BTU-based energy tax.

NAM views this proposed BTU-based energy tax as an unfortunate choice. Although
it appears to be a well-intentioned attempt to tax consumption, in reality it would amount to a

major tax on industrial production. Our preliminary estimate is that at a minimum one-third

(and possibly more) of the total BTU tax would fall directly on industrial production

processes, Lfi* would increase the cost of the energy used by American manufacturing firms

in making their products. Thus, the tax would unilaterally increase the cost of U.S.-

produced goods relative to foreign-produced goods, thereby impairing U.S. competitiveness
in both domestic and overseas markets.

In order to evaluate the implications of the proposed BTU tax, we an an econometric

simulation using the Washington University Macromodel, over a period of six years (1993-

1998). The simulations express the deviation in the path of the economy relative to current

law implied by the energy tax. The results from our simulation are presented in Table 1 (in

the appendix). Real GDP falls below trend as the tax is phased in. By the final year, output
has been reduced by $38 billion relative to its current law path. Among the components of

GDP, the largest losses come in personal consumption expenditures ($27 billion) and

business fixed investment ($18 billion). Because manufacturing is more energy-intensive
than the economy as a whole, the losses in industrial production are proportionately about

one-third larger than the reduction in GDP. The cost in employment is considerable. By the

final simulation year, civilian employment is lower by 610,000 jobs.
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The price level rises by just over 1 percent relative to current law. This is a

conservative estimate. Some energy experts have argued that the magnitude of the tax

increase is much larger than assumed by the Treasury. Because of this controversy, we also

report our estimates for the average price of domestically-consumed energy. We find that

energy prices would increase only a modest 3.5 percent in 1993, but would then surge by

9.2, 8.8 and 7.2 percent in the next three years, before slowing to a 3.1 percent increase in

1997 after the tax was fully phased in. The increase in prices causes Federal spending to

increase, due to indexation, and thus has perverse effects on the fiscal deficit. The
combination of higher Federal spending and* lower collections of other tax revenues means

that the dynamic improvement in the deficit is much smaller than the static revenue increase.

By the final simulation year, the static revenue increase is in excess of $22 billion, but the

dynamic improvement in the deficit is just under $10 billion.

In sum, the BTU tax does considerable damage to the economy, and is •
itremely

inefficient at reducing the deficit. By comparison, while a general consumptior. tax, such as

a value-added tax [VAT], would also imply a one-time rise in the price level, it is much

more efficient at raising revenue since it raises output in the long run, while it also taps into

the "underground" economy.

n. A Comparison of the BTIJ tax and the VAT

NAM believes that income from work, savings and investment is taxed too heavily

under the federal tax system as it exists today, and agrees with the President that shifting

more of the national tax burden onto consumption is desirable. In our view, however, this

would be best achieved through a general national consumption tax—for example, a VAT—

imposed at a uniform rate across the broadest possible base of both goods and services. A

general tax on consumption would not penalize U.S. -based firms, while the proposed BTU
tax would make American firms less competitive. Moreover, its burdens would be spread

more equitably over the entire U.S. economy, rather than being unfairly concentrated on a

single sector that is already suffering disproportionately from large non-tax burdens imposed

by government fiat, such as the rapidly escalating costs of environmental regulation and the

severely decreased opportunities for domestic exploration and production.

The BTU-Based Energy Tax . The Administratic 's proposal is to tax energy based

on its heat content, as measured in British Thermal Units [BTUs]. This tax would be

assessed at the rate of 25.7 cents per million BTUs on natural gas and coal and on

hydroelectric and nuclear energy. Oil would be taxed at the rate of 59.9 cents per million

BTUs. Non-fuel uses, such as industrial feedstocks, would not be taxed. Nevertheless, as

already noted, the proposed BTU tax would still significantly increase the cost of U.S. -based

industrial production via increases in the price of energy used in the manufacturing process.

The Administration proposal contains no element that would attempt to impose a comparable

cost increase on goods imported into the U.S., or that would attempt to remove such cost

increases firom goods exported from the U.S. This is understandable, since any such attempt

would violate the General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade [GATT].

Value-Added Tax FVATl . As typically structured, a VAT is a transaction-based tax

that is imposed on the sales of goods by businesses at each stage of production and

distribution, and on the sales of services as they are rendered. As commonly administered,

each business taxpayer in the production/distribution chain collects VAT on its sales [i.e. .

outputs] but takes a credit for VAT paid on its purchases [L£», inputs] from other businesses,

remitting only the difference to the government. End-users, l£», consumers who are final

purchasers and thus do not resell, theoretically bear the full burden of the VAT. It is,

therefore, usually viewed as equivalent in economic impact to a retail sales tax, the principal

difference being that it is collected in installments rather than all at once. A VAT is imposed

at the same rate on both domestically-produced and imported goods. Almost invariably,

domestically-produced goods that are exported are not subjected to VAT. This treatment is

fully consistent with GATT rules.



208

m. Differing Impacts of BTU and Value Added Taxes

On Consumers . It is difficult to generate quantitative comparisons here, but a number

of generalizations are helpful. It is undisputed that lower-income taxpayers have to spend a

larger proportion of their income on energy consumption [e.g.. for home heating,

transportation to/from work, etc.] than do higher-income taxpayers. A VAT, on the other

hand, would apply not only to unavoidable or necessary purchases, but also to optional or

discretionary purchases—luxuries, if you will. Admittedly, it is always possible to offset or

neutralize tlie regressive impact of either a VAT or a BTU or other energy tax, for instance

through refundable income tax credits. The fact remains, however, that there would be less

regressivity to be so neutralized—and hence more net revenue to the government—under a

VAT than under an energy tax of comparable size.

By Geographic Region. There are wide variations by state in the amount of energy
used to generate a dollar of state economic output. It has been estimated that, on average, it

takes 15,700 BTUs of energy to produce a dollar of state economic output. The range of

energy intensiveness, however, is quite wide, running from 44,600 BTUs per dollar of

output in Louisiana to less than one-fifth that amount-8,100 BTUs per dollar of output—in

New York. Sonr j i' '.ermediate figures include 34,600 BTUs per output dollar for Wyoming,
22,300 BTUs pei doxlar for Arkansas, 15,700 BTUs per dollar for Pennsylvania and 9,500
BTUs per dollar for Massachusetts. The states that would experience the most adverse

consequences from the tax are listed in Table 2 (in the appendix).

Here again, quantitative comparisons with a VAT are not readily available. It is

nonetheless safe to conclude that, given a reasonably broad base of taxable goods and

services—one with as few exemptions as possible-the economic incidence of a VAT on

economic output would show much narrower variations than would occur under a BTU tax

or, for that matter, under any other type of energy tax, such as an ad valorem energy tax, a

gasoline tax, a so-called carbon tax, etc.

By Specific Type of Business . Variations in the impact of a BTU tax by specific type
of business will obviously be enormous. Using Department of Energy statistics based on a

1988 survey, the largest use of energy per dollar of value added occurs in petroleum refining

(143.4 thousand BTUs per dollar), nitrogenous fertilizers (192.1), cement (150.7),

paperboard (96.3), blast furnaces and steel mills (95.9), and primary aluminum (65.3). On

average, manufacturing firms consume 12,100 BTUs per dollar of value-added. The energy-

intensity of major manufacturing sectors is summarized in Table 3 (in the appendix). By
comparison, most services are much less energy-intensive. A single rate VAT, on the other

hand, increases the cost of all covered goods and services by the same proportion of value.

Since the BTU tax will therefore will fall mt)re heavily on the manufacturing sector than on

the service sector, it should be no surprise that we find this unfair and objectionable as a

matter of basic principle.

An even wider economic interest is at stake, however, because exports of

manufactured goods «. x)unt for over 80% of U.S. merchandise expxjrts, and are three times

greater than service exports. Manufacturing exports have in recent years accounted for 30 to

40 percent of U.S. economic growth. Yet the cost increase in a manufactured product

flowing from imposition of the BTU tax cannot, consistent with our treaty obligations under

the GATT, be rebated or otherwise "backed out" of the cost of that product when it is

exported. A BTU tax would, thus, unilaterally impair U.S. export competitiveness. A
VAT, on the other hand, would not apply to exports of any kind, whether goods or services,

and thus would have no negative impact on export competitiveness.

There is another important way in which a BTU or other energy tax is a mistake.

The U.S. oil and gas extraction industry has been extraordinarily hard hit in the last decade,

losing approximately 400,0(X) jobs. NAM believes it is wholly inappropriate to impose large

tax burdens on the energy sector at a time when the government, through bans on offshore
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drilling and failure to open the Arctic National Wildlife Refuge [ANWR], has severely

restricted opportunities for domestic exploration and production of oil and natural gas. It has

been estimated that the failure to open ANWR is by itself preventing the creation of 735,000

new jobs.

Internationally . As I have already mentioned, a BTU tax hurts U.S. competitiveness

both here and abroad. It unilaterally makes U.S. production relativelj m- re expensive than

foreign production in both U.S. and overseas markets. Further, there s no viable way to

remedy or adjust for these anti-competitive effects that would be consistent with our treaty

obligations under the GATT. A VAT by its basic design [applied to imports into the U.S.;

not applied to exports from the U.S.] fails to give rise to the type of anti-competitive effects

inherent in a BTU or other energy tax and such basic design is fully consistent with the

GATT. Indeed, the U.S. is now the only major industrialized nation that does not employ a

VAT type of tax to raise a significant portion of its central government revenue.

It is important moreover to note that other large tax increases being proposed by the

Administration-for example, the increases in corporate tax rates and the rise in employer

payroll taxes for Medicare hospital insurance-also have anti-competitive effects identical to

those of the BTU tax: they unilaterally place U.S.-produced goods at a price disadvantage

both here and abroad, and there is no GATT-legal way to adjust for this. Retaining the BTU
tax in the package would thus worsen an already bad situation.

Effect on the Economv . We have not compared the Administration's proposed BTU-

based energy tax directly with a VAT since the VAT represents a much larger tax and should

not be thought of as a way to achieve short-term deficit reduction, but rather in terms of a

longer-term structural reform of the tax code. For instance, while the BTU tax proposed

here would raise $22 billion when fully phased-in, under a broadly-based VAT, some $30 to

$40 billion in revenues would be raised for fevery percentage point of the tax. While we

have not done a direct comparison, we have accumulated a fair amount of experience in

recent years in simulating the effects on the economy of both energy taxes and broad-based

general consumption taxes such as a VAT. Our main finding is that energy taxes generate

large and persistent losses in real GDP and employment.

By comparison, while the VAT entails some short-term losses in consumption

spending, over the same intervals for which energy taxes were simulated, the VAT would

generate substantial improvements in economic activity, primarily through the channels of

capital investment and net exports. Another way of saying this is that the economy will

recover much faster under the VAT. The principal reason for this conclusion is that a BTU

tax has a significant impact at the production level of the economy, whereas a VAT does not.

In today's competitive world, a substantial portion of the increase in production costs will

mean reduced capital formation and employment.

Impact on Energy Conservation/Security . A VAT admittedly would have no

noticeable impact on energy conservation or national energy security. It is claimed, on the

other hand, that the BTU tax would encourage energy conservation generally and also

improve national energy security by decreasing our reliance on imported oil.

These claims are difficult to evaluate. Energy efficiency, measured in terms of

thousand BTUs per dollar of constant dollar GDP, improved from 27.3 in 1972 to 20.43 in

1985, in the wake of successive increases in OPEC prices which together raised the cost of

imported oil by about 1000 percent (400 percent in 1973-74, 150 percent in 1979-80). This

would imply that a 142 percent incre -se n energy prices is required to reduce the energy-

real GDP ratio by a single percentage point. By this benchmark, the BTU tax contemplated

here would not raise relative prices enough to encourage much more conservation than is

already taking place.
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This issue is rendered even more complex, however, by the fact that even after the

collapse in OPEC oil prices in 1986, energy efficiency continued to improve, from 20.43 in

1985 to 19.60 in 1989. Contrary to the claims of some environmental groups, the United

States is still making steady progress toward energy efficiency. To the extent that these

efficiency gains are still being made, it appears to be a poor tradeoff to try to accelerate them

at the cost of lowering real growth and employment through a new tax.

rv. Conclusions

It seems clear that in nearly every respect a broad-based consumption tax, such as a

VAT, is superior to the BTTJ-based energy tax that has been proposed by the Administration.

Only in the case of its effect on energy conservation or security does the BTU tax hold an

advantage, and that advantage is relatively weak. The many areas where the VAT holds the

relative advantage are as follows:

1 . The VAT does not have the anti^competitive effect that the BTU tax has in

unilaterally raising price levels of U.S. goods in both home and overseas markets. The VAT
as a matter of basic design is consistent with our international treaty obligations, whereas the

anti-competitive effects of a BTU tax cannot be offset in a manner consistent with such

obligations. The BTU tax will, therefore, tend to reduce exports, which in recent years have

accounted for 30 to 40 jjercent of U.S. ec aomic growth.

2. While all net tax increases cause economic contractions, a VAT is generally more

benign than the BTU tax in terms of its effects on growth, employment, investment and

productivity. While the VAT implies lower consumption spending in the short-term, energy-

based taxes imply a simultaneous shock to both the price level and production costs, resulting

in larger and more persistent GDP reductions. Moreover, in the long run, the VAT yields

substantial gains in real GDP, primarily in capital investment and net exports.

3. The VAT is more even in its impact and creates fewer and smaller disparities than

the BTU tax, whether compared on the basis of differing geographic regions, differing types

of businesses, or differing economic sectors.

4. Maiiufecturing industries would be particularly hard-hit by the BTU tax, primarily

because the tax would increase production costs. This would result in reduced investment

and employment, and a loss in trade competitiveness. Industries that would be most

adversely affected include primary metals, aluminum, chemicals, paper, cement, fertilizers,

transportation, and the energy sector itself.

5. Because the taxable base is so mi'^h ^roader in the case of a VAT, this tax should

be thought of primarily in the context of sys ;n.itic structural reform of the tax code.

Raising the same amount of revenue as the Administration's BTU-based energy tax would

require a VAT rate of well under one percent, but a VAT makes little sense at this level. A
better idea would be to impose a VAT at a higher rate, and use the revenues not just to

reduce the deficit but also to reduce other harmful taxes. This would be no more

complicated than putting a BTU tax in place, and done properly might well be considerably
less complicated.

In conclusion, Mr. Chairman, I would urge the Congress to drop the Administration's

proposal for a BTU-based energy tax, primarily because of its anti-competitive international

effects and the disproportionate impact it would have on manufacturing industries and certain

segments of the economy. We urge Congress to reduce the federal budget deficit to the

maximum extent possible by comprehensive, enforceable restraints on federal spending. To
the extent tax increases are still required for deficit reduction purposes, we believe that a

broad-based general tax on consumption, such as a VAT, will do the least amount of harm to

the economy, will avoid damage to our international competitiveness and, if properly

adjusted so as to offset its regressivity, will be the most uniformly fair across all social,

regional and economic sectors.
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APPENDIX

TABLE 1

COMPARISON OF THE BTU TAX WITH CURRENT LAW

BASE: Current Law
ALT; BTU Tax 1993 1994 1995 1996 1997 1998

GDP (billions of constant 1987 dollars)

Base 5048.00 5201.01 5356.96 5514.37 5664.41 5805.65
Alternative 5047.88 5198.32 5342.81 5484.24 5625.43 5767.13
Difference -0.12 -2.69 -14.14 -30.13 -38.97 -38.51
% Difference -0.00 -0.05 -0.26 -0.55 -0.69 -0.66

Personal Consumption Expenditures

Base 3391.59 3487.92 3593.19 3697.68 3800.11 3891.18
Alternative 3391.47 3485.99 3584.05 3678.52 3774.80 3863.74
Difference -0.11 -1.93 -9.14 -19.16 -25.31 -27.44
% Difference -0.00 -0.06 -0.25 -0.52 -0.67 -0.71

Business Fixed Investment

Base
Alternative
Difference
% Difference

754.72
754.68
-0.04
-0.00

811.29
810.27
-1.02
-0.13

Industrial Production (index)

Base 111.80 117.14
Alternative 111.80 117.06
Difference -0.00 -0.08
% Difference -0.00 -0.07

864.12
858.16
-5.96
-0.69

121.97
121.55
-0.42
-0.35

Civilian Employment (million jobs)

Base
Alternative
Difference

118.95
118.95
-0.00

Price Level (GDP Deflator)

Base
Alternative
Difference
% Difference

123.58
123.59
0.01
0.01

121.12
121.08
-0..04

126.30
126.39

0.09
0.07

123.33
123.21
-0.12

128.95
129.34

0.39
0.31

919.11 969.24 1011.34
905.43 950.49 993.08
-13.68 -18.76 -18.26
-1.49 -1.94 -1.81

126.56 130.99
125.63 129.77
-0.92 -1.22
-0.73 -0.93

125.55 127.58
125.19 127.04
-0.36 -0.54

131.63 134.43
132.41 135.48

0.78 1.05
0.60 0.78

Federal Fiscal Deficit (billions of current dollars)

Base -279.06 -256.35 -242.90 -224.28 -215.83
Alternative -278.62 -252.80 -236.61 -216.01 -206.28
Difference 0.44 3.55 6.29 8.27 9.54

135.40
134.20
-1.20
-0.89

129.30
128.69
-0.61

137.35
138.40

1.05
0.77

-225.20
-215.84

9.36
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APPENDIX

TABLE 2

ENERGY-INTENSITY OF SELECTED* STATE ECONOMIES

[In thousands of BTUs per dollar of gross state product J

State Enerov-Intensitv

Louisiana 44.6

Wyoming 34.6
North Dakota 29.0
Texas 28.5
West Virginia 28.5
Alaska 28.4
Montana 26.9
Mississippi 26.0
Oklahoma 24.8
Alabama 24.2
Indiana 23.8
Idaho 23.3
New Mexico 22.4
Arkansas 22.3
Kentucky 22 . 3
Kansas 21.0
Washington 19.6
South Carolina 19.4
Utah 19.4
South Dakota 19.3
Tennessee 19.2
Ohio 18.2
Iowa 17.5

Oregon 17.5
Nebraska 17.0
Pennsylvania 15.7

U.S. Average 15.7

*States not shown are below the national average and consume less that

15,700 BTUs per dollar of gross state product.

Source: American Petroleum Institute, based on date from the
Statistical Abstract of the United States.
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APPENDIX

XABLE 3

ENERGY OPERATING RATIOS BY SELECTED INDUSTRIES, 1988.

Consumption per Dollar of Value
Industry Groups and Industry Added (in thousands of BTUs)

Food and Kindred Products 7.6
Tobacco Products 1.4
Textile Mill Products 10.8
Apparel and Other Textile 1.3
Lumber and Wood Products 13.0
Furniture and Fixtures 3.1
Paper and Allied Products 36.7

Paper Mills 64.4
Paperboard Mills 96.3

Printing and Publishing 1.3
Chemicals and Allied Products 22.4

Industrial Inorganic Chemicals 33.1
Plastics Materials and Resins 23.8
Industrial Organic Chemicals 45.7
Nitrogenous Fertilizers 192.1

Petroleum and Coal Products 127.0
Petroleum Refining 143.4

Rubber and Misc. Plastics Products 5.6
Leather and Leather Products 3.3
Stone, Clay and Glass Products 29.5

Cement, Hydraulic 150.7
Primary Metal Industries 45.9

Blast Furnaces and Steel Mills 95.9
Primary Aluminum 65.3

Fabricated Metal Products 4.4
Industrial Machinery and Equipment 2.0
Electronic and Electric Equipment 2.2
Transportation Equipment 2.4
Instruments and Related Products 1.3
Misc. Manufacturing Industries 2.2

All Manufacturing
"^

12.1

Source: U.S. Department of Energy

Prepared Statement of Richard L. Lawson

Mr. Chairman and members of the Committee: I am Richard Lawson, President

of the National Coal Association (NCA). NCA is the Washington, D.C. based indus-

try association which represents coal producers and other companies associated with

production, domestic distribution, and export of U.S. coal. NCA's member companies
accotmt for approximately 70 percent of total U.S. coal production and 80 percent
of U.S. coal exports. Our members operate mines in all regions of the country and
serve all markets: the utilities, the steel mills and the industrial markets in the

United States as well as utilities and steel mills abroad.

Mr. Chairman, despite the fact that several of the provisions contained in the

President's economic proposal, including the Btu tax, will impact the coal industry,
the National Coal Association, believing that deficit reduction is a p£u*amount na-

tional priority, supports the modified Btu tax. We commend the Administration for

recognizing the problems of a tax placed directly on energy production and we are
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committed to work with the Congress and the Administration for the passage of the

Btutax.
We have now come to the point where the nation must address the need to reduce

an ever growing deficit and this must override other concerns. There must be a re-

duction in spending and if necessary, an increase in revenue. Without question, the

decisions that are required to address these serious economic problems are difficult.

But to postpone these decisions for another day only invites an even harder set of

decisions in the futvire. The National Coal Association supports the efforts being
made by President Clinton to address the serious economic problems facing our

country.
First and foremost, government spending must be reduced. But if that alone is

insufficient to reduce the deficit, we must find a way to increase revenues without

putting an undue burden on any sector of the economy or region of the country. The

President, as part of a broad economic stimulus/deficit reduction package, proposed
a combination of spending cuts, new spending initiatives and tax increases. Much
of the revenue required would be obtained by increasing the income tax rates on

upper income individuals and corporations, but a share will be raised by a broad

based energy tax in the form of a Btu tax.

In addition to contributing revenue for the overriding objective of deficit reduction,

the Administration has outlined certain other objectives that the energy tax is de-

signed to achieve; the promotion of conservation; encouragement of sm increase en-

ergr efficiency; and, a reduction in reliance on unstable foreign sources of oil.

To best achieve these objectives, and consistent with our often expressed principle

that "there is no bad domestic energy source," the tax should not discriminate

against individual energy sources in terms of amount; the tax should be on all

sources of energy; and, the incidence of the tax must be borne by the ultimate

consumer of energy.
As Secretary Bentsen stated on April 1 when releasing the "Modified Btu Tax Pro-

posal:"

"It is our intention that the energy tax be borne fairly and equitably across

the country and that the tax promote conservation as well as increased reli-

ance on domestic energy, not foreign oil. If the tax is to effectively promote

energy conservation, it must be borne by the ultimate consumer. The Ad-
ministration is continuing to explore methods of assuring that the tax is in

fact passed through to those who use the energy."

The Btu tax proposal as modified meets the original objectives outlined February
17 by the President but, by moving the tax to a point where the consumer is more

likely to bear the incidence of the tax, it will achieve these objectives more readily.

It continues to encourage conservation, energy efficiency and a reduction in energy

imports. It will raise a significant amount of money, a projected $33 billion annually
when fully implemented, to be available for the paramount objective of deficit reduc-

tion.

With respect to coal, the actual Btu content would be used to determine the tax

due which would average $5.57 per ton, a significant 26
percent

of the average sell-

ing price. Afl modified, the tax on coal would be imposea
at the point of receipt at

the end user—the utility or the industrial plant
—wnich would be liable for the tax

on coal received at their facility and would remit the amount due to the Govern-

ment. Coal used as a feedstock, including coal used as a feedstock in the production
of other energy forms, i.e. synthetic natural gas or beneficiated coal, would be taxed

in its altered form at the point of receipt by the end user. Coal used as an industrial

feedstock, e.g. to make coKe, steel, pharmaceuticals, etc. would not be taxed. A "floor

stock tax" would provide for taxation of floor stocks at the end user on July 1, 1994

and at each subsequent point of phase in.

Exports remain exempt fi-om the tax. This is especially important for the coal in-

dustry where approximately 10 percent of our output, over 100 milhon tons, moves
into an extremely competitive world market. Even a small increase in price causes

the U.S. to lose markets and an increase of the magnitude of the Btu tax would

cost the U.S. nearly the entire 100 million tons that are shipped.
More broadly speaking, energy is the engine required for economic growth and,

no matter what form taken, taxes on this important
sector have a negative effect

on economic growth. For this reason, we woula suggest that the Btu tax be phased
out as soon as the budget deficit reduction objectives are met. In addition we have

attached some additional comments which could further enhance the proposal's ca-

pability to achieve administration objectives, maintain a level playing field among
the energy sources, and minimize negative impact upon the international competi-
tiveness of U.S. exports.
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COMMENTS ON THE MODIFIED BTU TAX PROPOSAL

1. There needs to be a clear directive that utilities can pass the tax on imme-
diately to the final consumer, without the necessity of applymg for permission fi-om

the various state public utility commissions. In some jurisdictions there are mora-
toria on rate increase, and an additional tax is not likely to be passed on quickly
under such circumstances. Without clear direction from the Congress, even in the
most responsive jurisdictions, some delay is possible resulting in adverse impacts on
utilities. The tax must be borne by the consumer if additional conservation is to be
fostered.

2. The modified Btu tax proposal clearly states that coal used in the production
of synthetic natural gas is exempt and that the tax is levied instead at the point
of collection for gas. Consistent with this intent, the exemption needs to be clarified

to indicate that all fuels used as feedstock to produce otner fuels are treated in a
similar manner. This will be especially important in encouraging the use of tech-

nologies that are either under development or just entering the commercial market
to use all fuels more efficiently.

3. Consistent with the Administration's proposal on the treatment of industrial

feedstocks, metallurgical coal used for makmg coke and steel should be specifically

designated as an exempt feedstock.

4. Taxing energy to produce and transport energy results in a compounding effect

upon both industrial and private consumers and the resulting price increases can
harm global competitiveness.

The modified proposal exempts crude oil or natural

gas produced ana used on the
premises

in extraction of energy from the tax. This

exemption should logically be clarified and extended to all energy used to produce
and transport energy.

5. The tax on coal is imposed "upon fuel delivery." This phrase should be clarified

to indicate that the tax attaches at the physical location of use. i.e. at the utility
or industrial plant. Depending on contractual arrangements, "Upon fiiel delivery"
could be interpreted to mean as the coal is loaded at the mine. The clear intent of

the proposal is to tax the coal that is actually used for fuel purposes. This clarifica-

tion would address situations such as rail, barge or truck accidents which result in

coal being lost prior to use. Such clarification would also avoid costly litigation in

state courts in interpreting the point of tax incidence.

6. A separate tax component of the Administration's package which would ad-

versely impact users of coal and other commodity exports,
is the proposed new $1.00

per gallon barge fuel tax. This proposed tax, whicn is in addition to the existing

Barge fuel tax and the proposed energy tax, would increase barge coal rates of 20—
25 percent and would result generally in a 4.5-8.5 percent increase in the delivered

price of U.S. coal. Just as the export meu-ket cannot stand even a portion of the Btu

tax, our international competitiveness would be eroded by this aharp increase in

b£u-ge fuel taxes. Most of the 15 million tons of export coal and the billions of dollars

of other American exports shipped on the river system to the Gulf Coast for export
would be lost to international competition.
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Prepared Statement of Dennis Nagel

Mr. Chairman and Members of the Committee:

Good morning. I am Dennis Nagel, Chairperson of the Iowa Utilities Board and

President of the National Association of Regulatory Utility Commissioners (NARUC), on

whose behalf I am testifying here today. The NARUC greatly appreciates the opportunity

to present its views on the subject of the President's energy tax proposal.

The NARUC is a quasi-governmental, nonprofit organization founded in 1889.

Within its membership are the governmental agencies of the fifty States, the District of

Columbia, Puerto Rico and the Virgin Islands engaged in the regulation of carriers and

utilities. NARUC's Chief objective is to serve the public interest by seeking to improve the

quality and effectiveness of regulation.

ntroduction

The NARUC has been an active participant in the debate over the Administration's

modified BTU tax since shortly after President Clinton announced his original tax proposal
in February. Following this, the NARUC Executive Committee in March took the

unprecedented step of rescinding our 1990 position opposing broad-based energy taxes

and adopting a position of neutrality on the issue for now. This was done in order to

signal the Administration and the Congress that the NARUC would have an open mind

about the issue of energy taxes. While we remain neutral on the issue of an energy tax,

our resolution states six items we believe should be addressed in the design of any
broad-based energy tax, including the President's modified BTU tax. A copy of our

resolution is attached (see Attachment #1).

As the Committee is well aware, the Treasury Department on April 1st announced
revisions to the original modified BTU tax proposal. In my statement today, I would like

to comment first on the Treasury Department proposal to ensure passthrough of the BTU
tax to utility ratepayers. I then would like to comment on each of the other items of our

resolution and how they relate to the President's modified BTU tax proposal.

Representatives of the NARUC have met with Treasury Department officials and
made them aware of our concerns about the passthrough proposal. We greatly

appreciate their willingness to listen to our concerns, and look forward to working with

them further as their proposal moves into the legislative stage. I also want to express the

willingness of the NARUC to work with this committee as it considers the Administration's

energy tax proposal and prepares to take action on it.

I also want to be clear about where we stand on the passthrough issi : the

NARUC supports one of the key objectives of the modified BTU tax, which is to send

price signals to energy consumers to conserve energy. We are willing to work with the

Administration, the Congress and other interested parties in seeing that this objective is

achieved. At the same time, the NARUC is committed to its twin principles of seeing that

Federal pre-emption of State regulation is an action of absolute last resort and should be
done only when fully justified, and that State commissions, because of their proximity to

the people they regulate, are best able to determine the justness and reasonableness of

utility rates.

Normalization Should Not Be Used to Mandate Passthrough

The Treasury Department's April 1 proposal on the passthrough issue would deny
certain tax benefits to utilities for periods during which the energy tax is not completely
passed through to end users. These benefits involve special treatment accorded to

investor-owned utilities' use of accelerated depreciated and investment tax credits. Under
the tax code, these benefits can be "normalized" for book purposes, meaning that the

utility may treat these benefits differently for rate purposes than for Federal tax purposes.
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While the NARUC has cxjnsistently oppoi 3Q the "normalization" of these benefits

for rate purposes, I do not believe that a State commission would deny Federal tax

benefits to any utility by preventing the passthrough of the BTU tax. A commission that

did so would run the risk of not only putting the utility it regulates at a competitive

disadvantage vis-a-vis other utilities who are granted passthrough, but also putting that

utility in a precarious financial condition that could affect its ability to serve its customers.

State commissions are charged with the responsibility of seeing that the utilities they

regulate stay in business.

Withholding the benefits of normalization from a utility for the time period that the

BTU tax is not passed through would unnecessarily extend the reach of the normalization

provisions into another area of State ratemaking authority. It also runs counter to the

original congressional intent of normalization, which was to slow the flow-through of utility

tax benefits to ratepayers. For these reasons, the NARUC believes such a proposal is

ill-conceived and should be rejected.

Passthrough Mechanisms Exist

I would submit that there already exists a time-tested and effective means of

passthrough: State commission rate-setting mechanisms.

Most State commissions have a mechanism for dealing with fuel cost increases

that would occur as a result of the modified BTU tax. These mechanisms are generally

known as energy cost adjustments and are commonly referred to as fuel adjustment
clauses (FACs) in the electric utility industry and purchased gas adjustments (PGAs) in

the gas utility industry. The tables accompanyin- my testimony indicate that three-

quarters of the States have FACs in place for the electric utilities they regulate and 47 use

PGAs for the gas utilities they regulate (see Attachment #2.) These adjustments are

made to utility rates periodically: monthly, semi-annually, annually or on some other basis

depending on each commission's rules.

In States without these mechanisms or in the case when the BTU tax Is imposed

directly on the utility (i.e. for hydro- and nuclear-generated electricity), a utility may file for

a rate increase. These increases typically go into effect in short order, subject to

suspension by the State commission. In fact, assuming that the tax will not take effect

until July 1994, as proposed by the Treasury Department, utilities would have sufficient

time to file for such an increase. Both rate mechanisms - energy cost adjustments and

rate filings
- provide ample opportunities for utilities to recover the increased costs due

to a Federal energy tax.

There also is no evidence to support the claim that a State commission would

withhold any portion of a Federal tax paid by a utility. In fact, we can find no case of a

State commission taking such action against a utility. State commissions are obliged to

include all reasonr.blf- costs of providing utility service in rates, and bona fide taxes

imposed by the Fe lei al government have always been viewed as recoverable costs.

Incentives for Utility Efficiency Gains. Optimal Fuel Use

The NARUC believes that such any BTU tax should be designed to encourage
energy efficiency and optimal use of fuels. We do not believe there is sufficient evidence

to prove that energy efficiency would be substantially improved if there is a mandatory
requirement that utility ratepayers bear the full cost of the BTU tax. As we stated above,
most States have the ability to pass through the increased cost of the tax through FACs
and PGAs. In addition, the direct tax on utilities will be considered in rate proceedings.

However, guaranteeing a 100 percent passthrough does not, in our opinion, guarantee

substantially more energy savings or energy efficiency improvements. It actually removes
incentives for utilities to make their energy production, transmission and distribution

operations more efficient. These efforts encompass the optimum use of fuels used in the

generation of electricity.
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Congress in passing the Energy Policy Act of 1992 expressly required State

commissions to consider regulatory incentives that would allow electric utilities to improve
their supply-side efficiencies (see Section 111 of P.L 102-486). The NARUC supported
enactment of this provision. Ensuring that the tax is borne only by the entities on the

demand-side of the utility meter runs counter to this policy. Therefore, we believe that

any energy tax should be designed to encourage efficiency in the supply as well as the

consumption of energy.

Now I would like to address the other points of our resolution and how they relate

to the latest version of e modified BTU tax proposal.

Geographic Equity and Fairly Spread Over All Fuels

The resolution adopted by NARUC calls for any broad-based energy tax to be

applied in a manner that assures geographic equity in tax burdens and to assure that the

tax burdens will be spread fairly over ail fuel sources, including hydro. This part of our

resolution deals with the issue of making any energy tax as fair as possible to ail those

who will be affected by it. By applying the tax to all fuel sources for electric generation,

we believe that some measure of geographic equity can be achieved with respect to the

potential impact on utilities and their customers in different regions of the country. In

addition, we believe that the tax should be applied to all fuel sources so that it is not only

the utility fuel sector that is affected. The President's BTU tax proposal appears to meet

this objective by including fuels used for electric utility generation as well as fuels used

in other sectors of the economy. However, we are concerned by the increased number
of exemptions that were included in the April 1 revision of the proposal. If all of these

exemptions are allowed and are expanded even further, we believe that the goal of

regional equity and fairness may be lost.

Consistent With Transition to Cleaner Technologies/Renewable R> sc jrces

The NARUC has advocated the development of renewable energy technologies.
The association was supportive of provisions under the Energy Policy Act to provide
investment and production tax incentives for renewable energy technologies, which this

Committee worked on in the last Congress. We did so based on evidence that renewable

energy technologies lag behind conventional energy technologies in their acceptance by
utilities and other businesses as sources capable of producing clean, cost-effective

electric power.

TTie April 1 Treasury Department announcement suggested an expanded list of

renewable energy sources that would qualify for exemptions from the modified BTU tax.

We are concerned that this expanded list includes technologies that have been shown to

have significant environmental impacts i.e. municipal solid waste and tires burned as fuel.

Therefore, we would urge that if the goal of the BTU tax is to promote cleaner, renewable

technologies, a reconsideration of the list of exempted renewables should be made.

Contribute to U.S. Productivity. Technology Export Opportunities and Competitiveness

As our resolution states, the design of any broad-based energy tax must contribute

toward making the United States m6re productive, and encourage greater export

opportunities and competitiveness. All of these objectives can in some measure be

accomplished through increased energy efficiency. Ttie NARUC believes that energy

efficiency provides real benefits for the Nation. By making our country's industries more

energy efficient, we enhance our ability to compete in world markets. In addition, the tax

may spur development of dean energy technologies in the U.S. that ave great export

potential. The effect of energy taxes on the energy component of Jie products we
produce and export, however, should not be overlooked. These additional costs must
be weighed against the incentive an energy tax would create to cut the costs of producing
domestic goods and ser^/ices.



219

Offset Impacts on Low-Income Customers

The fifth point of our resolution addresses the issue of impacts resulting from a

broad-based energy tax on low-income utility customers. The NARUC believes that any

energy tax proposal must mitigate the regressive impacts on low-income utility

ratepayers. We are aware that the President's proposal would include offsets such as an

expanded earned income credit and increased funding for the Low-Income Home Energy
Assistance Program (LIHEAP) and the Department of Energy's Low-Income Weatheri-

zation Assistance Program (WAP). Our resolution also supports efforts aimed at providing
"education and targeted energy efficiency" for low-income ratepayers to help them reduce

the overall use of energy. The NARUC has consistently supported funding for the these

programs as the bes'. in- urance that low-income ratepayers are able to meet their energy
bills. Yet in recent y3a.s the effectiveness of these programs has been diminished by
reduced Federal funds. We strongly urge Congress to fully fund these programs to

restore their effectiveness in reaching the people who most need them as well as making
up for the increased energy costs that would result from the imposition of an broad-based

energy tax.

Investment Tax Credits

Unrelated to the issue I have discussed above, but a part of the President's overall

tax package, is the revival of the investment tax credit, which was repealed by the Tax
Reform Act of 1986. Revival of the ITC would mean that utilities would be allowed to

claim credit against current and future income for their investments in qualifying assets.

The current tax code requires a "normalization" treatment of these credits, which would

mean that the benefits are passed on to ratepayers over the lifetime of the utility's asset.

The NARUC opposes mandatory normalization treatment of ITC. If normalization is

required, we would advocate that current tax law be changed to apply economic
normalization to the ITC, allowing more of the benefits of ITC to be passed on to

ratepayers. Past treatment of this benefit created a bias toward new construction that put

shareholder interests at odds with consumer interests and contributed to expensive power

plant construction decisions. In an era when the benefits of conservation are clearer than

ever, it would be a serious mistake to adopt a tax policy that artificially favors capital

intensive approaches to energy supply when the consumer is better served by energy

efficiency.

Conclusion

The modified BTU lax is a serious matter for State commissioners, it will directly

impact the ratepayers of the electric and gas utilities we regulate. This causes all of us

in the regulatory community great concern. As our resolution states, if there is to be a

broad-based energy tax, there are certain components that must be part of the package.
There are several difficult issues concerning the implementation of any broad-based

energy tax. I have discussed some of them with you today, and pledge that the NARUC
is willing to work with your Committee, the Congress and the Administration in

determining what proposal is the best for our country.

Resolution on the Design of Energy Taxes

WHEREAS, The Administration and members of Congress will be considering adopting a

broad-based energy tax as pan of a comprehensive package of actions to address the Federal deficit

and long-term economic growth; and

WHEREAS, State regulated utility ratepayers and shareholders will be affected by any such

tax through its impacts on costs, energy efficiency, and utility resource decisions; and
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WHEREAS, By covering a portion of the economic impact not currently reflected in the

price of fuels, a properly designed tax policy which encourages energy efficiency may have long
term positive economic benefits by increasing U.S. productivity and competitiveness as well as

avoiding or mitigating detrimental environmental impacts of resource decisions; and

WHEREAS, The National Association of Regulatory Utility Commissioners (NARUC)
previously adopted a re: olution opposing a general broad-based energy tax at a time when such

taxes were being cc si ;red solely as a method to reduce the deficit and not as pan of any

comprehensive economic plan; and now, therefore, be it

RESOLVED, That the Executive Committee of the National Association of Regulatory

Utility Commissioners (NARUC), convened at its Winter Meeting in Washington, D.C., hereby
rescinds the previous resolution on energy taxes adopted July 26, 1990; and be it further

RESOLVED, While the NARUC does not support or oppose a broad-based energy tax at

this time, the NARUC Executive Committee believes that any broad-based energy tax as part of

a comprehensive package of actions to reduce the Federal deficit and spur long-term economic

growth should:

(1) be applied in a manner that assures geographic equity in tax burdens and assures that

the tax burdens will be fairly spread over all fuels, including hydro;

(2) be designed to encourage energy efficiency and the optimal use of fuels;

(3) be consistent with the transition to use of cleaner technologies and renewable resources;

(4) contribute to U.S. produaivity, technology export opportunities and competitiveness;

(5) be accompanied by programs that offset impacts on low-income customers, including
education and targeted energy efficiency programs that help reduce the use of energy; and

(6) not restrict State regulatory commissions' discretion in the treatment of costs associated

with the imposition of energy taxes.

Sponsored by the Comm-ttees on Eleancity and Energy Conservation

Adopted March 3, 1993

SECTION 4

ENERGY COST ADJUSTMENT CLAUSES - ELECTRIC AND GAS

Table 24 displays electnc uiiliiy use of energy cost adjustment clauses, whether a hearing is required prior to

recovering costs, whether periodic Tilings are required, what types of costs may be recovered via adjustment clause and

whether the agency uses a true-up procedure for over- or under-recoveries.

Table 25 displays the same information for gas utiliues.
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TABLE 24 - REGULATION OF ELECTRIC UTILITY ENERGY COST ADJUSTMENT CLAUSES
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TABLE 24 - REGULATION OF ELECTRIC imLITY ENERGY COST ADJUSTMENT CLAUSES
(Continued)

FAC=fuel Adjust-
ment Clause

AGEMCr

•
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TABLE 25 - REGULATION OF GAS UTILITY ENERGY COST ADJUSTMENT CLAUSES

PCA-Purchased Gas

Adjustment
Clause

AGENCY
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TABLE 25 - REGULATION OF GAS UTILITY ENERGY COST ADJUSTMENT CLAUSES
(Continacd)

PGAsPurchased Cas

Adjustment
Clause

AGENCY
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Prepared Statement of Senator Rockefeller

I applaud the Administration and the many in
industry

who have been working
in recent weeks to refine the Btu tax proposal to ensure tnat it is as fair and work-
able as

possible.
That has been my approach, and I have appreciated the coopera-

tion of all those involved.

When we deal with a comprehensive economic package, most of us can find one
or another part of the package that we would not have included or would have done

differently. But for each Member of Congress to insist on every detail amounts to

insisting on doing nothing. That, of course, is unacceptable.
Although it is important to examine closely each piece of the economic package,

including the energy tax, we must not forget the bigger picture.
The President has called on Congress to grapple with the fundamental problems

of our economy. The task is to stimulate the economy and invest in the future, but
at the same time reduce the deficit.

The difficult steps that must be taken to do these things are being taken for a
reason. The reason is that continued failure to reduce the deficit and continued ne-

glect of investment in economic growth will destroy our economic future.

The mistakes of the last decade have left us with narrowed options. But I am en-

couraged by the cooperation that has emerged in working on the energy tax propos-
als. I am encouraged to believe that there is a growing resolve that the tough steps
must be taken for the larger, long term good. I look forward to continuing to work
with the Administration and all concerned to ensure that the President's program
is enacted into law.

Prepared Statement of Ellen S. Roy

i. the national independent energy producers

Mr. Chairman, my name is Ellen Roy. I am Vice President for Business Develop-
ment for Intercontinental Energy Corporation and the Chairperson of the Energy
Tax Task Force of the National Independent Energy Producers (NIEP). We are

pleased to submit this testimony on proposals for a broad-based energy tax as part
of the President's deficit reduction package. NIEP is an association of companies
that generate electricity for sale to utilities and develop cogeneration projects

for a

variety of users. NIEP membership is comprised of both publicly-traded and pri-

vately-held corporations which represent a oroad spectrum of fossil fuel-fired and
renewable technologies, including hydro, biomass, pumped storage, geothermal,
wood, waste coal and other fuels, as well as oil, gas and coal-fired generation and
wholesale generation facilities. Our members sell power at wholesale to utilities on
the basis of long-term contracts. We do not have captive ratepayers and do not build

rate-based, cost-of-service, powerplants.
NIEP is committed to increasing competition in electric power generation mar-

kets. Independent energy has grown out of the entrepreneurial and competitive cli-

mate fostered by the Public Utility Regulatory Policies Act of 1978 (PURPA^. Com-

petition brings efficiently priced power to the nation's consumers.
Since this 1978 legislation opened the door for competitive power, independent

electric producers have expanded non-utility capacity to more than 43,000

megawatts of capacity—eauivalent to over 40 large power plants. In addition, this

new industry has suppliea over 50 percent of all new electric capacity since 1989.

This industry relies on state-of-the-art, highly fuel efficient and clean power produc-
tion technologies. To date, more than $40 billion has been invested in the independ-
ent power industry, producing approximately $10 billion in power sales revenue an-

nuafiy.

II. THE IMPACT OF THE PROPOSED ENERGY TAX ON INDEPENDENT ELECTRICITY
PRODUCERS

Independent power producers (IPPs) are concerned that the energy tax, as origi-

nally proposed by the Administration in February, may unfairly disadvantage the

cleanest, most efficient, and most competitive sector of the electric generating indus-

try. The Administration's modified proposal released early this month takes signifi-

cant steps in the right direction; more, however, can be done. Unlike regulated elec-

tric utilities which can, in most cases, pass costs on to captive ratepayers, many
electric generators, such as independent power producers

and utilities who engage
in long-term wholesale electricity sales, do so under contracts that do not permit the

seller to pass through increases in taxes to the ultimate consumer. Under the Ad-
ministration's proposed upstream energy tax, these contract suppliers may have to
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absorb all or some significant portion of the tax, jeopardizing their financing and
the economic viability of their plants. Equally important is the effect which this tax

design would have on competition in electric power markets. Wholesale generators
of electricity, such as independent power producers, compete with utility cost-of-

service plants for the right to build new electric capacity. If independent power pro-
ducers with long-term contracts are placed at a disadvantage relative to their utility

competitors by virtue of the independents' inability to pass through the tax to the
ultimate consumer, competition

will be tilted in favor of utilities. Consumers may
then be denied some of the benefits of competition in electric power markets.*
The contracts between wholesale electric generators and their utility customers

often have terms of 20 years or longer, cover both fixed costs (capital payments) and
variable costs (energy and operations and maintenance expenses), are quite complex
and vary significantly throughout the country. In assessing these contracts, an im-

portant distinction between "pass-through" and "recovery" of taxes must be made.
A contract which permits an IPP to bill and collect from utilities on a doUar-for-

doUar basis the taxes paid by the IPP, substantially concurrently with its payment
of those taxes, permits a "pass-through" of the tax. A contract which contains energy
pa3mient escalators which may be affected by the tax may in the broadest sense

allow the IPP to "recover" at some later date some portion of taxes paid, but there

may be no easily quantifiable correlation between the "recovery" and the taxes, and
the result in each case will depend on how the specific contract is written. A 1992

survey by NIEP of existing power sales agreements between independent generators
and utilities found that none of these contracts contained provisions permitting

the

independent generator to pass through to the utility increased costs aue to changes
in law, incluaing taxes. ^ The

ability
of a wholesale electric supplier to pass through

or recover a fuel tax depends on the nature of the contract energy pajmnent provi-
sion.^ For instance, in cases where the energy payment is based on fuel market indi-

ces which may be affected by the tax, the IPP may recover some portion of the tax

at an uncertain date, sometimes years later, but there is no direct pass-through of

the tax and full recovery of taxes paid is unlikely.

• fixed over the term of the contract based on administrative determination of

long range avoided costs (no pass-through or recovery permitted);
• adjusted from a base to reflect a general economic index, such as inflation (no

pass-through permitted; delayed recovery only to the de minimis extent that a

tax-related rise in fuel costs affects the Consumer Price Index, a general meas-
ure of inflation);

• adjusted from a base to reflect energy market conditions and/or purchasing util-

ity's cost of ftiel (no pass-through permitted; partial, delayed recovery only to

the extent that fuel indices and utility's own cost of fuel, as applicable, reflect

tax; it is unlikely that wholesale generators would recover any significant por-
tion of taxes paid);

• in a few contracts, such as California Standared offer contracts, indexed to re-

flect market conditions by a mechanism established by state regulatory commis-
sion rule or policy (no pass-through permitted; nature and extent of recovery
contingent on obtaining commission approval for recovery of tax-related costs;

even ifapproval given, major delay may be involved); and
• some combination of the above, so that at different times during the contract

term a single IPP would be subject to varying amounts, if any, of recovery.

III. NIEP'S PROPOSAL FOR A FAIR AND EFFICIENT ENERGY TAX

NIEP believes the key to developing a fair energy tax is its collection
point,

the

place in the stream of commerce where the tax is imposed. Under the Administra-
tion's February proposal, the tax would be collected upstream at the minemouth for

coal, the entry into the refinery for oil, the pipeline for natural gas, the production
facility for alcohol fuels, point of importation for imported power and petroleum
products, and the utility for hydro and nuclear-generated electricity. The Adminis-
tration's modified plan announced earlier this month would move some of these col-

* In enacting the electricity provisions of the Energy Policy Act of 1992, Congress strongly en-

dorsed the benefits of competition in electric power markets by removing barriers to entry
caused by the Public Utility Holding Company Act and opening access for wholesale suppliers
to electric transmission facilities.

^
By contrast, electric utilities are entitled to pass through to or recover from their ratepayers

all prudent costs related to changes in law or regulation. In many states, utilities have auto-

matic fuel adjustment clauses which allow price increases atributed to taxes to be passed
through and, in the remaining states, utilities can routinely seek and receive regulatory ap-

proval for reimbursement from their ratepayers.
^
Energy payments may be:
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lection points slightly downstream, placing the tax on the pxirchaser for coal, at the

refinery tailgate for oil and on the local distribution company or other purchaser for

natural gas; alcohol fuels would be exempt and the other collection points would re-

main the same. Under both proposals, the seller of gas, coal, oil and other non-ex-

empt fuels would collect the tax from the wholesale generators at the point of sale

before the fuel is used to produce electricity. As noted above, NIEP believes that
a tax in this form will have the unintended consequences of damaging the economic
viability and competitive position of the independent power industry.
NIEP recommends that the tax be imposed downstream at the burner tip (retail

consumption point for natural gas) or retail electric meter. This collection point
would eliminate pass-through problems for utilities and wholesale generators alike.

Alternatively, the tax should be imposed only on the utility purchasing electricity
at wholesale either at the busbar (where electricity goes from the generation station

to the grid, after the point of sale to the utility) or the substation (where the high
voltage transmission lines deliver energy which is stepped down to distribution

voltages for retail sale). The tax would be based on the Btu content of the fuel mix
in the utility purchase.
NIEP believes that this downstream collection proposal better serves the stated

objectives of the Administration in proposing the tax. The following objectives have
been cited by Administration officials as guiding the design of the energy tax:

1. The tax must increase revenues by $71.4 billion over the 1994-1998 period, or

about $22 billion per year by 1998.
2. The tax should have a reasonably balanced impact on different regions of the

country.
3. The tax should be easy to administer.
4. The tax should reduce dependence on foreign sources of energy.
5. The tax should reduce environmental damage and promote energy conservation.

6. The point of collection should minimize the number of taxpayers or tax collec-

tors and ensure that imported and domestic products are taxed at the same rate

and that fixed-price contracts do not prevent pass-through of the tax to the end
user.

7. Independent power producers should not be competitively disadvantaged by the
tax.

IV. NIEP'S PROPOSAL COMPORTS WITH THE GOALS OF THE ENERGY TAX

NIEP's proposal for a downstream collection point either at the retail burner tip/

retail meter or busbar/substation would better serve these objectives than the Ad-
ministration's upstream proposals:

A Ease ofAdministration

There are approximately 3000 electric utilities with retail distribution fi-anchises

in the United States. Most of these regulated utilities already collect taxes for state

and local governments. They are also accustomed to being regulated on a cost ac-

counting basis. The most efficient way to collect the tax is to have it imposed on
the retail ratepayer at his electric meter and collected bv the utility. If instead, the

tax is be to imposed on the purchasing utility at the busbar or substation, steps
should be taken to insure that utilities can pass the tax through to ratepayers. Util-

ity
fuel adjustment clauses allow regulated utilities, but not independents and other

wholesale generators, to pass Btu taxes through to ratepayers. Because of their obli-

gation to serve, regulated utilities are entitled, under state law, to recover fi"om

their customers all prudently incurred costs, including taxes. All but six states have
fuel adjustment clauses. These clauses, introduced in the 1970s during the period
of highly volatile fiiel prices, allow utilities to quickly adjust rates to assure fuel cost

recovery rather than wait for a periodic rate proceeding. However, many of the fuel

ac^ustment clauses have caps on the amount of adjustment permitted annually.
Some utilities may, therefore, not be able to recover all tax payments unless normal-
ization rules or other measures are adopted by the Congress to assure full pass-

through. We endorse efforts to assure that utilities can recover the tax from their

ratepayers.
The Administration's modified proposal would be very difficult to administer. By

requiring each IPP to pay the tax and then, if the IPP is party to a certain type
of contract, to apply for a credit later, the Administration's proposal would involve

the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) in difficult assessments of complicated energy

Sricing
provisions in contracts throughout the country. By not addressing the pro-

uction of steam firom waste heat in cogeneration facilities, the Administration in-

vites extended disputes concerning the allocation of fuel used by cogenerators to

produce both electricity and steam. By confining the proposed tax credit to IPPs who
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are party to existing contracts, the proposal creates substantial uncertainty as to

the effect of any amendments to those contracts (and difficulty in administering de-

cisions as to whether any amendment is related to the tax). In addition, to deal with

alleged windfall problems where energy payments may vary under a contract, some
have proposed complicated schemes for reducing or eliminating the IPP credit or de-

ferral if an IPP receives any pajmients that may be increased (no matter how indi-

rectly or delayed) by the amount of taxes paid by the utility, which would involve

the mS in additional byzantine contract interpretation and allocation issues.

NIEP's downstream proposals avoid all of these problems.

B. Conservation

If one goal of the tax is to create incentives to conserve energy, the entity which

pays the tax should also be the one that controls the consumption of fuel. As Sec-

retsury Bentsen stated on April 1, 1993, in releasing the Admmistration's modified

proposal, "If the tax is to effectively promote energy conservation, it must be borne

Dy the ultimate consumer. The Administration is continuing to explore methods of

assuring that the tax is in fact passed through to those who use the energy." A tax

imposed on wholesale generators will not reduce consumption because they are re-

quired by contract to deliver power on demand from their utility purchasers. It is

uie purchasing utility which determines which generating unit on their system \yill

be called upon. The utility also has an obligation to serve its ratepayers by meeting
their demand for electricity. A retail tax or a tax on the utility with assured pass-

through to retail customers is more likely to change retail consumption patterns to

promote energy conservation.

Imposing the tax on wholesale generators also would not encourage fuel switch-

ing, as some have suggested. Although utilities can and do choose among power gen-
erators based on the type and cost of fuel used by each, once an IPP nas built its

Slant
it is locked into its chosen fuel in all but a very few instances, where

plants
ave been built to run on more than one fiiel. In these plants, the operator already

has significant incentives to use the lowest-priced fuel" the capacity to use more
than one fuel exists solely as a backup in case of supply interruptions on cheaper
fuels.

However, policymakers are usually strongly opposed to placing any tax at the re-

tail level for several reasons:

• Visibility. Consumers will be upset if a new tax item is added to their electricity
bill.

• Ease of administration, both the ability to enforce collection and the desire to

minimize the number of people paying the tax. As discussed above, however,
utilities generally are efficient tax and bill collectors.

The energy tax is hardly the stealth bomber of the President's comprehensive defi-

cit reduction plan. Moreover, utilities g;enerally do not, or need not, break-out spe-
cific cost items, including taxes, on retail customer bills. In announcing and discuss-

ing the tax, the Administration has been explicit in its public statements about the

consumer impact of the energy tax.

C. Minimize Interference in Markets

The downstream collection point for the tax on electricity fuels would minimize

disruption of competition by avoiding the creation of winners and losers in the elec-

tric generation market. Since wholesale generators and traditional cost-of-service fa-

cilities will be treated the same with regard to
pass-through

of the tax, the tax will

not interfere with competition between indepenaent power producers emd traditional

utilities over the right to build new facilities.

D. Revenue Impact
We note that the downstream collection point may result in a loss of

projected
revenues from the tax because of losses of energy as collection moves down the

stream of commerce. We recognize that it may be necessary to adjust the Btu tax

rate to make up any significant losses in revenue, consistent with the goal of deficit

reduction.

V. OTHER PASS-THROUGH OPTIONS

Several other options for dealing with the pass-through problem have been consid-

ered:

• "Grandfather" existing contracts of wholesale producers with terms greater than
one year by exempting fiiel used in such facilities from the tax. While this pro-

posal would prevent financial hardship to existing facilities and likely have
minimal revenue impacts, it would give new utility cost-of-service plants with
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automatic tax pass-through a competitive advantage over contract suppUers
who compete with them for the right to build new capacity, but must bargain
for the right to pass-through fuel taxes.

• Give wholesale generators a tax credit or rebate for taxes paid on fuel. This pro-

posal exempts such fuel from tax all together, is expensive to administer, and
sets a bad precedent for other industries which could "snowball" into substan-
tial revenue impacts. Nonetheless, this approach, together with imposition of a
tax on electricity purchased by utilities under existing fixed-price contracts, ap-

pears to be the course chosen by the Administration in its modified proposal.
• Defer collection of the tax on fuel used for generation of electricity subject to

long-term contracts—have the tax collected by the purchasing utility at the

busbar or substation. If the decision is made to have an upstream imposition
of the tax, this is NIEFs preferred solution to the pass-through problem. It has
the disadvantage of somewhat cumbersome tax deferral certSicates or rebates.

It also does not deal with the problem of fuel lost, in transportation or other-

wise, between the point of imposition and point of combustion, or losses of elec-

tricity resulting from transmission from the generating plant to the substation.

VI. WHY PASS-THROUGH FOR FUTURE PROJECTS IS IMPORTAhfT

Pass-through of energy taxes for future as well as existing IPP projects is impor-
tant to the future of the independent power industry. At first glance, this may not

appear necessary. Unlike existing facilities locked into long-term contracts, devel-

opers of future projects may negotiate new contracts which theoretically could take

the possibility of future tax increases into accovmt. This argument does not reflect

the realities of competition in the energy industry however. Utilities and IPPs com-

pete to gain the right to build power plants, with the utility often in the position
of being l)oth a competitor and tne judge of the contest. In this situation, the utility

has no incentive to agree to tax pass-throughs, and IPPs' inability to pass the tax

through for new contracts would undermine the Administration's stated purposes
for the tax of promoting energy conservation by end users and not putting IPPs at

a competitive disadvantage in the electric power markets.
Because fuel costs au-e 80-90 percent of a fossil fuel-fired facility's variable costs,

IPPs may have difficulty financing their plants if they must bear the risk of fiiture

tax increases on fuel. This will be especially true in the future if the precedent and
mechanisms for energy taxes are established in 1993. At the same time, contractual

provisions permitting recovery of the tax most likely would not be available. Utili-

ties which purchase electricity from IPPs are very reluctant to assume tax risks

through some form of contract pass-through provision without assurance in advance
that their regulatory commissions will allow them to recover the costs of tax pay-
ments. State regulators, on the other hand, have typicallv resisted any advance ap-

proval of contract terms which bind future commissions, hence the need for the Ad-

ministration's normalization proposals to encourage pass-through.
These difficulties would create an artificial incentive for utilities to build rather

than buy new capacity, thereby undermining the competitive market for wholesale

power. If a utility builds its own facility on a cost-of-service basis, it has a high

probability of being able to pass energy taxes through to ratepayers along with other

prudently incurred" costs, either through a fuel adjustment clause or in a rate pro-

ceeding. Of course it is possible that state regulatory commissions will insist that

fuel taxes be passed through or not in the same manner for both utilities and IPPs,

but this is unlikely given the different regulatory schemes for utilities and IPPs.

For these reasons, one cannot simply say that the tax risk is just another nego-

tiating point and that utilities will agree to pass-through if they get enough in re-

turn for carrying this risk. This would be true in a perfectly competitive market,
but that is not the real world for IPPs. Further, there is no reason why this tax

should be structured so as to give utilities another bargaining chip over IPPs. Even
in states with commission-sanctioned competitive bidding, electric utilities compete
with IPPs for the right to build new capacity and the utilities already have signifi-

cant bargaining leverage over IPPs. If the ability to pass-through taxes were greater
for electric utilities than for IPPs, such as would be the case If the default position
is that the IPP pays the tax without a pass-through, competition would be tilted

against IPPs in fevor of the cost-of-service facilities and the policies of PURPA, the

Energy Policy Act of 1992 and other statutes passed by Congress to encourage alter-

native sources and increased efficiency in the production of electricity would be un-

dermined.
The best solution for this problem is either to have the tax imposed on electricity

fuels at the retail level or to include in the tax legislation a federal mandate that

utilities be allowed to pass through such taxes in their fuel adjustment clauses or
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other cost recovery mechanism. In any case, it makes sense for the IPP pass-
through provision now being considered by the Treasury to apply to future as well
as existing facilities.

Allowing the tax pass-through provision to apply to future as well as existing fa-

cihties does not ada to LRS's administrative burden. Utilities could continue to col-

lect the tax at the recommended collection point in the future under the system al-

ready established for existing facilities.

Finally, we should point out that there also is precedent in the Clean Air Act
Amendments of 1990 for giving IPPs prospective as well as retrospective relief in

order to ensure fair competition between utilities and IPPs. In the original acid rain

proposal submitted to Congress, IPPs were not allocated sulfur dioxide (S02) emis-
sion allowances, but were required to hold allowances equal to their emissions. By
contrast, utilities were allocated sufficient emission allowances to comply with new
standards. Congress recognized that this created an inequity which would harm the

emerging competitive electricity markets. To ensure retrospective relief, Congress
"grandfathered" existing IPP contracts. In addition, to put new IPPs and new utility

filants

on a equal footmg, Congress created sources of allowances specifically for

PPs to enable them to compete fairly with utilities.

VII. TREATMENT OF FUEL USED TO GENERATE STEAM

Cogeneration facilities produce energy in the form of electricity and steam. Since

passage of the PURPA, Congress has favored cogeneration as a means of capturing
waste heat from combustion of fossil fuels, converting it to steam, and using it to

provide heating and cooling to an adjoining industrial customer and/or to generate
additional electricity through steam turbines. The thermal efficiency of such facili-

ties is much greater than would be the case if the waste heat from the production
of either steam or electricity were simply vented into the air. As Vice President Gore
noted in Earth in the Balance, "Laws encouraging and even requiring the efficient

use of cogeneration technology have an important role to play in reducing the con-

sumption of fossil fuels." (p. 329).
The impact of the proposed energy tax on steam sales by cogeneration facilities

was not specifically addressed in the original Treasury proposal
nor the Administra-

tion's modified proposal. However, we believe that not only should the tax be neu-
tral with respect to the economic incentives to cogenerate, but in keeping with the
Administration's policy goals in designing the tax and the congressional policies en-

couraging cogeneration discussed above, it should encourage, and not discourage, co-

generation.
The Treasury proposal would tax the Btu content of fossil fuels, not electricity or

steam produced per se. If IPPs, as purchasers of fuel, cannot pass through the taxes

levied on these fuels upstream to the buyers of their electricity and steam, the fi-

nancial viability of all projects will be impaired and, in some cases, destroyed given
the tight margins in this highly competitive industry. So long as the steam is pro-
duced from waste heat captured in the

process
of burning fuel to generate elec-

tricitv, with no use of additional fuel solely to produce steam, the tax on that fuel

is
fully

and fairly captured by taxing the electricity generated in the process.
With respect to the tax treatment of the fuel used to generate steam in a cogen-

eration facUity, we propose the following:

• In keeping with existing federal incentives for energy efficient cogeneration, the

fuel used in a qualified cogeneration facility which produces steam from waste
heat should not be taxed.

• To the extent a cogeneration facility produces
steam directly from fuel, and not

from waste heat, tnat steam is an "alternative energy" source to which the tax

should not be applied, together with the fiiel used to produce that stream.

VUI. EXEMPTIONS FOR NON-CONVENTIONAL FUELS

The Administration proposes to exclude certain "non-conventional" fiiels from the

Btu tax, including solar, geothermal, biomass, wind and now ethanol, methanol and
other fuels. It has been suggested that certain additional fuels should be considered

"non-conventional" fuels, including waste fossil fuels used for the generation of elec-

tricity, such as waste coal and petroleum coke. While NIEP takes no position on tax

exemption for individual fuels, the following data may be helpful.

A Exemptions for Other Non-Conventional Fuels

In its regulation of qualifying facilities under PURPA, the Federal Energy Regu-
latory Commission (FERC) defines waste as "an energy source that has essentially
no commercial value." Because the Btu content of waste coal is low compared to gas,
oil and even conventional coal, a greater volume of it is required to produce a kilo-
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watt-hour (kwh) of electricity. A Btu tax, when imposed on a low Btu, low value

fuel, has a disproportionate impact on the price of electricity produced from such
fuel. In addition, we note that imlike other renewable fuels which have been ex-

empted, the Administration has proposed to tax hydroelectricity at an average Btu
value for fossil fuels. Such a formula greatly understates the very high efficiency
of hydroelectricity. This raises the question whether taxing such sources at the same
rate as conventional coal or oil puts an unfair burden on the user.

By including waste fuels in the definition of qualifying small power production fa-

cilities under PURPA, Congress sought to encourage the use of these resources for

many of the same public policy reasons that the Aciministration proposed to exempt
"non-conventional" fuels—that is, promoting energy efficiency, reducing dependence
on foreign energy sources and improving the environment. In 1990, Congress rein-

forced its preference for such fuels by removing size limits on these technologies

originally imposed by PURPA.
For example, recent developments in technology over the past few decades have

made it possible to use waste coal as a fuel to generate electricity and steam. About
three biUion tons of waste coal sit on land adjacent to current and former coal

mines. These
piles, many of which have been abandoned for decades, pose environ-

mental hazaras because they leach acid into groundwater, blow dust into the air,

catch on fire or slide down into roads. Despite these hazards, the companies which
own them and are still in business cannot afford to clean up these areas. Rather
than eventually forcing a state or local government to foot the bill for clean-up,
waste coal can be used as a fuel for electricity and steam generation.
Other waste technologies, such petroleum coke, a by-product of petroleum refin-

ing, when used as generating fuels, may provide additional economic benefits to a

region and result in the more efficient use of domestic oil. Also, these combustion

technologies must meet the strictest new source standards for their emissions.
The decision whether to provide an exemption of waste fuels from the proposed

Btu tax or other relief for low Btu waste fuels will depend on an assessment of the
net societal environmental and economic benefits from using waste coal, petroleum
coke or other resources to generate electricity.

B. Elimination of Double Taxation of Energy Storage Technologies

Energy storage technologies, such as hydroelectric pumped storage and com-

pressedair energy storage, represent a unique resource by consuming low-value sur-

plus power during periods of low demand to store energy for use during periods of

high demand. More than 20,000 MWs of energy storage are now in various stages
of planning and development by independent power producers, utilities and public

agencies. Under the current Administration proposal, hydroelectric pumped storage
would not be taxed twice,'* but electricity generated from other energy storage facili-

ties may be subject to a direct double-level tax.

A tax would be imposed on the fuel used to generate the electricity used to store

energy. An additional tax would be imposed on the power used to generate elec-

tricity from the energy storage facility.

Energy storage facilities compete directly to produce peaking power with tech-

nologies such as gas turbines. In the case of gas turbines, the natural gas burned
to generate electricity would be taxed, but not the electricity produced. To double
tax energy storage would place it at a competitive disadvantage relative to other

peaking resources. In addition, in some cases, the tax could disadvantage independ-
ent energy storage facilities relative to utility-owned facilities.

By excluding hydroelectricity produced from pumped storage in its modified pro-

posal,
we believe the Administration has recognized the validity of these arguments.

In drafting legislation, care must be taken to ensure that the same treatment to

electricity generated from all energy storage facilities. The tax would continue to be

imposed on the fuel used to produce the electricity used for storaige.

a. CONCLUSION

The proposed downstream tax collection point best serves the Administration's
stated objectives for the energy tax. It ensures that all fossil fuels used to produce
electricity will be taxed. It does not give cost-of-service facilities with pass-through
capability a competitive advantage over contract suppliers. It reduces the number
of taxpayers, increases administrative simplicity and gives the responsibility for tax

collection to the most sophisticated entity in the electricity stream of commerce.

Further, it advances energy conservation by ensuring that those entities with the

*
Although, as noted above, unlike other renewables, the proposal would tax hydro electricity

at a relatively low efficiency which does not reflect its true efficiency.
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discretion to control energy consumption—utilities which control dispatch of contract

generators and ratepayers who control demand for power—either collect or pay the
tax.

Alternatively, the Administration's April 1 proposal should be modified to remove
the cumbersome tax-and-credit method for deferring taxes on fuel used to produce
electricity, where a utility pays the tax based on electricity it purchases from the
IPP under a "fixed-price contract," without regard to when the contract was signed.

Prepared Statement of Leland H. Swenson

Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and members of the committee for
giving me the opportunity to appear before you today to comment
on the potential impact of proposed energy taxes on the
agriculture and rural sectors. My name is Leland Swenson and I

serve as President of National Farmers Union, a general farm
organization representing over 250,000 farm families.

The members of National Farmers Union support the basic
concepts outlined in President Clinton's economic program. We
believe there is a need to stimulate the economy, to invest in

people and the nation's infrastructure, to reduce the federal
deficit, and to reform the nation's tax system. NFU commends the
president for offering a plan to begin that process.

However, I would be neglecting my duties as a representative
of a general purpose farm organization if I did not point out
that production agricu.itvre has already contributed a great deal
to reducing the nation 1 debt.

As noted by the attached chart, agriculture is the only
entitlement program that has experienced a reduction of outlays
in the past and is scheduled for even more reductions in the
future. The original version of the economic plan proposed cuts
of $6.7 billion in the agriculture sector over the five-year
period. This figure was revised downward to $4.5 billion by the
Fiscal Year 1994 Budget Resolution. NFU is very appreciative of
the recognition which Congress has shown of agriculture's past
contributions to reducing the deficit by making this change. Of
the total cuts, $2.6 billion are to come from mandatory farm
program spending, some of which begin in FY 1994, with the larger
cuts anticipated beginning in FY 1996.

Because of their potential effect on both net farm income and
the future competitiveness of agricultural exports, the National
Farmers Union has serious reservations concerning both the BTU
tax proposal and the proposed increase in the inland waterways
fuel tax.

Getting straight to the point, if farm income were up. there
would be much less concern about the potential implications of
these energy taxes on our industry and on rural America.

To give you a brief snapshot of the financial condition of
agriculture, based on current farm programs, the USDA World
Agricultural Outlook Board in January estimated that 1993 net
farm income would be in the range of $42 to $48 billion, down
from the $51 billion level for 1992. At the midpoint level of
this range, that would be a 12 per cent drop in net farm income.
At the extreme, it would be a 17 per cent decline. These
declines are coupled with expected increases in farm input costs
of approximately two per < >nt.

According to USDA, 75 per cent of all farms are categorized
as "small," with sales of $50,000 or less. The majority of small
farmers lose money on their farms. In 1990, two-thirds lost

money (on an average a negative $3,387), These farm families
remain solvent only through earnings from off-farm jobs. Another
25 percent had a positive return, but netted less than $10,000
from farming operations in 1990. Twenty-two percent had sales
between $50,000 and $249,999. The average farm income for these
producers was $16,236.
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Following the Agricultural Outlook Conference, on April 1,
the Food and Agricultural Policy Research Institute (FAPRI) at
the University of Missouri released an analysis of the impacts of
the Clinton economic package on U.S. agriculture.

FAPRI estimated that when fully phased in, in 1998,
production costs for corn associated with fuel and lubrication,
fertilizer, chemicals and custom harvesting operations are
expected to increase by $2.34 per acre due to the BTU and inland
' a< 2rways tax proposals. For cotton, the same energy-relatr a

a.egories increase by $3.37 per acre. Farm production expf ni 2S
lor fertilizer, petroleum fuels and oils, electricity and custom
work are expected to rise by $690 million in 1998 under the
proposed energy tax package. Net farm income is affected 2.3 per
cent, or $1.2 billion by the total economic package, including
the energy tax portion.

To put these statistics into perspective. North Dakota State
University recently estimated that the BTU tax alone will cost
North Dakota farmers about $1 per acre for wheat, barley and
sunflowers. The average North Dakota farmer would, therefore,
find his net farm income reduced by approximately $1,200 per
year, out of a net farm income in that state of around $17,000
annually.

Similarly, a study done in my home state by South Dakota
State University showed the impact of the proposed fuel tax in
its third year of phase-in. On a typical 600-acre farm in
southeast South Dakota, SDSU estimated the tax would reduce net
farm income by more than $2,400 per year.

FAPRI also estimates that the increase in the inland
waterways fuel tax will add a 5.4-cent-per-bushel price wedge for
wheat, 6.6 cents for soybeans, and 6.5 cents for corn. These
increased costs will be directly borne by the farmer. Part of
the effect of the tax will be mitigated as an additional portion
of grains and oilseeds move Via truck or rail. However, in the
past the rail system has increased its rates roughly three cents
for every 10-cent increase in barge costs.

As the FAPRI study also noted, some of the costs associated
with the increased energy taxes may be offset by reductions in
interest rates. But, in the crops sector, interest offsets nc
mor than one-third of the added costs from higher energy taxe ,

according to FAPRI. And, in the event an interest rate decline
does not occur, further reductions in net farm income can be
expected. Anticipated offsets from changes in the Earned Incorie
Tax Credit (EITC) will do little to help the small farmer, whose
average age is 55 or older. Nor will allowance of an Investment
Tax Credit (ITC) because that proposal makes no provision for
using the credit for purchases of used equipment, which is the
type of equipment often purchased by small farmers.

Modern agricultrre is an energy-intensive industry which has
few alternatives to craditional energy sources. Today, American
farmers directly account for 2.5 per cent of all the energy used
in the U.S. Indirect costs associated with agricultural
production, such as costs of transporting products to market as
well as production inputs, raise the farmers' share of energy
consumption to nearly five per cent of the U.S. total.

On April 1, in announcing modifications to the energy tax
plan. Treasury Secretary Lloyd Bentsen said, "If the tax is to
effectively promote energy conservation, it must be borne by the
ultimate consumer. The Administration is continuing to explore
methods of assuring that the tax is in fact passed through to
those who use the energy."

We understand this statement, however, in the agricultural
sector this is ;just not practical. Independent farmers and
ranchers have virtually no way to "pass through" the increased
burdens (direct on fuel consumed in farming and indirect in
higher commodity transportation prices and other farming costs)
to the "end users" of the food and fiber. Agricultural
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commodities must compete on the world market. In 1992,
agricultural exports totaled nearly $40 billion, cutting our
deficit in non-farm trade by about 14 per cent. Increasing
production costs would further lower net farm income as well as
render U.S. agricultural products less competitive.

If the costs of inputs rise further (energy used directly in

farming as well as fertilizer, for example) the farmer will have
to fully absorb those costs. Unlike the retailer and other small
businesspersons, the small agriculture producer has no control
over the prices he receives for his commodities. To whom can he

pass on the increased costs he will pay due to these energy
taxes?

In addition, we he /e concerns about the BTU tax beyond its
effect on agriculture as an industry. According to the Census
Bureau, each rural family generates 62 per cent more in daily
auto travel than do families who live in metropolitan areas.
Only one per cent of rural workers have access to public
transportation. Heating and cooling costs for rural structures
can average 15 per cent more than for metropolitan homes and
offices due to the isolated, exposed positions of rural
buildings, higher energy distribution costs, and the age and
condition of rural structures. Thus, the implications of
increased energy costs impact rural communities in other ways
besides the potential loss of additional family farmers.

National Farmers Union understands all too clearly the
concern over huge federal deficits, and we are willing to do our
fair share to reduce those deficits. We have requested that the
administration and Congress provide an economic model to reflect

accurately the total ramifications of this proposal on

agriculture and rural communities.

Proposed Solutions

1. NFU believes there are a number of potential solutions to

reduce this economic burden which merit consideration, the main
one being an increase in net farm income.

That solution, which we know is beyond the jurisdiction of
this committee, is to design farm programs to allow for greater
agricultural income in order to offset the increase in the BTU
tax. Increasing farm income woi Id be the best possibl e boost for
agriculture and for the rural ec ^romy . NFU has continued to

express a willingness to work with Congress and the
administration to design farm programs that will provide greater
marketplace income for producers. These programs could include

higher loan rates, higher Acreage Reduction Program (ARP) rates,

implementation of the Targeted Options Program (TOP) , a marketing
loan program, and implementation of the bushel-base program.

2. An alternative would be to provide an agricultural
exemption for all or a percentage of the tax so that agriculture
pays a share proportionate to that of other sectors.

3. Another option would be to eliminate the energy tax
measures altogether and cut back on an equal amount of investment
proposals.

4. Consideration could be given to elimination of the energy
tax measures and, instead, secure needed revenues from a more
progressive tax source, such as the income tax.

5. Another approach would be to provide a credit for energy
generated by renewable sources, such as windmills or solar
panels.

In conclusion, National Farmers Union respectfully asks this
committee's careful review of the impact of energy taxes on
agriculture and rural America, particularly in light of poor
commodity prices and the condition of the farm economy.
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Top Entitlements

Mandatory spending programs account for more than half the federal

budget. Their sheer size makes the biggest of them tempting targets for

budget cutters, but the critical factor is how fast they grow. Medicaid and
Medicare combine size with an explosive growth rate that makes them the

two most serious budget problems in the short run. Social Security will

become a similar problem when the baby boomers begin to retire early in'

the next century. The following are the top 12 entitlements, ranked by size.

(By fiscal year; dollar amounts in billions.)

Rank/Program

1. Social Security

2. Medicare

3. Deposit insurance

4. Medicaid

^. Federal civilian retirement *

6. Unemployment
'

7. Military retirement

8. Food Stamps »

9. Supplemental Security Income

10. Family support

11. Veterans' benefits

12. Farm price supports

•
It it miMltadint to ceUuUtt tht ytar-to-ytar tKanft in dtpotit iniuranei outlays. Tkt cavinfi onj loon €rita

lorttd Congrttt to Buppttmtnl dtpotil insurone* — oriiinarily fundtd teltly by prtmiumi from teutrtd

inttitutiom — luith hugt tuini c/ taxpayer moiwy. The annua/ omouni o/ taxpayer fund* depend* on tht

uageritM of tongreuienal poltliei.
• Ineludtt civil lervite, foreign $erviee, C«aMt Guard and olh*r retirement pragrami. plm annuitanU' health

Wn</i(<.
• Unemployment insurance and food etampe are 'cauruefrycUear or 'automatic $tabiliter~ programi detigntd to

eounieract the effecu of an economic doumturik. Much mere than moit other eniulementt. their year^t^year

trouKh ratei and total tpending are dictated by the. heailh of the economy.

SOURCE: Congressional BudQet Office

Actual '91

Outlays
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SPECIAL ORDER OF BUSINESS

CLINTON ECONOMIC PLAN

Adopted at the National Fanners Union Convention
March 5-8, 1993

We commend President Clinton for presenting an economic
stimulus proposal designed to bring down the federal deficit, put
people back to work, and get the economy moving again.

We also commend the President for moving swiftly to reorganize
and streamline the federal government bureaucracy. We further
commend him for preparing a plan to streamline the U.S. Department
of Agriculture in order to make it more "farmer friendly."

We, the members of the National Farmers Union, support
President Clinton in these endeavors as long as there are plans in
place which pro\ide agricultural producers a fair and equitable
income.

Due to the present depressed economic condition on America's
family farms, individual producers should not be assessed
additional taxes which cannot be recovered from the marketplace.

In particular, because the agriculture industry is heavily
energy dependent, being the nation's fifth largest user of energy,
the proposed BTU tax will have a particularly detrimental impact on
this sector of the economy.

NFU favors targeting farm program benefits over means testing.
Targeting farm program benefits to the production levels of family
farm operators would reduce government costs while furthering the
sustainability of our family farms, our rural communities, and our
national economy.

While NFU agrees that rural development projects are
important, we strongly believe the fastest way to revitalize rural
America would be through increasing the profitability of the family
farmer. Every dollar generated by a family farm operator is re-
invested seven times throughout the economy.

Therefore, it is imperative that National Farmers Union,
representing more than 250,000 of America's family farmers, be
intricately involved in working with the Clinton Administration to
develop economic models which accurately demonstrate the
ramifications of these proposals on family farm agriculture and
rural America.

Secretary of Agriculture Mike Espy's announcement,
lal convention, of the Clinton Administration's

We applaud
at our 1993 annua]
intent to have a close working relationship with members of
National Farmers Jnion. The National Farmers Union
enthusiastically accepts this offer to work with the Clinton
Administration to design a farm program that will target benefits
to family-sized farms while at the same time reducing the federal
budget deficit.

SPECIAL ORDER OF BUSINESS

Inland Waterways Fuel Tax

Adopted at the National Farmers Union Convention
March 5-8, 1993

National Farmers Union is opposed to the proposed 525 percent
increase in the Inland Waterways Fuel Tax contained in the
Administration's economic proposal.

A comprehensive strategy for improving the economic condition
of U.S. agricultural producers must include improvements in
commodity transportation systems. Maintaining export
competitiveness, conserving energy resources, and increasing the
farmers' share of the consumers' food dollar are objectives which
necessitate close vigilance of factors affecting transportation
costs.
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Barges within inland waterways transport over half of all
exported grain. Barges use less fuel per ton-mile than any other
bulk commodity system, and the low-cost operation of barge
transportation minimizes the downward pressure on producer prices
by lessening the total cost of food delivery.

Initial studies estimate that this proposal will increase the
cost of barging grain by about $.10/bushel, in addition to the
$.10/gallon BTU tax also proposed. We firmly believe that such
cost increases will be borne disproportionately by U.S. farmers.
Therefore, we request the leadership of National Farmers Union to
urge Congress to reject this proposed tax increase in the Inland
Waterways Fuel Tax.

NATIONAL FARMERS UNION
9 1ST ANNIVERSARY CONVENTION
SIOUX FALLS, SOUTH DAKOTA

MARCH 5-8, 1993

SPECIAL ORDER OF BUSINESS

INCREASING COMMODITY LOAN RATES

WHEREAS, the Clinton Administration has proposed a
comprehensive economic plan designed to stimulate the national
economy and reduce the federal deficit, which we believe to be
worthwhile goals; and,

WHEREAS, a healthy farm economy is essential to a healthy
national economy; and,

WHEREAS, during the past 12 years farm commodity prices have
continually decreased while farm pror action costs have risen
dramatically, resulting in a negat. vt impact on our nation,
especially its rural areas; and,

WHEREAS, the most important first step which can be taken to
revitalize the United States would be to allow agricultural
producers to receive prices which equal the cost of production,
plus a reasonable profit; and,

WHEREAS, an increase in commodity loan rates will have an
immediate positive effect on increasing commodity prices which, in
turn, will help achieve this Administration's goals of revitalizing
our country; and,

WHEREAS, increasing commodity loan rates also will result in
a net savings in total farm program costs because of a significant
savings in deficiency payments, thereby helping to reduce the
federal deficit.

THEREFORE, the National Farmers Union calls upon Secretary of
Agriculture Mike Espy to immediately utilize his discretionary
authority under the law to increase commodity loan rates to
strengthen market prices so that farmers once again will receive
more of their income from the marketplace, rather than from the
federal Treasury.

Excerpts from 1993 National Farmers Union Policy Program

We are deeply concerned over the adverse potential impacts of
across-the-board national energy taxes such as the proposed BTUtax upon agriculture. We believe that such energy taxes would beboth regressive in nature and inflationary.

Farmers have had little opportunity to respond to increasedcosts of petroleum products, electrical power, and other energy
sources, and cannot recover these increases through meaningfulreductions in consumption. Unless there are programs to provide



238

significant offsetting gains in agricultural income, such energy
taxes will only serve to further the cost-price sgueeze on the
agricultural production sector and force more family farmers out
of business.

We oppose efforts to force cservation through excise taxes,
and support the continuation of the farm-use exemption from such
taxes. We also oppose excise taxes on gasoline for deficit
reduction purposes, since they fall hardest on those in rural
areas.

Because many of the mechanics of the proposed BTU tax are
still unknown, we direct the NFU board and staff to develop
legislative alternatives, including the use of tax credits, which
would offset the costs of the energy tax upon family farmers.

Prepared Statement of Senator Malcolm Wallop

Thank you Mr. Chairman for holding this hearing on a subject of immense con-

cern to me, and thank you Mr. Secretary for appearing before us again to discuss

the administration's Btu tax proposal.
Mr. Secretary, when you appeared before us last, I had asked you a number of

questions about the Btu tax and its implementation. At that time details of the tax

were not available although you expressed some interest in ironing out particular

problems. Now I see that you have released additional details, including collection

point changes and many new exemptions.
But no matter what changes are made to this tax, it will still increase the cost

of U.S. products and will place U.S. manufacturers at a competitive disadvantage
vis-a-vis our m^or trading partners. This is true because the cost of the tax is built

into the sales price so it cannot be rebated at the border nor can it be imposed on

foreign manufactured goods sold in the U.S.

The Btu tax will be particularly onerous to energy-intensive industries such as

aluminum, steel, glass, paper, chemicals and plastics. These industries not only use

a high percentage of energy in the production of their product, but they are also

among some of the most competitive U.S. industries in world markets.

I understand that treasury has estimated that the tax will result in a 4-percent

price increase for energy-intensive industries. As you may know, many of these com-

panies operate on slim margins, so a 4-i>ercent increase in costs would wipe out

their profits. For example, one paper company found that a 2-percent increase in

production costs is more than their entire profit margin.
Although you argue that the Btu tax will have only a negligible impact on the

cost of U.S. production, we can not forget that this is a permanent tax and it will

have a permanent impact. History should remind us that the rate of tax will only

increase in our inevitaole search for new revenue.

In fact, the New York Times reported only yesterday that the administration is

considering a proposal fi"om Vice President Gore to commit the U.S. To fi:-eezing by
the year 2000, greenhouse emissions at 1990 levels. Assuming this new policy is an-

nounced, it seems to me that there will be increased oressure in the near future

to raise the Btu tax rates substantially in order to meet his new commitment.
So even conceding your claim that the impact on U.S. manufactured goods is

small today, it will be large tomorrow and by then it may be too late. We should

have learned a lesson in 1986 when we implemented the AMT tax system. Now we
find that U.S. companies paying AMT recover their capital costs much slower than

other companies and we have to reform the tax because businesses are strapped for

cash and forced to layoff workers.
Of course, industry can adjust to the new costs of the Btu tax. It can move produc-

tion overseas, or decretise the wages of its American workers to remain competitive.
But exporting jobs, as the President decried during his camoaign, is not the way
to achieve economic prosperity. It seems to me that we should be helping to make
these industries even more competitive to ensure American productivity and to

maintain American jobs. We should not continue to put American businesses at a

disadvantage.
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Statement of the Aluminum Association

Summary of The Aluminum Association's Energy Tax Position

The U.S. aluminum industry supports President Clinton's
efforts to reduce the federal deficit. One aspect of the
President's plsui calls for the enactment of a British thermal
unit (Btu) tax on energy. It also provides that non-fuel uses of
enercry will not be taxed.

Electricity used in the process of smelting primary
aluminum, as well as petroleum and coal derivatives in carbon
anodes and cathodes are non-fuel uses that should not be
subject to the President's Btu tax proposal. There are no
substitutes for these non-fuel uses.

The Btu tax attributable to non-fuel uses in primary
aluminum production would be about $172 million. Recognition of
the non-fuel use character of the electricity and carbon used in
producing primary aluminum would still require the U.S. aluminum
industry to contribute over $117 million to the federal treasury
in Btu taxes.

Primary aluminum is an international commodity whose price
is set on the London Metal Exchange (LME) and other major world
exchanges. The increased costs of production resulting from the
Btu tax cannot be passed on to customers, especially when the
world price is at or below the cost of production.

Low energy cost covtntries like Canada, Australia, Brazil,
Venezuela, Norway and the Middle East are both traditional and
growing suppliers of primary aluminum. Many of those countries
would be very supportive of a U.S. Btu tax because they would
benefit by taxation that makes the U.S. industry less

competitive. The C.I.S., particularly Russia, is a huge supplier
to world markets now that the former Soviet domestic economy has
not found new domestic uses for metal once used primarily by the

military.

The Btu tax will severely disadvantage and jeopardize the
U.S. primary aluminum industry both in the U.S. and export
markets .

The U.S. aluminxim industry requests that the Btu tax
mechanism enacted by the Congress recognize that non-fuel uses
(electricity and carbon anodes and cathodes) in the production of

primary aluminum should not be covered by any such plan.

The U.S. alviminum industry supports the Administration's
proposal that the Btu tax not apply to the exports of aluminum in
all forms to avoid harming the industry's ability to remain
competitive in world markets.

(239)
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The President's Energy Tax Proposal

The President's energy tax proposal would impose an excise
tax on fossil fuels (coal, oil, natural gas) at a basic rate of
25.7 cents per million Btu, with an additional tax on oil of 34.2
cents per million Btu. A tax would also be imposed on hydro and
nuclear-generated electricity "at a rate equal to the national
average" of the tax on electricity from fossil fuels.

The tax would be:

o $5.57 per ton of coal;
o $3.47 per barrel of oil;
o $ .26 per 1000 ru lic feet of natural gas; and
o $ .27 per hundi ic KwH of hydro and nuclear-generated

electricity.

In addition to its primary purpose of raising revenue , the
tax has three purposes:

o reducing environmental damage;
o fostering energy conservation; and
o reducing dependence on foreign sources of energy.

While the tax is described as an energy use tax, it would
also provide for exemptions and downstream credits for non-fuel
use and exports.

The Aluminum Reduction Process

The three key feedstocks in the chemistry of the process by
which aluminum metal is produced are: anode carbon, alumina, and
electricity . The electrolytic process is the only commercially
proven method of producing the metal .

Aluminum does not occur in nature as metal, but rather as
its oxide, alumina (A1_0^). Deposits of bauxite ore are
mined and refined into alximina -- one of the feedstocks for
aluminum metal.

Alumina and electricity (the second feedstock) are combined
in a cell with a molten electrolyte called cryolite.

Direct current electricity is passed from a consumable,
carbon anode into the cryolite, splitting the aluminum oxide into
molten aluminum metal and oxygen. The molten aluminum collects
at the bottom of the cell and is periodically "tapped" into a
crucible and cast into ingots.

The process of splitting alumina into aluminum metal and
oxygen consumes approximately 7 KwH per pound of aluminum
produced. Continual progress has been made over the 100-year
history of aluminum processing to reduce the electricity
requirement. There are currently no visUale alternatives to the
process described above.

The electricity used in the process and the petroleum and
coal derivatives used in carbon anodes and cathodes, by which
aluminum metal is made from alumina (A1_0-), are non-fuel
uses of energy.

The Impact of the Tax to the Aluminum Industry

If the Btu tax were levied on non-fuel energy uses in
primary aluminum production, it would amount to production cost
increases of approximately $17? million. This translates to a
2.4 cent increase in the cost of producing a pound of aluminum (4
percent cost increase).
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If the tax is applied to aluminum fabrication without
recognition for the non-fuel uses of electricity and carbon, the
cost of producing mill products domestically would rise by about
1.7 cents per p' md. If the non-fuel uses of electricity and
carbon in primary metal production are properly accounted for,
the U.S. industry's cost for mill product operations would
increase by about one-half a cent a pound.

This would translate into an additional $117 million in
revenues to the U.S. Treasury for energy used in manufacturing
operations.

World Competitiveness

Beginning in 1982, U.S. aluminum companies began a process
of restructuring to accommodate the competitive realities of the
changing nature of the global aluminum economy. By 1992, the
number of plants was reduced from 680 to 550, including the
elimination of nine smelters representing one million metric tons
(MMT) of production.

Primary aluminum is an international commodity whose price
is set on the LKE and other major world exchanges. Costs of

production can not be passed on automatically to customers,
especially when the world price is at or below the cost of

production. According to Anthony Bird, a leading world al' m^ num
i .lalyst, the average cost of producing a pound of primary
aluminum in the U.S. is more than 60 cents and the current LME
price is in the 52-54 cents per pound range.

While the U.S. is the world's largest producer of primary
metal (approximately 4 MMT), it is a net importer of ingot,
primarily from Canada. Japan and the E.C. are also major
importers of primary metal. Canada, Australia, Brazil, Venezuela
and Norway have been the traditional suppliers of metal to the
world. The C.I.S., particularly Russia, have in the past three
years become a major exporter of metal. With the collapse of the
Soviet economy, there are no domestic markets for the metal being
produced in the C.I.S. and with a recession in the West, there
has been no place for this metal. Many of these countries would
be very supportive of a U.S. Btu tax on primary aluminum
production because they would benefit by taxation that makes the
U.S. industry less competitive.

What all of this means is that a U.S. Btu tax will severely
disadvantage the U.S. primary aluminum industry in the U.S. and

export markets (Japan now imports some metal from the U.S.).

It further means that U.S. mill products production would
either rely on foreign metal or risk being undercut in the U.S.
market and would be in certain jeopardy of losing export
markets. Japan, the E.G., and Canada are our major trading
partners.

Energy Conservation

From its inception, the U.S. aluminum industry has pursu* I

thj reduction of its use of electricity. Over time, the average
aunount of electricity needed to make a pound of aluminum has gone
from more than 12 KwH in the 1940s to approximately 7 KwH today.
These reductions are technologically based and are implemented
with larger capital investments. Continued energy conservation
has resulted in a 23 percent reduction since 1972 in the amount
of energy required to make a pound of aluminiara mill products.
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An important contributor to making aluminum more energy
efficient has been the growth of recycling. In 1972 secondary
metal accounted for one MMT or 18 percent of the nation's total
metal supply of 5.445 MMT. By 1991, secondary metal accounted
for 2.5 MMT or 31 percent of the total of 8 MMT. The increased
use of recycled metal is a trend which will continue.

The energy used to produce aluminum is saved for future
re-use through recycling. Applications of aluminum in

transportation and elsewhere significantly reduce energy and fuel
use.

The aluminum air battery which has a replaceable aluminum
anode and an air cathode with a flowing elect -o yte has been
researched as a power source for a battery op ir..ted vehicle.

Replacing heavier weight materials with one thousand pounds
of aluminum on a mid-sized sedan results in a vehicle which is 25

percent lighter and 20 percent more fuel efficient. The vehicle
would save 770 gallons of gasoline over its 100,000 miles of
service and the metal would be recycled at the end of its service
life.

Environment

U.S. aluminum producers and fabricators adhere to the most
stringent environmental rules applicable anywhere in the world to
aluminum manufacturers. Substitution of foreign aluminum ingot
and mill products for U.S. products will result in a net loss of
global environmental protection.

The 3.5 million tonnes of aluminum production in the C.I.S.
is substantially without health, safety or environmental controls.

U.S. Competitiveness

In the markets in which primary aluminum and mill products
compete, success or failure is based on fractions of a penny. If

any U.S. materials industry is benefited by a credit or exemption
for non-fuel use of energy, then all competing materials which
are denied a non-fuel credit or exemption will be severely
di sadvantaged .

Aluminum competes directly in all of its mn-'or uses with
other materials (steel, plastic, glass, etc.) wh ch will also be

requesting adjustments based on non-fuel use -- equity demands
that all competing materials be treated equally by government
action and that each be able to compete on the basis of Inherent
characteristics .

By the same token, to avoid penalizing U.S. manufacturers,
exports of materials and products should be credited with tax

paid on fuels used in production. Export credits must continue
to be part of the President's proposal if the U.S. aluminum
industry is to avoid international competitive jeopardy by reason
of a U.S. Btu tax.

Conclusion

The U.S. aluminum industry supports the President's efforts
to reduce the deficit, and to foster energy conservation, an

improved environment and less reliance on foreign sources of

energy.

The industry requests that the electricity, petroleum and
coal derivatives which are essential feedstocks in producing
aluminum from alumina be p operly designated as non-fuel uses of

energy.

Further, we support the Administration's proposal for energy
credits for all aluminum exports.
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Sstlaated Effect o£ BTU Tax
On the g.S. Al""-*"^** Indnatry

Alumina (Bauxlta Refiaing)
Fossil Fuels
F le tricity

:oi.al

$/lb. @ 10.0 billion pounds

Priaory Aluaimia (Redaction Process)
Fossil Fuels

Electricity
Total

Billion
BTUa

47,250.5
10,105.3
57,355.7

83,305.9
674,326.6

Estimated Tax
With
Credit

$000 $000

12,202.8 12,212 3

2,S97.jO 2,5 7.0

$14,799.8 $14,799.8

0.0015

39,220.7
177,663.0

0.0015

14,520.2
30,625.3

757,632.5 $216,883.7 $45,145.4

$/lb. (§ 8.9 billion pounds

Priaory Alnalmi
Fossil Fuels

Electricity
Total

(Including Alnaina)

0.0244 0.0051

130,556.4 51,423.5 26,722.9
684,431.8 180,260.1 33,222.3
814,988.2 $231,683.5 $59,945.3

$/lb. @ 8.9 billion pounds 0.0261 0.0067

AlaalniiB Hill Products
Fossil Fuels

Electricity
Total

$/lb. 9 17.1 billion pounds

120,183.2
90,138.6
210,321.8

32,773.7
24,573.2
$57,346.9

0.0033

32,773.7
24,573.2

$57,346.9

0.0033

Totttl /.lualmiB Industry
Fossil Fuels 250,739.6

Electricity 774,570.4
Total 1,025,310.1

$/lb. @ 17.1 billion pounds

84,197.2 39,496.6
204,833.2 57,795.5

$289,030.4 $117,292.1

0.0169 0.0068

Note: (.*) Excludes energy consuoed by an estlnated 1,000 U.S. alualnuin

foundries

Source: The Alumlnuai Association
March 12, 1993
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Statement of the American Association of Exports and Imports

Introduction

AAEI is a national organization of approximately 1,200 U.S. firns
active in importing and exporting a broad range of products including
chemicals, machinery, electronics, footwear, foodstuffs, textiles and

apparel. The Association's members also include customs brokers,
freight forwarders, banks, attorneys and insurance carriers.

AAEI appreciates the opportunity to comment on the President's

request for an extension of Fast Track procedures for Uruguay Round

implementation and extension of the U.S. Generalized System of
Preferences (GSP) as provided for in the Budget Reconciliation Act of
1993 (H.R. 1960).

The General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade (GATT) Uruguay Round
Multilateral Trade Negotiations, which started in 1986, involves over
100 nations worldwide. The United States and many of our trading
partners have been extremely frustrated and disappointed over the
failure to complete the Round to date. A successful completion to
the Uruguay Round would establish new multilateral rules for world
trade, lower tariff and non-tariff barriers to trade, and provide a

better international dispute settlement mechanism. It would be the
most important step toward oper.ing foreign markets to trade with the
U.S. For these reasons, AAEI strongly endorses President Clinton's
proposal to seek renewal of Fast Track negotiating authority for the

Uruguay Round beyond the current May 31, 1993 expiration date. This
would entitle the President to notify Congress no later than December
15, 1993 of his intention to enter into a final agreement before

April 15, 1994. Seeking renewal of Fast Track represents the
seriousness of the Administration's commitment to reach a successful
conclusion to the Round.

AAEI would also like to address the need to renew the GSP program
which is due to expire on July 4, 1993. For twenty years, GSP has

given developing countries access to the world marketplace by
allowing exportation to industrialized countries free of duty. Its

philosophy of trade, rather than aid, is a more effective, cost-
efficient means of promoting sustained economic development. Thus,
AAEI has consistently supported a strong GSP program and continues to
do so. The imminent expiration of the GSP program is of great
concern to AAEI and its members. It is difficult to plan an import
strategy with the knowledge that a program on which you rely is going
to expire on July 3 of this year.

AAEI has some suggestions for improving the GSP so it would provide
more security for traders and enhance benefits for American

producers. However, in view of the short time period remaining in

the current GSP program, there is not enough time to fully consider
and analyze any modifications. Therefore, we support U.S. Trade

Representative Mickey Kantor's call for a fifteen month extension of

the GSP program through September 30, 1994, with eligibility added
for states formerly part of the Soviet Union. This would allow time
for the Administration and the new Congress to consider the long term

shaping of the program in light of developments in the Uruguay Round,
NAFTA, and the Enterprise for the Americas.

Successful Completion of the Druauav Round is Crucial for World Trade

A successful conclusion to the ongoing Uruguay Round is critical for
the elimination of U.S. trade barriers and barriers facing the

exportation of U.S. goods and services. Reduction of these barriers
is necessary to promote the national trade interests of the U.S. as
well as the interests of the business community, consumers, and
workers. Trade barriers drain our nation's economy of billions of
dollars annually, force consumers to pay much higher prices for

goods, and increase costs of production for U.S. industry.
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The most harmful trade barriers to U.S. business and consumers are
non-tariff measures, particularly quotas and voluntary restraint

agreements. Tariffs, the most transparent form of trade barrier, are
also harmful to U.S. industry. Domestic businesses suffer a loss of

international competitiveness, and the U.S. consumer bears the
ultimate burden of trade barriers due to increased costs of

manufacturing with imported components created by high tariffs. A
successful conclusion to the Uruguay Round will provide a worldwide

opportunity for the lowering or elimination of non-tariff and tariff
barriers from which the U.S. and its industry will greatly benefit.

Since a successful conclusion to the Uruguay Round has not yet been

reached, extension of Fast Track is a pressing issue. Fast Track

negotiating authority must be renewed. AAEI strongly supports
President Clinton's proposal for extension of Fast Track, for delay
will cause increasing complexity of the Uruguay Round. Absence of

Fast Track negotiating authority will create reluctance among U.S.

GATT partners to reach an agreement with our Administration because
it may be necessary to renegotiate with Congress issues which have

already been settled. For these reasons, extension of Fast Track

authority which will enable a successful conclusion of the Uruguay
Round is crucial.

AAEI Supports Renewal of the Generalized System of Preferences

AAEI urges Congress to renew the U.S. Generalized System of

Preferences (GSP) which is due to expire on July 3, 1993. For twenty
years, GSP has given developing countries access to the world

marketplace by allowing them to export many products to
industrialized countries free of duty. GSP is based on a philosophy
of trade, rather than aid, as a more effective, cost-efficient means
of promoting sustained economic development.

The imminent expiration of the GSP program is of great concern to

importers. Over twenty other industrialized countries have adopted
the GSP concept and continue to import goods duty-free from

developing countries. The United States must continue this program
in order to remain competitive in international trade and to foster

development in the Third World.

AAEI has been an activt; participant in the debates surrounding the
renewal of GSP for many years which resulted in the Trade and Tariff
Act of 1984. AAEI's educational efforts were instrumental in several

improvements to the program.

AAEI supports the current Presidential authority to waive statutory
limits on a particular GSP import from any beneficiary country if he

receives advice from the International Trade Commission (ITC) on

whether any industry is likely to be adversely affected by such a

waiver, and he determines that such a waiver is in the national
economic interest of the United States. [19 U.S.C. 2464(c)(3)(A)].
This general waiver of authority has allowed the Administration to

conduct the review process in an intelligent manner, without

subjecting the flow of trade to otherwise potentially disruptive
automatic mechanisms which would deny duty-free benefits to products
needed for U.S. domestic production.

The Annual review process has also enabled the U.S. to use the waiver
for gaining leverage in negotiations to assure market and commodity
access and to enforce intellectual property rights. [19 U.S.C.

2464(c)(3)(B)]. Most recently, the former Administration has

employed denial of the waiver to enforce patent rights on

pharmaceuticals and chemicals which are allegedly violated by
manufacturers in India. [Presidential Proclamation 6425; 57 Fed. Reg.
19067] .
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AAEI believes the review process should be conducted only once every
two years to cut costs. Limiting the examination process would also
assist importers in making difficult long-range sourcing decisions
regarding where to acquire needed materials, enabling U.S. companies
with business dealings in developing countries to maintain a

competitive edge.

One argument against renewal of GSP involves environmental concerns.
AAEI is strongly opposed to using an environmental standard as a
criterion for granting or maintaining a country's GSP beneficiary
status. Legislation in this direction has been introduced in the
past and has not met with success. Requirement of an environmental
standard would only weaken the GSP program. Imposition of an
environmental standard would be a unilateral action on an issue which
should be addressed multilaterally. Such standards generally
penalize U.S. importers, manufacturers and consumers by disallowing
duty-free entry from the offending country. The result is diminution
of U.S. competitiveness by strengthening the position of other
GSP-granting countries who have no such standard.

Assuming GSP is renewed, and there is time for thorough consideration
of the GSP program next year, AAEI looks forward to a redefinition of
rules of origin. The existing rules of origin require eligible
articles to be imported directly from the beneficiary country to the
U.S. The sum of the cost or value of the materials produced in that
country plus the direct costs of processing operations performed must
be at least thirty-five percent of appraised value upon entry into
the United States. [19 U.S.C. 2463(b)(1)].

AAEI proposes allowing U.S. component input to count toward the 35%
minimum value rule for GSP. While mandating U.S. value content input
would thwart the express purpose of GSP, allowing such input to count
toward the 3 5% would be a boon to U.S. domestic manufacturers,
importers and consumers. It should be noted that a similar allowance
is made by other countries including Japan and Canada. Other trade
programs which allow a donor country content rule include the
Caribbean Basin Initiative Act. [19 U.S.C. 2702].

AAEI not only supports renewal of GSP, but believes the U.S. should
seek to expand the GSP program by granting duty-free beneficiary
status to more countries in Eastern Europe. Russia is currently
excluded from receiving GSP benefits as a successor state to the
Soviet Union. [19 U.S.C. 2462(b)]. After President Clinton's Summit
Conference with Russia's President Boris Yeltsin in Vancouver, Canada
earlier this month, the Administration announced its proposal to
eliminate its legal exclusion from GSP, and to extend GSP to Russia.
In 1992, Russia shipped $46 million to the United States in GSP
eligible goods. Based on previous experience, this volume would
increase if preferential status is granted. In this case the purpose
of the GSP program would be well-served, insofar as trade is better
than aid. AAEI supports the President in his efforts to extend the
benefits of the GSP to Russia. We also also support granting GSP
beneficiary status to other countries which now make up the
Confederation of Independent States, such as Ukraine, Belarus and
others.

Strengthening of American competitiveness abroad necessitates GSP
renewal since well over twenty other industrialized countries grant
duty-free benefits to developing countries. Because a considerable
amount of duty-free goods are being used as components in U.S.
manufacturing, loss of GSP would be a severe blow to these sectors of
the U.S. economy as well as to the economies of developing nations.

The aforementioned changes would enhance realization of the purpose
of the GSP program, benefitting not only developing countries, but
also U.S. economic interests. AAEI urges extension of the GSP
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program for a fifteen month period through September 30, 1994, as has
been suggested by U.S. Trade P.^nresentative, Mickey Kantor.

Conclusion

AAEI Strongly supports President Clinton's proposal to renew Fast
Track negotiating authority for the Uruguay Round as we believe it is
necessary for successful completion of the Round.

The Association also supports renewal of GSP for at least fifteen
months. The GSP program has historically encouraged trade with
underdeveloped nations and led to substantial economic gains for both
these countries and the United States.

These issues should be considered in light of their importance to the
United States and the international trade community.

Statement of the American Farm Bureau Federation

We appreciate the Committee's efforts to focvis the nation's attention on our

serious budget and economic problems. Clearly, difficult choices wiU be required
to effect corrective measures that will bring the deficit under control and provide

responsible prioritization of spending and tax policy for the nation. The cost of

failure will be diminishing standards of living for our citizens, loss of

competitiveness in the world economy, and a legacy of debt and despair for future

generations. The American Farm Bureau Federation (AFBF) has strongly

supported policies to strengthen the economic foundation of ou- nation, and we
stand ready to work with the Congress and the administrat Dr to get the job done.

However, Farm Bureau is compelled to express our members' deep concern

about the energy tax proposal in the President's economic package. If imposed,
this tax will stifle economic output, increase production costs for farmers, cause

farm prices to decline and jeopardize our ability to compete in world markets.

When agricviltural products are processed, packaged and transported to

consumers, they will be more costly due to the multiplier effect of energy cost

increases at each point in the food distribution chain.

Energy taxes will affect all rural Americans, who by definition live in

relatively remote and less populated areas. The cost of driving more miles to

work, shop, send children to school, and to conduct a variety of other normal

activities will be inunediately felt by a segment of the population which tends to

have lower than average income. Increased costs for home heating and electricity

also will be borne by rural Americans. The energy tax will disproportionately
increase the cost of living for 65 miUion rural people.

Agricxiltural production is highly energy-dependent. Farmers rely on

gasoline, diesel, propane and other fuels for operating equipment such as tractors,

combines and trucks. They also use energy for grain drying, greenhouses for

horticultural crops, and have cooling tanks and storage facilities that require

energy to operate. Farmers rely on electricity, gas and petroleum fuels for energy
to operate irrigation systems. These direct uses of energy will increase farmers'

costs by an estimated $500 million per year when the proposed energy tax is fully

implemented.

In addition to the direct use of energy on the farm, man> of the inputs
crucial to agricultural production also are highly energy-dependent. The costs for

fertilizer and pesticides will increase. Our analyses indicate that farmers will pay
another $500 million per year in increased costs of purchased inputs due to the
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energy tax. Therefore, the direct and indirect production cost increases will

amount to an estimated $1 bilUon per year.

An example of an increase in indirect costs would be the impact on
fertilizer. It takes approximately 34,500 cubic feet of natural gas to produce one
ton of anhydrous ammonia fertilizer. The cost of producing a ton of anhydrous
ammonia will increase approximately $9 per ton. However, there are other factors

at work. The proposed energy tax will increase transportation costs to move the

ammonia from the manufacturing plant to the farm. A significant portion of

anhydrous ammonia, as well as other fertiHzers, utilized by farmers is shipped via

barge. Consequently, the increased inland waterways tax will add another $3 per
ton to fertilizer prices. Net delivered costs of anhydrous ammonia fertilizers to the

farm will probably increase between $10 to $1"^ p r ton when all the incremental

cost increases are included. This is eqmvaleni to a 5 percent to 6 percent increase

in anhydrous ammonia prices.

Since farmers are typically marketers of imdifferentiated bulk commodities,

they are price takers in the market place. Therefore, there is virtually no way to

pass on these increased costs for the vast majority of agricultural products.

Another disturbing effect of the energy tax proposal is that it will likely

result in lower farm prices in addition to higher production expenses. Farm prices

are generally estabhshed in markets that reflect national and international

demand. Market prices are established through the price discovery system at

centralized locations such as the coastal and Gulf ports. Farm prices reflect the

international market prices minus the transportation and handling costs

associated with moving the goods to centralized markets. Since the energy tax

will increase marketing and transportation costs, farm prices will tend to decline

to offset these margins. As a result, farm profits will be squeezed by increases in

production costs and declining market prices.

This situation will be further exacerbated if the inland waterway fuel tax is

increased from the current $.19 to $1.19 per gallon. This exorbitant increase in

the tax, 525 percent, will increase shipping costs for an efficient and

environmentally responsible method of transporting agriciiltural commodities and
other goods. For example, barging costs for com and soybeans being shipped from

the Midwest to New Orleans will be increased 7 cents per bushel. When fully

implemented it will add $150 million to grain and oilseed barge transportation

costs. We believe this additional tax would prove '^o be especially detrimental to

U.S. agricultural products in the highly competiti 3 world market and, therefore,

to farmers and ranchers on a national level, grain and oilseed prices will be

reduced approximately 2 cents per bushel.

There is one other aspect of the proposed energy tax that has received

relatively little attention. The energy tax plan includes the cancellation of the

September 30, 1995, expiration of an increased fuel excise tax enacted as part of

the Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1990. The net impact is to increase

farmer fuel costs another 2.5 cents per gallon. Therefore, starting in 1996

anywhere from one-fourth to one-third more can be added to the above examples
to ascertain the total impact of the proposed energy tax.

Finally, it needs to be stressed that the above cost estimates are for the

farm business operation only. These do not include the higher costs of fuels

related to personal transportation, nor do they include the costs related to either

shipping food and fiber from the farm to the consumer or the transportation costs

associated with purchasing supply inputs. Past studies have shown that the

amount of ener -

y .tihzed for these purposes is equivalent to somewhere between
one-third and oi.e-nalf all the energy utilized directly in the farming operation.
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Impact on the General Economy

Although this BTU tax on gasoline is estimated at 7.5 cents per gallon, we
believe the impact would be proportional to an analysis^ by the Institute for

Research on the Economic of Taxation that a 10 cent increase in the gasoline
excise tax would cost the American economy more than $23 billion in lost GNP in

the near term. Productivity would advance more slowly, and real wage rates and

employment levels would be lower than otherwise. The tax hike would result in

232,000 fewer full-time equivalent jobs in the first full year. In the year 2000,

GNP, in constant 1990 dollars, would be $26.6 billion less than if the tax were not

increased, and employment would be off by 247,000 jobs compared to the level of

employment without the tax hike.

We believe that agriculture will be particularly hard hit by the proposed

energy tax. Attached is information that Farm Bureau has compiled to illustrate

examples of its direct impact on agriculture. Please remember that these numbers
reflect only increases in production costs and do not include additional expenses
for personal energy consumption (e.g. home heating, shopping, schools and

traveling to and from off-farm jobs).

Farm Bureau urges you to reject the energy tax because of its negative

impact on efficiency, productivity and competitiveness.

Instead, Farm Bureau supports a spending freeze in all federal programs as

a viable alternative to a deficit reduction plan which relies heavily on tax

increases.

Thank you for consideration of Farm Bureau's comments.

Attachment

"The Impact, Shifting, And Incidence of an Increase in the
Gasoline Excise Tax," Institute for Research on the
Economics of Taxation (IRET), 1992.
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FUEL TAX RATE
(cents per gallon)

Gasoline 7.5

Diesel 8.3

Propane (LP) 2.3

Examples of the Proposed Energy Taxes' Impact on Farmers
(Increased Direct Energy Costs)

The examples Usted for California illustrate fuel energy costs based on figures extracted from various

University of California Cooperative Extension (UCCE) reports entitled "Sample Costs of Production." It is

important to note is that these costs reflect fuel usage for tractors and harvesting equipment only. Fuel used to

power irrigation pumps is not included here but can be a significant expense in some areas.

CALIFORNLV:
•400 acres for rice product'on -Sacramento Valley $996

•1,200 acre farm with 500 ic is of cotton—San Joaquin Valley $1,660
• 1,200 acre farm writh 600 icres in tomato production—San Joaquin Valley $3,486

•1,200 acre farm with 200 acres in broccoli production—San Joaquin Valley $830

The information for the following examples was compiled by our research economist from information

supplied by the respective state Farm Bureaus. The data reflects typical farm operations as defined in each

example. In all cases, farmers were asked to indicate the amount of fuel that was actually utilized in their

operation. The gallons involved were then multiplied by the proposed energy tax rates shown in the shaded box

above:

ILLINOIS:
•500 acres of row crop (mostly com); no livestock $670

IOWA:
•486 acres of row crop; 800 head of market hogs; 100 head of cattle $723

•721 acres of row crop $513
• 10,000 head/year for hog farrowing operation; 4,500 head finished on site $529

KANSAS:
•2,100 acres of com, soybeans, milo and wheat; no livestock $1,513

•3,000 acres of one/third-irrigated com, wheat and alfalfa; $2,816

two/thirds-dryland wheat and milo; 200 cattle feeding

NEBRASKA:
•500 acres of mostly com, two/thirds-irrigated; 80 cow-calf operation $1,593

•260 acres of one/half-irrigated com and alfalfa; 250 head beef finishing operation $715

•2,700 acres of summer fallow wheat; no livestock $1,020

•800 acres of irrigated com and soybeans; no livestock $1,624

NEW JERSEY:
•Greenhouse/nursery operation $1,469

TEXAS:
• 1,300 acres of one/fourth-irrigated cotton and wheat $2,650

WASHINGTON:
•80,000 square feet greenhouse producing cut flowers and potted plants $3,397

WISCONSIN:
•200 acres of com and dairy; 50-cow dairy operation $170
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Statement of the American Forest and Paper Association

The American Forest and Paper Association (AFPA) is the national trade

association of th^ forest products industry representing producers of paper, pulp,

paperboard and wood products, as well as the growers and harvesters of this Nation's

forest resources. The industry has over $200 billion in total shipments, 1 .4 million

workers, and operates in every State in the Union. Forest products represents more
than seven percent of U.S. manufacturing output, and the industry is among the top
ten employers in 46 States v'itt an annual payroll of $44 billion.

The forest products industry is perhaps unique among American manufacturers

in that not only is the industry a major purchaser and user of energy, but it also is one
of the most energy self sufficient industries in the United States.

The forest products industry, in total, purchases over $7 billion in fuel each year

($5.5 billion for pulp, paper and paperboard; $1.5 billion for wood products). Yet, at

the same time, the industry provides approximately 60 percent of its annual energy
needs through the use of non-traditional biomass fuels - bark, wood waste and

pulping residues. And the industry is proud that its use of non-traditional fuels has
increased by neariy 50 percent per ton of product over the past twenty years.

The forest products industry realizes that some higher taxes may be necessary
as part of a balanced economic package. We will not oppose the entire package nor

the BTU tax simply because it increases taxes. We are concerned, however, that

insufficient attention has been directed at solving the problems of energy intensive

manufacturers competing in the international mari<et place.

Because the forest products industry is one of the largest industrial purchasers
of energy, the BTU tax as proposed by the Clinton Administration will be especially

burdensome on paper and wood products competing in markets throughout the worid

against products manufactured in other countries. The proposed BTU tax will merely
increase U.S. manufactunng costs - costs that cannot be passed on and must be

absorbed, since prices on most paper and wood products are set globally.

Exports are critical to the
'

Jture growth of the forest products industry. In 1992

exports totaled approximately $ j billion, and there was a positive balance of trade in

both paper and wood products. Approximately 60 percent of the paper industry's

growth during the 1987-92 time period has been in export markets, and the industry

projects additional increases in exports during the coming years. However, the ability

to increase or maintain current levels of export could be jeopardized if costs are

increased due to a BTU tax.

The BTU tax will fall disproportionately on the most energy-intensive sectors of

the economy such as pulp and paper manufacturing. For some paper product lines,

manufacturing costs are expected to increase by approximately two percent. The

impact on these products is 20 times greater than the average impact estimated by

the Treasury Department.

In fact, U.S. producers of pulp and paper now pay higher costs for energy than

in most of the other nations with major paper industries. Many of our primary

competitors have low-cost and/or federally subsidized electridty (Sweden, Finland,

Canada). The proposed energy tax will only serve to exacerbate that difference and

hinder American concerns in their ability to compete.

In addition, many nations provide full or partial tax exemptions from various

jnergy taxes for manufacturing industries. The proposed carbon tax for n£ io" s in the

European Community allows reductions for industries in which energy represents over
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eight percent of the value added (for primary pulp and paper mills, energy represents
11.4 percent of the manufacturing cost). Sweden recently repealed its energy tax on
industrial use as part of an economic growth and international competitiveness

program.

For manufacturing industries, the BTU tax serves only to increase the costs of

production. Industries such as forest products that now compete in a worid-wide

marketplace would be disadvantaged. While the BTU tax proposed by the

Administration will probably achieve its stated goal of raising revenue, it will be only at

the expense of American exports and, eventually, at the expense of American jobs.

Despite the industry's misgivings about the BTU tax, we commend the

Administration and Congress for recognizing the environmental and energy security

role for non-fossil fuels which will be encouraged by the biomass exemption. The
forest product industry's record of energy self-sufficiency as stated above — providing
60 percent of our own energy needs - is due almost entirely to developing and

utilizing new equipment and technologies so that bark, wood waste, and spent pulping
residues can be recovered and again in a constructive, energy-efficient manner. By

reducing fossil fuel and purchased energy consumption by 46 percent per ton of

product since 1 972, the forest products industry effects the annual saving of an

equivalent of more than 230 million barrels of oil (about 31 days of imports at today's

level).

Use of non-traditional fuels such as biomass is in the national interest. Without

» smass, the forest products industry would use more conventional, pollution-causing
fossil fuels, and given the location of many mills in New England, much of it imported
oil. Furthermore using these unavoidable wood wastes as a fuel eliminates the need
for other less desirable methods of disposal such as landfills.

In conclusion, any energy tax proposal should not impede the ability of

American business to compete in worid markets, and at the same time it should

encourage conservation and the efficient use of non-traditional fuel sources. The

forest products industry would urge that Congress thoroughly study the overall impact

of any energy tax on international competitiveness of U.S. manufacturers and explore

alternative means of raising similar amounts of revenue from other sources that would

be less injurious to domestically produced products. Should an energy tax be

enacted, an exemption for non-traditional fuels, such a biomass, as proposed by

President Clinton, should be adopted to further our nation's environmental and energy

security goals.

Statement of the American Gas Association

I. introduction and summary

The American Gas Association (A.G.A.) is a national trade association comprising

approximately 250 natural gas distribution and transmission companies located

throughout the United States. Collectively, 90 percent of the gas consumers in this

country are served by A.GA.'s members. A.G.A. welcomes this opportunity to

present its views concerning the Administration's proposed energy tax.

A.GA. commends the President in putting forth a plan for reducing the deficit,

curtailing federal spending and strengthening the economy. We are encouraged by
the Administration's expressed desire for greater use of clean-buming natural gas.
This increased reliance on natural gas will improve our environment and domestic

security and create jobs. However, these goals cannot be met if there are not healthy
and growing companies in all segments of the natural gas industry.
We believe a broad-based energy tax would not accomplish these national goals

of a clean environment, growth and domestic security. For a number of reasons,
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A.GA. is opposed to all broad-based energy taxes for the purpose of reducing the
deficit or raising additional federal revenue for new programs. We believe broad-
based energy taxes are regressive, regionally inequitable, difficult to implement, in-

flationary, harmful to the domestic economy, job growth and the global competitive-
ness of U.S. industries. When the Btu tax was initially conceptualized, there was
some thought that it could promote energy security and environmental goals. As the
tax developed and exemptions and changes were proposed, the environmental and
energy security goals appear to have been lost. In some applications, the tax would
work against these goals. We therefore urge Congress to work with the Administra-
tion in cutting federal expenditures before any new taxes are enacted.

If it is determined that additional taxes are necessary to reduce the deficit, we
urge you to seriously consider implementing a national consumption tax, rather
than a tax exclusively on energy consumption. This strategy would not harm se-

lected industries such as manufacturing that are heavily dependent on energy. How-
ever, A.GA. is concerned that the Administration is considering a value-added tax

(VAT) on top of a Btu tax on energy as a way to fund health-care reform. If a Btu
tax is imposed on energy along with a VAT, an increase in the corporate income
tax rate and curtailment of other tax incentives, energy industries, such as natural

gas, and their customers would be hurt disproportionately to other industries. If

some form of a VAT is adopted, there should not be an energy tax as well. If both
Btu and value-added taxes are adopted, the Btu tax should be phased out once the
VAT is phased in.

If the Administration and Congress elect some form of an energy tax, A.G.A. be-

lieves that an increase in the federal excise tax on gasoUne and/or oil import fee

are the most appropriate means for raising revenue efficiently, improving the envi-

ronment, encouraging domestic production and promoting energy conservation. A
phased in gasoline excise tax increase of 3 cents starting in January 1994 elevating
to 22 cents in 1996 would raise the same amount of revenue as proposed in the Ad-
ministration's Btu tax.

If an energy tax on natural gas is inevitable, A.G.A. is united with all segments
of the natural gas industry in encouraging that it be an excise tax paid by the ulti-

mate consumer or end-user and collected by the entity seUing the gas to the
consumer in a manner similar to the federal excise tax on telephone service. The
Administration's proposal to collect the tax on natural gas at the city-gate or "out

of the pipeUne" threatens the well-being of gas companies, particularly gas utilities

which may be denied fiill and immediate flow through of the tax. The Btu tax could

equal or exceed the annual net income of a majority of A.G.A. member companies.
This impact on utilities would also adversely affect every other segment of the natu-
ral gas industry and customers. Further, collecting the tax upstream fi-om the retail

level will increase the burden in some states by as much as 15 percent because of

piggyback taxes such as gross receipts and sales taxes. This cost would be in addi-

tion to the $310 we estimate the average household would incur because of the Btu
tax on enero'- A.GA. estimates these taxes could cost natural gas consumers $350
to $400 million annually and gas and electricity customers combined $1 billion to

$1.2 billion annually once the tax is phased in.

The city-gate point of collection may slow the deployment of clean, efficient and

domestically manufactured energy technologies, since companies that have histori-

callv msu-keted these technologies might not obtain effective and full flow through
of the costs. Contrary to the perception of some, the tax will not increase gas mar-
kets. Among other things, natural gas would lose market share to electricity and

renewables, such as wood chips, in industrial and commercial
appUcations.

If Congress and Administration impose a Btu tax on natural gas, we urge that

its collection be at the end-user level to best address a number of problems that

would occur if the tax is imposed at some other location, such as the wellhead, pipe-
line or city-gate. First, collection of the tax at the end-user level would provide an

administratively simple collection process with minimal collection points and mini-

mize market distortions. Second, it would reduce the ultimate costs to consumers

by avoiding the piggyback tax-on tax. Third, the end-user collection point best

achieves the Administration's goal of flowing through the tax to end-users and re-

ducing the gas company's exposure to absorbing the tax. Therefore, it is vitally im-

portant that the Btu tax be structured so that it is not a tax on the production,
transmission or distribution of gas, but on the consumption of gas by the end-user.

While some in Congress may be reluctant to see the Btu tax appear on the cus-

tomer's bill as an excise tax, some state pubUc utility commissions (PUCs) will re-

quire disclosure regardless of where or how the tax is collected. Further, gas com-

pany CEOs advise us, for prudent business purposes, that they will inform their

customers of the tax to explain the reason behind the increase in the customers'
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bills. In addition, resulting ratecases will bring greater public and media attention
to the tax.

A.G.A. believes all alternative transportation fuels should be treated the same or
distortions will occur in the alternative fuels market. If methanol and ethanol used
as an alternative fuel are exempt, then vehicular compressed natural gas should
also be exempt.

City-Gate Collection Point

If the tax is collected at the city-gate, three factors should be addressed. First,

gas utilities should be required to pay to the pipeline for remittance to Treasury
only what they collect from the end-user.

Second, utilities should be permitted to recover the tax in customer rates. This
will require some legislation directing state PUCs to allow utilities to flow through
the tax. The Administration has proposed that a utility be denied its tax benefits
under normalization if the ener^ tax is not passed through. Our concern is that
this mechanism is neither a sumcient nor fair way of encouraging state PUCs to

flow through the teix, since the size of the tax could exceed the benefits gained from
normalization. In addition, the utility could be penalized twice under this proposal,
once in the absorption of the tax and again in the denial of normalization benefits.

Third, we urge Congress to add legislative language to address the problem of
double taxation or compounding of taxes. Such language should provide that reve-

nue from recoupment oi the Btu tax is excluded from any form of federal, state, local

or other taxation.

II. IMPACT OF THE TAX

1. Households

For the average gas-heated household, A.G.A. estimates the tax would eventually
add $25 to the annual bill, roughly $23 to the electric bill. The average household
would also pay an additional $76 annually on gasoline consumption. We estimate
that the total average household energy costs for a natural gas neated home would
rise by $124 per year. An additional $184 in increased annual costs per household
would be hidaen in the costs of all goods and services that rely on energy as they
are made or delivered. We estimate that the total average household cost would be

nearly $310 per year. Larger households would pay even more.

Moreover, the national average numbers hide the higher effects upon particular

regions, especially the northern states with colder winters. According to the Depart-
ment of Energy, cold weather regions use as much as 55 percent more energy in

homes than warm regions. In colder regions, such as Chicago, the tax would^add
$38 to $44 to a typical gas bill, rather than the $25 national average.

2. Utilities

If portions of this tax fell upon natural gas companies because of the collection

mechanism, the damage could be significant. Some utilities might have to borrow

money to replace funds that would otherwise be used as working capital to pay the

tax during the period the utility seek to have the tax included in consumer rates

by the state PUC (regulatory lag period).
Other companies may be required to ab-

sorb portions of the tax, which could cripple operations. This could cause a reduction

in capital spending. Given the importance
of utility capital spending to the economy

as a whole, such a reduction could impede economic recovery. Further, an increase

in rates to satisfy reducing the magnitude of the tax is so large that it might not

receive approval for flow tlu-ough in a state ratecase.

3. Consumers

The short-term retail price effects of the Btu tax afler phase-in are illustrated in

the attached Appendix. That chart shows the percentage increase in prices of the

energy sources as a result of the tax. For example, the chart illustrates that the

proposed tax raises the price in the residential sector by 4.7 percent for natural gas
ana 4.1 percent for electricity. The proposed tax would raise the price of gas indus-

trial customers by 11 percent while raising that of industrial electric customers by
6.9 percent. The market effect is that the tax would have a greater impact on the

prices of industrial customers.

m. THE PROBLEMS OF BROAD-BASED ENERGY TAXES

The Btu-based energy tax that is part of the proposed economic package will be,

at a minimum, highly complex and very difficult to fashion in a manner that avoids

serious administrative, financial, economic, regulatory and operational burdens.

First, it is short-sighted to permit the current need for additional revenues or de-

mands for deficit reduction to dictate energy policy when a sound energy plan is
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central to promoting national goals of reducing dependency on foreign oil, improving
exports, developing domestic infrastructure and creating jobs. The production, deliv-

ery and consumption of energy in our country is essential to meeting these national

goals and to stimulating economic growth. The complexities of energy markets re-

quire consistent strategies with respect to energy, environmental and economic poli-
cies. The consideration of these issues must not be held hostage to a budget crisis.

The proposed Btu tax is in general regressive. Low-income nouseholds spend as
much as four times the percentage of their income on energy as more affluent

households. Therefore, a broad-based energy tax would have a disproportionate ef-

fect upon lower income households. The tax would be felt by consumers using house-
hold essentials, such as heating, cooking and water heating. Unlike a proposed "sin"

tax on alcohol and tobacco, energy is a basic necessity. I^ucin^ energy consump-
tion can entail large expenditures (i.e., new furnace, replacing wmdows), which are
often not affordable by lower income households. These nouseholds would need a tax
credit to reduce the burden of a broad-based energy tax, or forego certain essentials.

A Btu tax like that proposed could erode U.S. competitiveness and increase infla-

tion. An energy tax would raise the price of U.S. products in relation to foreign prod-
ucts, resulting in fewer exoorts and more imports. By taxing energy used in the

pro-
duction of U.S. products, domestic products would become far less competitive than

foreign products in world markets. The U.S. would import more finished goods be-

cause these products would be made relatively cheaper since the energy used in the

foreign manufacture of the product escapes the tax. Domestic companies could be
forced to export jobs to remain competitive. Moreover, a broad-based energy tax
could increase the cost of domestic manufacturers and reduce their ability to com-

pete with foreign manufacturers in the domestic and world markets. This is hardly
consistent with desirable trade policy.

Basic manufacturing industries would be particularly hard hit since they consume
relatively large amounts of energy per unit of production. These industries, con-

centrated in the Midwest, South ana Southwest, will already be faced with higher
costs resulting from implementing provisions of the "Clean Air Act Amendments."
The broad-based energy tax can be inequitable on a regional basis. Generally, en-

ergy consumption in colder climates is larger than in warmer chmates. Thus, taxes

on energy consumption would fall disproportionately on colder regions like the upper
Midwest and Northeast. Many of these areas have already been nit hard by the loss

of manufacturing jobs.
A flat BTU tax, as that proposed, may favor the use of electricity over natural

gas in some applications. For instance, in the generation of electricity, approxi-

mately two-thirds of the input fuel BTU value is lost due to inefficiencies in genera-
tion and transmission. A BTU tax at the retail level could, therefore, penalize cus-

tomers who heat directly with gas where efficiency levels approaching 90 percent
can be achieved.

IV. END-USER COLLECTION POINT

Of major concern to our industry is the point of collection for any Btu tax which

might be enacted. We urge Congress to structure such a tax as a retail excise tax
to be paid by the ultimate customer or end-user (last sale) and collected by

the en-

tity (i.e. utility, pipeline or other supplier) selling gas to that customer. Collecting
the tax at the end-user level would minimize or eliminate many of the problems as-

sociated with the Btu tax. The end-user collection point: 1) provides an administra-

tively simple collection process and minimizes tax avoidance; 2) reduces the admin-
istrative burden upon the industry and government, particularly

in complexities oc-

curring upstream of the retail level, such as piggyback taxes, acuninistration of non-
fuel exemptions and timing problems associatedwith taxing gas in storage; 3) maxi-
mizes the flow through of tax costs to consumers and eliminates regulatory approval
which could expose gas companies to a regulatory lag problem; and, 4) promotes
other governmental goals and policies.

A. Ease and Simplicity in Collection of Tax

A retail-level tax on gas delivered to the ultimate consumer is the most appro-
priate collection point option that provides an administratively simple collection

process and minimizes tax avoidance. In responding to a question why the Adminis-
tration chose the city-gate as the incidence for the tax. Treasury Secretary Lloyd
Bentsen emphasized the city-gate collection point would eliminate 60 million ts[x-

payers.
^

If the objective of the Administration is to facilitate ease in collection of

^Hearings to Review Clinton Administration's Energy Tax Proposals, Before the Senate Fi-

nance Committee, 103rd Congress, Ist Session (Response of Lloya Bentsen, Secretary of Treas-

ury Department) (April 20, 1993).
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the tax, then imposing it on the end-user rather than the city-gate best accom-

plishes this goal.
An excise tax would be collected primarily by utiUties and added to the bill of

each customer. Because most gas utilities have computerized billing systems and
are already structured to collect state sales taxes, tne tax could be implemented
quickly and efficiently without an extra burden on the Treasury Depeu-tment. Other
sellers to end-users (i.e. marketers) also have sophisticated billing systems capable
of collecting a Btu tax. This excise tax on gas would mirror what is currently done
with the telephone excise tax.

In addition, there are approximately 5300 investor-owned, member-owned and
government-owned gas and electric utilities, and of them, only 350 or so of any sig-
nificant size. By structuring the tax such that utilities and other last sellers of gas
are responsible for collecting the tax (though not ultimately paying for the tax), the
number of tax remitters would be dramatically reduced and the potential for tax
avoidance would be minimized.

Choosing principally the city-gate as the collection point as the Administration

proposes accounts for only 60 percent of the gas consumed in the U.S. The remain-

mg 40 percent consists of thousands of relatively small transactions involving pri-

marily custody but not title changes in gas. Thus, gas utilities do not take title to

or administratively control 40 percent of the gas that goes through their system. As
a result of industry restructurmg, there is no longer a clearly definable "city-gate"
in the natural gas industry. More importantly, given the number of pipeline to pipe-
line transfers involved in transporting gas, including small diameter, short distance

pipe that delivers gas to many end-users, there is the potential for some to avoid

paying the tax collected at the city-gate. Further, under FERC Order 636 2, pipelines
own httle or none of the gas they transport to the LDC system. Thus, the city-gate
collection point becomes difficult because neither entity has title to the gas. Indeed,
for much of the gas delivered to the utility, for which the utility

is just a trans-

porter,
the pipeUne and utility do not even have contractual privity. There is no

oasis for the pipeline to bill the utility for these quantities.

Imposing the tax at anv point along the pipeline, entrance or exit, complicates tax

collection. Taxing natural gas at the point-of-entry would require a massive tracking

system that would be difficult to manage and measure for accuracy while creating
much complexity smd confusion. A natural gas purchase will typically consist of

many individual transactions, such as between the producer and shipper (person ar-

ranging deal if the ultimate consumer does not do so), shipper and ultimate

consumer, shipper and pipeline, shipper
and storage owner, shipper and other ship-

pers, pipeline and an upstream or aownstream pipeline and shipper and other cus-

tomers. Because of restructuring under Order 636, interstate pipelines will no

longer buy or sell virtually any of the gas that goes through their pipelines or have

knowledge of the actual end-user or end-use.

B. Minimizing Administrative Burdens

Imposing the tax at the end-user level reduces the cost of the tax to consumers

by avoiding many of the administrative problems associated with collecting it at the

city-gate. First, production, gross receipts
and state and local utility taxes are often

imposed as a percentage of authorized utility revenues or rates. If the tax is im-

posed upon the end-user as an excise tax, the compounding of state or local taxes

on top of the Btu tax would not occur. Collecting tne tax at the city-gate or other

points upstream builds the tax increase into the cost of energy where the local juris-

diction imposes a sales or gross receipts tax on utility bills. In some states, these

taxes could increase the burden of the tax by up to 15 percent above the payment
if the tax was collected at the retail level.

Many states have these piggyback taxes, but not all. In the State of New York,
for example, the gross receipts tax is 5.61 percent and 2.35 percent tax for the City
of New York. Additionally, up to 8.25 oercent is added to this as a sales tax, result-

ing in a total exceeding 16 percent. Illinois imposes gross receipts taxes of five per-
cent and the City of Chicago adds a municipal gross receipts tax of eight percent,
while the State of Texas imposes a two percent gross receipts tax on residential

users of gas and the City of Houston imposes a four percent tax.

2 The Federal Energy Regulatory Commission issued Order Nos. 636, 636A and 636B that pro-

vide for a major restructuring of the way interstate natural beis pipelines work. The impetus
behind the major restructuring rule is to allow pipelines for the first time to sell gas at nego-
tiated rates similar to the way non-regulated companies sell gas and ensure that gas buyers
have greater access to the competitive wellhead market. The central feature of the restructuring

rule is the unbundling of interstate pipeline sales and transportation services. However, pipe-

lines are permitted to offer sales and transportation services m a repackaged format if the rate

for each service is separately stated.
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Second, administering the proposed feedstock exemption and other non-fuel use

exemptions would be difficult to administer at any point above the end-user level.

The Administration's proposal would allow for a natural gas feedstock exemption
(natural gas used by tne ouyer for non-fuel purposes) from the Btu tax. For much
gas delivered to the utility for which the utility is a transporter, identifying the end-

use function may be difficult. Because of restructuring in the natural gas industry,

pipeline operators rarely know the end-use of the gas they are transporting. The
seller to the ultimate buyer is in the best position to know whether the natural gas
would have a non-fuel use and thus qualify for this feedstock.

Third, imposing the tax at the end-user level would eliminate the timing problem
associated with gas storage and gas imbalances. The Administration's proposal will

require owners of natural gas storage facilities to pay taxes on their inventories or

"floor stocks." For pipelines, and some utilities, the Btu tax imposed on storage gas
would reach some gas which may never be consumed since it is injected into storage
in order to maintam the operational integrity of the storage facifity. Taxing gas in

storage creates a timing problem, where the tax may be paid far in advance of ulti-

mate sale and subsequent collection. Almost one trillion cubic feet of gas goes into

storage facilities and may not be consumed for as long as a year.

C. Flow Through and Regulatory Lag
Third, the end-user collection point best achieves the Administration's goal of

flowing through the tax and minimizes the gas company's exposure to a regulatory

lag problem. ^Pass through can be approached in either of two ways: (1) applying
the tax directly on the ultimate consumer in the form of a natural gas excise tax;

or, (2) including the tax in the original cost of the gas commodity. If the tax is an
excise tax collected from the end-user, the seller of gas most likely could avoid incur-

ring the costs of pipeline or utility rate and tariff proceedings. This is because the

legal incidence of the tax is at the retail level and the tax is not a part of the util-

ity's cost of service, subjecting the utility to a rate hearing.
If history is any guide, regulators will treat the flow through of taxes differently

in each jurisdiction. City-gate collection creates difficulties due to the different

points and allocation of transportation gas flowing through it. For some companies,
there would be no mechanism to allow a flow through at the city-gate. In manv
cases, a rate case would have to be filed. Some jurisdictions might not allow full

pass through of the costs of the tax and subject utilities to absorbing those costs.

Several states commissioners have indicated they are not willing to allow utilities

to pass through the tax in consumer rates and the State of California has held hear-

ings on the issue. In other jurisdictions, regulatory lag might become a problem, and

a persistent one, given that the tax rate will change each year.

D. Promoting Other Government Policies

An excise tax best meets the Administration's stated Btu energy objectives, in-

cluding promoting energy conservation and a clean environment. Imposition of the

tax at the city-gate impairs the ability of the industry to meet help the nation reach

these objectives. Collection of the tax is critical to those with long-term fixed price

contracts, which serve government policies and consumers by providing long-term

gas supplies at stable prices.

Imposing the tax at the retail level avoids the need to pre-empt state or federal

ratemaking treatment of costs related to providing utility service. This approach
would eliminate the necessity of statutory language aimed at encouraging regulators

to flow through the tax in customer rates.

V. PREEMPTION

If a Btu tax is imposed on our industry and at the
city-gate,

A.GA. urges Con-

gress to enact legislation that will direct state PUCs to allow utilities to effectiveW

and expeditiously flow through the tax costs to customers in their gas bills. The Ad-

ministration is considering a normalization type approach for effectuating recovery
of energy tax costs. However, the Administration's approach increases the potential

damage to gas companies by denying certain tax benefits (i.e., accelerated deprecia-

tion of public utility property and investment tax credit reflected in rates over the

life of the asset) for periods which the tax is not completely passed throu^
to con-

sumers. An excise tax on the end-user is the best mechanism to ensure the imme-
diate and complete flow through of the tax.

^
Regulatory lag refers to tJie time between the imposition of the tax and reflection of the tax

in customer's billed rates. In most jurisdictions, gas companies would go through a rate or tariff

proceeding to include the costs of the tax in customer rates, which could take up to a year or

more. During this waiting period, the utility would carry the cost of the tax.
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A.G.A. believes the normalization approach is not an effective tool to encourage
regulators to flow through the tax. Our preliminary figures indicate that the mag-
nitude of the excise tax would greatly exceed the size of the tax benefits of normal-
ization for gas utilities. We are concerned that regulators may opt for the politically
popular short-term action of denying flow through and sacrificing the smaller nor-
malization benefits to avoid the larger gas tax. Utilities could be doubly penalized
where they are denied flow through and lose their tax benefits of normalization.
The normalization approach has not been previously applied for compelling the

flow throujgh of an energy tax. There is a danger, based on past experience, of dis-

putes arising between utilities, regulators and the Internal Kevenue Service (IRS).
Given the problems which have already occurred involving the appUcation of the
normalization rules, it would be inappropriate to overload this already controversial
mechanism with a new mandate—to assure the recovery of an expense. For exam-
ple, in City of LA v. CPUC, 15 C. 3d 680, utilities were penalized nearly $500 mil-
lion when the IRS interpreted normalization to require the utilities to reflect tax
benefits in a different manner than the state PUC. Similarly, recent disputes be-
tween utilities and regulatory commissions regarding normalization and the treat-

ment of consolidated tax return losses expose utilities to enormous penalty risks.

A.G.A. therefore urges Congress, if a Btu tax at the city-gate is unavoidable, to

add provisions in the tax legislation other than normalization that would effectively
and immediately enable utilities to completely pass through the costs of the tax to

consumers. We will work with you on developing appropriate language for this pur-
pose.

VI. DOUBLE TAXATION

If the tax is not collected from the end-user, A.GA. urges Congress to address the
issue of double taxation caused by gross receipts and other state and local taxes by
including legislative language that would exclude the Btu tax from any form of fed-

eral, state, local or other taxation. Utilities should only be required to pay the pipe-
line what they collect from their customers.

VII. METHANOL AND ETHANOL EXEMPTION

The Administration has proposed an exemption for methanol and ethanol in ve-

hicular applications. If this exemption is to remain, A.GA. feels strongly that vehic-

ular compressed natural gas should be treated the same as methanol and ethanol.

The proposed exemption for methanol and ethanol would substantially distort the
market for alternative fuel vehicles and potentially hamper the emerging market for

compressed natural gas vehicles. All alternative transportation fuels should be
treated the same or distortions will occur in that market.

Vni. CONCLUSION

A.G.A. opposes all broad-based energy taxes because of their impact on the econ-

omy, balance of trade, lower income households, competitiveness and the natural

gas industry. Before any new taxes are adopted, we encourage Congress to work
with the Administration in finding additional spending cuts. A.G.A. urges Congress
to consider a national consumption tax as a long-term deficit strategy. If a VAT is

imposed along with a Btu tax, we urge Congress to phase out the Btu tax once the

VAT is in place.
If some form of energy tax is adopted, A.G.A. believes an increase in the federal

gasoline excise tax and/or oil import fee would foster environmental, efficiency and
domestic security goals. If Congress chooses a Btu tax, A.G.A. opposes collection of

the tax at the city-gate. A.G.A. is united with the natural gas industry in urging
that any Btu tax enacted be paid by the ultimate consumer and collected by the

entity making the sale to that purchaser. Attempting to impose the tax at any point
other than the end-user will result in significant burdens m collection, administra-

tion and flow through of the costs of the tax in consumer rates. It would also thwart
the Administration's stated goal of preventing serious economic distortions.

If a Btu tax is to be collected at the city-gate, strong preemption language is need-

ed to minimize the costs of absorption upon utilities. To avoid the problem of double

taxation. Congress should adopt legislative language that excludes the Btu tax from
the tax base of any form of federal, state, local or other taxation. Local utilities

should only be required to pay what is collected from end-users. Finally, all alter-

native fuels should be treated equally.
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Statement of the American Methanol Institute

It is my pleasure to present this Statement on behalf of the American Methanol
Institute, whose members produce virtually all of the methanol used as a fiiel and
as a chemical feedstock in the United States. In the United States, methanol is pro-
duced almost entirely from abundant supplies of domestic natural gas. In recent

years, the quest for energy diversity has caused an increase in demand for methanol
and other alcohol fuels products. Over one-fourth of the methanol currently mar-
keted in the United States is used to manufacture MTBE (methyl tertiary butyl
ether), the most widely-used clean-fuel gasoline additive today. Last year approxi-

mately 2 billion gallons of MTBE were blended into gasoline.* In addition, all of the

major U.S. automakers now sell "flexible fueled" automobiles which operate on

methanol, and dedicated methanol-fiieled buses are in commercial use. Indeed,
methanol is a remarkably safe, high-performance and efficient fuel, having been
used as the sole fuel for the Indianapolis 500 for the last 28 years.

In recent years, the domestic methanol industrv has begun to expand rapidly to

meet the growing demand for clean fuels and fuel additives. Methanol is produced
commercially almost exclusively from domestic natural gas. Eighty percent of the
methanol consumed in the United States is produced domestically, and about 80

percent of the imported methanol is produced in Canada. Less than .5 percent of

the United States methanol is imported from the Middle East, even though the price
of natural gas there is much lower than its price in the United States.^

Even if the price of foreign natural gas remains significantly lower than the price
of U.S. gas, methanol for the U.S. marlcet will continue to be supplied from domestic
natural gas. Overseas, and particularly in countries with very large gas resources,

cheaper feedstock prices are more than offset by the high costs of construction,

worlung capital and political risk. Add the greater costs for shipping, storing and

handling foreign methanol for the U.S. market, and it becomes clear why the meth-
anol industry is investing in America to produce for the American market.
As energy security and environmental policies fostered new fuel uses for meth-

anol, the industry has pursued a conservative, competitive,
market-oriented busi-

ness strategy. Methanol is the only alternative fuel that has sought no environ-

mental waivers or weakened standards to gain a competitive edge over other fiiels,

and has sought no tax or other subsidies, including the risk aversion and cross sub-

sidy that results when capital costs are put into a consumer ratebase.

It was energy security
—the desire to lessen our transportation sector's almost

complete dependence on petroleum-based gasoline and diesel—that prompted the
search for alternative fuels. All fuels made from natural gas, including methanol
and compressed natural gas ("CNG"), make it possible for the U.S. economy to use
more domestic natural gas to reduce our dependence on the Persian Gulf Crude Oil.

In addition to proven energy security benefits, environmental policy now plays a

strong complimentary role in the demand for greater use of natural gas-derived
fuels. As a fuel, and as a gasoline additive, methanol brings clear environmental
benefits over the benzene and other toxic chemicals in gasoline that are replaced
by methanol and MTBE.
The methemol industry has one tax policy priority: even-handed treatment of all

competitive fuels.

I. PROPOSED BTU tax

As modified by the Administration on April 1, 1993, and explained in a release

issued in April 1993, the Administration's proposed energy
or BTU tax would not

be imposed upon ethanol, methanol, ETBE (ethyl tertiaryHbutyl ether), MTBE, and
feedstocks used in their production. AMI supports this BTU tax proposal modifica-
tion because it treats all alcohol fuels in the same manner. This even-handed treat-

ment of methanol and ethanol reflects sound tax policy because it does not use the
tax law to favor one product over another.

Ethanol supporters sometimes argue that ethanol deserves special tax treatment
because it is made from com and sugar cane produced by American farmers. How-
ever, encouraging even more extraordinary production of crops by creating new arti-

ficial demand for those crops used to make a product that cannot compete in the

marketplace without subsidies is not helping consumers or taxpayers. In 1992 1 bil-

lion gallons of ethanol were blended into gasoline, at a minimum tax credit under

' CRS Issue Brief: Alternative
Transportation

Fuels: Are They Reducing Oil Imports? Updated
April 9, 1993, Congressional Researcn Service, The Library of Congress at page CRS-6. (Re-
ferred to hereinafter as "CRS Study").
^Petrochemical Consultants Intemationai, from U.S. Department of Commerce and Inter-

national Trade Commission statistics.
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section 40 or equivalent fuel excise tax benefit of 54^ per gallon.^ The market, not
the tax law, should dictate demand and investment, a concept adopted by this Com-
mittee as the fundamental

principle underlying the Tax Reform Act of 1986. Accord-
ingly, we concur with the Administration's fuel-neutral decision to treat both etha-
nol and methanol the same under the BTU tax and request that the Committee
adopt this tax neutral posture. In addition, we ask the Committee to apply this

principle of tax parity in its consideration of the motor fuels excise tax, discussed

below, and any further legislative tax preferences for ethanol, such as repeal of sec-

tion 87, which provides for the inclusion of the ethanol tax credit in taxable income.
We note that as proposed by the Administration, the BTU tax would be imposed

on all natural gas, and the exemption for methanol and MTBE would be provided
through a downstream refund or credit mechanism to the methanol manufacturer.
In a situation where the natural gas is used for the production of methanol, such
a credit refund mechanism appears cumbersome at best. We suggest that the impo-
sition of the BTU tax on natural gas should not apply when the natural gas is used
as a feedstock for an exempt product. This would simplify the administration of the
tax.

II. PROPOSED EXTENSION OF THE MOTOR FUELS EXCISE TAX

The current federal motor fuels excise tax is imposed on gasoline and special
motor fuels, diesel fuel used for highway transportation, special motor fuels used in

motor boats, and diesel fuels used in trains. (CNG is not subject to the motor fuels

excise tax only because it is not a liquid). As set forth in the Appendix, the rates

of tax are reduced for fuels containing ethanol or methanol not produced from petro-
leum, natural gas or coal. Although these exemptions appear applicable to both
methanol and ethanol fuels, in practice they are only available to ethanol fuels be-

cause there is no commercial production of methanol from other than natural gas,

petroleum and coal. Thus, the current motor fuels excise tax provides a substantial
tax subsidy for ethanol fuels (and also CNG) which discriminates against methanol.
The current motor fuels excise tax is but one of several provisions of current law

that provides an unfair tax subsidy for ethanol which discriminates against meth-
anol. Under Internal Revenue Code section 40, an alcohol fuels credit of between
54C and 64C per gallon is provided for ethanol. Moreover, under Treasury Regula-
tion §1.40-1 a credit is available for ETBE, an ether created through a chemical re-

action of ethanol and isobutvlene (a petroleum byproduct), even though the section

40 credit is expressly limited by statute to "alcohol," not to chemicals produced from
alcohol.^ These credits are not available to methanol and MTBE produced from nat-

ural gas.
The section 40 credit and the substantial reduction in fuel excise taxes available

for ethanol and ETBE result in enormous tax subsidies, without which ethanol
would not be competitive as a fuel. We urge the Committee in its consideration of

the motor fuels excise tax to investigate the competitive disparities already provided
by the existing ethanol subsidies and provide even-handed treatment for all alcohol

fuels.

CONCLUSION

In summary, the American Methanol Institute supports the Administration's BTU
tax proposal modification because it does not favor one alcohol fuel over another.

Rather, all alcohol fuels are treated in the same manner. We urge the Committee
to adopt this principle of tax parity among alcohol fuels in its consideration of the

proposed BTU tax as well as in its consideration of the extension of the motor fuels

excise tax, and other existing and proposed tax preferences for ethanol.

3 See CRS Study at CRS^.
*The Bush Administration Treasury Department has estimated that this regulation allowing

the alcohol credit to ETBE will cost the Treasury $2 billion. See Statement of Assistant Sec-

retary Gideon before House Committee on Ways and Means at 6-9 (February 1, 1990)
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APPENDIX

EMmption Rate

Excise tax on motor fuels:

1. Gasoline and special motor fuels §§4041(a)(2) and 4081

2. Diesel Fuel §§4091 and 4041(a)

3. Fuels for noncommercial aviation:

gasoline—§§4041{c) and 4081

jet fuel—§§4041 (c) and 4091

4. Fuels used t>y commercial cargo vessels on inland watenvays §4042
'

Exemptions from §4041 motor fuels excise tax for certain alcohol fuels:

1. For fuels containing ethanol not produced from petroleum, natural gas, or coal

(§§4041(10 and 4081(c)):

a. gasohol
—5.7% alcohol

b. gasohol—7.7% alcohol

c. gasohol
—at least 10% alcohol

d. dieselhol—at least 10% alcohol

e. aviation fuel—at least 10% alcohol

2. For fuels containing methanol not produced from petroleum, natural gas or coal

(§4081(c)(4)(A}) :

a. gasohol—5.7% alcohol

b. gasohol—7.7% alcohol

c. gasohol
—at least 10% alcohol

' None ol ttw Bdsc tei OMiptions iit appliublt to this cattfoiy of tuti tacK* tax.

American Mathanol Institute May 6. 1993

3.08(/gal.

4.16(/gal.

5.4»/gal.

5.4«/gal.

5.4(/gal.

3.42f/gal.

4.62(/gal.

6.0(/gal.

14.1(/gal.

20.U/gal

15.1(/gal.

17.6(/gal.

15«/gal.-1992

20(/gal.-1995

11.02(/gal.

9.94(/gal.

8.7«/gal.

14.7(/gal.

9.7/12.2(/gal.

10.68(/gal.

9.48«/gal.

8.1(/gal.
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Statement of the Atlantic Richfield Company

This statement regarding President Clinton's proposed BTU energy
tax is submitted on behalf of Atlantic Richfield Company (ARCO) .

ARCO is a worldwide, integrated hydrocarbon corporation with
operations encompassing all aspects of the oil and gas industry,
including exploration, production, transportation, processing,
refining and marketing. ARCO also mines and markets coal and has

significant interests in two petrochemical companies.

The BTU Energy Tat Proposal

ARCO has indicated its support for the concept of a BTU tax which
would achieve, in conjunction with other revenue measures and
real spending reductions, meaningful deficit reduction. Over the
weeks since the BTU tax was first proposed, significant progress
has been made by the Administration in addressing many design
issues. However, several key elements remain. We submit the -

following design criteria still need to be incorporated into the

proposed BTU energy tax to avoid distortions in the marketplace
and unfair competition from foreign produced energy.

I. Collection Point

The point in the energy cycle at which the BTU energy tax is

imposed is extremely important for several reasons. Imposition
at improper points in the cycle can materially distort demand for
domestic versus imported energy products. The burden of any tax
should fall equally upon all energy products consumed, regardless
of whether domestically produced or imported. If our Nation's
dependence upon foreign oil is to be minimized, the American
energy industry must not be burdened to a greater extent than its
international competitors. In this regard, there is general
agreement within the U.S. energy industry that competitiveness is

fostered by imposing any energy tax as close to the ultimate
consumer level as possible. Taxation at the consumer level also
minimizes additional issues regarding royalty and severance taxes
for domestic energy producers, which can produce distortions as
to regional burdens regarding the tax.

Measurement, documentation and other enforcement considerations
should also influence the choice of collection point. Revenue
leakage should be minimized by imposing the tax at a point where

exempt uses of taxable energy can be discerned by the collection

agent. Utilization of existing collection points regarding motor
fuel taxation might also simplify implementation and enforcement.

Finally, taxation at the consumer level would have the most
impact regarding achievement of the Administration's energy
conservation and environmental goals. In contrast to the stated
objectives of this legislation, producer level collection points
also will result in unintended loss of domestic energy
production, jobs, and increased dependence upon foreign energy
imports .

We turn to the specific points of imposition for the tax as
stated in the Administration's proposal:

A. Petroleum Products

ARCO supports the Administration's decision to impose the BTU
energy tax at the outlet rather than the inlet to the refinery.
Imposing the tax at tl' > .nlet would create unfair competition
from imported petroleun products by taxing domestic refiners, but
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not foreign refiners, on energy lost in the refining process.
Imposing tax at the outlet avoids this problem. Taxing at the
refinery outlet will also avoid BTU disparity in crude oils by
taxing the more uniform BTU content of product lines.

Recent pronouncements issued by the U.S. Department of the
Treasury have stated that the BTU energy tax on petroleum
products would be imposed upon the refiner at the "tailgate" to
the refinery. Because this term does not have uniform definition
within the industry, it should be defined for purposes of this
tax in a manner which avoids complexity and simplifies
implementation. Refineries have different configurations, with
multiple stages of processing, return streams for waste gas,
inconsistent measuring points, and storage either on or off the
premises. Products may be transported either by pipeline, rail
car, truck, or ship. There is no "gate" per se as the term would
suggest, but a complex arrangement of pipelines which may or may
not be metered.

B. Natural Gas

The Administration would impose the BTU energy tax upon the local
distribution company or industrial end user upon delivery from
the pipeline, with collection of the tax by the pipeline. In
contrast to this proposal, ARCO suggests that the tax on natural
gas be imposed upon the end user only and collected by the last
seller to such end user. Such an alternative would:

o avoid having to def^ e the term "pipeline",
o minimize pipeline ta-.iff and PUC ratemaking issues,
o accommodate winter storage and other measures taken to

ensure supply reliability,
o simplify the exemption for petrochemical and other non-fuel

uses of gas,
o avoid issues regarding fixed price contracts,
o avoid severance and royalty issues for producers

transporting gas, and
o avoid complexities regarding the treatment of product swaps.

By law certain liquified petroleum gases (propane and normal
butane) must be odorized for safety purposes to aid leak
detection whenever they are sold for fuel purposes. An exception
to these rules is for sales to refiners that process or blend
such products into petroleum products. ARCO thus suggests that
the tax on liquified petroleum gases be imposed at the point
where such products are odorized for commercial use as fuels, or
in the case of a refinery, when such products are processed or
blended into taxable petroleum products.

C. Coal

ARCO supports: (i) imposing the tax on coal on the utility or
other industrial end user of the coal; and (ii) collecting the
tax at the time the coal is unloaded at the utility or industrial
user's coal storage facility. Imposing and collecting the tax in
this manner for coal will eliminate any potential serverance tax,
black lung excise tax, and royalty issues related to the BTU tax
and would also give rise to greater accuracy, fairness, and audit
in the administration of the BTU tax.

D. Other Taxable Energy Products

ARCO supports the other collection points as proposed in the
Administration's BTU energy tax proposal.
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II. Exemptions

The Administration has listed a significant number of exemptions
relating to non-taxable uses of energy. While ARCO supports the
exemptions that have been announced, the following clarifications
should be incorporated into legislation to enhance implementation
and minimize marketplace distortions. Whenever possible, we
would also recommend the use of a certification procedure to

exempt products from the tax. Procedural safeguards could be
incorporated into any exemption certificate process to safeguard
revenue enforcement issues.

A. Nonfual u as of fossil fuels

The Administration's proposal states that the tax would not be

imposed on either nonfuel uses (eg. feedstock uses) of fossil

fuels or nonfuel products (such as asphalt, lubricants, and

waxes) . ARCO also suggests specific reference to the following
additional nonfuel uses and products in either the statutory
language or legislative history:

o Crude oil unless burned as a fuel without further refining
o Calcined coke
o Green coke used as a feedstock for calcined coke
o Petrochemical feedstocks
o Coking coal used to make coke for steel production
o Crude oil, natural gas, and liquified petroleum gases

injected or re-injected into a reservoir
o Liquified petroleum gases and natural gasoline added to

lighten a crude oil stream for transportation or other

purposes
o Natural gas used to maintain operating Dr assure in gas

storage facilities and pipelines (cushion gas and line-pack)
o Liquified petroleum gases used in fertilizers and aerosol

products
o Unfinished or intermediate refined products that are subject

to further refining

B. Exported fuels and bunker and jet fuel used in international

transportation

If the buyer certifies that the product or fuel is to be exported
from and consumed outside the U.S., or other proof of export and

consumption is provided, the product should not be subject to the

BTU energy tax even if title passes in the U.S. This would be
consistent with the rules regarding Foreign Sales Corporations.

For jet fuel, the terra "international transportation" should be

defined as a flight where the point of origin or ultimate
destination is a point outside the U.S. This is necessary for
domestic refiners to compete with foreign bonded jet fuel that
will be exempt from tax under 19 USC §1309.

For bunker fuel, the term "international transportation" should
include "noncontiguous domestic voyages" as defined under 46 CFR
390.5 (c)(5) for purposes of .the Merchant Marine Act of 1936, as

amended (46 USC §1177) . The majority of bunker fuel used on such

voyages is generally consumed in international waters. Because
it is very difficult for a refiner to establish that bunker fuel
will be consumed in international waters, and because a

substantial amount of such fuel will be exempt, a strong argument
also could be made for extending this exemption to all bunker
fuel.

C. Coal seam methane

This exemption should include all coal seam methane gas as
defined under §29 of the Internal Revenue Code ("IRC"). A
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distinction for one source of coal seam methane gas does not

appear to be justifiable.

D. Natural gas used in enhanced recovery for heavy oil

ARCO suggests this exemption not be limited to heavy oil.
Enhanced oil recovery ("EOR") incentives already exist under U.S.
tax policy due to the hardships associated with such projects.
Expansion of this exception from the BTU energy tax to all EOR
projects would be consistent with such tax policy.

If the exemption is to bj imited to heavy oil, ARCO suggests use
of a definition similar ^o the that used for heavy oil under
§4991(e)(3) of the windfall profit tax (ie. oil with an API
gravity of 16 degrees or less) . The definition for EOR could be
that contained in IRC §43. Natural gas used in EOR should
include, among other things, natural gas and liquefied petroleum
gases purchased to produce steam and to power equipment required
to comply with environmental standards. The exemption should
also be extended to fuel oil and synthetic gas used for such
purposes.

III. Use Tax

Under the Administration's proposal, a use tax would be imposed
on fuel uses of fossil fuels and their taxable products on which
the energy tax has not been imposed. This use tax would apply to
the fuel use of products that have not reached the point at which
the energy tax is normally imposed, to the nonexempt use of
products purchased under claim of exemption, and to the
nonresidential fuel use of home heating oil.

While the Administration has proposed certain limited exemptions
from this use tax, it is ARCO's opinion that a more general
exemption is needed for fuel consumed in the creation of a
taxable energy product prior* to the statutory point of imposition
for the energy tax. without such an exemption, the energy
industry would be the only American industry that has both its
energy use and its product subject to tax. This is unfair and
places an additional burden upon an industry that is already
laden with significant regulations and environmental
requirements.

Specifically for crude and petroleum refined products, fuel used
to extract, gather, process, transport and refine such products
should be exempt from the use tax if consumed prior to the

refinery tailgate. For coal, the exemption would apply to all
fuel use up to the point of delivery to the utility or industrial
end user. For natural gas and gas liquids other than from a

refinery, fuel use would be exempt up to the point of sale to the
ultimate user by the last seller.

For purposes of this exemption, incidental fuel use such as

heating/cooling of facilities and equipment, fuel used for

reinjection compressors, generation of electricity for lighting
and powering facilities and equipment, fuel used for gathering
systems including gathering system compressors, and for initial

processing of fossil fuels (e.g., separation of crude oil from
gas, drying of coal, extraction of liquids from gas, etc.) would
also be exempt.

If the afor' mentioned general exemption for fuel used to make
fuel is not p^ ssible, then the use tax should not apply to fossil
fuels used on the premises where extracted for the purpose to
extract, produce or process fossil fuels. For purposes of this
exemption, the term "on the premises where extracted" should
include: (1) a lease; (2) a field; (3) a unit; (4) a reservoir
or mine containing reserves of fossil fuels in which that
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taxpayer has an economic interest, and (5) a production or
processing facility servicing one or more of the above leases, .

fields, units, reservoirs or mines.

For purposes of this exemption, the phrase "to extract, produce,
or process fossil fuels" should also include all of the
aforementioned incidental fuel uses of such fossil fuels used
on-site or in connection with on-site production and processing
activities.

In addition, the use tax should not apply (1) to crude oil, crude
oil derived fuels (eg. petroleum coke and residual fuel oil) and
waste/by-product fuels from the process stream which are used as
fuel in a petrochemical plant, refinery, diesel fuel topping
plant, or cogeneration facility if it is supplying power to that
refinery or plant; or (2) to natural gas and natural gas derived
fuels used in a natural gas processing, liguefaction or
fractionation plant as fuel.

Under the Administration's proposals, oil, natural gas or natural
gas liquids taken from a pipeline throughput and used as fuel in

running compressors on the pipeline would be subject to the use
tax (in contrast to non-fuel pipeline volume shrinkage plus
natural gas uF«>d as cushion gas or line pack which should be
considered a r n-fuel use of such gas not subject to tax) . In
view of this desire, there may be issues regarding the definition
of a "pipeline".

First, there are pipelines that move products subject to the
energy tax, e.g. , product pipelines and gas pipelines moving
taxable fuel to consumers. Additionally, there are numerous
pipelines that are used: (i) as area or field gathering systems;
(ii) as lines moving crude oil or natural gas from offshore
platforms to shore bases; (iii) as lines moving non-taxable
feedstocks, such as oil to refineries and petrochemical
feedstocks from a refinery to a petrochemical plant; (iv) as
gathering systems for fossil fuels from remote frontier areas to
collection points for shipment to refiners; and (v) as lines to
connect processing facilities within a refinery, petrochemical
plant, gas plant or fractionation facility, etc.

Assessing a use tax on all pipeline fuel use (in its broadest
sense) would create in many instances a tax where t' ere is no
consumer of a taxable product. Further, many pip l.ne tariff
agreements prohibit pass-through of such taxes. In other
instances, the increased cost of pipelines due to the use tax
could reduce the wellhead value used to calculate governmental
royalties and severance taxes. Accordingly, ARCO would suggest
amendment of the Administration's proposal to exempt pipeline
fuel use from the energy tax.

IV, Oxygenates

The Administration's proposal would exempt certain oxygenates
from the BTU energy tax. Unlike ethanol , which is generally
blended with gasoline after the terminal rack, MTBE, ETBE, and
other oxygenates will be added by the refiner to the gasoline
before the point of imposition of the BTU tax. As such, a system
of collection will have to be developed to ensure that the
oxygenates exemption is implemented and that the oxygenate
component of the finished gasoline is not taxed. Inasmuch as the
refiner will have records as to the volumes of oxygenates and
gasoline that have been blended, ARCO suggests that the refiner
compute the energy tax due by multiplying the volume of each
product blended by the appropriate rate of taxation. (A similar
approach could be used for natural gas liquid blendstocks that
would only be taxed at the base rate of taxation) .
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Example: During 1996, a refiner blends 110 gallons of
MTBE and 130 gallons of ETBE with 1760 gallons of
gasoline to make 2000 gallons of oxygenated gasoline.
(It has been assumed for purposes of this example that
one gallon of oxygenated gasoline contains 11 p rcent
MTBE or thirteen percent ETBE by volume and that the
average energy content of taxable gasoline is 120,000
BTU/gallon. The percentage of oxygenates mixed with
gasoline can vary for each sale) .

In computing the BTU energy tax due at the refinery
tailgate, the refiner would compute that tax as
follows: 1760 gallons of gasoline X 120,000 BTU/gallon
X $0.599/MMBTU plus 240 gallons of oxygenates not
subject to tax. The net tax amount due of $126.51
would be transmitted to the government via a periodic
BTU tax form.

If the terminal rack or its equivalent is ultimately determined
to be the point for imposition of the tax for gasoline (in lieu
of the refinery tailgate) , a system of credits to the blender
will have to be developed to compensate for the fact that the
volume and type of oxygenates present in the gasoline may not be
apparent at that point in the distribution chain. The blender
could be permitted to claim such credits as the oxygenates were
withdrawn from inventory.

V. Natural Gas Licniid Blendstocks

When natural gas liquids are blended with gasoline, issues arise
similar to those encountered with oxygenates. In order to
effectuate the Administration's desire to tax natural gas liquids
and natural gasoline only at the base rate of taxation for the "

BTU energy tax, a system of collection will have to be developed
to ensure that such liquids are not taxed at the supplemental
rate when blended with gasoline by a refiner.

VI. Other Definitions

To ease implementation of the BTU energy tax, ARCO recommends use
of the following definitions which are generally accepted in the
energy sector:

o Natural Gasoline - Heavy hydrocarbon molecules, e.g.,
pentane, hexane and heptane separated (whether
naturally, mechanically or through processing at a

refinery or gas processing or fractionation plant) from
natural gas or crude oil;

o Natural Gas - Hydrocarbons which exist in a gaseous
phase at atmospheric temperature and pressure after
passing through surface separating facilities.

o Coal - As defined in ASTM (Americ. i Society for
Testing and Materials) D 121, the t. jrm "coal" includes
all ranks of coal as defined in ASTM standard D 388,
including anthracite, bituminous, sub-bituminous, and
lignite.

o Crude Oil - A mixture of hydrocarbons which remains
liquid at atmospheric temperature and pressure after
passing through surface separating facilities.
(Treasury Regulation §1.613A)
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Liquefied Petroleum Gases - Butane, isobutane and
propane separated (whether naturally, mechanically or
through processing at a refinery or gas processing,
liquifaction or fractionation plant) from natural gas,
crude oil or natural gasoline.

Refined Petroleum Products - Items produced in a
refinery, but not including items produced in a gas
processing plant, a fractionating plant or
petrochemical plant, *"

Refinery • Kifinery should be defined expansively to include
integrated refining/cogeneration/petrochemical manufacturing
facilities and processes. A refinery should also be defined
with respect to its physical characteristics rather than
legal ownership arrangements.

British thermal unit (BTU) - A BTU should be defined as
the amount of energy required to increase the
temperature of one pound of water one degree fahrenheit
at standard temperature and pressure. i

Actual BTU Content: Coal- Actual BTU Content for coal
should be the "gross calorific value" as determined by
ASTM standards D 2015 (Adiabatic method) ; D 3286
(Isoperibol method); D 1989 (Microprocess method).

Independent Power Producers - This definition should include
any "Qualifying Facility" as defined in the Public Utility
Regulatory Policies Act (PURPA) .

Fixed Price Contract - This term should be defined to
include any binding contract entered into before the
date of enactment if the seller is not permitted to
charge the buyer for the. BTU tax.

i

I

Statement of the Big Rtver Zinc Corporation

Mr. Chairman, and Ladies and Gentlemen of the Committee:

I am Edward J. Schmidt, President of Big River Zinc
Corporation. I am also Chairman of the American Zinc
Association, which represents all the major zinc producers
in North America. I comment herein on the impact of the

proposed Btu tax on Big River Zinc Corporation. Before
describing the impacts, I will provide a little backgroiind
on the relevant issues.

BACKGROUND

Big River Zinc Corporation

Big River Zinc Corporation (BRZ) is located in Sauget,
Illinois. BRZ produces about 89,000 tons per year of zinc
metal and is the third largest primary zinc producer in the
U.S. BRZ directly employs about 400 people and provides
significant secondary employment in and around the St.

Louis/ East St. Louis area.

BRZ was formed in 1988 when Big River Minerals
Corporation acquired BRZ's zinc refinery from Amax Zinc

Corporation.
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zinc

Zinc is the third mo^t used non-ferrous metal. Zinc is

essential to sound animal and plant health, and there is no
substitute. The Recommended Daily Allowance for zinc in
adult humans is 15 mg. Zinc deficiency has been shown to
result in retarded growth (dwarfism) , delayed sexual

maturity, anorexia, mental lethargy, rough or dry skin, hair
loss, poor wound healing and increased susceptibility to
infection.

Western world zinc metal consumption has grown from
about 3.4 million tons per year in 1967 to an estimated 5.5
million tons per year in 1993, or about 2% per annum. The

growth in zinc consumption has largely been driven by the
need for steel products with longer life cycles, e.g.,
bridges, guardrails, transmission towers, automobiles, etc.
This longer life cycle is accomplished by galvanizing the
steel to provide an attractive, corrosion resistant finish.
About 50% of all zinc consumed is now used in galvanizing.

Other major uses for zinc include diecasting (20%) ,

brass (12%), and other uses (zinc oxide in tires, zinc metal
in portable alkaline batteries, zinc nutrients in
fertilizers, etc.).

Zinc will be a critical material to any U.S.
infrastructure plan considering longer life cycles,
recyclability , and environmental friendliness as goals!

U.S. Zinc Industry

The U.S. economy consumes ab u* 1 million tons per year
of zinc. Of this total consumptii n, only about 40% is

supplied from U.S. producers because of the lack of
operating capacity in the U.S.

Currently, there are three other primary zinc
production facilities in the U.S. Zinc Corporation of
America operates two facilities: one in Monaca,
Pennsylvania, and one in Bartlesville, Oklahoma. Union Zinc
operates a primary zinc refinery in Clarksville, Oklahoma.
Of the four operating production units in the U.S., three
use the electrolytic zinc process; the Monaca plant uses the
electrothermic process.

The U.S. has not always been short of zinc production
capacity. U.S. zinc production capacity has decreased
steadily from 1 million tons per year in 1968 to 750,000
tons per year in 1975 to the current level of 450,000 tons
per year (primary and secondary) . During the period 1968 to
present, ten U.S. zinc production facilities have been
closed and one new facility was built (Union Zinc) . The
plant closures have all been economically driven, either due
to the poor state of the world industry; more stringent
environmental regulations in the U.S.; higher labor costs,
power costs, taxes, etc., in the U.S.; and less attractive
investment credits and/or s\ibsidies in the U.S.

U.S. imports of refined zinc are itemized by country in
Attachment I .
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World-wide Industry - Supply /Demand

Western world zinc metal consumption has grown 2% per
annum from 1967 to the present. While U.S. zinc production
has decreased markedly, new facilities and significant
expansions have been built outside the U.S. to serve the
growing market. Eighty-five percent (85%) of all zinc is

produced by the electrolytic process.

A summary of zinc supply and demand for 1968 to present
is shown in Attachment II.

Worldwide Zinc Industry - Price

Historically, zinc prices have tended to be cyclical.
Zinc price history is shown in Attachment Ilia. These same

prices are reflected in 1990 dollars in Attachment Illb.

Currently, world zinc prices (now London Metal Exchange -

based) are at a 30 year adjusted low due to the world
recession and large exports from the eastern bloc.

Given the current depressed state of the zinc industry
and the inability of the western world (and even the zinc

price) to n- luence exports from the eastern block, a number
of zinc mi. e and smelter production facilities have been
forced to close during the last six months. These closures
include:

(1

(2

(3

(4

(5

(6

(7

(8

(9

Cominco Ltd. announced its Trail, Vancouver, smelter
would close for two months in 1993.

Pasminco announced permanent closing of an Australian
mine.

Noranda in Canada announced a reduction in production
of zinc concentrates by 40-50,000 mt.

Empresas Frisco in Mexico will close three of four
mines employing a total of 1,165 workers.

Ruhr-Zinc is taking at least a two-month smelter
cutback at its Datteln, Germany, smelter.

Kennecott Corp. announced the closure of its Greens
Creek Mine in Alaska with 230 layoffs.

Compania Minera Tiwanaou in Bolivia is reducing
concentrate production by 20%.

The Santa Rita and Yauri mines in Peru are rumored to
be closing.

Canada • s Curragh Resources has extended a shutdown of
its SA Dena Has mine, reducing concentrate production.

Fortunately, no major U.S. producers have yet been
forced to close, but all producers are operating under
extreme economic hardship, and the four remaining primary
zinc refineries only continue to operate because they were
the fittest of a once much larger U.S. industry.
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THE ELECTROLYTIC ZINC PROCESS

About 85% of all zinc is produced by the electrolytic
process. Three of the four U.S. primary zinc plants employ
the electrolytic process. This process has proven itself to
be the most efficient, environmentally friendly process for
zinc recovery.

In the electrolytic zinc process, the starting material
is zinc concentrates purchased from zinc mines. These
concentrates contain 50-60% zinc as zinc sulfide and are
roasted at high temperature with air to convert the zinc
sulfide to acid soluble zinc oxide. The zinc oxide is
dissolved in a recirculating sulfuric acid solution to form
a zinc sulfate solution. The zinc sulfate £ olution is

purified and the zinc is then recovered as metal by
electroplating the zinc onto an aluminum cathode, from which
the zinc metal is periodically peeled off. The other result
of the electrochemical deposition of zinc in this manner is
that the zinc sulfate solution is converted to a sulfuric
acid solution, which is then used to leach more zinc oxide.

In the electrolysis step, electricity causes the
reduction and plating of the zinc. The reaction is an
electrochemical reaction. Typical current efficiencies are
in the range of 90%, which means that 90% of the current
applied is absolutely required for the zinc reduction
reaction. The electricity provides no desirable fuel
effects, but is rather a necessary ingredient to effect the
desired reaction.

The electrolytic production of zinc requires about 4500
kilowatt-hours per ton of zinc. The economics of zinc
production facilities depend very heavily on the price of
electricity, which represents about 1/3 of the total direct
cost of producing zinc metal from zinc concentrate. Most
new facilities are specifically being sited in areas where
inexpensive hydro or nuclear power is available because of
the significance of electricity cost on the overall
economics.

IMPACT OF PROPOSED BTU TAX
ON BIG RIVER ZINC CORPORATION

We at Big River strongly support Congress' efforts to
decrease the federal budget deficit. However, we in no way
can support the type of general Btu taxes proposed to date.
At a minimum, any such proposed tax must exclude electricity
efficiently used in the electrolytic production of critical
metals such as zinc, aluminum, and magnesium; otherwise, the
net result will be the devastation of these industries and
the loss of revenue to the U.S. government.

We produce a critical commodity, which is sold based on
worldwide prices (London Metal Exchange) . We cannot pass
U.S. tax increases to our customers. We use the most modern
process technology, the electrolytic process, to produce
that commodity. The largest single direct production cost
using the electrolytic process is electricity.

One third of our overall direct plant operating costs
are for electricity. That electricity is not used as a fuel
source but is, rather, used in the reaction for the
electrochemical recovery of zinc. Current efficiency for
that deposition reaction is about 90%. Since the last
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energy crisis in the 1970 's, we have systematically
decreased energy use by 12%. There is little roon for

improvement based on the theoretical requiremen s of the
recovery reaction.

Early indications which we have received suggest that
the proposed Btu tax would increase our cost for electricity
by 10-20%. This would increase our overall cost to produce
zinc metal by $20-$25/ton.

The zinc industry operates on very low margins. Prices

cycle markedly, with extended periods at or below break-even
costs, without even including debt service or amortization.
Our industry is once again in such a period, as evidenced by
the quote of Heinz Schimmelbusch, Chairman of Metall Mining
Corporation, one of the world's largest zinc and other base
metal producers:

"There is not one company (zinc producer) in

Europe which is in a reasonable profitability
position and some of the smelters have to make
investment decisions to come in compliance with
environmental permits." (Reuters 4 May 1993)

The situation is no different in the U.S. If the

proposed general Btu energy tax is adopted, the U.S. zinc
industry will be put at a large competitive disadvantage to

foreign zinc producers. At times such as these, the U.S.

producers will be even more hard pressed to survive. The

jobs of U.S. workers are at risk.

The U.S. zinc industry has already been decimated. I

urge Congress — please give the few of us remaining a

chance !

ATTACHMENT I

U.S. IMPORTS OF REFINED ZINC
(thousand mrtric tool)

Expoft Country 19*4 I9«5 1916 19r7 19tl 19i9 1990 1991 1992

Canuk
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ZINC

TA9Uk4S

WESTXRN WORLD • EUFPLY AND DEMAND

I9M I9SI 1962 1963 \9U 19<5

ATTACHMENT II

19M

Tlounad Mairie Tottt

19fi7 19M 1969

Couccatratc* (metal content by analysu):

rro^ctJon
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TABLE 43 {CoaaamO)

'WtSTtSU WORLD : SUTTLY AND DKMAND

vn \m \m 1973 1974 1975 197< 1977

HMricTon

197t 1979

Coacaatntt* (mBtil costtBt by amlyiii):

Prodactle>



277

ZINC

TABLE 45 (Condnnsd)

WESTXKN WOXLD : SUm.Y AKD DEMA14D

1980 1981 1982 1983 1984 1985

Thoosand Metric Tons

198« 1987 1988

CoocentrmUs (meol content by vtmJysis):

Prodnctlon •<519

Europe 1106

Canada 1059

Mexico 243

Pcm **i

United States 349

Japan 238

Australia ^3
Otitier Cotmtries 573

Net exports to

Socialist Coantries -137

Direct use for

rinc oxide -70

Balance aTsilable

for smeltint/
reflnioE 4312

Slab Zinc

ProductioB

Europe
Canada
United States

Japan
Australia

Other Countries

CoDsniaption
Europe
United Stales

Japan
Other Countries

Net exports to (-)/
imports from (-f)

Socialist Countries

DeliTcries to (-)/
Releases from (+)
Nalioual Stockpiles

Japan

4478
1843
592
370
735
306
632

4491
1733
879
752
1127

-17

4459
976
1096
216
497
343
242
485
604

-107

-70

4282

4S56
1846
619
393
670
301
727

4422
1611
935
699
1177

-64

4807
1004
1189
251
507
330
251
633
642

-119

-SO

4638

4330
1771
512
303
662
296
786

4236
1563
SOI

703
1169

4817
1061
1070
266
553
293
256
663
655

-1 4

-SO

4603

4645
1871
617
305
701
303
848

4556
1645
934
771

1206

-154 -238

5099
1129
1207
304
555
278
253
653
720

-176

-64

4892
1947
683
331
754
306
871

4704
1683
980
774

1267

-245

5152
1138
1172
292
583
252
253
713
749

-1J7

-69

4859 4946

4996
1968
692
334
740
293
969

4745
1665
962
780
1338

249

5090
1082
1291
278
598
221
222
665
733

-101

-30

4959

4854
1990
571
316
708
308
961

4885
1703
998
753
1431

-45

5379
1089
1504
271
612
233
166
738
766

-103

-15

5261

5055
2089
610
344
666
312
1034

5030
1731
1052
729
1518

+13

5106
1065
1348
271
485
256
147
739
795

-75

-S

5026

5236
2147
703
330
678
302
1076

5258
1831
1089
774
1564

-43

22

+1

+32 +25 +57

Balance -4 +103 -35

Reported Metal Stocks (at end of period):

-92 -53 +2 -76 +38 -65

Producers
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Tabic 26

ZiDC Carrenl Treads: Wettera World: S<ippl)r aad DcmaadC'
,

Zinc Tendances Acnielles Monde occidenak Approvuionnement et deroande' '

Thousand metric tons

Aaaaal Tolalc
19IS 1919 1990 1991 1992 1991 1992
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ATTACWOT Ilia

CHART III - A ZINC PRICE HISTORY
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Statement of the Chemical Manufacturers Association

The Qieraical Manufacturers Association (CMA) appreciates this opportunity to present
its views on President Qinton's investment and deficit reduction plan, and. in particular,

the proposed Btu energy tax.

CMA is a non-profit trade association. Our member companies represent more than 90

percent of the productive capacity for basic industrial chemicals in the United States. The

chemical industry is a keystone U.S. manufacturing industry. Our products are vital

materials for the rest of U.S. manufacturing and the future of other U.S. manufacturing is

vitally important to the U.S. chemical industry. The U.S. chemical industry, despite more

than a decade of fundamental restructuring, provides 1.1 million high-wage, high-tech

jobs for American workers - the kind of jobs President Clinton wants to create.

Moreover, in 1992 the chemical industry was the largest U.S. exporter, accounting for $1

out of every $10 of U.S. goods exports.

Overview of CMA's Position

President Clinton is to be commended for supporting deficit reduction. CMA is eager to

support and work for passage of a budget plan that will help to build America's economic

future. Much of the debate about the President's plan concerns the relationship between

spending cuts and new taxes. This is an important issue. CMA believes that additional

cuts in government spending beyond those proposed by the President should be made.

The President's plan, however, calls for new revenues. If, in the end, the Congress calls

for new revenues, the important question then is "how can additional revenues best be

raised without damage to the economy?" This statement responds to that question.

We believe that "taxing consumption changes behavior, but taxing manufacturing

production kills jobs!" Accordingly, if the Congress determines that new revenues are

necessary, the best alternative is adoption of the same credit method value-added tax that

is already utilized by virtually all of our major competitor nations. By contrast, we
believe a Btu tax and other taxes tiiat would disadvantage U.S.-based production that must

compete against foreign-based production would not be sound economic policy.

There are multiple advantages to adoption of a value-added tax as an alternative to other

new taxes and as the basis for a fundamental restructuring of our tax system that would

accommodate to the new realities of a global economy. A value-added tax is a fair tax. It

taxes consumption of the nation's resources and adjustments can be made to make it as

progressive as other taxes. Second, it can provide a major revenue source. And finally, it

is one of the few taxes that is trade neutral. It will not pose a threat to U.S.-based

manufacturing and other goods production and will not jeopardize the jobs of American

worlcers.

U.S. Economic Policies Affect International Competitiveness

We are obviously at a critical point in determining our country's economic future. The

policies set by this Congress will do much to decide that future. We believe that U.S.

economic policies-particularly our tax policies-must recognize that we live and compete

in an integrated world economy. Some of our industries-particui^y, our manufacturing

industries- must compete in that world economy. Our policy making should recognize

that manufactured goods trade is the major means by which countries engage in

international economic competition and that U.S. manufacniring bears the brunt of Uie

nation's competition in the international economy.
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To illustrate these points, we note that U.S. merchandise exports an nr v 7.5 percent of

GDP and imports are 9.0 percent But it is also imponant to recogii.ze that about 80

percent of all of U.S. merchandise trade is in manufactured goods. Moreover, the

deterioration of U.S. trade performance during the 1980s was manifested primarily in

manufactured goods. Most importantly, trade in goods-not services trade-wiU remain

the critical interaction of the U.S. economy with the world economy. The point is simply
that we need to consider carefully how our domestic economic policies will affect the

competitive position of U.S. manufacturing and other U.S. industries that must meet

international competition.

U.S. manufacturing's record has not been strong in recent years. Over the last two

decades U.S. manufacturing has had to face intensifying international competition. In the

process it actually shed some 2. 1 million jobs between 198 1 and today. Part of this job
loss reflects rising productivity in the manufacturing sector-gains essential to improved
international competitiveness. But the job losses also reflect a decline in international

competitiveness, a decline in which U.S. government policies have played a role. U.S.

manufacturing has not regained its eariier strong competitive position. Despite large

productivity gains, the manufactures trade deficit in 1992 rose by $20 billion to $86.7

billion. Moreover, every major forecaster projects further increases in U.S. manufactures

trade deficits in the years ahead. A manufactures trade deficit of about $100 billion in

1993 seems likely.

The Commerce Department estimates that each billion dollars of U.S. exports supports

about 19.000 jobs. Eliminating a manufactures trade deficit of $ 100 billion by a more

competitive U.S. manufacturing sector that expanded its exports and ca^< ired a larger

share of the U.S. market would create many hundreds of thousands of ne ^v manufacturing

jobs.

But in the current environment manufacturing job gains do not seem likely. Widening
manufactures trade deficits indicate that U.S.-based manufacturing is still not sufficiently

competitive in the world economy. Even without new taxes that add to U.S. production

costs, we can expect not manufacturing job gains but further manufacturing job losses.

Tax Policy and U.S. Manufacturing

Qearly, a strong, internationally competitive U.S. manufacturing sector is essential to a

strong U.S. economy and to growth in U.S. Uving standards that compares favorably with

other industrialized nations. President Qinton has frequently expressed similar views and

has emphasized the need to increase investment in America to build its future

competitiveness.

Tax and other government policies can have important effects on the costs of U.S.

industry. Yet. notwithstanding U.S. manufacturing's existing problems and an already

unfavorable competitive outlook, the President's plan has UQL been structured in a way that

recognizes the effects of tax and other U.S. government policies on the ability of

U.S.-based manufacturing to compete in U.S. and foreign markets. In the shon term it

will raise U.S. manufacturing's costs and further damage trade performance. And in the

long term it will be a disincentive to the higher levels of investment required to enhance

U.S. competitiveness.

Three key provisions of the plan v 11 idd significantly to the costs of. and will discourage

investment in, U.S.-based manufacturing:
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o The proposed Btu tax would add significantly to the costs of manufacturing in

the United States-over $5 billion annually to manufacturing as a whole, $1.2

billion of that to chemicals manufacturing costs alone.

o Proposed changes in the tax treatment of income from royalties and licenses

will further lower the returns on the R&D that have been instrumental in

maintaining the international competitiveness of some of the strongest American

manufacturing industries.

o The rise in the corporate income tax rate will lower the rate of return on

investment and incentives to invest, particularly investments by manufacturing

companies that must face international competition.

We believe it is important that the public recognize that these new taxes cannot logically

be seen as tapping "special interests." Instead, each tax will have negative effects on the

international competitiveness and the profitability of U.S. companies. These effects

would, unequivocally, not be in the best long term interests of members of the U.S.

economy--they would hit persons at every income level. This is because each increase in

the costs of U.S. manufacturing firms inevitably must be borne by individual members of

the economy at all income levels. Higher costs from energy taxes translate to higher

prices to consumers, lower wages to employees, U.S. jobs lost to foreign competitors, and

lower profits. In turn, lower profits le 1 to reduced investment and to lower productivity

and lower U.S. living standards than would otherwise be achieved.

CMA believes that, in a highly competitive world economy, it would not make sense to

further tax our own U.S.-based manufacturing production. Again, taxing consumption

changes behavior, taxing manufacturing production kills jobs! If Congress decides

additional tax revenues are required, the interests of all Americans are best served by
taxes levied on consumption--not by taxes on U.S.-based manufacturing. A credit invoice

method value-added tax (VAT) provides a widely used and accepted means by which the

costs of domestic production can be insulated from tax effects. Such a tax, used by

virtually every other industrialized nation, is collected at the border on imports, rebated on

exports. Accordingly. CMA believes that the Congress should reject a Btu tax that caruiot

be border adjusted and turn to a credit method value added tax (VAT) as a source of new
revenue that may be required, and as a replacement for much of the existing tax system.

From the standpoint of U.S. manufacmring. the negative effects of these three elements of

the budget plan-which once enacted are likely to remain in law for an extended

period-considerably outweigh the less certain and more ephemeral positive effect on

interest rates that is a primary goal of deficit reduction.

The above provides an overview of CMA's reaction to the FYesident's plan. The following

offers more specific details concerning individual elements of the plan.

Proposed Bm Tax on Energv U.sed as Fuel for Production Prtx-ess Would Seriouslv Harm
U.S. Manufacninng.

CMA opposes enerpy i^xes that fall heavily on the manufacturing process. Our reasoning

is basic: Any tax th. . rJses the cost of U.S.-based manufacturing relative to competition

abroad damages the ability of U.S.-based manufacturers to compete in both domestic and

international markets. Energy intensive industries-including steel, aluminum, pulp and

paper, glass, cement, chemicals and agriculture-would be particulariy hard-hit. An

energy-intensive industry like the chemical industry that uses energy both as fuel and as

raw materials for its production processes could be gravely wounded by unilaterally

imposed energy taxes.
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CMA estimates that, even when applied only to energy used to fuel production processes,

the Administration's propxjsed Btu tax would raise U.S. manufacturing energy costs by
over $5 biUion yearly. Chemicals is an energy-intensive industry. Its energy costs alone

would rise by about $1.2 billion annually with a feedstock exemption, $2.2 billion

without such an exemption. It should be noted that the $ 1.2 billion is four times the $300

million in specific chemical feedstock taxes the industry is already paying annually under

Superfund.

The chemical industry produces and sells in a highly competitive market in which

margins on any given transaction may be measured in cents per pound. The committee

will recall that after the 1980 enactment of the Superfund chemical feedstock taxes. U.S.

chemical exports declined and imports increased sharply. Moreover, after amendments in

1983 and in 1986 to provide border adjustments of the Superfund feedstock taxes. U.S.

chemical exports grew rapidly and by 1992 the chemical industry was the leading U.S.

exporter.

The record is unequivoca on the harm th£tt occurred to our industry before Congress

provided border adjustments for Superfund taxes. The proposed Btu tax on the energy
used-even if limited to the energy used as fuel or power for our production processes-
would be much more destructive to U.S. chemical trade than the Superfund tax. This is

both because the Btu tax would be much more costly and because, as a practical matter,

the energy tax costs embedded in finished products cannot be adjusted at the border under

the General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade (GATT) or the U.S.-Canada Free Trade

Agreement (CFTA).

Fffective Chemical Feedstocks Exemption Es.sential for U.S. Chemical Industry.

The U.S. chemical industry is energy intensive. It accounts for almost 7 percent of all

U.S. energy consumption. About one-half of that consumption is to power the production

process; the other one-half is for feedstocks-the raw materials from which many
chemicals are made.

hi a highly competitive world economy, any tax on energy sources that does not include

an effective, workable exemption for chemical industry feedstocks could end the

international competitiveness of the U.S. chemical industry. We understand that the

Admi'ustration's proposal does include an exemption from the proposed tax for all

no -f i\ uses, including chemical feedstocks. However, the U.S. chemical industry

maiiufactures more than 70.000 products. Tailoring an effective exemption that woulG

mitigate the harmful effects of the proposed energy tax on U.S. trade in these products

will be difficult and will require great care.

Trade Effects of the Bm Tax

The proposed new taxes would also be directly manifested in U.S. trade performance.

Energy is an important cost factor at every stage of manufacturing. A Btu tax would raise

the costs of manufacniring in the United States. Higher costs of U.S.-based

manufacturing will dampen exports and increase imports, with obvious negative effects

on U.S. jobs.

The energy intensive chemical industry would be among those most affected. This is

significant because the chemical industry has for some years been the epitome of what we

all would like U.S. manufacturing to be. Chemicals is a high tech, dynamic, capital and

R&D intensive industry, generating about 15 percent of all the nation's registrations of

new patents. The U.S. chemical industry employs 1.1 million workers and pays wages to

its production line workers that arc about 30 percent above the average for U.S.

manufacturing.

70-188 - 93 - 10
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And it has also been internationally competitive. Chemical industry trade performance

has been a particularly important positive factor in the overall U.S. trade picture. For

several years chemicals has been the largest U.S. export sector, providing $1 of each $10

of U.S ;oods exports. Exports of chernicals reached $44 billion in 1992, more than tota>

U.S. agricultural exports. U.S. chemical trade surpluses in the ten years ending in 1992

totaled $122 billion.

U.S. chemicals trade performance is not invulnerable, however. Recognizing the

keystone importance of a chemical industry to a nation's economy and the technology a

chemical industry develops and transfers, every developing nation wants its own

chemical industry. Many developing countries arc building their own production

capacity. Some have their own low cost sources of energy. In the face of the resulting

intensi^ing world competition the U.S. chemicals trade surplus declined from $18.8

billion in 1991 to only $16.3 billion in 1992. Further slippage seems likely, even without

the added burden of increased energy taxes.

The effects on U.S. trade performance from an increase in U.S. chemical production costs

that will result from a Btu tax will, of course, extend far beyond U.S. chemicals trade.

The costs of downstream U.S. manufacture rs--and their prices-will rise to reflect the

increased costs of the chemicals they use and the rise in their own energy costs. This will

damage their ability to compete in U.S. and foreign markets.

The Btu Tax and Energy Independence

The Administration projects that the proposed Btu tax will have favorable effects on oil

imports, reducing the oil import bill by some $4 billion from the baseline forecast by the

year 2000. a 3 percent decline from the level that would result absent a Btu tax. Such a

reduction, if achieved, would be welcome but hardly a significant move away from import

dependency. Moreover, whether any reduction will ac uj- ly occur is, at best, highly

questionable. One recognized authority. Philip Veriegcr. Jr. of the Institute for

International Economics, believes that the proposed Btu tax may actually increase U.S.

dependence on oil impons as well as the dollar value of the imports. This may occur

because the tax may exert a greater negative effect on domestic oil production than it does

on total U.S. consumption. And these oil import increases would be in addition to the

trade balance deterioration in other products that would stem from the increased costs of

U.S. manufacturing industries.

The Btu Tax and the Environment

Environmental benefits are claimed for the Btu tax but the structure and level of the Btu

tax rates are such that it will actually engender little or no environmental improvement.

There are potentially much more effective and efficient ways of achieving most

environmental goals. The Btu tax is primarily a revenue raiser. At the proposed rates,

however, it is a cumbersome, expensive tool that, although it hits some industries hard,

raises relatively small amounts of total revenue. Much of the revenues would actually

come from the tax on gasoline. The Administration estimates the Btu tax will, in effect,

raise the price of gasoline about 9 cents per gallon. The implicit tax on gasoline will

provide about forty percent of the total revenue of $22.3 billion the Btu tax is projected to

raise by 1997.

There is. however, good reason to fear that the proposed Btu tax rates are only the

beginning--the thin end of the wedge--and that, over time, the rates would be increased in

real terms. This is likely because, at best, the current budg plan makes only a beginning

in the reduction of Federal budget deficits and because extending health coverage to all

Americans may be seen as requiring additional funds. Once a new bureaucracy is created
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to administer a Btu tax, there will be a natural tendency to want to use this new revenue

source to generate still more funds. These tendencies will be buttressed by pressures from

environmentalists who see cuts in energy consumption as an important goal. The result

would be an even greater disadvantage to U.S.-based production than would result from a

Btu tax at the currently proposed rates.

A Bm Tax and Industrial Efficiency

Much of the support for energy taxes seems to be based on a presumption that energy is

cheap in the United States, resulting in its inefficient use. Some argue that energy taxes

will, therefore, promote decreased energy consumption and increased energy efficiency

with no loss-perhaps even a gain-to U.S. international competitiveness. But this

perception stems primarily from the relatively low gasoline taxes in the United States. In

fact, contrary to popular belief, U.S. industrial energy sources are not cheap compared to

those paid by foreign industry. Gasoline is often much more heavily taxed by foreign

governments but they do not impose similar taxes on industrial use of energy. Analyses

of energy costs typically do not focus on industrial energy costs. In addition, international

comparisons of energy costs inevitably fail to consider the added Av ironmental costs of

energy use and consumption in the United States-costs not imposed by our major trading

partners.

In fact. U.S. industry cannot use or consiune energy as a raw material or fuel without

meeting tough, mandated pollution abatement and control standards. The costs of

meeting these standards -an be very high. For example, the U.S. chemical industry now

pays about $4.9 billic i ; inually for pollution abatement and control, and by the end of

the decade spending tor this purpose will double to almost $10 billion in real terms.

Pollution abatement and control measures typically lower productivity and increase

energy costs. Therefore, the high cost of meeting these pollution abatement and control

standards must be considered as part of U.S. manufacturing's total energy costs.

Concerning the theory that an energy tax will increase energy efficiency, manufacturing

firms that must compete in the worid economy do not need another tax to make them

more competitive. To survive in an ever more competitive world. U.S.-based

manufacturing firms must improve efficiency in every aspect of their production.

including energy use. The U.S. chemical industry, for example, has improved its overall

energy efficiency by 43 percent over the last two decades. Instead of spurring energy

efficiency, a Btu tax would drain corporate funds that would otherwise be available for

R&D or to invest in new. more efficient plant and equipment. A Bm tax would be an

additional handicap on, and disincentive to. investment in U.S.-based manufacturing.

A Bm Tax Would Be A Un ilateral U.S. AcUon

Some also may argue that our competitors, particulariy in the European Community (EC),

will be imposing energy taxes-perhaps a carbon tax-so that we need not be concemed

about a loss of U.S. competitiveness from a Bm tax. There are several responses to this

argimient. First, our competition is global, not just in the EC. Indeed, EC chemical

production now represents only about one-fourth of the worid total. Second, the

Europeans have not yet ir<!timted such a tax. Whether they will do so is problematical.

Third, when and if they d, instimte an energy tax, they will not handicap their

manufacmring industries. The various proposals that are being examined make it clear

that this will be the case. And, recognizing their dependency on trade, there is every

reason for them to ensure against harm to their major industries. For example Germany's

chemical trade surpluses for 1990 and 1991 summed to $33.7 billion. But just as is tme

of the United States, in an environment of increasing international competition
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Germany's chemical trade surplus is already in jeopardy, even without new taxes, in tnis

situation Germany's tax policy is not likely to handicap the trade performance of its

chemical industry.

Again, given the disadvantages that a Btu tax would impose on U.S.-based

manufacturing, it is important to recognize that there is no valid way under the General

Agreement on Tariffs and Trade (GATT) or the Canadian Free Trade Agreement (CFTA)
to neutralize the harmful effects of an energy or environmental tax on U.S. trade. In

effect, a Btu tax--and the other new taxes on U.S.-based production that are proposed in

the President's plan—would penalize U.S. exports in world markets, encourage U.S.

imports, and add to a growing U.S. trade deficit.

Proposed Treatment of Rovaltv Payments under Technology Licensing Agreements
Would Penalize U.S.-based Manufacmring.

The U.S. chemical industry has very large investments in production facilities in many

foreign countries. The chemical industry is also among the leading developers of new

technology and holders of patents both in the United States and worldwide. U.S. parent

companies earn significant income from the engineering and technical services they

provide to their overseas affiliates. In addition, the income from licensing of their

led to )gies overseas-primarily licensing to affiliates by their U.S. parents-is an

important source of the income and international competitiveness of U.S. chemical

companies. U.S.-based research costs are very large and must be amortized over sales in

global markets if current levels of R&D are to be maintained. Increased taxation of the

earnings from licensing is hence a long term threat to the competitiveness of U.S.-based

manufacturing.

The proposal to treat all income from royalties and from engineering and technical

services earned from the taxpayer's active conduct of trade or business as passilfi income

thus defies logic and lacks any coherent policy rationale. Moreover, the proposal appears

destined to achieve precisely the opposite of the stated goals of the Administration's

comprehensive economic plan.

Instead of stimulating job creation and providing an environment for long term growth,

this proposal more likely would reduce the number of U.S.-based high tech and research

jobs, while damaging the profitability of U.S. companies and the long term

competitiveness of U.S.-based manufacturing. Instead of improving the domestic base for

the export of U.S.-based technology, it is more likely the proposal would increase imports

of technology and at the same time would increase exports of associated jobs, growth, and

capital. Finally, when royalty payments are made from one related party to another, the

proposal arbitrarily differentiates royalties from other types of income, such as dividends

and income, received from related parties.

Present Corporate Tax Rates Maintain U.S. International Competitiveness.

The Administration's economic stimulus program should seek to maintain the

competitiveness of U.S.-based manufacturers and the American jobs they provide. U.S.

tax rate changes will affect manufacturing's international competitiveness. Since 1986,

virtually all major trading nations have reduced their own corporate and business tax rates

to at or near U.S. levels. Raising U.S. income tax rates under these circumstances would

only increase the tax burden of U.S. exports in worid markets and the corresponding tax

advantage of imported products in the United States. The most important provision for

long term economic growth would be to retain the corporate income tax rates enacted in

the 1986 Tax Reform Act

New policies and programs for economic stimulus should not be paid for by increasing

these marginal income tax rates.
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Revise Alternative Minimum Tax for Effective Economic Stimulus.

CMA commends the Administration for its efforts to improve the corporate alternative

minimum tax ("AMT"), especially with respect to the treatment of depreciation. We
would suggest that you further revise the AMT to provide additional stimulus to the

economy. A majority of large corporations especially capital intensive manufacturers are

now in a minimum tax position. The Administration's proposed incremental investment

tax credit could be used to reduce the AMT tax burden. After first meeting the restricted

qualifications to use the proposed temporary incremental investment tax credit, the credit

could offset a maximum of only 25 percent of AMT liability. If the temporary tax credit

is to provide a significant incentive to corporate AMT taxpayers, much more reform is

needed.

The AMT burden is especially harmful to the competitiveness of U.S. manufacturing

when that liability arises from expenditures to meet mandated Congressional

environmental standards that do not produce income. Many of our members now pay the

AMT because they have made high capital expenditures to meet government mandated

pollution standards while their earnings and taxable income are low. IronicaUy, they and

other manufacturers pay the additional AMT tax penalty when they can least afford it.

Sound public policy dictates that these taxpayers who are investing to comply with

mandated environmental standards should not bear the additional economic burden of the

AMT.

Conclusion

It has often been noted that small businesses have been responsible for most of the

nation's job creation in recent years. This has provided a rationale for granting them tax

incentives. CMA welcomes this attention to the problems of small businesses. However,

most small businesses are in various kinds of services industries, ranging from restaurants

to computer software and cleaning services. Many of them provide their services to

manufacturing firms but very few directly face international competition.

But U.S. raanufacturing--rauch of which is "big business""<ioes have to face international

competition. And in a world economy in which that competition becomes tougher every

year, smaller and smaller additions to the cost of production can tilt the competitive

balance and the location of manuf ;turing production.

Popular attitudes often seem to favor "small business" but look less kindly on big

business. Yet, for the most pan it is the large firms that pay the higher wages, provide

their employees costly health, pension, and other benefits, bear the brunt of international

competition, and provide the vast majority of U.S. exports. Small businesses play only a

small role in international trade. But small businesses in the United States cannot achieve

their full potential if U.S. manufacturing fails in international competition. Moreover, the

debt and equity instruments of the larger companies are the major holdings of private

sector pension ftmds. Lower corporate profits mean less secure pension ftmds. Rising

corporate profits enhance the ability of retirement funds to meet their obligations to

retirees.

The point of this testimony is a simple one. An effective U.S. economic recovery plan

that looks to the long term must preserve and enhance-not impair-the competitiveness of

U.S.-based manufacturing and the American jobs it provides. Again, taxing consumption

changes behavior. But taxing manufacmring production kills jobs! Providing short term

economic incentives to some sectors of the economy at the expense of others will not help

the economy as a whole. Indeed, paying foi these incentives by increasing Federal

corporate income tax rates or by imposing a new energy tax or environmental tax would

be worse than no action.
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If Congress decides additional revenues are required, our trading partners around the

world have demonstrated that a credit method value-added tax can produce needed
revenue without imposing additional burde is on international trade. A credit method
value-added tax is also one of the few t; .

\ oposals valid under GATT that could increase

U.S. saving and would increase the share of U.S. government costs borne by imported

products and manufactures.

CMA does not ask for special favors for U.S. manufacturing. Instead, it asks only that

government not disadvantage U.S.-based manufacturing in its ever more difficult struggle
to remain competitive in the world economy.

Statement of the Domestic Petroleum Council

The Domestic Petroleum Council (DPC) is pleased that the
Administration has modified its original Btu tax proposal to
take into account several major concerns of its members, the
largest of the nation's independent producers of crude oil and
natural gas. Moving the collection point of the tax closer
to the point that oil and gas are consumed as fuels is

encouraginc . DPC appreciates the willingness of the
Administration to listen to the concerns of independent oil
and gas producers and looks forward to its continuation.

DPC's members still have a number of outstanding concerns
with the details of the Administration's Btu tax proposal, and
we continue to believe that imposition of an import fee on

imported oil is a better way of achieving the Administration's
goals. The most serious of DPC's concerns with the Btu

proposal and our recommendations on how they may be resolved
are listed below:

1. There remains a significant question as to whether
the tax on natural gas will ultimately be passed
through to the consumer. Although the tax is
described as a consumption tax, there is no
mechanism to assure that local distribution
companies (LDCs) will pass the tax through to
consumers. Some or all of the tax may be recovered
by passing it back to the producer in the form of
lower wellhead prices. If passed back to the
producer, the tax will further erode producer
profits from the sale of natural gas and may cause
more wells to be plugged and abandoned.

Solution: Ensure that the tax is imposed on the
consumption of natural gas by moving the imposition
of the tax from the LDC to the consumer, with the
col action and payment of the tax by the LDC.

2. Taxing all refined petroleum products at the same
rate disproportionately places the highest tax on
the lowest-valued products. This occurs because
the lowest-valued products, such as residual fuel
oil, are highest in Btu value. Refiners will not
be able to pass all of this tax through to the
consumer of these products and, as a result, can be
expected to recover the tax by lowering the price
they pay producers for crude oil. The
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Administration's shifting the tax from crude oil

entering the refinery to refined products leaving
the refinery is an improvement but does not
alleviate this concern.

Solution: Allocate the tax on refined petroleum
products to reflect the value of the products
relative to each other and to other comparable non-
petroleum products. For example, one way this could
be done would be to eliminate the supplemental tax
on the lower-valued products and increase the tax
by a corresponding amount on the higher-valued
products, such as gasoline and diesel fuel. Tc <:' ig
the lower-valued products at the base rati is
consistent with the treatment given coal, a fuel
which similarly sells for less per Btu.

3. Collecting the tax on natural gas liquids (NGLs)
from owners and operators of natural gas processing
plants needlessly increases the cost of compliance
for both the industry emd the IRS. Approximately
75% of NGLs are ultimately used as feedstock and
would be exempt from the tax. But by placing the
burden of collection on the processing plants before
it can be determined how much of their sales will
be exempt from the tax, the Administration proposal
will require the collection of tax on these tax-
exempt NGLs and necessitate a massive refund scheme.
DPC doubts whether a refund scheme can be designed
that will ensure that the owners of processing
plants and natural gas producers will not bear the
burden of at least a portion of this tax.

Solution: Move the point of collection on NGLs to
the point at which they are odorized and sold for
commercial use. Virtually all NGLs that are used
as fuel and thus subject to the tax must be odorized
for safety under State laws. Imposition of the tax
should be on the purchaser at the plant or terminal
delivery point. Collection of the tax at this poi t
will move the incidence of the tax closer to ti^e

point of consumption, eliminate uncertainty as to
ultimate use and significantly reduce the cost of
compliance.

4 . The exemption for fuel used on the premises for
additional extraction should be clarified. Imposing
the tax on the oil and gas producer's use of energy
that may be produced off-site or used off-site for
the production of oil and gas will increase the
producer's cost of production, thus causing
marginally economic oil and gas wells to be
abandoned. Fuels may be collected from other wells
within a unit or lease and may be commingled or
burned for use in extracting additional oil and gas.
Its use would be taxable under a strict
interpretation of on the premises extraction
definition. This is contrary to the Administration's
goal of reducing dependence on foreign sources of
energy. DPC appreciates the Administration's
modification exempting fuel produced on-site and
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used on-site, but the exemption could be interpreted
in an unduly restrictive manner a)'d should be
clarified to include energy produc d or used off-
site.

Solution: Exempt all energy used in the production
of oil or natural gas from the tax. For example,
for natural gas production, all energy used by the
producer prior to the pipeline receipt point should
be exempt from the tax-

5. Teucing natural gas used to transport natural gas
will result in a tax on natural gas production which
producers may not be able to pass through.
Significant volumes of producers' natural gas are
used to assure pipeline delivery to natural gas
consumers. These uses account for the so-called
"shrinkage" which the Administration's proposal
would tax. If this tax is collected from producers,
they would not be able to pass all of it through to
their purchasers, their costs of production would
thereby significantly increase and they would be
forced to abandon marginally economic wells.

Solution: Eliminate the tax on natural gas used to
transport natural gas.

6. There is no policy justification for exempting
ethanol or methanol from the tzix while teucing fuels
which compete with it. Carving out an -exemption for
ethanol or methanol would give produc rs of these
fuels an unfair competitive advantage over natural
gas producers who produce compressed natural gas or
liquified petroleum gas which compete with them.
Fuels which compete with other fuels subject to the
tax should not be exempted.

Solution: Eliminate the Administration's proposed
exemption for ethanol and methanol.

DPC continues to believe that an import fee on all
imported oil is a better way of achieving the Administration's

goal of reducing imports of foreign oil and encouraging energy
conservation. An oil import fee has a number of advantages.
It would:

* help create jobs in America;

* aid in the reduction of the federal deficit;

* increase severance and royalty income to
federal and state governments;

* encourage conservation;

* help an iz z the decline in U.S. oil and natural
gas procuction;

* help to reduce oil imports and the resulting
trade imbalance;



291

* reduce the exposure to tanker spills; and,

* maintain the domestic exploration and
production industry's ability to find and
produce U.S. energy supplies.

If tax revenues are to be raised through a consumption
tax, DPC recommends a broader-based tax that would spread the
burden more evenly and thinly throughout the economy.
Additionally, DPC strongly urges that the tax on domestic
natural gas, domestic natural gas liquids and domestic crude
oil be imposed at lower rates than coal and imported
hydrocarbons, both refined and unrefined, to reflect the added
environmental and security costs of importing and using these
fuels.

Statement of the Electric Generation Association

The Electric Generation Association (
"EGA" )

is a national
trade association representing non-utility power producers and

qualifying facilities (referred to in this statement jointly as

"IPPs") and suppliers of goods and services to the competitive
wholesale electric generation industry. Our companies represent a

dynamic, fast growing industry that in 1992 accounted for

approximately 67% of all new electric generation capacity brought
on line in the United States. Our members provide their utility
customers, and hence the general public, with safe, low-cost,
environmentally sensitive, and reliable wholesale electricity.

Our statement is in three parts. Part I presents the
EGA's support for the Administration's goal of deficit reduction.
The EGA recognizes the revenue raising and energy conservation
objectives of a fuel tax and seeks only to insure that such a tax
be applied in a fair and administrable way, consistent with
conservation goals. ^Gi strongly believes that the fairest and
most equitable tax fo ! oth utilities and IPPs, and the soundest
tax for achieving conbervation goals, is a fuel tax levied on the
retail consumer of electricity. This is particularly important
for IPPs that have entered into long-term commitments which will
not permit the full passthrough of the fuel tax in the purchase
price of electricity.

Part II of our statement briefly describes the contractual
and financing relationships that bind IPPs and their electric
utility customers. Part III of our statement comments on the
Administration's energy tax proposal as modified by the Secretary
of the Treasury on April 1, 1993, and offers specific
recommendations for implementing the Administration's proposed
grandfather relief for the IPP industry.

The EGA supports and applauds President Clinton's
commitment to reducing the federal budget deficit. We too believe
that reducing the federal deficit and stimulating economic growth
should be the nation's top priority. The EGA went on record early
on in support of President Clinton's call for "shared sacrifice"
to reduce the deficit for the" economic well-being of the countiry.
Reducing the deficit, maintaining low interest rates, and
increasing investment opportunities are essential means to
stimulate economic growth in the nation as a whole and for the
electric power industry specifically.
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The EGA understands that an energy tax based on fuel
consumption will be an i-^portant feature of deficit reduction
legislation. Such a tax should be broadly applied to fossil fuels
and other energy sources used in the generation of electricity.
The energy tax should also be applied in a manner that most
effectively promotes energy conservation, is borne equitably
across all fuels and regions of the country, and does not disrupt
existing markets solely on the basis of ownership of projects.
The Secretary of the Treasury in his April 1, 1993 statement
accompanying the modified Administration proposal, emphasized the
primacy of these principles and acknowledged that "if the tax is
to effectively promote energy conservation, it must be borne by
the ultimate consumer."

An energy tax imposed on the retail consumer of
electricity and natural gas would be the most efficient energy tax
for purposes of promoting energy conservation, as well as being
the tax solution which is the most equitable and administrable for
utilities, IPPs and the Internal Revenue Service. While not
preferable, the EGA would not oppose the Administration's proposed
upstream collection of the energy tax if it were designed and
implemented in a manner which ensures that the tax will be
success u ly passed through to the ultimate consumer, will promote
conservation, be consistent with IPPs' existing firm contracts and
ensure continuing market-based competition.

The Administration's modified proposal recognizes that
many IPPs face substantial constraints, many of which are
contractual, in their ability to pass through the energy tax to

utility purchasers, and hence, to retail consumers. Unless an
effective grandfather rule is crafted for IPPs operating under
existing commitments, in many cases the proposed energy tax would
be borne entirely by IPPs and would not be reflected in the price
of electricity paid by retail consumers. Such a result would be
both unfair to the IPPs, antithetical to the objective of
promoting energy conservation, and potentially threatening to the
utilities that rely on IPPs for their resource needs. Part II of
this statement explains the serious financial consequences that
many IPPs will face in the absence of an effective grandfather
rule. Part III of our statement advocates means for implementing
fair and efficient relief for IPPs that is consistent with the
objectives of the Administration's modified proposal.

II.

The IPP industry is a young entrant into the nation's
electric energy system. Beginning with the adoption of the Public
Utility Regulatory Policies Act of 1978 ("PURPA") and continuing
with the recent enactment of the Energy Policy Act of 1992,
Congress has sought to promote competition in the production of

electricity by encouraging the growth and economic viability of
IPPs as ccTpetitive suppliers of new electricity generation.

Independent power differs fundamentally from traditional
utility generation of power. IPPs sell power almost exclusively
at wholesale, while utilities principally sell power to retail
customers. IPPs do not build rate-base power plants and generally
do not charge rates determined in regulatory cost-of-service
ratemaking proceedings. IPPs must finance the construction of a

new generating facility based substantially on rates that the IPPs

negotiate with their wholesale power purchasers, the electric
utilities. Independent power projects are nonrecourse project-
financed, which means that a project is only developed after an
electric utility commits to the purchase of power from the IPP at

agreed-upon rates and under terms and conditions that provide
sufficient revenues to amortize the nonrecourse financing.

Independent power plants are not built on speculation or

perceptions of wholesale market opportunities. Independent power
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plants are built to meet the power needs of specific utility
customers who conm\it to long-term, firm commitments for t e supply
of wholesale power. These long-term, firm commitments ar che
essential predicate for an IPP project.

IPP project development is an expensive and time-consuming
process. In many states, utilities are required to conduct
competitive bidding before beginning to negotiate a long-term
power purchase commitment with an IPP project. In other states,
utilities negotiate at length with prospective project developers.
Utilities typically seek commitments of 15 years or more from an
IPP project. Once an initial power purchase commitment is

obtained, it may take two years or more before all other project
contracts, including steam sale contracts, construction contracts,
transmission arrangements, and fuel supply contracts, are
concluded and regulatory approvals obtained, sufficient for a
commercial lender to be willing to extend nonrecourse financing
for construction of the project. Construction of a large power
project may take in excess of two years. Thus, IPPs will have
invested substantial resources and time in developing a project
based on the initial long-term commitment from a utility power
purchaser.

The prospect that a substantial and unforeseeable
operating expense may be imposed on an IPP project after the
developer enters into its firm power purchase commitment places
independent power at a substantial financial and competitive
disadvantage. Few, if any, existing power purchase contracts
provide for the power purchaser to pay a national energy or Btu
tax. Moreover, these contracts do not contain "reopener"
provisions that would provide for a passthrough of the tax to the
IPP's power purchaser. Thus, IPPs are faced with the prospect of

absorbing the unforeseen energy tax. Such absorption by the IPP
would undermine the basis of nonrecourse financing, threatening
bankruptcy in some cases, and in all cases, causing a substantial
economic hardship to the developer.

An energy tax imposed at the retail level would eliminate
all of these anomalies. The next best option would be for the tax
to be imposed after generation, on the distribution of the
electric power. At a minimum, any IPP project that had obtained a

long-term power purchase commitment from an electric utility,
which commitment does not permit the direct passthrough of the

proposed energy tax, prior to the date of enactment of the energy
tax, should be eligible for grandfather relief in the form of a

mandated imposition of the tax on such power purchaser. To deny
IPPs such relief would threaten the viability of many existing and

under-development projects and be contrary to the policies behind
the energy tax. If IPPs operating or being constructed under firm
commitments are required to absorb the fuel tax, a significant
portion of the nation's electric capacity will be substantially
weakened .

Congress has previously granted IPPs r- lief from

unanticipated, federally mandated expenses. I., the Clean Air Act
Amendments of 1990, Congress imposed on all power plants the

obligation to reduce sulfur dioxide emissions through a system
requiring all plants to hold emission allowances for each ton of
emissions. The sulfur dioxide emission system was intended to

apply to all existing utility plants. However, Congress exempted
all IPPs that had entered into power purchase commitments with
power purchasers prior to enactment of the new environmental
limitations and the emission allowance trading system. See
Section 405(g)(6) of the Clean Air Act Amendments of 1990, 42
U.S.C. SS 7651 et seq. The Environmental Protection Agency
recently issued implementing regulations that confirm exemptions
for IPPs that are not able to directly pass through to their power
purchasers the new costs of environmental compliance. See 58 Fed.

Reg. 15634 et seq. (March 23, 1993).
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As was the case with the Clean Air Act Amendments of 1990,
Congress and the Administration should provide transitional relief
for IPPs that have developed projects or made firm commitments
based on pre-energy tax energy costs.

. III.

The Administration has proposed grandfather relief from
the energy tax for IPPs that entered into fixed-price contracts
prior to date of enactment. However, to be equitable and
effective, such grandfather relief must be implemented in a manner
that fairly takes account of the varied long-term, firm pricing
arrangements that IPPs have with their utility purchasers and fuel
suppliers .

1. A Certificate System that Assures Collection of a
Single Tax.

The Administration proposes a tax collection and credit
mechanism for implementing the proposed IPP grandfather relief
that would be unnecessarily complicated and burdensome. The EGA
proposes a means to ensure that grandfather relief be implemented
through a less cumbersome mechanism that would be fair to IPPs,
utilities and fuel suppliers, and would not sacrifice revenues.

The Administration proposes a double-tax collection
mechanism that would require both the grandfathered IPP and the
utility power purchaser to pay the full energy tax, while the IPP
would be eligible to file for a subsequent refund or credit. This
double tax collection mechanism is burdensome and costly to the
IPP and is not needed to ensure that the government collect
amounts properly due .

The EGA believes that grandfathered IPPs should be exempt
from collection of the tax upon providing a certificate to their
power purchasers of the eunount of tax properly due from them based

upon the Btu content of the fuel consumed by the IPP in the

generation of the power purchaser's electricity. In the event
that the amount of tax properly allocable to a power purchaser is
less than the amount of tax that would otherwise be due from the
IPP, the IPP would be liable for a single payment of the
difference. In the circximstances where the IPP has purchased
natural gas upon which the Btu tax has already been paid, the IPP
should be entitled to a refund. In such circumstances, the

utility power purchaser would not also be liable for the tax.

Thus, the Administration's proposed grandfather relief can be most
efficiently implemented through a scheme involving only a single
collection of the full amount of the energy tax, rather than by
the cumbersome double tax collection and credit mechanism which
the Administration proposes. The government would be assured full
collection of tax due under the single-tax collection mechanism.

2. Scope of the Class of Grandfathered IPPs .

A. Definition of Fixed-price Contract

The Administration proposes to provide grandfather
relief for "fixed-priced" contracts entered into by the IPP before
the date of enactment. The term fixed-price contract obscures the

variety of long-term, firra pricing commitments that are included
in individual IPP-utility contracts. The rationale for

grandfather relief is to a"oid penalizing an IPP that is

contractually unable to par . through the energy tax to the utility
that purchases its power. The class of grandfather-eligible IPPs
should be defined to encompass all IPPs with long-term, firm
commitments that do not permit full passthrough of the energy tax.
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IPP-utility power sales contracts vary considerably
in their formulas and provisions which set prices. Relatively
few, if any, existing IPP-utility contracts permit the direct
passthrough of a federal energy tax. However, many IPP contracts
contain price formulas that permit the price of purchased power to
vary over time in relation to changes in fuel costs. These "fuel
price escalator" provisions may base the utility's purchase price
on some measure of the utility's avoided fuel costs or on some
benchmark measure of regional or national fuel costs. While power
purchase contracts may provide for the variability of the price of
electricity based on some measure of fuel costs, it will be far
from clear in many cases whether such measure of fuel costs will
incorporate the Btu tax. In many cases, the contract provisions
or the fuel price escalators will be based on a measure of fuel
costs that does not incorporate the Btu tax. Even under power
•purchase contracts that provide indirectly for some passthrough of
he energy tax based on a fuel index or avoided cost, such
passthrough may be incomplete and significantly deferred ir. t.me.

The Administration's decision to move the fuel tax
downstream to different points for different fuels inadvertently
exacerbates the IPP's difficulty in passing through the fuel tax.
Now, IPPs may be purchasing some fuel tax-paid and other fuel
which has not yet been taxed. Utilities and IPPs will not
necessarily be purchasing fuel on which tax is paid at the same
time. Moreover, there will be greater uncertainty, and potential
for litigation, over the application of fuel price indices and
avoided cost measures where the tax is applied at different points
relative to the IPP and its purchasing utility.

The movement of the fuel tax downstream also opens
the door to a potential windfall gain for IPP fuel suppliers and
windfall loss for IPPs. Many IPPs hedged their fuel supply
contracts and electric sales contracts . Under a hedged
arrangement, fuel supply and electricity prices would increase
based on the same index. Paradoxically, the IPP with a perfect
hedge will bear the full amount of the fuel tax if the presence of
its escalator provisions denies it the benefit of grandfather
relief. This windfall loss occurs because the IPP may be required
to pass through the effects qf the fuel tax in higher prices paid
for fuel, even though the fuel supplier no longer bears any tax
burden under a downstream tax.

This brief discussion of IPP fuel supply and power
sales contracts underscores the difficulty in limiting grandfather
relief to some defined class of "fixed-price" contracts. The only
way that IPPs with firm long-term contracts can avoid bearing the
fuel tax is if the grandfather relief mechanism permits the TF? to
pass through the full incidence of the fuel tax.

The government's objectives are full and immediate
tax collection, without administrative involvement of the IRS in
determining eligibility for or computation of the grandfather
relief . The IRS should not be burdened with making contract
interpretations of fuel price escalator and avoided cost
provisions. Grandfather eligibility should be a largely self-
administered process that leaves interpretation of uncertain
contract provisions to the parties. Moreover, an IPP's
eligibility for grandfather relief need not be all-or-nothing and
need not be a one-time-only determination. Flexibility can be
provided at no cost to the government and without involving the
IRS in contract interpretation or resolution of disputes between
IPPs and utilities.

The basic principle that should underlie the
definition of grandfather-eligible IPPs is that if an IPP collects
from its power purchaser a purchase price of electricity that
includes the applicable It . tax, grandfather relief is not
appropriate. If, however, an IPP does not collect a contractual
price of electricity that includes the Btu tax, grandfather relief
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is appropriate. This principle can be self-administered through a
certificate mechanism that tracks the inclusion or exclusion of
the incidence of the fuel tax from fuel supply and power purchase
prices .

B. Contract Prior to the Effective Date of the Tax.

The Administration proposes to permit grandfather
relief for contracts entered into prior to date of enactment. For
purposes of this effective date, contracts should include any
contracts entered into after date of enactment but which, prior to

February 23, 1993, were the subject of the submission of a bid in
a competitive solicitation, a regulatory order issued by a state
public utility commission, or a signed letter of intent. Congress
recently recognized such power purchase commitments as a basis for

grandfather protection from federal legislation that imposed acid
rain pollution costs on IPP generators. See Section 405(g)(6) of
the Clean Air Act Amendments of 1990 and implementing EPA
regulations issued at 58 Fed. Reg. 15634 et seq. (March 23, 1993).
These power purchase commitments are entered into at the inception
of IPP project development and limit the IPP's anticipated revenue
stream from a project. In reliance on these commitments, IPPs
commit substantial expenses in developing a project and obtaining
necessary government approvals prior to commencement of
construction. Formal execution of power sales contracts might
occur substantially later in the development process and are based
upon the preliminary purchase price commitments made by the IPP
and utility in a competiti-^ bid, regulatory order or letter of
intent.

The grandfather relief should fairly be made available to
all IPPs that had a power purchase commitment prior to date of
announcement of the Administration's energy tax proposal, even if

such commitment ripened into a power sales contract after the date
of enactment. As under the Clean Air Act program, such
commitments can be identified under a self -administered tax

system.

3. Steam.

Under PURPA, qualifying cogeneration facilities ("QFs")
must sequentially utilize thermal energy (steam) in the generation
of electricity (by powering turbines) and in the delivery of
residual steam to an industrial facility. The Federal Energy
Regulatory Commission ("FERC") has in place extensive regulations
governing '.h^s sequential process. See 18 CFR S 292.101 et. seq.
The object vi of PURPA and its implementing regulations is to

discourage the waste of residual thermal energy which remains
after the generation of electricity.

QFs are required to meet performance standards that ensure
that a portion of residual thermal energy remaining after

electricity generation be delivered to an industrial facility
rather than be wasted. The sequential utilization of residual
steam by an industrial user does not detract from the precedent
use by the QF of all of the consumed fuel to generate electricity.
Residual steam that would satisfy the PURPA performance
requirements is simply a by-product of electricity generation.

QFs structure their firm contracts with both the utility
purchasers and the industrial steam users to permit recovery of

anticipated fuel costs. Many existing QF contracts would not

permit the direct passthrough of the Btu tax to the utility
purchasers or industrial steam users. Consequently, where QFs are
unable to recover the Btu tax under firm contracts that do not

passthrough the tax, grandfather relief effective for the full
amount of a QF's tax burden is appropriate. The rationale for
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grandfather relief is as strong for fuel associated with
industrial steam use as for fuel associated with electricity

generation. Unless the tax law requires the pass through of the

Btu tax associated with steam, some industrial users will obtain

thermal energy without bearing a tax burden, whereas industrial

users that obtain steam from other fossil-fuel fired sources will

bear the full tax burden. Such a result would be inconsistent
with the energy conservation rationale of both the proposed energy
tax and PURPA.

The EGA believes that effective grandfather relief for QFs
should be provided through the following allocation of fuel tax.

The utility buying electricity from a grandfathered QF under a

firm contract would bear the Btu tax to the extent that fuel
consumed by the QF was used in the generation of electricity and

any residual steam provided to an industrial user met the PURPA

requirements for sequential utilization. To the extent that a QF

provides steam to an industrial facility under a firm contract in

periods when electricity is not generated or in a non-sequential
process that would not meet PURPA requirements, the Btu tax would
be borne by the industrial user. In each case, the QF would be
entitled to a credit or refund of the Btu tax it paid or bore from
the purchase of tax-paid fuel.

4. Particular contractual situations .

In some states, power sale agreements between IPPs and
utilities were required to include provisions fore: ic, the IPPs to
absorb all new taxes imposed on the sale of the electricity by an

IPP, even if the collection point of such taxes is on the utility.
These contractual provisions exist in certain Southern California
and Virginia IPP projects. By imposing the Btu tax on utilities
that purchase power from IPPs, these contractual provisions may be

brought into full force and effect. The hardship to the IPPs from

application of such contracts can be avoided if the normalization
rules which otherwise encourage passthrough by a utility encompass
all energy taxes paid by the utility, including the special tax

paid by the utility on power purchased from grandfathered IPPs.
Effective normalization rules would not penalize utilities that

enjoyed contractual protection from taxes imposed on electricity
sales. The rules would ensure that all such taxes be borne by
retail electricity consumers and not by either the IPP or the

utility.

In conclusion, the EGA strongly supports imposition of the

proposed fuel tax on the retail sale of electricity. A retail tax
is the fairest and most efficient tax for encouraging energy
conservation. If Congress does not enact a retail tax, the
Administration's proposal for grandfather relief for IPPs should
be revised to provide a self-administered, single tax mechanism
that ensures that IPPs with long-term, firm contracts be entitled
to pass through the full incidence of the Btu tax in the
utilities' purchase price for electricity.
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Statement of Horsehead Industmes, Inc.

Mr. Chairman and members of the Committee on Finance: As President of Horse-
head Industries Incorporated (HII), I appreciate the opportunity to present our
views on the Administration's proposed Btu tax, and to recommend modifications

that will better fulfill the Adnunistration's policy objectives. The Zinc Corporation
of America (ZCA), a subsidiary of Horsehead Industries, is the United States largest
manufacturer of zinc, producing more than 50 percent of the annual U.S. produc-
tion. Together with its sister corporation, Horsehead Resource Development Com-
pany, Inc. (HRD), ZCA and HRD are North America's largest recycling team, recov-

ering zinc fi"om secondary, scrap and waste materials which woiild otherwise go to

lan<Hills.

Mr. Chairman, as an American and a businessman, I fully support the laudable

policy objectives of the Administration. Few can argue with conserving energy, de-

creasing reliance on foreign oil, improving the environment and reducing the annual
deficit. The fiirst objective enhances the quality of our lives; the second and third,

our independence as a nation; and the last objective is critical to our survival as

an economic superpower. However, the energy tax will fall woefully short of advanc-

ing these objectives in its application to zinc production. The tax will instead force

domestic producers to absorb significant cost increases when their products are sold

on the basis of an internationally determined orice. AdditionaUy, domestic producers

compete against foreign producers—many hignly subsidized—not subject to the tax

or to stringent environmental standards. In sum, the tax will favor: (1) imported
zinc over domestically-produced zinc; (2) mined ore produced outside the U.S. at the

expense of domestic recycling; and, (3) less environmentally sound forms of zinc pro-
duction.

In order to truly advance the sound policy objectives of the Btu tax, HII maintains
domestic zinc producers and recyclers must be provided a level playing field. We
support the non-fuel use exemption for coal and petroleum, including the related ap-

plication of coke to produce steel, zinc and aluminum and further recommend:

• Defining "feedstock" to recognize the essential use of energy in the production
of internationally priced commodities. Electricity should be recognized as a

"feedstock" in the production of zinc.

• Excluding "Industrial power plants" from the tax as are independent power pro-
ducers.

• The only other alternative would be imposing a 2% border tax on zinc imports
so that domestic producers can compete fairly with foreign producers for the

U.S. market. This border tax can be reduced if the first two reconunendations
are implemented.

As the Committee recognizes, apart from raising revenue, the Btu tax is meant
to be passed along to the ultimate consumer, who presumably has the ability to re-

duce energy consumption. However, zinc is traded daily on the London Metals Ex-

change (LME), where price is established irrespective of the internalized cost of pro-
duction. As a result, domestic zinc producers must absorb any cost increases within

an internationally determined price and must remain forever vigilant on the costs

of energy to meet these prices. Minimizing energy consumption is especially impor-
tant since that represents one of the highest cost components of zinc production.

Zinc producers cannot pass the increased costs of the energy tax along to consum-
ers any more than we can pass along inefficient consumption of energy. Yet we must
sell our commodity in a competitive domestic market increasingly dominated by sub-

sidized foreipi imports which will neither be subjected to the tax nor produced
under as stringent environmental requirements. The objectives of the Btu tax can-

not hope to be fiilfilled by substituting domestic zinc production with imported zinc

requiring greater energy to produce and to transport vast distances.

Thus, as currently constituted, the Btu tax on zinc is unworkable and must be

modifi^l. We stand ready to assist the Committee in exploring alternatives that will

achieve the fiindamental objectives of the Administration, without these dysfunc-
tional effects.

I. the zinc industry

ZCA and HRD's operations are located in New York, Pennsylvania, Texas, Okla-

homa, Illinois and "Tennessee and are combined through an interconnected, multi-

facility industrial process.
The processing of zinc-bearing materials requires energy in order to separate zinc

fi"om other mettus in the host material. Specifically, ZCA produces electricity for its

own internal use at its independent industrial oower plant in Monaca, Pennsylva-
nia, having made substantial investments to acnieve compliance with stringent en-
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vironmental air quality regulations. Electrical energy is the primary source of power
used at the Oklanoma zinc plant to convert the concentrated zinc bearing material
to refined zinc metal.
Zinc is refined into various forms and is used in many different processes and

products:

Zinc metal is used in galvanized steel, brass, die cast components and rolled zinc
for minting the U.S. penny.

Zinc oxide is a mineral supplement in human and animal diets and is used for

applications
in the rubber, chemical, ceramic, glass, paper, pharmaceutical,

plastics, and electro-galvanizing industries.

Zinc dust is used in chemicals and corrosion-resistant coatings.
Zinc alloys are employed in die casting products and parts, from automobile car-

buretors and fuel pumps to household appliances ana tools.

Zinc powder is used in products ranging from long-Ufe alkaline cell batteries to
braxe linings.

In the U.S. alone more than 1.1 million short tons of zinc were consumed in 1992
with over 20 percent of that total created from recycled material. However, U.S. pro-
ducers

supply
less than 40 percent of the zinc needed in the U.S. Sixty percent of

annual U.S. consumption is imported—most of which is produced in Canada and
Mexico. Twenty five years ago the U.S. was self sufficient in zinc production with

capacity of
approximately 1 million tons per year. Today, the remnants of that U.S.

industry compete with global giants, many of whom operate with the benefit of ex-
tensive government subsidies.

Zinc is an iniernationally-traded commodity for which the price is set daily on the
London Metals Exchange (LME). Therefore, the price that ZCA and HRD receive for

its products is set on tne LME and all elements of production cost—raw materials,
labor, energy and regulatory compliance—must be covered by the commodity's price.

Consequently, U.S. producers compete with all other world producers (for example,
Canada, Mexico, Austraha, Japan, Europe) in a highly competitive world market.

II. THE OBJECTIVES OF THE PROPOSED ENERGY TAX WILL NOT BE ADVANCED BY A TAX
ON DOMESTIC ZINC PRODUCTION

The objectives of the Administration in imposing the Btu tax are to:

• Reduce the deficit and raise significant revenues in a neutral way;
• Conserve energy by encouraging consumers to find the most efficient use of en-

ergy
and reduce consumption, i.e. to facilitate pass-through;

• Reauce environmental damages by providing an incentive to use clean burning
fuels;

• Reduce dependence on foreign sources of oil.

The tax is intended to fulfill these policy objectives without amcillary economic
costs, such as costs to our industries m foreign trade. However, in application to

U.S. zinc production, the tax fulfills none of the Administration's policy objectives
and is often counterproductive.

A The Tax Will Not Advance Revenue and Competitiveness Goals

The tax cannot be passed through to the consumer. In order to meet Administra-
tion objectives for the energy tax, according to the Department of Treasury, the tax
should "be allowed to be passed on to the end user." The tax is optimally designed
to facilitate pass through in order to place the ultimate consumer of the energy in
a position to either reduce consumption levels or use alternative and more efficient

forms. However, if this objective is to be fulfilled, those that bear the incidence of
the Btu tax must have the abiUty to reduce consumption. If not, the positive behav-
ioral changes sought to be induced will not occur.

In the case of zinc (and other nonferrous metals), price is determined daily on the
London Metal Exchange (LME). Therefore, domestic and foreign zinc producers are

inherently bound by the established commodity price which means they must seek
to reduce their costs of labor, materials and energy to compete in the global market.
Energy is essential in making zinc, and

represents a substantial portion of produc-
tion cost. As a result, a price increase unilaterally imposed by the U.S., through a
Btu tax, for example, must be absorbed within the international price by U.S. pro-
ducers only.
The domestic industry cannot absorb the cost increase. The environment in which

domestic zinc industries produce and compete will not permit them to absorb these
increases in production costs caused by the Btu tax. Toda/s zinc prices are equiva-
lent to recession or depression levels-prices at which U.S. producers are struggling
to survive. The low price has been caused by global recession, combined with exces-
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sive zinc production from the Conunonwealth of Independent States, and the re-

cently implemented zinc sale firom the National Defense Stockpile. Consequently,
zinc producers are highly vxilnerable to any cost increase; but, especijilly from en-

ergy, which represents a high percentage of total production cost.

Continued increase in the demand for zinc in the U.S. will be met by foreign pro-

ducers, resulting in a lower U.S. tax base. As the tax on zinc production rises, an

increasing domestic and international demand for zinc will be met by subsidized for-

eign production. This, in turn, will diminish the U.S. tax base on which the tax is

predicated. The industry's inherent inability to absorb energy cost increases could

result in a shutdown of portions of the domestic industry, triggering higher levels

of foreign zinc production smd importation in to the U.S.

B. The Tax Will Not Advance Environmental Goals

The energy tax, as proposed, tends to discourages recycling and resource recovery.

Application of the tax to zinc production will not advance the environmental objec-
tives of the tax, and may even be counterproductive to fulfilling those objectives. In

fact, the policy disfavors recycling.

Quantities of zinc presently supplied through domestic production, 20 percent of

which is recycled material, could be replaced by foreign-sourced material produced
from mined ore. Therefore, the tax as presently proposed favors foreign, mined-ore

production over recycling. Thus, vast quantities of what £ire listed as hazardous

wastes, which presently are a significant source of domestically produced zinc, will

be buried in landfills, creating a perpetual environmenttil threat. In Horsehead's

case, we recycle huge volumes of the Nation's hazardous wastes produced by the

steel industry for conversion into zinc metal at ZCA's Monaca, Pennsylvania and
BartlesviUe, Oklahoma plants. Feedstock for this production originates at steel mills

where zinc-bearing emission dust, listed as hazardous waste, is generated. These
dusts begin the recycling chain at our HRD Pennsylvania, Tennessee, and Illinois

facilities. This opportunity to recycle and recover values from high-volume, listed

hazardous waste is placed in Jeopardy with a burdensome energy tax which dis-

proportionately affects a domestic producer.
"Die tax will not solve or advance environmental concerns by supplanting domestic

production, operating under stringent environmental stand£u-ds, with foreign pro-
duction under less stringent standards. Undoubtedly, the tax wiU increase reliance

on foreign-produced zinc, much of it produced south of our borders, where stringent
environmental standards are not present. Global environmentaUsts should prefer
this segment of industrial production remain in the U.S. with its system of stand-

ards and controls. The countries to which this production wiU be exported do not

require the stringent environmental controls that are routinely required in the Unit-

ed States.

Most countries do not enforce their environmental laws to the same standards of

environmental protection as is practiced in the U.S. Ironically, because demanding
higher levels of zinc production from other countries would hinder the goals of the

Kio summit. The result would be a net increase in pollution globally, if zinc produc-
tion were to be curtailed in the U.S. and shifted to foreign countries. Additionally,
increased mining of zinc ore would be required to compensate for reduced U.S. zinc

production from recycled materials. Mining results in the generation of huge tailings

piles, presenting solid waste management problems elsewhere.

C. The Tax Will Not Conserve Energy
The tax will not promote energy conservation in zinc production because zinc is

an internationally-priced commodity—U.S. producers strive to be low cost producers
in order to compete in the market. Thus, U.S. zinc producers eilready seek to mini-

mize energy consumption and therefore costs of production. The energy tax is ex-

pected to add approximately one cent per pound to the production costs of domesti-

cally produced zinc, representing 2 percent of the current price. As presently pro-

posed, the tax will reduce U.S. producers' competitiveness. Ironically, the resulting

imports will actually increase world energy consumption through significant energy
used for overseas transportation.

D. The Tax Will Have Other Negative Effects

The tax will reduce or eliminate domestic co-production of other essential min-
erals. Zinc is found with other essential minerals, including copper, bismuth, silver

and cadmium. To the extent domestic production of zinc decreases, domestic produc-
tion of these minerals will also decrease.
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CONCLUSION

HII applauds the Administration's objectives as proposed in the Btu tax. Unfortu-

nately, those objectives are not advanced by the tax as applied to zinc producers.
Instead, the tax will place domestic producers at a competitive disadvantage to for-

eign producers on our own soil. From a global standpoint, the tax will not advance
environmental goals by transferring domestic production to countries which have
less stringent environmental controls.

On behalf of HII and its more than three thousand employees, I strongly urge the

Congress to fashion appropriate exemptions for the non-ferrous metal industries re-

flecting the inherent difficulties of selling commodities, for which prices are fixed on
International exchanges.

Statement of the Industrial Gases Manufacturers Council

Mr. Chairman and members of the Committee: This Committee faces an impor-
tant task as it begins drafting legislation to implement

the President's economic

plan—including provisions to reduce the budget deficit and to encourage long-term
economic growth. We agree that deficit reduction is an important problem that must
be solved.

The Industrial Gases Manufacturers Council
represents

an almost invisible indus-

try that nonetheless is very important to the U.S. manufacturing base and our na-

tional security. Our member companies extract gases (oxygen, nitrogen, argon, etc.)

from the air so they can be used by other manufacturers to improve the energy effi-

ciency and environmental impact of their operations and by other customers for a

wide range of important environmentally responsible purposes.
In its current form, the tax would place an unreasonable burden on ovir compa-

nies. Electricity costs account for up to 70% of the cost of producing atmospheric
industrial gases; consequently, the proposed Btu tax could increase our production
costs by about 70 times the burden that the Administration has cited for the aver-

age U.S. manufacturer. If we pass on those increased costs to our manufacturing
customers, their products will be less competitive. And many of our member compa-
nies simply cannot pass the level of taxes proposed on to their customers.

THE ATMOSPHERIC GAS INDUSTRY

Atmospheric industrial gases—oxvgen, nitrogen, and argon—are essential to the

production of a wide range of critical industrial products
from steel and semiconduc-

tors to chemicals and petroleum. Thev are widely used in aerospace, metalworking,
food processing, the health care field as well as for hazardous waste remediation

and for waste water treatment. ^

The production of atmospheric industrial gases typically involves the use of sub-

stantial amounts of electricity. Electricity is a basic element in the "cryogenic sepa-
ration process," which is essentially an electrothermal separation process. Electricity
is used to produce the necessary refingeration that develops the extremely low tem-

peratures lOT air to be liquified. The liauified jur is then distilled into its component
gases (oxvgen, nitrogen, argon etc.) in tne temperature region of minus 320° F.

The following is a summary of the significant policy concerns we have with the

Administration s current Btu tax proposal.

THE PROPOSED BTU TAX BURDEN ON ATMOSPHERIC INDUSTRIAL GASES IS EXTREME—
IT IS ABOUT 70 TIMES THE BURDEN ESTIMATED BY THE U.S. TREASURY FOR THE AVER-

AGE MANUFACTURER.

More than 70% of the manufacturing cost of atmospheric gases is energy cost—
as compared to the 2.6% cited for the average manufacturer.
The Btu tax would increase industrial gas producers' electricity costs 8-10 per-

cent, as compared to the 1.1 percent increase cited for the average consumer. Elec-

tricity costs for this industry are necessarily among the lowest in the manufacturing
sector. Utilities provide favorable rates because of this industry's electricity load

characteristics and the lower quality of service demanded. Like some other large

electricity users, the atmospheric industrial gases production process has a steady
state demand, but unlike almost all other manufacturers, the industrial gas indus-

try has invested in and installed the technology to shut down during peak utility

^ The attached "pie chart" shows the various customers' share of atmospheric industrial gas
uses.
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demands, thus allowing power suppliers to avoid using their least efficient genera-
tion equipment.

THE USE OF THE ATMOSPHERIC INDUSTRIAL GASES PROVIDES SUBSTANTIAL
ENVIRONMENTAL BENEFITS AND SHOULD BE ENCOURAGED.

Much of the demand for industrial gases is specifically for environmental pur-
poses. They are used for hazardous waste remediation at superfund sites, in manu-
facturing processes to reduce emissions (such as dioxins, sulfides, CFC's, NOx, sol-

vent vapors) as well as to treat wastewater and oxygen depleted waterways such
as Russell Dam. '

There are alternative processes that do not require the use of energy efficient in-

dustrial gases; thus the extreme tax burden on these gases creates artificial com-
petitive barriers that nm counter to the overall Administration goal of providing en-
vironmental benefits through the energy tax.

THE USE OF ATMOSPHERIC INDUSTRLVL GASES REDUCES THE U.S. RELL\NCE ON
IMPORTED PETROLEUM.

An exclusion for atmospheric industrial gases from the Btu tax would further the
Administration's objectives of increasing energy conservation and decreasing U.S.

dependance on foreign oil since a major use of industrial gases is to enhance fuel

efficiency and the utilities supplying the industrial gases rarely use petroleum as
a fuel source.

Many industrial applications of atmospheric industrial gases result in substantial
reductions in fossil fuel consumption. Oxygen-enriched combustion can reduce by
two-thirds the heat lost to the atmosphere in a number of energy-intensive applica-
tions. For example, oxygen can be used in steel furnaces to reduce coke input by
20 percent, or to reduce natural gas consumption by up to 70 percent in the manu-
facturing of various primary metals. In the food industry, use of nitrogen can reduce

power consumption for food fireezing by 20 percent.
'

THE BTU TAX WOULD SIGNIFICANTLY DISRUPT INDUSTRIAL GASES PRICING STRUCTURE
AND COMPETITION.

Industrial gas production is a highly competitive, 85 year old industry in which
gas producing companies primarily compete through prices, and only the most en-

ergy efficient production facilities will be successful in attracting msgor new cus-

tomers.

Many companies will be unable or unwilling to accept the amount of price in-

creases that would be necessary for this industry to recoup the proposed tax.

The ability to pass on the cost of the tax is limited by competition and long-term
contracts. Industrial gases are typically supplied through long-term contracts, par-

ticularly to large customers such eis steel mills and petrochemical producers, whose
requirements are provided via pipeline. These contracts, which are oflen 10-15

years in duration, can limit the ability of the industrial gas producer to pass
through all, or portions of, an energy tax.

This disruption does not seem justified in light of the federal revenues that might
be derived from the industrial gases industry. Although the production of industrial

gases is highly energy intensive, the industrial gases industry estimates current
total usage of energy to be approximately 200 trillion Btus. We estimate that the
Administration's proposed modified Btu tax would produce at most $50-$55 million
in gross revenue when fully phased in (a "static" estimate that does not factor in

any tax induced decline in production), and only $32-$35 million in net revenue (as-

suming a 36 percent corporate income tax rate and no pass through to customers).
The industiVs total installed capital base is approximately $6.5 billion. A modem,

efficient air separation plant currently requires a capital investment of approxi-
mately $15 million.

The Btu tax would significantly undermine the industry's ability to invest in new
and efficient plant and equipment—investment which over the p£ist 20 years, has

improved energy efficiency within our own production facilities by approximately 28

percent. We believe that the cxurent Btu tax proposal would reduce the number of
new plants constructed in the U.S. by an average of 4 per year.

^The attached chart provides a listing of many of the environmental uses and ways in which
atmospheric industrial gases are used to decrease the reliance on imported petroleum.
'Attached chart provides a more complete listing of the energy saving applications.
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AN EXEMPTION FROM THE BTU TAX PROPOSAL WOULD BE CONSISTENT WITH ENERGY
TAX PROPOSALS IN OTHER COUNTRIES. THE EC PROPOSAL EXCLUDES MUCH OF INDUS-

TRY FROM ITS ENERGY TAX BASE.

The proposed energy tax in the EC stipulates that it will not be implemented
until other OECD countries impose a similar burden on their industries—a "you go
first" strategy.
More importantly, the specifics of the current EC proposal indicate that the EC

intends to provide significant industrial exemptions needed to preserve its job base.

Even the most severe of those industrial exemption options for EC member coun-

tries would be significantly less burdensome on our industry than the Administra-

tion's Btu tax. The EC energy tax
proposal

would exempt 90% of the energy used

by its industrial gases industry ana otner industries that have energy costs which
exceed 30% of the total costs associated with the value added by the industrial proc-
ess. For less energy intensive processes, the exclusion would be phased down accord-

ing to the energy use.

The EC proposal also includes a clause designed to permit EC member states to

reduce the amount of tax for companies' energy saving investments. It is our belief

that the EC is referring to the kmds of energy saving investments that the indus-

trial gases industry and our customers, who modify their production process to use

industrial gases, are making in the U.S.

AN EXCLUSION WOULD HELP PRESERVE THE COMPETITIVE POSITION OF U.S. PRODUCTS.

To the extent that producers are able to pass on some portion of the Btu tax to

their customers—chemical, petrochemical, steel and automobile producers, semi-

conductor manufacturers, hospitals, the food industry
—the tax will be inflationary

and will harm U.S. competitiveness. These price increases will hit many sectors of

the economy in which the Administration is presently trying to contain costs. More-

over, while the gases themselves are rarely exported, many of the industry's cus-

tomers are among the country's leading exporters whose competitiveness in export
markets will be weakened.

AN EXCLUSION COULD ALSO BE DEVISED UNDER A MORE GENERAL NON-FUEL USE.

We believe that a clarification that the Btu tax will not be imposed on the energy
used to produce atmospheric industrial gases would be consistent with President

Clinton's expressed desire and intent to exempt non-fuel uses of energy fi-om the
tax. The energy consumed in the air separation process ultimately allows our cus-

tomers to save energy. The industrial gases industry, a segment of the Chemical in-

dustry, uses electricity as a basic driving force in an electrothermal process; atmos-

pheric industrial gases are in fact classified as specialty chemicals in SIC code 2813.

RECOMMENDATION

For the foregoing reasons, the Industrial Gases Manufacturers Council requests
a clarification that the energy used in the production of atmospheric industrial

fases
is exempt ft"om any broad-based energy tax. Such an exemption, which should

e total or certainly no less than that established in the EC proposal, would recog-
nize the unique intensity of energy consumption by this industry, which is vital to

a competitive manufacturing base and our national security.

THE INDUSTRIAL GASES MANUFACTURERS COUNCIL

AGA Gas, Inc. Norris Cylinder
MG Industries, Inc. Air Products euid Chemicals
Airco Gases Praxair, Inc.

National Welders Liquid Carbonic Corporation
Air Liquide America Corp. Tri-Gas, Inc.
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Statement of the
Interstate Natural Gas Association of America

Mr. Chairman and Members of the Committee I appreciate having the

opportunity to submit testimony for tlie record of the Senate Finance

Committee on Uie President's dellcit reduction proposals. My name is

John Rlordan and I am tlic President and Chief Executive Ofllcer of

MIdCon Corp. headquartered In Lx)mbard, Illinois. I am also the Chairman

of Uie Interstate Natural Gas Association of America (INGAA) on whose

behalf I submit Uiis testimony. INGAA represents tlie U.S. Interstate and

Canadian interprovincial natural gas pipelines.

I would like to address today tlie issue of the Btu tax. specifically the

collection point for natural gas, discuss the financial Impact on pipelines

of changes in the gas industry and raise other technical concerns we have

with some of Uie provisions rcdsed hi President Clinton's proposed

package.

The Natural Gas Btu Tax Should be Imposed on the Ultimate Consiuner

and Collected by the Seller of the Gas

When tlie Administration released its proposal, it recommended tliat tlie

collection point be placed at tlie front or upstream end of the natural gas

pipeline. Tlie intent of tlic energy tax Is to generate revenues from the users

of the energy, wltli certain feedstock exemptions. This means the tax

should be borne by tlie end-users or consumers of tlie energy. T/ius. a tax

on natural gas should be imposed on the end-user and collected by the

seller of the gas. This Is a position supported by tlic Natural Gas Council, a

group comprised of the American Gas Association, tlie Interstate Natural Gas
Association of America, tlie Independent Petroleum Association of America
and tlie Natural Gas Supply Association.

The Collection Point

INGAA strongly believe the tax must be Imposed at the ultitnate end user
level If the Jhxanclal vlabillLy of local distribution companies (LDCs) Is to be
maintained.

Placing the tax on Uie ulUmale consumer would cost Uie least, avoid an
administrative nIghUiiare and achieve the Administration's goals of energy
efficiency and greater use of natural gas.
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• The end user point of collection would be much easier to administer,

since most gas utilities have computerized billing systems and arc

already set up to collect stale taxes. Oilier sellers to end users also

have sophisticated billing systems that could easily handle tlie Dtu tax.

• Under FERC's massive restructuring order, Order 636. interstate

pipelines no longer will buy and sell gas, but will simply transport

It. Tliey wont even know tlie price of the final use of tlie gas they

transport. Since tliey won't know Uie ultimate use of tlie gas,

pipelines would not be able to exempt non-fuel uses of natural gas

(feedstocks), as the Administration has proposed. Gas often changes
title many times before it is finally consumer, and trying to back all

tills in order to rebate non-fuel users would be a bureaucratic

nightmare. It is also likely that a system tills complex
would lead to undercollcctions of Uie tax.

• A large amount of gas goes Into storage facilities operated by
eitlier pipelines or LDCs. llils gas might not be consumed for

montlis or even a year. Forcing pipelines or LDCs to collect Uie

tax would mean very Icngtlily delays In tax rebated to Uiosc that

use the gas without burning it.

• Another new cost to consumers. If the collection point is not moved to

the consumer, is the compounding of state and local sales and gross

receipt taxes piggybacked on top of Uie Dtu tax. In tills case,

consumers would be paying a liix on a tax.

liabUlty

Tlie Administration proposal required tliat LDCs are liable for natural gas
sold to Uielr customers and gas transported behind their systems. INGAA
believes tliat Imposing liability on any segment of liic natural gas Indusliy Is

Inappropriate and can Jeopardize tlie financial viability of tliat segment. Hie
Intent of the Admlnlslralion Is to encourage conservation and efficiency
which requires tlic liability for Uie tax to be on Uie end user. Dy requiring
LDCs to be liable. LDCs have Uie potenUal to face significant fiiuuiclal costs,

liils can also provide an out to Uiose who should be responsible for Uie tax
not to pay IL

If primary or secondary liability is imposed on producers or natural gas
marketers, given Uie compcUUve pressures of Uie natural gas market today,
they would be required to absorb at least a portion of Uic 13lu lax. Inlerslale

pipelines would also be exposed to significant financial costs, llowevei.
because of Uie resLructurlng of Uie natural gas indusUy. Uicy will not
necessary even know Uie end user or Uie use to which Uie gas will be put.
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Pipeline Collection

Tlie Clinton AdmlnlsLraUon has proposed Imposing tlie tax upon Btu's

measured at tlie outlet of tlie pipeline. Tills would mean tlie Interstate

pl|)cHnc would be tlie collector of tlic tax from the end-user or local

distribution company (LDC). While this Is not Uie mechanism supported by

tlie Natural Gas Council, we had asked tlie AdmlnlstraUon. if this was tlie

ultimate approved mechanism, clarification should be added so that tlie

Intent of the Btu tax remained Intact.

• Interstate pipelines shoulJ be required to remit to Treasury only

what they collect from end users or LDCs.

• LDCs must be guaranteed regulatory approval to recover the tax

(tills will require a federal pre-emptive clause ordering public utility

commissions to allow LDCs to pass on tlie tax.)

• To avoid any double taxation (lax on tax), legislative language must be

Included stating tliat any Btu tax collected would not be subject to any

other form of federal, state or local taxation.

Collecting Tax at tlie Pipeline Point-of-Entiy Would be Unmanageable

The Administration had originally proposed collecting the tax at tlie

pipeline point of entry. While this Is no longer under discussion, INGAA
believes tliat convincing arguments have been made and continue to be

made for why the collection point should not be at tlic wellhead, tlic

front or upstream end of tlie pipeline, tlic back or the downstream of the

pipeline or Uie city gale. The following comments focus on llie Dlu tax as

described in Uie Administration's original proposal which named tlie

entry to tlie pipeline as tlie gas collection point. Taxing natural gas at tlie

pipeline polnt-of-cnlxy would require a massive tracking system tlial

would be both unmanageable and could be Inaccurate. In 1992. under

"open access" regulations, 84% of tlie gas going through pipeline

systems was owned by others and merely transported by tlie pipelines.

Only 16% of tlie gas was sales gas. I.e.. owned by tlie pipeline. As a result

of recent federally mandated rcs!ructurlng of the natural gas industry.
Interstate pipelines will no longer l^uy and sell virtually any of llic gas tliat

goes tlirough their pipelines. They will simply sci^^e as transporters of

gas owned by otliers. Title to tlie natural gas commodity will not be

conveyed at any time to tlie pipeline. Pipelines also will have no
knowledge of Uic actual end-use consumer nor tlic non-fuel use status for

exemptions of enUtles ultimately consuming Uie gas.

Collecting Uie tax at the entry to Uie pipeline, as IniUally proposed by Uie
AdminlsU-aUon. Is not manageable because of Uie complexity and confusion
resulUng from Uie resU^ucturlng. While gas transmission may seem simple.
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It Is a complex network of transacUons which, after restructuring. wUl be

even more complex. Before the restructuring of tlic natural gas Industry, a

natural gas purchase typically consisted of a handful of Individual

traiisactlons between tlie:

• producer and shipper (person who arranges the deal If tlie ultimate

consumer does not do the arranging himself);

• shipper and the ultimate consumer; and
• shipper and the pipeline.

After the restructuring, a natural gas purchase will typically consist of many
more individual transactions (ri addUtofi lo tlie ones listed above; tliat Is,

between tlie:

• shipper and storage owner (because purchase of storage capacity

will be a separate service);

• shipper and otlier shippers (because gas will be pooled at market

centers along the pipeline);
•

pipeline and an upstream or downstream pipeline (because the

restructuring releases market forces which arc demanding tills type

of service);

• shipper and anotlicr customer (again, because of pooling at market

centers);
• customer and otlicr customers (because pipelines must allow

customers to release their rights to Uie pipeline capacity to anotlicr

party); and
•

customer/shipper wlUi other customers and shippers (because of tlic

right of customers and shippers lo substitute different receipt and

delivery points along tlie pipeline).

Otlier combinations are likely and could happen over and over again. For

instance, many expect tlic title to tlie gas to change hands repeatedly wltliln

a iiuirket center. As a result, the number of transactions for a single delivery
could easily be dozens. It Is difficult lo develop a rationale for applying Uie

tax before tliesc many title changes are made.

Another problem Is tliat an Interstate pipeline transports natural gas to an
exit point. It Uien bills tlie shipper for tlic transportation service later. I.e..

billing occurs after-Uie-facl. Tlie pipeline collects revenue only from Uic

parly paying tlie transportaUon rates. Iliat parly often Is not tlie parly Dial
will eventually own or use tlie gas.

Interstate pipelines are also facing more competition which creates more
pressure for pipelines to discount tlieir transacUons. It Is not possible to

specify In a pipelines rale what Is being discounted and what Is not.

Consequently, unresolvablc disputes would occur bclwecn pipelines and
customers regarding whctlier a tax was paid. This problem Is acute at tlic

entry point to tlie pipeline.
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Almost one trillion cubic feet of gas goes Into storage facilities and may
not be consumed for as long as a year. Requiring tJic pipelines to collect

tlie lax would result In slgnlllcant timing problems. ITicre Is also gas tliat

Is needed for line pack to maintain tlic appropriate amount of pressure

ajid gas flow In tlie pipeline and for cushion gas In a natural gas storage

reservoir. Tills natural gas Is never consumed. Paying Uie tax at an

upstream point would tax gas Uiat Is not used as energy.

Tlie natural gas Industry has undergone slgnlllcant changes In the last ten

years. Interstate natural gas, all of which was subject to regulatory price

control until 1978. is now decontrolled. The gas pipeline Industiy has

been transformed from an Industiy which once owned all llie natural gas
It transported to one tliat will own none of tlie gas In Its system. Each

pipeline will also offer services which were originally "bundled." but now
will be offered to transporters separately. The pipeline Industry has also

become very competitive. If tlie Dtu tax Is placed on the pipeline system
and pipelines Incur costs which tliey cjuinot pass on, tills could result In

lessening competition and adversely Impacting the flnanclal healtli of Uie

Industry.

Financial Health of the Interstate Pipeline Sector

From the perspectives of both debt and equity holders, pipelines cannot
Incur any costs that cannot be flowed through to customers. First, tlie

equity perspective.

The first significant Indicator of perfonnance Is a company's slock. Over tlie

long term, plpelbie stock prices have suffered from the move to open
access. Pipeline slock prices have not grown as much as tlie S&P 400. The
gap between these two representative indices Is very wide.

Growth In Slock Prices

Pipeline Slocks vs. tlie S&P 400
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Source: INGAA. using data from Standard & Poors Compuslale
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The recent Iniprovcincnt In pipeline slock prices has returned tlie Index

of pipeline slock prices to Just above where It was at tlie beginning of

1985 (to 103 on Uie coinptirallvc scale used).* In conlrasl, Uic

standard index of Industrial companies. Uie S&P 400. has climbed

steadily; It now stands at 282 on the comparative scale used. These

Indices mean that a dollars worth of slock Invested In the pipelines In

1985 would sUll be wortli a dollar today, wliilc a dollar's worth of stock

Invested In the S&P 400 would be worth $2.82. almost Uiree times more

tlian tlie pipelines.

Return on equity is Uie second major Indicator of how well a company Is

performing from an equity perspective. Return on equity Indicates how
much of a return pipelines have been able to earn on tlic funds tliat Its

owners have Invested as equity.

Pipeline Allowed vs. Achieved Return on Equity

20%

18%-

16%-

14%

12%

10%-

8%-

6%

4%-

2%-

0%

Allowed Return on Equity
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Source: Surveys ol INGAA members

While allowed rates of return decided In rate cases before Uic FERC have

gradually declined from nearly 15 percent In 1985 to Just under 13 percent
In 1991. actual earned rales of return have greatly underpcrformcd tlic

culolf. falling from 10.1 percent In 1985 to 2.2 percent In 1988 and rising
to only 8.1 percent In 1991.2 Achieved return on eriully has been well
below tliat which has been allowed since tlie beginning of open access.
While pipelines are not reaching tlie benchmark set by FERC. Uiey arc

beginning to regain their llnancial healtli by this measure.

llie pIpciUie index is a siiiiplc average cl U>e slocii prices of the publicly traded

companies for wIjIcIi 40% or more of both the company's Uicoine and assets ore
allrlbulable to llie Interstate natural pas pipeline sector. Tlie conipa.Ues Included are:

AlaTemi Resources. Arkla. Coastal, Columbia Gas Syslem. Enron. KN Eneigy.
Panl.andle liasteni. Sonat. Transco Enct^ and n.e WllUams Companies. El Paso Is

not Uicluded due to Its short tradUig history.

Tliese actual rates of return are a weighted average of return on equity as rei)oited by 23
individual pipelhics to INGAA.
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However, the prospects are troublesome as measured by bond ratings on the

ftxed-lncome side. After plummeUng from tlielr high of A- In 1984. bond

raUngs. which reflect future financial hcalUi, remain depressed.^ At tlie

end of February 1993. llic average bond raUng of tlic Oflecn major interstate

pipelines Uiat are rated stood at "triple 13 minus" (BDD-). tJie lowest possible

Investment-grade rating.** One more reduction would mean that, on

average, pipeline debt would be primarily speculative, similar to a Junk bond.

Pipeline Bond Ratings
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Source: Standard & Poor's Bond Guide

These ratings are an Indication of fixed-income analysts' lack of

confidence In tlie likelihood of pipelines being able to meet future payments
of Interest and prhiclpal.

While recent returns to equity holders have improved, pipelines have a long

way to go to obtain tlie return on equity allowed by tlie Federal Energy

Regulatory Commission. Fixed-Income analysts have yet to change tlicir very

negative opinions of pipeline's ability to repay debt holders. From boUi tlic

equity and tlie debt perspective, Uie financial healtli of pipeline companies
Is too tenuous to warrant that pipelines be subject to any costs Uiat cannot
be passed on.

INGAA believes tliat tlie BTU tax should be applied at tlie point of final

sale for consumption because doing so will maximize the amount
collected and because there is no otlier point from tlie wellhead to the
burner Up which Is free of problems of ownership, end-use or timing.

Bond ratings summarize how lUicly a company is to coiilliiuc payments to lis crcdilois.

Fixed-income analysts give bond ratings from AAA to D based on the company's ability
to repay Interest and principal to the liolders of Its debt.

Tlie average bond rating Is tlie weighted average of the bond ratings of tlie following
companies: ANR, Arkla. Colorado liilerslatc. Columbia Gas. El Paso. Noithcni
Natural. Northwest. Paiil.andle Eastern. Qucslar. Southern Natural, Tennessee. Texas
Eastern, Texas Gas. Transcontinental and WUUanis Natural Gas.
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Statement of the Large Pubuc Power Council

This sutement is submitted on behalf of the Large Public Power Council in connection with the Senate Finance

Committee hearings of April 20, 1993 on the Administration's proposed BTU tax. The Large Public Power

Council (LPPC) supports the efforts of Congress and the Administration to reduce the federal budget deficit.

We also support the related objectives of ensuring regional and consumer equity, energy conservation and

preserving competitive relationships.

We are encouraged by recent modifications to the proposed tax, particularly those related to downstream

collection points, accommodation of pumped storage, exclusion of coal used for gasification and imposition of

the tax on independent power producers. However, we continue to have concerns about the manner in which

the tax is administered and the point of collection of the tax. In order to ensure that the aforestated objectives

are met, and to provide an efficient, functional means of administration, the LPPC strongly advocates that the

tax be designed in such a way to ensure thai the ultimate retail consumer bears the tax.

LPPC Background

The LPPC consists of the 18 largest public power utilities in the nation. Most of us are constituted as

municipal systems or political subdivisions. As such, we arc owned by and accountable to the customers we
serve.

Our membership possesses

substantial geographic,

resource, statutory and

customer diversity. LPPC
utilities serve
predominantly retail

customers and a substantial

portion of the customers

served by all local systems
combined. As shown in

the charts to the right, the

LPPC serves almost S.8

million customers; of this,

almost S.l million are

residential customers. The

remaining customers
consist of commercial and

industrial customers. In

addition, the majority of

our members arc involved

in wholesale sales.

1991 LPPC STATISTICS
Residential Customers

Naaf

8CPSA OUC
NPPD Ti

The resource reliance of

our member utilities is

diversified. Coal, nuclear

energy, gas, oil,

hydroelectric power,
purchased power and some

non-conventional fuels

comprise our individual

members' resource mix.

The chart on the following

page is representative of

the resource mix of our

members.

1991 LPPC STATISTICS
Commercial & Industrial Customers
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Implementation Concerns

As proposed recently in modified form, and with respect to electric utilities, the BTU tax would be imposed

directly on the utility for electricity production using coal, natural gas, hydro and nuclear fuels. In addition,

the proposal suggests a tax on floorstocks on the effective date of the tax ano, presumably, on any incremental

increase in floorstocks on subsequent adjustment dates. The tax would be passed through by the utility to the

ultimate customer.

In materials presented before the Senate Finance and Ways and Me?TS Committee on April 1, the

Administration acknowledged that the energy tax should be allowed to be passed on to the end user and stated

Jiat it is considering methods to achieve this objective. The recent Administration modifications to the proposal
are improved in that the tax is moved farther downstream in most instances. However, these modifications

do not alleviate all of the problems associated with the pass through and administration of the tax. The

examples which follow illustrate some of our concerns.

Equity Considerations

The energy industry today has become enormously complex. Energy suppliers and producers exist in multiple

and diverse forms. The Administration has acknowledged that in order to ensure that the tax meets its principal

objectives, it is essential that the legislation be written in a way to provide for equitable treatment of all sectors

of the industry. The LPPC agrees that this is essentia] and supports the recent modification which explicitly

subjects independent power producers (IPPs) to the tax. To ensure that the tax meets its primary objectives,

it is extremely important that if enacted, the tax apply to all segments of the industry including investor-owned

utilities, rural electric cooperatives, government-owned utilities (federal, state aiul local), and non-utility

generators.

Similarly, we support the Administration's position that electricity purchased by the federal government be

subject to the BTU tax. It would be our preference that the statute contain explicit and unequivocable language
to this effect. Several of our members serve federal military installations that historically have strongly

resisted rate increases. Were this to occur with the proposed BTU tax, our residential, commercial or industrial

customers would be unfairly impacted.

The LPPC is also concerned that imposition of the tax results in regional inequities and regressivity. The
charts below illustrair average residential customer rates and average annual residential customer usage for

many of our members. Regional variations are clearly evident. Though the design of the proposed tax is

intended to ensure regional equity, some electricity customen, particularly those in the southwestern and

southeastern United States are characterized by higher usage and rates. Other areas such as the Pacific

Northwest historically have been characterized as having low electric rates, but are facing significant rate

increases over the next three to five years.
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We would appreciate continued Administration and Congressional sensitivity to this issue in the design of the

tax. The LPPC would be happy to provide any supplemental information and technical assistance in this

regard.

It is also important to note that the economies of our service territories are affected by the existence of

reasonably priced and reliable energy sources. Our large industrial and commercial customers are acutely

aware of these costs, as they face tremendous and growing competition in the global marketplace. To the

extent the BTU tax measurably increases the total cost of operations for energy-intensive customers, they may
be forced to relocate to Pacific Rim or other locations, with resultant implications for U.S. employment and

the economy. The LPPC strongly encourages Congressional and Administration sensitivity to these implications

while ensuring equity in the application and administration of the tax.

Finally, the majority of our members engage, in varying degrees, in wholesale sales as well as retail sales.

Some of these bulk power sales contracts contain price constraints which preclude pass through of cost

mcrcases to the wholesale customer. Again, this creates a disproportionate burden on the utility or on its retail

customers. To alleviate this, the LPPC suggests that wholesale sales not be subjected to the tax. However,
to ensure that the ultimate consumer is taxed, the wholesale buyer would be provided with the effective tax rate

(based on fuel mix, heat rates and Kwh sales) by the seller, for use by the wholesaler in billing their customers.

Taking all of the foregoing equity factors into consideration, the LPPC believes that equity in assumption of

the deficit reduction burden can best be accomplished by imposing the tax, through the means discussed above,
at the retail customer level. This approach is further supported by practical considerations detailed below.

Fuel Adjustment

The conventional wisdom appears to be that a utility can easily pus the BTU tax on to its retail customers

through fuel adjustment clauses or rate increases. However, this is not always the case. For example, in most

cases, fiiel adjustments require approval by our members' governing boards. Moreover, one of our members
is limited in the number of annual adjustments to their fuel escalator and must secure approval for such from

their state public utility commission.

There is now substantial pressure on utilities, indeed, on all businesses, not to increase rates. This is evident

with several of our members where there are moraioria on rale increases. Generally speaking, our governing
boards are much more hesitant to increase rates. Even under the most responsive of circumstances, the

recovery of the cost is not immediate and thus, can have an adverse impact. In an environment characterized

by increased competitive pressures and provision of the lowest cost service, it is absolutely essential that

legislative language require pass through of the tax to the ultimate consumer. To avoid distortions in

competitive relationships, with potentially deleterious effects, this pass through must be quick and efficient.

Having stated this, it would be the LPPC's strong preference that legislative language be drafted in a manner
to assure that the tax is properly treated as a fuel cost adjustme

'

..eby ensuring the utility's ability to

recover the tax from the ultimate consumer through a utility's fuel cost adjustment clause, wherever applicable.
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Tax on the Tax

The LPPC is also concerned that there be no layering of other taxes on top of the proposed BTU tax. The

potential for compounding this tax increases the farther upstream the tax is moved. These compounding taxes

include gross receipts taxes, royalties, severance taxes, franchise fees and sales taxes.

The LPPC suggests that legislative language specifically address this issue by precluding such compounding

of the BTU tax.

Stockpiles

The recently-modified proposal preserves the notion of taxing fuel inventories or floorstocks. Our members

object to this based on practical limitations and financial considerations.

The measurement of fuel stockpiles can be a complex, costly and lengthy process. As a result, many of our

members conduct audits of their coal stockpiles every two years, which is the FERC requirement.

Taxing a coal stockpile at its BTU rate will typically require the use of outside vendors, who conduct a series

of density samples, perform aerial surveys and apply statistical averaging. The entire process may take two

to three weeks, and cost about $50,000 for each stockpile. The aggregate cost to most electric utilities can be

substantial, given multiple stockpiles. For example, one of our mtembers maintains complete or partial

ownership interest in six coal-fired plants and one nuclear plant. The cost of valuing these stockpiles is both

complex and costly.

In addition, the carrying costs associated with fuel inventories is a sufficient disincentive to stockpiling fuels

merely to avoid the tax. For example, a typical coal reserve is 30 to 60 days. In addition to the carrying

costs, the administrative costs associated with valuing the stockpile on the effective date of the tax, and on

subsequent index dates are not justified. Though business considnations probably would argue against it, a

utility might seek to avoid this impact by completely eliminating their fuel inventories prior to the effective date

of the tax.

Conservation

Consistent with the 1992 National Energy Policy Act, the proposed BTU tax will provide pricing signals to the

consumer that encourage the conservation of electricity. The LPPC endorses this concept as many of its

members are investing in 'demand side" resources to offset their future energy needs. To maintain consistency,

statutory language should explicitly endorse energy conservation and direct that federal regulations not

discriminate against or provide any economic disincentive toward public investment in energy conservation

measures.

Conclusion

In conclusion, the Large Public Power Council supports the efforts of Congress and the Administration to

reduce the federal budget deficit. However, we believe that this and the objectives related to equity,
conservation and competitiveness can best be served by imposing the tax on the ultimate consumer. Our
members are prepared to provide officials with any necessary technical assistance and comments and we
appreciate the opportunity to voice our concerns.
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Statement of the Petroleum Marketers Association of America

Mr. Chairman, on behalf of the Petroleum Marketers Association
of America (PMAA) , I welcome the opportunity to testify on the

proposed energy tax included in the President's economic proposal.
PMAA represents more than 10,000 small, independent, family owned
petroleum marketing companies.

PMAA has historically believed that the best way to reduce
the federal deficit is to cut federal spending. The businesses
represented by PMAA have had to streamline and continue to increase
their efficiency. We believe the federal government should do
likewise and we are disappointed that the President's economic
recovery package fails to include greater levels of cuts.

However, we also recognize that even with steep budget cuts,
additional revenue may be needed in order to bring the deficit back
in line. To this end we believe the most appropriat ; ax increases
are those that are applied across our entire economic system so
that everyone shares in the additional tax burden. Historically
we have opposed energy taxes targeted at deficit reduction because
we saw no correlation between the amount of energy one consumed
and that individual's contribution to the deficit. We still
believe no such correlation exists.

However, this year, in recognition of pressing deficit
concerns, the association agreed to consider a broad based energy
tax that was applicable to all fuels at the same rate. In fact,
prior to the State of the Union address, the association was taking
the necessary policy steps to support the President's economic
recovery package on the assumption that such a broad base energy
tax would be part of that package.

Unfortunately, the Btu tax actually proposed by the President
contains a supplemental tax on oil which is more than twice the
rate of tax imposed on any other fuel. While this supplemental tax
raises general concerns over the fairness and equity of taxing oil
at twice the rate of other fuels, it also presents very specific
and very substantial problems for our members.

We are pleased that the President has recommended that
residential home heating oil .be taxed at the uniform base rate of
$.257 per MBtu. We believe this lower rate is essential to
maintain the competitive balance in the residential market for home
heating oil. PMAA believes that the competition between oil,
natural gas and electricity has been very positive for the American
economy and consumer. Oil heat's efficiency has r'^ntinued to

improve and continues to lead both natural gas and > .ectricity.
Similarly, oil heat equipment burns the fuel cleanly and the
Brookhaven National Laboratory has stated that the emissions
profile for oil heat is on par with natural gas. Keeping the
competition alive and heated will continue to benefit the American
consumer and homeowner.

PMAA would note that there continue to be several questions
with the President's proposal regarding home heating oil. Whether

it applies to "non-residential" fuel such as what is consumed in

a hospital, nursing home, apartment building, or school is

uncertain, and we are hopeful that the Congress will ensure that

these consumers of oil heat receive the same benefit as residential

consumers. Further, we are concerned with whether kerosene and

other oil products used for space heating will be subject to the

same exemption. For example, kerosene is widely used for space

heating in the south in individual burners, and is used in the

northeast to aid in the flow of the fuel. We would encourage the

Senate to not use the Btu tax to penalize particular classes of

customers based on the type of oil they use or where they live.
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Another source of stronq concern to PMAA members is the impact
that such a tax will hav* <-

.-» farmers. PMAA members are primary
suppliers of fuel for many av/ricultural communities throughout the
country. The standard Btu tax will increase the cost of fuel three
and a half cents per gallon, and the supplemental tax will increase
the cost four and a half cents per gallon for a total increase of
eight cents per gallon.

The American Farm Bureau estimates that for a typical corn
farmer raising 430 acres of corn, the direct impact of these fuel
costs will be $550 per year. For the farmer, this may be a
significant burden. Like every part of this country and nearly
every citizen, the farm belt and its farmers have been harmed by
the recession. Imposing another cost on this industry, above and
beyond what other fuel users will have to pay, may slow the
recovery in this important and vital industry and may affect their
ability to compete in the international marketplace.

For the petroleum marketer who supplies the farmer, such a
tax may substantially increase his accounts receivable, since in
many cases the marketer may not collect the revenue from fuel sales
during the planting season until after the harvest. This will
place substantial new credit demands on both the farmer and the
marketer.

If the supplemental tax is an environmental tax or is designed
to reduce air pollution from automobiles and trucks, farmers should
certainly not be responsible for paying for it. There is very
little farming in Los Angeles, Chicago, New York and the other
cities with severe air pollution problems. Most farmers are
operating in areas defined bv EPA as being in attainment of Clean
Air standards, and their use of diesel fuel or gasoline does not
create the type of air pollu-ion problem that Congress addressed
in the Clean Air Act. If a gasoline tax or an energy tax is an
effective way of reducing air pollution, then the cities or regions
with unhealthy air should levy the tax. A uniform federal tax
makes too many people who live and work in rural areas pay for an
urban problem.

The third major part of our customer base are truckstops and
trucking companies. This tax will substantially increase fuel
costs for these customers. Since, 1991, this industry has
contributed two and a half cents per gallon for deficit reduction,
a contribution unmatched by most industries. The proposed tax will
increase the contribution by approximately eight cents per gallon.
PMAA would note that the "just in time" delivery system has
improved America's ability to compete, and that this system is

largely based on the ability of trucking companies to deliver
inventory needs on a very tight schedule at reasonable prices. We
do not think that this industry should be singled out and required
to again pay a bigger share to reduce the budget deficit.

Marketers also deliver substantial quantities of oil to small
industrial users. Mining companies buy oil and lubricants frcn
marl et jrs for their truck fleets and also for the equipment t le

use ia the mine. Lumber companies burn oil to dry timbjr.
Construction companies use petroleum products for their dump trucks
and cement trucks that use the highway, and for the bulldozers,
cranes and frontloaders that work on a construction site. A
substantial increase in price to mining companies may make their
product less competitive with foreign imports. Lumber price
increases will make homes less affordable, and an increase in
construction prices may slow down the economy's recovery.

Finally, our biggest and perhaps most important customers are
those who purchase gasoline for their own motor vehicles.
Everywhere in the country, gasoline is used by private motorists.



322

We are deeply concerned that a tax of eight cents per gallons will
substantially constrain their budgets, and believe that the more
moderate tax which would result from a uniform Btu tax would be

fairer to these customers.

PMAA believes that all fuels should receive equal treatment.
Such treatment reduces the need for exemptions because no
distortions will result from particular tax treatment. PMAA

specifically opposes any exemptions from the tax for either ethanol
or methanol. This tax is designed to raise revenue and reduce the
deficit and thereby improve America's economic performance.
Structuring a tax that provides specific benefits to industries or

types of fuels undermines the revenue associated with the
President's tax proposal and reduces the need to conserve. It also
contributes to competitive imbalances in the petroleum marketing
industry .

£•« lanol currently receives a subsidy of sixty cents per

gallon. A price subsidy roughly equivalent to the wholesale price
of gasoline, less taxes. PMAA believes it is appropriate for the

Congress to consider the appropriateness of the current subsidy,
given that the current subsidy costs nearly $500 million per year.
Further, specific environmental goals addressed in the Clean Air
Act have spurred markets for ethanol in 39 cities and the
reformulated gasoline program now under development should provide
additional market opportunities for ethanol. Providing an
additional tax incentive for ethanol is therefore not appropriate.

Similarly, the proposal by the President provides LPG with the
lower tax rate than petroleum, regardless of the feedstock. Under
the current tax proposal this would provide LPG manufactured from

petroleum with a four to five cent advantage over distillate.
Since distillate and propane often serve the same use, it is unfair
to provide an advantage to LPG.

PMAA strongly believes that the Btu tax should be levied

equally on all fuels, and if the tax is modified to that end, it

is likely that PMAA will not oppose such a tax. Deficit reduction
is critical and is clearly in the national interest. However,
differential tax rates on fuels are likely to result ir substantial
monies being wasted in the private sector as i d- stries make
investments to switch fuels to avoid a tax, rather \ han making the

important investments which would reduce fuel use. These

expenditures are non-productive, do not enhance productivity, and

may in fact lessen our international competitiveness. We therefore

strongly encourage the Committee to adopt a fuel neutral Btu tax.

PMAA also does not believe it is appropriate for the tax to

be indexed. The Constitution vests the Congress with the taxation

power, and even specifies that revenue raising bill should

originate in the House. An indexation approach would vest within
the Executive Branch the ability to determine what the actual tax
rate will be, which we believe is an inappropriate delegation of

authority.

From a policy standpoint, indexing is also unwise since it

would allow the differential tax of oil, and all the problems
associated with that differential tax, to grow. For example, had
the tax been imposed five years ago and been indexed to the GDP

deflator, the differential tax on oil today would be 41.2 cents per
million Btu's, 7 cents higher than the current differential.

Indexing not only locks in the differential, it exacerbates it.
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Further, we are concerned that this tax may have many
unintended consequences which will not be obvious until the tax is

fully implemented. Allowing the tax to increase without
Congressional oversight is therefore inappropriate. If the tax
needs to be adjusted in three years, we believe that Congress
should make the decision then as to how it should be adjusted.

At a minimum, if the differential remains ir the final
package, petroleum should not be subject to the indexing provisions
thus allowing the competing fuels to gradually "catch up" with the
tax rate on oil.

If this Committee does believe a differential tax on petroleum
is appropriate, we strongly believe that heating oil and off-road
users such as farmers should be exempt from the oil supplement.
We do not believe that there are any sound economic or
environmental reasons for an additional tax levy on oil heat
customers or farmers. In fact, providing an exemption for oil heat
and off-road users will simplify the administration of the tax in
that it will be more similar to the existing tax structure. PMAA
is confident that a tax system can be designed which can effectuate
these exemptions without compromising the integrity of the tax and
which may also improve the collection of the existing tax on motor
fuels.

A final concern relates to how the tax is collected, and who
should be responsible for paying the Btu tax. PMAA has been
pleased to note that Treasury in its description of the modified
Btu tax has indicated that the Btu tax will be imposed on petroleum
products leaving the refinery. PMAA believes that this approach
is superior to taxing the crude oil entering the refinery for a

number of reasons, includirg trade policy and overall industry
competitiveness .

However, we believe that there continues to be a number of
issues that must be resolved and that should be considered by the
Committee. As you know, the lighter petroleum products distributed
by our members are subject to many federal and state excise taxes.
For gasoline, the point of collection is generally the point where
gasoline breaks bulk and leaves the terminal. For diesel, the
point of collection is the producer level, and generally is the
point where the product is identified as being for a taxable
purpose or not.

The Committee is well aware that the collection of diesel and
gasoline taxes has been plagued by fraud and evasion for many
years. As a result, Congress has had to continuously revise the
tax laws to stem these problems. Each change has solved some
problems, and often created new problems. Unfortunately, we
continue to receive reports that problems with taxation of motor
fuels still exists, and we therefore would encourage the Committee
to examine whether it might be appropriate to piggyback a Btu tax
system onto an improved motor fuels tax system, rather than develop
a new tax system for these products.

We thank you for providing us the opportunity to testify on
this important tax proposal", and would gladly respond to any
questions that you may have.
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Statement of the Washington Pubuc Utiuty Districts Association

The Washington Public Utility Districts Association represents 22 public utiUty
districts serving electricity to more than one and a half million people in the State
of Washington.
We are greatly concerned about the method of computing the tax on hydropower,

as proposed by the Administration, and urge your Committee to revise the manner
in which the tax would be computed.
Members of this Association purchase more power from Bonneville Power Admin-

istration than any other group of BPA customers. Inasmuch as most of the power
marketed by BPA is produced from hydroelectric generating facilities, the Washing-
ton Public Utihty Districts Association has a major interest in policies affecting the
cost of hydropower. Furthermore, several public utility districte own and operate

major hydroelectric projects, including five on the main stem of the Columbia River.
We believe that the Btu value imputed for hydroelectric power has no basis in

science, would discourage the use of hydroelectric power, would be detrimental to
the economy of the Pacific Northwest, and would distort regional equity in the appU-
cation of the Btu energy tax.

Scientific accuracy. As you know, the Btu tax on hydropower is based on the Btu
input of an average fossil fuel electric generating plant—or 10,315 Btus per kilo-

watt-hour. However, this figure does not teke into account that there is about a 90
percent efficiency in converting falling water into electricity, while there is only
about a 35 percent efficiency in the conversion of coal-fired generation to electricity.

Internationally recognized stendards indicate that a kilowatt-hour of electricity has
a heat value of 3,413 Btus. Taking into account the greater efficiency of hydropower
production, the correct Btu value of a kilowatt-hour of hydropower is approximately
3,792 Btus. By basing the hydropower tax on the Btu

input
of an average fossil-

fired generating plant, the Administration's proposal would tax hydropower at al-

most three times its Btu equivalency.
Impact on use of hydropower. The Administration's Btu tax proposal exempte re-

newable energy resources, but does not regard hydropower as renewable energy, de-

spite the fact that hydropower represents about 85 percent of the United Stetes' do-
mestic renewable energy capacity. Nevertheless, we do not ask that hydropower be

exempted from the tax, because the Pacific Northwest rehes on hydropower for

about 65 percent of its totol generation of electricity, and we understand that aU
regions of^the Nation should be covered in an equitable manner in the imposition
of this tax. However, we do not believe that the Btu tax should discourage the use
of the Nation's major source of domestic renewable energy. Yet, that could be the
net result of

application of the Btu tax on hydropower, as presently proposed.
Historically, hydropower has been an economical source of energy. However, Bon-

neville Power Administration is now faced with the prospect of a rate increase of

much as 25 percent because of the cost of mitigating damage to fish, recent years
of adverse water conditions, and other circumstances. If the Btu tax on electricity
is appUed in the manner proposed by the Administration, BPA estimates that an
additional 12 percent wholesale rate increase would be required. An added rate in-

crease of this magnitude could make the sale of some nydropower uneconomic,
thereby forcing, among other things, increased reliance on natural gas, which is not
a renewable resource. We believe it would not be sound national energy policy to

substitute natural gas for a domestic renewable resource such as hydroelectric
power.
Impact on industry. The economy of the Pacific Northwest is heavily dependent

upon energy-intensive industries. For example, the cost of electricity represents
about one-third of the cost of producing aluminum, 25—35 percent of the cost of elec-

trolytic chemicals produced in the region, and 7-20 percent of the cost of pulp and

paper. The large increase in the cost of hydropower wh'ch would result from appli-
cation of the Administration's proposed tax would deal a serious blow to the North-
west's economy. The Northwest afready is suffering from the layoff of 27,000 work-
ers by Boeing, loss of jobs in the timber industry, and reductions in the workforce
of other industries. The rate increase that could be triggered by application of the
tax on hydropower could result in additional adverse impacts on the region's econ-

omy.
Regional equity. According to figures developed by the Washington State Energy

Office, application of the Btu tax on all energy sources, as presently proposed, would
result in an impact of $137 per capita on the Northwest region, comprising the
states of Washington, Oregon, Montena and Idaho. This figure compares with a na-
tional per capite impact of $117. The impact on Washington State would be $148
per capita. (We have defined the Pacific Northwest region differently than the

Treasury Department and Department of Energy, which define the Pacific region as
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including the states of California, Oregon and Washington. Inclusion of California

in the region distorts the figures, and is not representative of conditions in the Pa-

cific Northwest.)

According to the Washington State Energy Office, if the scientifically correct fig-

ure of Btus per kilowatt of hydropower were used, the regional impact would be

$114 per capita, which is about the same as the national average of $116 per cap-

ita.^ The Washington State impact would be $122 per capita—or about $6 per capita

higher than the national average, because of climate, long driving distances, and en-

ergy intensive industries. Consequently, use of the scientifically accurate figure

would bring the impact in the Northwest more into parity with the national aver-

age.
For the above reasons, we urge your Committee to revise the Administration's

proposal by reducing the imputed Btu value of hydropower to the scientifically cor-

rect figure of 3,792 Btus per kilowatt-hour.

COMPETITIVE EFFECTS

Turning briefly to international competitive effects on U.S. industries, it is worth

noting, as the table included in my testimony indicates, that industrial energy

prices in this country are, and have been, substantially lower than those of our prin-

cipal competitors in Europe and Japan. This has evidently not been a decisive com-

petitive advantage for American industries, nor a competitive barrier to industries

m Europe and Japan. On average for all manufacturing industries, energy costs

equal about 2.5 percent of total production costs. Even if all the proposed taxes were

passed forward fi'om energy producers to industrial users and even if none of the

increased manufacturing costs were passed forward fi'om industries to consumers,
the average manufacturer would experience a cost increase of one-tenth of one per-

cent. This would have no effect on industrial competitiveness.
In fact, the US current account deficit has been largely a monetary phenomenon,

arising fundamentally out of the need for large capital imports to finance domestic

deficits. Macroeconomic simulations suggest that the tax increase, as part of a defi-

cit reduction package, would reduce foreign borrowing and long term interest rates,

and improve the current account balance by lowering the exchange rate. Since en-

ergy-intensive industries tend also to be capital-intensive industries, those sectors

would gain fi-om lower interest rates and a more favorable exchange rate, perhaps
as much or more as they would lose firom higher energy prices. It is noteworthy that

bond and foreign exchange markets reacted in precisely this way to the announce-

ment of the administration's economic proposals, providing a preview of coming at-

tractions.

DISTRIBUTIONAL EFFECTS

With respect to incidence, it is fair to say that a broad-based energy tax is mildly

regressive across expenditure classes to roughly the same degree as most other con-

sumption or excise taxes. A VAT, for example, is regressive since it typically falls

on a broad consumption base, exempting investment expenditures. Since rnuch of

the energy tax's effect on consumers comes through their direct residential and
motor vehicle energy use, it offers substantial opportunities for tax sayings.

The

price increases for end users—about 3 to 8 percent when fiilly ohased in—can be

offset by energy savings and conservation measures readily available to almost all

households. For example, average fuel efficiency in automobiles could be improved

by enough to offset 20 to 30 percent of the tax simply by keeping tires properly in-

flated.

EMPLOYMENT EFFECTS

A final point worth making is the relative impact of the energy tax on employ-
ment. "The energy tax falls most heavily on the most energy-intensive industries,

which are not by-and-large the most labor-intensive. Moreover, the enersr tax en-

courages all firms to substitute other production inputs for energy use. This gen-

erally implies a substitution toward more employment. Consequently, one would ex-

Kect
that for a given amount of revenue collected, a broad-based energy tax would

ave more favorable employment implications than other alternatives. Given the

^ The data are from the federal Department of Energy State Energy Data Reports for 1990

(the latest available) as run on a computer program by the Washington State Energy Office.

The data for Washington State reflect slightly higher levels for petroleum as a result of signifi-

cant growth in Washmgton after 1990 whereas the remainder of^the country saw no or negative

growm in petroleum consumption.
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concern over the slow rate of job growth in the current recovery, this distinction

would seem to be significant.

CONCLUSION

To sum up, the most fundamental characteristics of an energy tax is that it is

not a distortionary tax but potentially a corrective tax, and can be used to generate
welfare gains by correcting for market failures. An energy tax fits closely into an
overall stimulus and deficit reduction package. It is also a complementary measure
within an overall energy strategy.

Statement of the Washington State Energy Office and Washington State
Department of Fisheries

The state of Washington supports a tax on the Btu content of fuels used for en-

ergy production, and the Admmistration's proposal is acceptable in nearly every re-

spect. A single element of the proposal is greatly troubling, however, and if imple-

mented, could cause significant environmental and economic injury to our state and

region: the proposal to tax electricity generated from hydropower as if it were gen-
erated from fossil fuel. In our view, an adjustment is required on the merits, to en-

sure equity, and to promote consistency with environmental, economic, and inter-

national security goals.
Our first concern is that the application of the Btu tax proposal to hydropower

is arbitrary and uryustified. A British Thermal Unit is an internationally defined

unit of measurement. Hard and soft coals, for example, diflFer in Btu content, as do

gasoline, diesel, iet fuel, and refinery gas. Electricity fi-om hydropower also has a

thermal value wnich can be easily measured. In the uniaue case of hydroelectricity,
the Administration diverged fi-om internationally agreed-upon standards and used

a convention derived fi'om DOE's State Energy Data Report (SEDR). This DOE re-

port converts hydroelectricity into Btu's using the national average eflficieni^
for fos-

sil fuel generation. The justification is that this value more accuratelv reflects na-

tional energy use during droughts. It is not intended to measure the thermal value

of
hydroelectricity,

but what might be burned instead if the hydropower were un-

available.
The notion of taxing hydroelectricity at this level makes no sense at all. It effec-

tively taxes hydroelectricity's true thermal content at $0,778 per million Btu's, more
than three times higher than the' $0,257 level applied to coal, gas, nuclear ftiel, and
home heating oil, and thirty percent beyond the $0,599 level

applied
to refined pe-

troleum products. Policy reasons for the petroleum level are clear. Other adjust-
ments to the tax have also been made:

—all renewables except hydropower have been exempted
on policy grounds;—

any petroleum or natural gas converted into etnanol, methanol, MTBE, and
ETBE to arguably gain air quality benefits has been exempted;—any natural gas used to produce steam for tertiary oil recovery has been ex-

empted.

We do not favor exempting hydropower fi-om taxation, but there is no coherent

policy argument for discriminatory treatment of a renewable resource.

Second, we believe adjusting the hydroelectric tax rate advances the Administra-

tion's explicit goal of regional equity
without significantly changing federal reve-

nues. It IS our understanding that the primary purpose of the energy tax is equi-
table revenue generation. The Administration weighed the type of tax to be pro-

posed and based its decision on considerations of equity, international competitive-

ness, and estimated regional impact. With the exception of the treatment of hydro-

Eower,
we believe the tax generally meets these goals. With adjusted treatment of

ydropower, we believe it would meet these goals more effectively.

For the average American, the difference oetween taxing hycfropower at the pro-

Eosed
rate and its true efficiency is about $1 per year, reducing overall collections

-om $117 per capita to $116. For the state of Washington, it would reduce per cap-

ita taxes fi-om about $143 per capita
—fourth or fifth highest of any U.S. state—to

within 1-2 percent of the national average. In evaluating regional impactSj^ Treasury

Department testimony calculates below average impacts for the "Pacific" region—
lumping Oregon and Washington in with California—which grossly distorts North-

west impacts.
Third, the proposed approach on hydropower would have negative environmentJil

consequences, most importantly on the salmon rvms listed under the Endangered
Species Act. A high tax on hydropower would discourage the use of Northwest hydro
facilities in a coordinated West Coast approach to energy and environmental protec-



327

tion. As our regional situation has shifted from an electricity surplus to deficit, due

primarily to population growth, the Northwest (including British Columbia) has
tried to substitute long-term electricity exchanges for outright sales. These offer the

opportunity to move more water down the river in spring and summer to help sedm-

on migration while displacing generation in mid-summer in California when air

quality is worst. The generation is returned off peak, at night, during fall and win-

ter to help fill our reservoirs and meet our winter needs. Both systems benefit envi-

ronmentally and neither must build new generation to meet its electricity needs.

This approach (and required Canadian involvement) would be strongly discouraged

by a high fossil-based tax on hydroelectricity. The result would be development of

new thermal generation in both locations, greater releases of CO2 and other pollut-

ants, and greater difficulty in adjusting te the need to provide higher spring and
summer flows for salmon protection. Such a situation will result from any tax on

hydropower that is higher than the tax on the most efficient alternative thermal re-

source.

There may be some who seek to discourage hydropower through the tax because,
while a renewable resource, dams cause environmental damage. The difficulty is

that disproportionate taxation will not change the way existing dams affect the en-

vironment. Disproportionate taxes will reduce BPA revenues, make more diflficult

provision of needed flows for salmon migration, and reduce funding for needed fish

and wildlife investments. Reduced revenue will force BPA and other Northwest par-
ties to defer, avoid, or short-cut vitel investments in habitat improvement, hatohery
operations, predator control, wildlife protection, and salmon passage—all necessary
to comply with the Endangered Species Act.

BPA is currently negotiating with the Northwest Wildlife Coalition, which rep-
resents tribes, states, businesses, and environmental organizations, to spend many
tens of millions of dollars on wildlife improvements in Washington. These and other

critical investments may well be crowded out by rate pressures on BPA. Further-

more, improvements in output at existing dams—using more efficient turbines with-

out any incremental environmental impact—would be discouraged. These resources

are a significant element in the regional Northwest Power Plan. Any tax on hydro-

power that is higher than the tax on natural gas fired generation (about 7500 Btu/

feWh) would discourage these investment relative to new carbon emitting gas gen-
eration.

Finally, unfair treatment of hydropower may have significant regional economic

impacte. It has been our good fortune, in the Northwest, to be blessed with inordi-

nate amounts of rain and rivers. The abundance of water has allowed us to develop
extensive water based resources, including hydropower. This has allowed the North-
west to attract or sustain a large number of electricity intensive industries, indus-

tries which would be hard pressed to survive elsewhere in the U.S. This is not a
measure of profligacy or environmentel impact.
Ours is largely a run-of-the-river system; we cannot store significant quantities

of water from one year to the next. We must release it at all times of the day and
week for flood control, navigation, fish passage, irrigation, and other non-power
uses. Much of this off-season, off-hour power is sold to gduminum companies, who
manufacture about 40 percent of the nation's product and average more than $1.3
billion in annual sales. Washington also employs some of the largest pulp and paper
mills in the world. Our agriculture thrives because of pumped irrigation.
The Northwest is currently facing a 20-30 percent increase in BPA wholesale

rates. This does not include either the energy tax or
potential restructuring of BPA's

Treasury debt. A further 10 percent increase from tne proposed tax on hydropower
could cause large increases in unemployment, significant loss of load—rather than

conservation, and, potentially, lower federal revenues than would otherwise be the
case.

The difference between taxing hydropower at the proposed fossil rate and at its

true efficiency represents $150 million per year for Washington industries and rate-

payers. While rate increases are necessary, and Washington wants to contribute to

deficit reduction, the unfair treatment of hydroelectricity comes at an extremely
poor time. If implemented as proposed, the tax would strain the Administration's

goal of not disrupting regional economies.

Among the negative environmental consequences would be a serious setback for

one of the world s most ambitious electricity conservation programs already under-

way. While the expected rate increases may encourage conservation and force some
industries abroad, they cannot in any way compare to the programs and experi-
ments that BPA and the region's utilities have been able to run. BPA and the
Northwest Power Planning Council expect to see $7 billion spent regionally ($4.5
billion in Washington) during the next 8 to 10 years in both public and private sec-

tors for electricity efficiency measures. Many of these investments in the future will
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be crowded out bv extreme rate pressure on BPA. Low-income citizens and pro-

grams are especially vulnerable. These customers do not have the resources to avoid
the tax by investing in weatherization. Because weatherization programs tend to be

high cost resources from the utility's point of view, they are extremely vulnerable.
Mr. Chairman, honorable committee members, we reiterate our strong support for

the Administration's tax proposal. Our concern is not a fundamental argument
against the energy tax. We are driven by two very practical concerns: That the high
hydropower rate is unsupportable, damaging to effort to restore salmon runs and

protect air quality, and tnat it will do significant damage to our economy. None of

these are goals of the Administration or intended impacts of a Btu tax. We strongly
urge the use of the international standard Btu valuation for hydropower, agreed to

by the U.S. and other OECD nations, for treating electricity from hydro production
for tax purposes.
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